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“Stupendous sandstone formations of very remarkable shapes”"

An Administrative History of Arches National Park

Arches National Park, the 33™ of 418 units of the national park system, was established by Presidential
Proclamation in 1929 as Arches National Monument.? Although it is not one of the “crown jewels”
(Yosemite, Grand Canyon, and Yellowstone), it is to many the “greatest piece of natural scenery on the
face of the earth,”® and one of only 60 currently recognized as a national park, having been elevated
from national monument status in 1971. The story of Arches National Park reflects the struggle to
develop and manage a park unit created scant months before the deepest and most prolonged
economic setback in our nation’s history: the Great Depression. Arches’ is the story of a park literally
created by photography, which has been a prime driver of ever-increasing visitation; and it is the story
of innovation, where numerous projects, programs, and plans have been piloted, including library
accession procedures, the first female superintendent of a national park, Visitor Experience and
Resource Protection (VERP), and Business Operations/Operating Plan (BOP). Arches is, therefore, as
much about the process of creating and managing a protected area as it is about the landscape,
environment, and cultural history that is protected. Because of the thoughtful management that Arches
has enjoyed, the story of Arches also tells much about the story of the National Park Service (NPS or the
Park Service). Arches staff members have maintained thorough, detailed records pertaining to almost
every facet of Arches operations, and thanks to it also being a pilot for the development of park archives
in the NPS, the preparation of this administrative history has mostly been an exercise in selective
inclusion, rather than a quest for basic information.*

From this abundance, four themes emerge that broadly define the story of Arches, and are reprised
repeatedly throughout this narrative: the struggle to provide basic infrastructure for visitors and staff;
dramatically escalating visitation and Arches’ role as the pilot unit for addressing this issue in the NPS;
navigation of the ever-changing requirements of NPS policy and federal environmental, cultural, and
land management law; and ongoing conflict between NPS management and non-conforming users of
the park. Once one of the most remote and undeveloped areas of the continental United States, Arches
is now an international icon, with Delicate Arch now featured on a Utah license plate, state welcome
signs, and the cover of many travel guides for Utah, the Colorado Plateau, and the national park system.
Every demographic trend, nearly every new recreational activity, and every attempt by the National Park
Service to navigate between accommodation and preservation is witnessed in the records of Arches
National Park. Arches also supplied the inspiration for the writings of Edward Abbey, a seasonal park
ranger at Arches in the late 1950s. Abbey’s experiences and observations, distilled as Desert Solitaire
and published in 1968,° unquestionably inspired early factions of the environmental movement
concerned with the preservation of wilderness. Abbey’s book still draws many visitors to the park,
seeking beauty and solitude in the high desert.® Most of the lands in Arches initially identified as
potentially of Wilderness status remain managed as such, pending congressional action to formally
designate Wilderness in Arches under the 1964 Wilderness Act. While the notoriety of more radical
splinter groups such as Earth First! and the Earth Liberation Front has subsequently tarnished Abbey’s
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legacy with the shadow of terrorism in some quarters, Abbey remains crucial to understanding the
changes to the National Park Service in the mid-twentieth century, as conservation became
environmentalism.” Under the new paradigm, national parks shifted from being recreational
playgrounds to refuges of the remaining wilderness of North America.

In his administrative history of Canyonlands National Park,® Dr. Samuel J. Schmieding describes much of
the setting and context for the units of the Southeastern Utah Group (SEUG), the informal
administrative unit that currently includes Arches, Canyonlands, Natural Bridges National Monument,
and Hovenweep National Monument (or ARCH, CANY, NABR, and HOVE in the NPS system of
designation). The creation of Canyonlands was controversial, and the park remains a point of friction
locally and at the state level. To avoid reprising Dr. Schmieding’s observations, and because the
relationship of Arches to local communities and the state of Utah is very different, this document
focuses on the evolution of National Park Service planning and management and how those have played
out at Arches, and how local management issues have in turn influenced the larger NPS organization.
The staff of Arches has been asked repeatedly to mitigate between the national park experience as set
forth by the most recent NPS management plan, and the national park experience as imagined and re-
imagined by park visitors, not all of whom want to be guided, or directed, or recipients of formal
interpretation. Furthermore, the explosion of commercial filming in Arches reveals a third orientation to
NPS landscapes: non-visitor users. Whether as the backdrop for weddings, symphony orchestra
performances, or advertisements for diverse products, or as the arena for bicycle races, jeep jamborees,
or rock climbing, Arches National Park is now a destination for disparate people and organizations who
seek a beautiful location for their activities. These activities may use the park as literally a backdrop or
stage, or represent new recreational approaches to the same geological setting (for instance
bouldering), but are generally not constrained only to hiking, sightseeing, or casual photography. The
current policy on rock climbing and canyoneering in Arches National Park, which has evolved over
several decades, is an example of the current negotiated park experience of non-traditional park users.

Because Arches National Park is at the forefront of many trends affecting the National Park Service in
general, its history has much to inform about the future. With the aging of the Baby Boom generation,
and increasingly polarized political parties, other generations and groups are poised to influence Arches
and the National Park Service through their actions.’ These can include not only visitors’ activities and
non-visitor undertakings, but the attitudes of Park Service employees themselves. Superintendent Noel
R. Poe expressed this best in 1991, when he requested summations from his supervisory staff for the
superintendent’s annual narrative report:*°

As you are writing your sections, remember the purpose of the report. It is NOT

to make us look good,

to boost our ego,

to prove to Region that Arches really exists,

that we are busier than hell,

or that we need more money.
The real purpose is that 60 years from now, when we are dead and/or retired, the person that finally
receives the contract for an Administrative History will have a good document of major, important stuff
that happened at Arches in 1990. This is the place to document most consequential concerns, problems,
events, and decisions affecting park management. Also can record new trends and major statistics.
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Poe’s era of administration at Arches is notable for its record keeping (and record retention), as well as
the many accomplishments that occurred under his leadership. For that reason, an oral history interview
with Poe and other long-term supervisors was part of this administrative history. And, indeed, the final
chapter of this history builds upon Poe’s recommendations, and examines some emerging trends that
may affect the management of Arches National Park over the coming several generations.

Timeline of Events Important in the History of Arches

In the following timeline, the events relevant to the administrative history of Arches National Park are
summarized in chronological order, to better place them in context. Each of these topics enjoys
expanded discussion with greater detail in subsequent chapters. Major world and national events that
had a measurable impact on Arches are shown by entries in bold italics. Federal legislation that affected
the management of Arches is also part of this timeline, shown in italics. Other events, typically social
trends, are discussed in the respective chapters, but are not included here. Some important events, such
as the Gulf War, are not included. Although this conflict and subsequent actions in Iraq and Afghanistan
profoundly influenced a generation, it did not directly affect Arches or its management in any way that
is reflected in the records of park management retained in the Southeast Utah Group Archives, National
Park Service (SEUG Archives, NPS or just the Archives). World War Il, on the other hand, ended the
Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) program, halted development of park infrastructure, and reduced
visitation to a few hundred visitors per year. Nor does this timeline include historical events that
preceded the discovery and proclaiming of the Arches National Monument, such as the Old Spanish Trail
or the building of Wolfe Ranch, as these are thoroughly described by historian John F. Hoffman in Arches
National Park: An lllustrated Guide. Almost every topic of importance in the history of Arches National
Park remains important and active as this administrative history is being completed: Chapter 9 provides
the latest word on each of these issues. The timeline traces the appearance or resurgence of these
topics throughout the decades. Chapter 4 is dedicated to the most persistent of these topics: petroleum
and mineral exploration and extraction; grazing and animal trespass; encroachment; and land conflicts
with the state of Utah.

August 25, 1916: Passage of the Organic Act creates the National Park Service.

December 24, 1922: Klondike Bluffs (named “The Devil’s Garden”) is discovered by Alex Ringhoffer and
sons (but may have been earlier in 1922 according to son Arpod in May 14, 1970 interview).

July 1923: Alex Ringhoffer writes a letter about the discovery to F. A. Wadleigh, Passenger Traffic
Manager, at the Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad System (the original letter has yet to be
found, despite reviews of many archives and collections).

September 1923: Ringhoffer takes Wadleigh and photographer George L. Beam to visit “The Devil’s
Garden.”

November 2, 1923: Wadleigh writes to National Park Service Director Stephen T. Mather urging him to
make “The Devil’s Garden” a national monument. Beam’s photographs accompany the letter.

June 1924: The first survey of the proposed national monument is conducted by T. W. McKinley, who is
guided to “The Castle Windows” (now known as The Windows) instead of the area viewed by
Ringhoffer.
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February 9, 1925: Geologist L. M. Gould of the Department of Geology, University of Michigan, writes to
Utah Senator Reed Smoot regarding The Windows, urging that it be made a national monument.

June 11-14, 1925: F. J. Safley conducts second survey for national monument, and discovers the area
now known as Devils Garden (a location different from Ringhoffer’s “The Devil’s Garden”). Dr. Frank R.
Oastler visits and photographs at Arches and meets Safley in the field; he is shown the original “The
Devil’'s Garden” by Alex Ringhoffer but the discrepancy in locations is not discovered until later.

July 24, 1925: Superintendent of the Southwestern National Monuments Frank Pinkley is the first to call
the proposed new monument “The Arches National Monument.”

May 9, 1926: Illustrated article appears in the New York Times with Oastler’s photographs and an
interview with Stephen Mather in which he urges the creation of a national monument that includes The
Windows and Devils Garden (the newly discovered area, although the photographs featured some of
the original area named by Ringhoffer).

1927: Hugh S. Bell visits, names, photographs, and adds inscriptions to Minaret Bridge (now known as
Tower Arch), Double Arch, and Double O Arch.

April 12, 1929: President of the United States Herbert Hoover signs the revised proclamation for Arches
National Monument, withdrawing 4,520 acres in two areas. An estimated 500 people visit the
monument in 1929.1

October 24-29, 1929: Crash of the New York Stock Exchange triggers the Great Depression (1929-
1941).

1933: NPS reorganization adds parks and monuments formerly administered by the War Department
and Forest Service, and the National Capitol monuments. The New Deal creates relief programs for the
unemployed, including the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC), which provides labor for hundreds of NPS
projects nationwide. James M. Turnbow, local cattle rancher and owner of the Wolfe Cabin, is appointed
as the first custodian of Arches National Monument.

December 1933 to March 1934: The Arches National Monument Scientific Expedition, A Civilian Works
Administration Project, directed by Frank A. Beckwith, documents natural and archaeological resources;
Beckwith is the first to describe Delicate Arch in print (1934) and is the first to use this name. Enrollees
in the camp start improvements to Willow Springs Road.

1934: Arches’ annual visitation is 275 people, its historic low. First NPS planning document mistakenly
includes the Yellow Cat area as part of the monument. It proposes a visitor center at Willow Springs or
Turnbow’s Cabin, with trails to The Windows and Devils Garden.

1934: Passage of the Taylor Grazing Act regulates livestock on public lands.

September 22, 1936: Secretary of the Interior Harold Ickes announces that existing oil and gas permits
will be cancelled on December 31, 1937 unless oil or gas has actually been discovered on the permit area,
the permit area is included in an approved unit plan, or the permit area has been converted into a lease
(extended to December 31, 1938 by the U.S. Solicitor General).
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1936: Grand County, Utah, constructs a road from Willow Springs into Arches National Monument along
Courthouse Wash. Harry Goulding is the first to drive an automobile into the monument. J. Harry Reed
becomes acting custodian of Arches. Color photographs of Double Arch and Double O Arch by Hugh S.
Bell are published in National Geographic Magazine in 1936, inspiring frequent visits by photographers.
Radium mines in southeastern Utah became the focus of a vanadium boom. The Wilderness Society
survey of roadless areas in the United States identifies the canyon country of southeastern Utah as
the largest.

1937: NPS regional offices are created, and Arches moves from the Southwest Monuments
(headquartered in Coolidge, Arizona) to Region Il (headquartered in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma). A
thousand people visit Arches, marking the first year in which visitation exceeds the 1929 total.

1938: Proposal to create a new Escalante National Monument, which would include almost all of the
lands in Utah adjacent to the Colorado River and south of the Green River confluence, infuriates state
and local interests who ultimately force the NPS to abandon the plan, leaving a legacy of animosity
that affects Arches.

November 25, 1938: President Franklin D. Roosevelt issues Proclamation 2312, expanding Arches by
29,160 acres to 33,680 acres, including the addition of Delicate Arch.

1939: Reconnaissance is conducted for a new entrance road that follows the same basic alighment as
the current park scenic drive. Philip S. Miner makes the first climb of Landscape Arch. Ribbon Arch is
discovered. Henry Schmidt is named first on-site custodian of Arches. NPS Region Il offices move to
Santa Fe, New Mexico and become Region Three.

December 1939: Custodian Henry Schmidt constructs a 12 by 14 foot frame entrance station near
Willow Springs on State Highway 93 (now Willow Springs Road), the first actual piece of Arches National
Monument infrastructure.

1940: The Moab Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) camp for 200 men is constructed. First Development
Plan for Arches National Monument is drafted. In April, Custodian Harry Reed identifies Arch No. 81 (not
named). Superintendent Frank Pinkley dies suddenly and Hugh M. Miller assumes the position.

November 1940: A massive rock falls from Arch-in-the-Making (also known as Fallen Rock Arch),
doubling the size of the opening to create what has since been called Skyline Arch.

1940-1941: During the winter, a slab estimated to have been 95 feet in length detaches from the
western face of the inside span of Landscape Arch and falls to the ground. CCC enrollees who
participated in a December 1940 strike are demoted, leading to sabotage of telephone lines and
resignation of Commanding Officer Pressley in 1941.

1941: CCC crews begin construction of a new entrance road and build the custodian’s residence (the
Rock House) and 20,000-gallon headquarters water system. Reconnaissance surveys are conducted of
monument geology and flora and fauna. Miner Jack Owens is denied authorization to open a vanadium
mine he claimed inside Arches after the lands had already been withdrawn for the monument.

March 1941: Owl (or Eagle) Rock falls.
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December 7, 1941 — September 2, 1945: The United States is formally involved in World War Il.

1942: The CCC camp closes May 31 and is dismantled; the entrance road ends 3 miles from the new
monument entrance. Headquarters is a CCC-built frame building that also houses the administrative
office, museum, and patrol horse. Lewis T. McKinney replaces Henry Schmidt as Arches Custodian and
Charles A. Richey replaces Hugh Miller as superintendent.

1944: Russell L. Mahan becomes the custodian of Arches National Monument. The Surplus Property Act
transfers war surplus equipment to NPS. Visitation plummets to 642 people.

August 1946 — December 1991: The United States is involved in the Cold War, including the 1946-1980
Uranium Boom.

1946: Grand County adopts Ordinance No. 39, requiring landowners to fence their property against
livestock. The NPS lacks the funds to fence Arches boundaries, and much of the area to be fenced is
slickrock. Cattle trespass remains a persistent problem.

1947: Director John Ford films scenes for Fort Apache in Arches, the first of many motion pictures. The
first latrines are built at The Windows.

August 1947: Landscape Architect Carl W. Alleman surveys temporary spur roads to Wolfe Cabin and
Delicate Arch, Fiery Furnace, and Devils Garden, originating from the terminus of the Willow Springs
Road near Balanced Rock. Alleman also designs the Delicate Arch Trail.

1948: The graded dirt park road to The Windows is completed; a spur road is built to Devils Garden and
the spur road to Wolfe Cabin is partly completed. The Courthouse Towers Trail is constructed, the first
formal trail in the monument, and four other trails are signed for the first time. First effort is made to
upgrade Arches to National Park status. The first documented apprehension of visitors for graffiti occurs,
at Double Arch. Russell L. Mahan is reclassified as Superintendent of Arches National Monument and
initiates an agency-wide discussion about stabilizing the “weak” leg of Delicate Arch.

September 1948: Oras Krumbolts falls approximately 30 feet from Wall Arch, the first serious injury
documented in Arches.

1949: First pack and saddle concession is issued to Ross Musselman. Emmett Elizondo sells the Turnbow
homestead to the NPS. Fred and Irene Ayers make the second climb of Landscape Arch. Visitation tops
10,000 for the first time.

March 1949: Bates E. Wilson is appointed Arches Superintendent, a position he holds until 1972. Wilson
oversees the completion of all Arches infrastructure, including the scenic drive, campground, trails,
visitor center, and headquarters facilities.

1950: Nevada Proving Ground is created west of Las Vegas, Nevada, to test nuclear weapons.
Frederick Semisch is the first fatality when he falls 200 feet from the fin above Landscape Arch. The Cove
Nature Trail is constructed. Brigham Young University starts a natural history survey. Construction of the
Wayside Exhibit near Balanced Rock begins, and is completed in 1951.

1951: Grand County assists Bates Wilson in building a road in Cache Valley to provide a view of Delicate
Arch. A ranger trailer is installed at Balanced Rock, which is the camping area for the monument.
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1951-1956: Research and further discussion continues about the stabilization of Delicate Arch.

January 21, 1951 to October 31, 1958, and June 30, 1962 to July 31, 1962: Atmospheric tests of nuclear
weapons are conducted at the Nevada Proving Ground (renamed Nevada Test Site in 1954). Arches
National Monument, like the rest of Utah, receives fallout that the government insists is safe.

1952: Prospector Charlie Steen strikes pure pitchblende uranium ore in his Mi Vida claims south of La
Sal, Utah, southeast of Moab; total uranium ore in the district is later estimated at 1 million tons.

April 13, 1953: Full color image of Delicate Arch makes the cover of Life magazine.

1954: Construction of trails to Delicate Arch Viewpoint and Devils Garden starts, the Delicate Arch
Viewpoint Trail is finished in 1956, and the Devils Garden Trail is completed in 1957.

February 1954: Due to an influx of uranium and oil prospectors in Moab, 29 miles of the boundaries of
Arches National Monument are marked for the first time since its declaration.

October 28, 1954: Headquarters area is connected to the electrical grid, retiring unreliable generators.

June 1955: The Uranium Reduction Company breaks ground on a mill near Moab, storing waste slurry in
an open pond adjacent to the Colorado River, across from the entrance to Arches. The mill begins
operations on October 4, 1956, after Steen and his partners sell the mill and their mine holdings,
including Mi Vida, to Atlas Corporation.

July 1, 1955: A special use permit is issued to the Northwest Pipeline Company for construction of a
natural gas pipeline across Arches National Monument. Construction begins immediately, and may be
the only time that this has taken place in an NPS unit.

1955: The Air Pollution Control Act of 1955 is passed. NPS Director Conrad Wirth proposes the Mission 66
Program, a billion-dollar overhaul of the national park system, to be completed over 10 years. Arches
National Monument is one of the first units funded due to the near complete lack of infrastructure.

April 1956: A section of the newly constructed pipeline explodes and burns just outside the monument.

1956-1957: Edward Abbey is hired as a seasonal ranger at Arches, and lives in a trailer near Balanced
Rock. He keeps a journal of his experiences. The trailer is moved in 1960 to the headquarters area as an
employee residence.

1957: The Moab Wash culvert is widened during reconstruction of the entrance road, the first Mission
66 project undertaken at Arches. Willow Springs Road and the scenic drive are washed out, causing the
monument to close for 30 days. Major reconstruction of Delicate Arch and Devils Garden trails is
completed.

1957-1958: US Highway 160 (originally Utah 9, then US 450, US 160, US 163, and currently designated
US 191) is realigned, orphaning six narrow parcels of private land along the southern boundary.
Canyonlands Natural History Association donates one parcel to Arches National Park in 2003, but the
other five remain unresolved.

1958: The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) is created; it has exclusive control of the airspace and
aircraft in the United States. The first Easter Sunrise Worship Service is held at The Windows. Originally
an “all Protestant” service, it is now open to all denominations. It was moved in 1960 to the La Sal
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Mountains Overlook. The third known climb of Landscape Arch is documented for an article in Desert
Magazine.

February 1958: A rockslide near the Three Penguins temporarily stops construction of the scenic drive.

August 24, 1958: The new 9.3-mile-long oil-surfaced road to Balanced Rock is dedicated; the first
automobile accidents happen shortly after the road is opened. The old Willow Springs entrance road is
closed and blocked (unsuccessfully) and the Wayside Exhibit is moved to the new road intersection.

October 31, 1958: A moratorium on nuclear testing is implemented. Uranium prospecting in Utah
declines sharply until 1961, when the Soviet Union violates the ban and testing resumes.

1959: The new headquarters water system is completed with a 50,000-gallon tank. The park’s entrance
is closed at night due to vandalism, littering, and rowdy parties, which remain problems through the
mid-1970s.

1959-1960: An oil boom in southeastern Utah results in a shortage of accommodations for visitors.

January 22, 1960: Final inspection is made of the new visitor center. With its completion, the entrance
road now extends from Highway 160 to the visitor center, and the remaining paved park roads become
the scenic drive.

July 26, 1960: President Dwight D. Eisenhower signs Proclamation 3360, which deletes 720 acres and
adds 480 acres to the monument, which now encompasses 33,440 acres. The expansion provides room
for the permanent scenic drive.

1961: Texas Gulf Sulphur builds an underground potash mine along the Colorado River below Dead
Horse Point, accessed by a new state highway and a railroad spur from Crescent Junction. The railroad
involved construction of a tunnel that is across US 191 from the Arches Visitor Center.

1962: A land exchange with the state of Utah brings the entire scenic drive right-of-way into NPS
ownership. NPS Region Three is re-designated as the Southwest Region, but remains headquartered in
Santa Fe. Plans for a second campground and an additional 60 spaces in the Devils Garden Campground
are dropped as a cost-saving measure. Visitation exceeds 100,000 in a single year for the first time.

May 5, 1962: The Arches Visitor Center, the newly completed Windows Loop road, three park
residences, and a bust of Dr. J. W. Williams are dedicated.

1963: The Clean Air Act of 1963 is passed. Grand County obtains a patent on public lands on both sides
of the Colorado River, totaling 155 acres, for the purpose of building a park adjacent to the river bridge;
the portion north of the river is inadvertently included within the boundaries of Arches National Park in
1971. Surprise Arch is discovered by Superintendent Bates Wilson during survey of a trail in Fiery
Furnace on December 13, 1963.

1963-1965: The Arches scenic drive is completed from Balanced Rock to a new Devils Garden Picnic
Loop. The Windows spur is completely realigned, and the whole road is surfaced with asphalt and
improved with the addition of pullouts, parking areas, gutters, and asphalt curbing.
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August 2, 1964 to April 30, 1975: The United States is involved in the Indochina War (the Vietnam
War).

1964: NPS reorganization results in its division into natural, historic, and recreational branches.
Canyonlands National Park is created, and along with Arches and Natural Bridges it is administered
through the Canyonlands Complex by Superintendent Bates Wilson. A formal trail in Fiery Furnace is
completed and daily ranger-guided tours begin. Naturalist Dennis L. Carter begins a survey of bird
species.

June 18, 1964: Construction of the Devils Garden Campground is completed, including a ranger trailer.
Designed with 60 spaces, it is filled every night, and becomes a perennial source of complaints by
visitors who do not obtain a camping space.

September 3, 1964: Passage of the Wilderness Act requires that all blocks of roadless federal lands that
are substantially undisturbed and encompass more than 5,000 acres be evaluated within 10 years for
designation as part of the Wilderness Preserve System. Congress has yet to approve Arches proposed
Wilderness areas.

December 22, 1964: The first annual Arches National Monument Christmas Bird Count observes 782
individual birds of 23 species.

1965: Arches is chosen as a pilot library for accessioning procedures. The 294 items are finalized by April
of that year. Edward Abbey returns for a final season as seasonal ranger at Canyonlands National Park.
The Concession Policy Act prescribes how the NPS will handle outside business concessions.

1966: The National Historic Preservation Act is passed. Arches National Monument begins to collect
entrance fees, now that it can control access to the park through the new entrance station. The
entrance station is open April 15 to October 15. The Balanced Rock Wayside Exhibit is demolished and
most park signs are replaced. To combat decades of social trails, Arches constructs the Landscape Arch
Loop Trail beneath the arch.

1967: The Arches National Monument Master Plan is approved. The first Easter Jeep Safari is sponsored
by the Moab Chamber of Commerce (now run by the Red Rock 4-Wheelers club). The Canyonlands
Natural History Association (CNHA) is founded to assist the BLM, Forest Service, and NPS in their
educational and scientific efforts. Bates Wilson is appointed NPS Utah state director; he splits his time
between Moab and Salt Lake City.

1968-1972: NPS funding is strained due to the addition of more park units than at any other period in
the agency’s history, and severe budget cutbacks are used to fund an escalation of the Vietnam War. The
U.S. Air Force gradually expands low-level, supersonic military training flights throughout the West. The
resulting sonic booms damage archaeological sites and NPS facilities, and upset visitors.

1968: Edward Abbey’s Desert Solitaire is published, dramatically retelling his two seasons as a ranger at
Arches National Monument. The book is widely acclaimed and brings more public attention to Arches.

November 8, 1968: Arches National Monument formally proposes to designate the Turnbow Cabin
Environmental Study Area, one of the first in the United States. The first classes are held in the spring of
1969.
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January 20, 1969: President Lyndon B. Johnson issues Proclamation 3887, expanding Arches by 48,943
acres, just 90 minutes before the close of his term. The increase to 82,953 acres is part of a massive
expansion of the NPS using the Antiquities Act. Although it is only a fraction of the 7 million acres that
Secretary of the Interior Stuart Udall wanted to conserve, it is far too much for many rural Utah voters.
The Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey conducts an assessment of the mineral content of Capitol
Reef and Arches National Monuments as part of a state campaign to overturn the Johnson additions.
The National Environmental Policy Act is passed. Lessees of a placer mining claim on the Colorado River
cut 2,000 feet of road into Arches National Park before they are stopped by a restraining order. The
mine developer fights in court until 1971, before finally abandoning the project.

1970: The Clean Air Act of 1970 is passed, establishing the standards by which clean air is determined—
the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS). Arches remained within Class 1 air (the highest
quality) until the 1980s, when concerns are raised about the Atlas Mill tailings. Twelve University of Utah
dance students pioneer artistic performances in Arches with recitals at Wolfe Ranch, the swinging
bridge, and Delicate Arch.

November 12, 1971: President Richard M. Nixon signs Public Law 92-155, making Arches a National Park
and reducing its boundaries to 73,379 acres, with removal of the 1938/1969 block for the final time.

1971: The Turnbow Cabin ESA is renamed Wolfe Cabin ESA when the true origin of the cabin is
discovered by Maxine Newell. A sonic boom triggers a landslide that temporarily blocks the scenic drive.
NPS regions are reorganized; Arches is now part of the Midwest Region, headquartered in Omaha,
Nebraska.

1972: The 1948 Federal Water Pollution Control Act is revised as the Clean Water Act. Bates Wilson
retires and is replaced by Robert Kerr. Canyonlands Complex headquarters moves to a shared multi-
agency building in Moab in October. Canyonlands Complex contracts for a complex-wide master
transportation plan that is deemed inadequate upon completion and never used. Arches experiences
almost daily sonic booms from military overflights. After NPS Director George Hartzog testifies about the
more than 5,000 sonic booms recorded by the NPS during this period, President Richard M. Nixon signs
an executive order requiring the Air Force to avoid NPS units.

May 13, 1972: Arches National Park is formally dedicated, confusing some people about the year in
which it is actually established.

1973: Administration of Arches National Park moves to the Rocky Mountain Region, which is based in
Denver, Colorado.

1973-1974: The Arab Oil Embargo leads to gasoline shortages and spikes in fuel prices. Although
visitation is up 22 percent in 1973, the following year visitation drops 39 percent, the largest decrease
since 1942.

1974: The Primitive Loop Trail is constructed to provide a backcountry experience for experienced
hikers, between Double O Arch and Landscape Arch. Arches’ first Unit Manager, Larry Reed, assumes the
job. Arches’ first Wilderness proposal recommends 54,450 acres for inclusion.

1975: First interpretive prospectus is created for Arches National Park and Peter L. Parry assumes the
role of Superintendent of the Canyonlands Complex. Brigham Young University begins paleontological
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excavations in a rich deposit near Dalton Wells, northwest of the current park boundary. The Wolfe
Ranch Historic District and the Courthouse Wash Pictographs are listed in the National Register of
Historic Places.

December 11, 1975: Proposed Powerless Flight Regulation is published in the Federal Register,
permitting park superintendents to authorize hang-gliding through a permit system, or ban it from an
individual park. Hang gliding and parachuting are banned in Arches.

1975-1976: Chip-off-the-Old-Block near Balanced Rock falls.

1976: Revised Statute 2477 (RS 2477) of the 1866 Mining Act is repealed under the Federal Land Policy
and Management Act (FLPMA). Public Law 94-429 invalidates all mining claims in national park lands
(except for six parks) that were not identified and registered by 1977. The General Authorities Act is
amended to authorize law enforcement personnel within units of the national park system, creating the
position of Protection Ranger. Arches hosts a series of artistic performances for the United States
Bicentennial celebration, including concerts, poetry readings, dance recitals, and theatrical
performances.

1977: The Clean Air Act is passed; it attempts to address the deteriorating quality of the air in national
parks by setting a goal of “remedying any existing and preventing any future human-caused visibility
impairment in most of our largest national parks.” An Air Clarity Research Station is installed in February
1978 at Island in the Sky in Canyonlands National Park. Firewood collecting is banned in the park.
Firewood is available for purchase from a concessionaire in the campground for $2 per bundle. The
Arches Wilderness proposal is submitted to Congress by President Jimmy Carter; it is not implemented.

July 27, 1977: National Park Service Chief Historian Harry W. Pfanz rediscovers Alex Ringhoffer’s letter to
Frank A. Wadleigh and sends it to Arches National Park for display at the 50t Jubilee in 1979.

1978: The General Authorities Act is passed; it requires each NPS unit to have a General Management
Plan, including a consideration of the “carrying capacity” of the park. Final recommendation of
Wilderness status for park lands is submitted to Congress, which has never acted on the
recommendation. The Department of Energy identifies salt dome beneath Salt Valley as potential
nuclear waste dump and undertakes a test drilling program during 1978-1980, but concludes that Salt
Valley is not suitable. Reubin Scolnik donates his photograph collection of 125 known arches to the park.

July 24, 1978: Arches National Park celebrates what was then believed to be the 90" anniversary of
Wolfe Ranch.

1979-1984: The Sagebrush Rebellion occurs.

1979: The Archaeological Resource Protection Act (ARPA) is passed. The mountain bike is invented. With
the Second Energy Crisis (1979-1980), visitation to Arches visitation drops by 17.5 percent. Arches
National Park issues a special use permit to Atlas Minerals to operate a continuous air sampler for
emissions from the mill and tailings. It records monthly or quarterly measurements for airborne
radiologic contamination until 1988. One hundred people attend a special astronomical event to view
the Perseid Meteor Shower, the first of many astronomical outreach programs at Arches.

April 12, 1979: A speech by Utah Governor Scott Matheson is the keynote event of Arches’ 50" Jubilee
Celebration, part of a week-long schedule of special events.
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October 3, 1979: Arches welcomes the 4-millionth cumulative visitor to the park, Mr. and Mrs. Richard
Beauvais of San Antonio, Texas.

1980: The Moab Pictograph Panel is vandalized. It is successfully restored later in the year, unexpectedly
revealing new Barrier Canyon Style figures beneath the shields. The restoration is the first undertaken
on aboriginal rock art by a fine-arts conservator. Utah files a lawsuit claiming all federal lands within its
borders. The Election of Ronald Reagan as President signals a major political shift to the right; James
Watt is appointed Secretary of the Interior, with a strongly pro-business and privatization of public
lands agenda. Influenced by the writings of Edward Abbey, the environmental activist group Earth
First! is formed by Dave Foreman (and others).

1981: A public meeting is held in Moab in February regarding EPA designation of “integral vistas” to
combat increasing regional haze. A special use permit is issued to the Society for Creative Anachronism
for a medieval re-enactment meeting, one of the first outside events held in the park.

July 4, 1981: Earth First! holds a rally at Panorama Point in Arches National Park.

August 7, 1981: The first Utah Symphony Orchestra performances occur at Devils Garden. Additional
concerts are performed during 1982-1984.

October 1981: Arches hosts a book signing party for John Hoffman’s Arches National Park: An Illustrated
Guide; 250 people attend the event in the visitor center.

1982: Sherma E. Bierhaus becomes the new unit manager for Arches National Park, and the first woman
to manage a national park. The Arches Wilderness proposal is revised to 62,947 acres, including formerly
private inholdings and expired mineral leases. Ranger and arch-hunter Ed McCarrick discovers Highway
Arch, the 200t known arch.

May 31, 1982: The final six grazing permits in Arches National Park are revoked; all grazing has been
banned since then, but trespass cattle remain a problem.

September 1982: The FAA publishes their final rule on ultralight aircraft, removing them from FAA
regulation if they meet several criteria of weight, fuel capacity, maximum speed, and single-occupancy.

1983: SEUG Resource staff initiate a water quality monitoring program for springs and streams in
response to a proposal for a nuclear waste dump adjacent to Canyonlands National Park. The proposal is
eventually dropped, but the monitoring program continues to the present day.

February 25, 1983: Bates Wilson dies of a heart attack; 300 family, friends and well-wishers attend a
memorial service in Devils Garden.

May 21, 1983: Secretary of the Interior James Watt visits Arches National Park and is greeted with
opposition graffiti on park signs.

1984: Atlas Minerals files for bankruptcy and closes the Moab Uranium Mill. Final Wilderness proposal
of 62,947 acres is completed and submitted to the President.

1985: The first bicycle race is held on the park’s scenic drive. Dark Angel State bicycle races are held
annually until 1991, when a special use permit is denied.
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1986: Paul D. Guraedy replaces Sherma Bierhaus as Arches unit manager. Park interpretive staff
members conduct a detailed survey of visitor use and impacts along the Landscape Arch Loop Trail.

July 7, 1986: A memorial plague honoring Bates Wilson is dedicated with a ceremony at the visitor
center. Although NPS regulations require that 20 years elapse before memorializing employees, Wilson’s
contributions are deemed to be exceptional.

1987: As required under Sections 106 and 110 of the NHPA, 1,160 acres of frontcountry and developed
park areas are subjected to comprehensive archeological inventory, resulting in the location of 26 sites.
Arches proposes a pilot program to control invasive tamarisk by burning 4 acres around Salt Valley
Spring. The plan is bitterly opposed by former park rangers Jim Stiles, Edward Abbey, and Lloyd Pierson,
and is finally abandoned amidst public controversy when all use of prescribed burns is banned by the
NPS. Harvey Wickware becomes the new Superintendent of the Canyonlands Complex, and Paul
Guraedy is reclassified as superintendent of Arches National Park. Research ecologist Jayne Belnap joins
SEUG and implements a research and monitoring program, beginning with long-term vegetation and
biological soil crust studies, which are damaged by livestock and off-trail walking. Visitor Carin Dehne is
injured in a fall from North Window. Her family sues the NPS for $500,000, but the suit is dismissed in
1991 because the family chose not to read the warning posted on the trailhead bulletin board, which
warned about the dangers of climbing.

August 7, 1987: A severe thunderstorm in Moab Canyon washes out the entrance road culvert on
Bloody Mary Wash and the portion of US 191 adjacent to the wash, necessitating major repairs which
lasted into 1988.

October 1987: Canyonlands Complex is disbanded and reorganized as the Southeast Utah Group,
beginning in fiscal year 1988.

1988: The Natural Arch and Bridge Society is founded to promote “arch hunting” and research on arch
formation. Annual visitation passes 500,000 for the first time. The Julien Inscription Panel, Old Spanish
Trail, the Ringhoffer Inscription, and the Rock House—Custodian’s Residence are listed in the National
Register.

1989: The Arches National Park General Management Plan is completed and approved. A Tamarisk
Management Plan is completed and a control program using cutting and herbicide is implemented.
Director Steven Spielberg releases Indiana Jones and the Last Crusade, which features a lengthy opening
flashback scene that is filmed and set in Arches National Park and Moab, including south Park Avenue
and Double Arch. It is the highest grossing film of 1989. The 1000*" arch is discovered and named One
Thousand Arch. Double Arch and the North Window are used as the settings for an Environmental
Dance and Poetry Performance in March, and the University of Utah Classical Greek Festival performs
Euripides’ comedy Helen at Double Arch in October.

May 1989: Visitor Joyce Drake witnesses and photographs a significant rock fall at Baby Arch, an event
that produces a large cloud of dust, visible from the park road. Kokopelli’s Trail mountain bike route
between Grand Junction, Colorado and Moab is dedicated; a spur enters the park in Cache Valley.

May 21, 1989: Following his death on March 14, Edward Abbey’s life is celebrated by 500 people at a
memorial overlooking Arches National Park.
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1990: The Americans with Disabilities Act is passed. Arches has no ADA compliant facilities. Noel R. Poe
becomes the Superintendent of Arches National Park. The 1,500" arch is reported. An ARPA Monitoring
Program is first established. The Native American Graves and Repatriation Act (NAGPRA) and the Clean
Air Act of 1990 are passed.

April 26, 1990: The 8-millionth visitors to Arches are Bill and Arlene Ahles.

October 6-9, 1990: A government shutdown closes Arches. Fee collection is halted, the visitor center is
closed, and the entrance gate is closed on the first day, although no barricades are placed on Willow
Springs or Salt Valley roads. The campground is closed on October 7 at noon.

1991: FAA Advisory Circular 91-36C is issued in response to mounting concerns about aircraft overflights,
recommending minimum safe altitudes for aircraft operation over or near Noise Sensitive Areas (such as
National Parks). On the 75" anniversary of the NPS the Vail Agenda is issued, providing a review of
current policy and roadmap for the NPS in the twenty-first century. The Arches Visitor Center is
expanded with funds donated by CNHA, which moves from the Rock House into the visitor center. The
Rock House is restored and houses the superintendent and other administrative offices. Primitive Loop
Trail is partially re-routed due to persistent visitor complaints, injuries, and lost hikers. Walter D. Dabney
takes control as superintendent of SEUG. Director Ridley Scott releases Thelma & Louise, a blockbuster
partly filmed in Arches National Park. To mitigate steep cuts to the NPS budget, outside volunteer
organizations begin work projects in Arches, including trail maintenance. The BLM completes a
statewide study of potential Wilderness and submits the plan to the Utah governor and congressional
delegation. SEUG hires Nancy Coulam as the first group archaeologist.

September 1, 1991: A 73-foot-long slab of rock falls from the bottom of Landscape Arch. Smaller
rockfalls are documented on September 4, between September 17 and 20, and on September 26.

1992: The Draft Rock Climbing Management Plan is completed but never implemented. A special use
permit is issued to the Salt Lake Astronomical Society for a public star party at Panorama Point. The
International Society for Krishna Consciousness of Colorado, Inc. (the Hare Krishna Movement) seeks a
location at Arches for proselytizing and distribution of literature, resulting in the creation of a First
Amendment Forum near the visitor center. NPS initiates an Inventory and Monitoring Program to
provide baseline data for impacts of encroaching development. BYU opens a new paleontological
excavation on state land at Dalton Wells, at which a new carnivorous dinosaur species is discovered and
named for the area—Utahraptor. The air quality monitoring station moves from Arches to Island in the
Sky at Canyonlands. Ute tribal elders contact Arches, concerned about the disposition of a stand of
purple sage growing in the area of the proposed new entrance road. The plants are moved prior to road
construction in 2003-2004. SEUG completes a Summary of Human Remains and Funerary Objects as
required by NAGPRA.

1992-1995: Arches is the pilot NPS unit for the Visitor Experience and Resource Protection (VERP)
program, to measure the visitor experience and carrying capacity of the park, culminating in the June
1995 publication of the Visitor Experience and Resource Protection (VERP) Implementation Plan, Arches
National Park. The required ongoing monitoring of conditions has not been implemented since 2004.
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1993: The Government Performance and Results Act requires strict accounting of agency budgets and job
positions. Superintendent Walt Dabney and others create the Canyon Country Partnership to improve
relationships with local business interests, county and state government, and environmental advocates.
The visitor center is expanded to include more room for the CNHA sales area. A reservation system for
Devils Garden Campground is implemented after decades of complaints by visitors. NPS Historic
American Engineering Record Historian Christine L. Madrid performs HABS/HAER documentation of the
entrance road, culvert, and visitor center in anticipation of their replacement. The National Biological
Survey (NBS) is created, transferring most biological scientists in the Department of the Interior to the
new agency, including Jayne Belnap.

August 25, 1993: A commercial filming cost recovery program is implemented for SEUG, led by Arches
staff.

1994: Conservative Republicans win both houses of Congress in midterm elections and immediately
begin to implement the “Contract with America,” a legislative program to reduce the size and scope of
the federal government. SEUG moves from a multi-agency office in Moab to dedicated headquarters
south of town along Highway 191 (which it later shares with the USGS and Northern Colorado Plateau
Inventory and Monitoring Program). Gift shop and information center (established 1993) remains with
the multi-agency building and is run by the CNHA as the Moab Information Center after 2002. BYU
resumes excavations at the Dalton Wells dinosaur quarry when specimens of Utahraptor are discovered
among the unanalyzed collection from 1975. Sixteen new NPS wayside interpretive signs are installed by
staff and volunteers. The Devils Garden ranger trailer is demolished due to fears of Hantavirus, and it is
replaced with a site-built visitor contact station.

March 1, 1994: The new Fiery Furnace permit and fee system is implemented, and is monitored by the
volunteer Fiery Furnace Corps.

May 19, 1994: The Utah Division of Lands and Forestry issues a record of decision to convert 5,359 acres
of state land containing paleontological resources west of Arches to sovereign status to protect it from
development.

1995: Rocky Mountain Region is renamed the Intermountain Field Area, but remains in Denver, Colorado.
2,000%™ Arch is documented, named for being the 2000™" known in the park. Superintendent Noel R. Poe
transfers late in the year, and the position is vacant until Rock Smith is detailed to the position from
Utah State Parks in 2001. Delicate Arch is depicted on a U.S. Postal Service stamp and a Utah license
plate in honor of Utah’s Centennial. A photovoltaic system installed in Devils Garden Campground
significantly reduces the use of generators.

May 16, 1995: A piece of sandstone less than 6 feet in length falls from the thinnest part of Landscape
Arch, and is witnessed by 12 visitors. This is followed by additional rockfalls on June 5, June 13, and June
21, all from the same part of the arch. The Landscape Arch Loop Trail is permanently closed to protect
visitors from falling rocks.

September 16, 1995: The new Delicate Arch road, overlook, and parking lot is dedicated under the
direction of Superintendent Noel Poe, with speeches by Utah Governor Michael Leavitt and Senator
Robert Bennett; this is the first event celebrating the Grand County Centennial.
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October 3, 1995: Pilot David Kelsey violates the FAA minimum altitude advisory over Arches. He is
subsequently stripped of his pilot’s license (1996) after denying that he was the operator of the aircraft,
refusing to cooperate in the investigation, and demonstrating a belligerent attitude during hearings.

November 14-20, 1995: Government shutdown closes Arches and all NPS units; the closures begin with
a “soft-closedown” during which the inbound gate is closed, but visitors already in the park remain until
the advent of a “hard-closedown” the following day, during which all visitors are required to leave and
the entrance gate is locked. Willow Springs and Salt Valley roads are barricaded and signed as closed.

December 18, 1995 to January 6, 1996: Government shutdown occurs again. Procedures are the same as
in November, but public reaction is much stronger, with more incidences of visitors violating the closure
and some vandalism.

1996: President William J. Clinton declares the Grand Staircase—Escalante National Monument, further
enflaming local anti-government sentiments in southern Utah. Despite changing the name of the NBS to
National Biological Service in 1995, conservative politicians continue to target the agency in an attempt
to dismantle the Endangered Species Act, so it is merged into the U.S. Geological Survey as the Biological
Resources Division. Jayne Belnap remains with the agency, which shares office space with SEUG, and
continues to assist SEUG with research and monitoring projects.

1997: The NPS re-designates the Intermountain Field Area as the Intermountain Region. The Fee
Demonstration Program begins, allowing federal agencies to keep up to 80 percent of fees collected to
pay for authorized projects. Leaks in the visitor center damage some of the exhibits; the visitor center is
re-roofed over the winter of 1997-1998. The Grand County Sherriff grants SEUG rangers misdemeanor-
level law enforcement jurisdiction to assist investigations of paleontological looting on adjacent state
lands. The Delicate Arch Trail suspension bridge is replaced with a fixed span. Fat Tire Festival sponsors
ride on the roads through Arches. Utah grants permit for an air tour operation on state lands in Arches,
apparently as a bargaining ploy in the state lands exchange with the NPS.

1998: The National Parks Omnibus Management Act is passed. The Utah Schools and Land Exchange Act
of 1998 (PL 105-335) exchanges 6,902.44 acres of state lands within Arches, and 320 acres of mineral
rights, for BLM lands, coal royalties, and cash, resolving an issue that dated from the 1971 creation of
Arches National Park and had been actively negotiated since 1980. Dr. Jeffrey J. Cain is denied a special
use permit to use a mountain bike on trails in Rocky Mountain and Arches National Parks when he
requests permission to use trails in Wilderness or Wilderness Study areas. Administration of Hovenweep
National Monument is transferred from Mesa Verde National Park to SEUG.

January 7, 1998: Grand County passes a resolution restricting visual impacts along US 191, U128, U212,
and U313. This is later codified in the Grand County Building Codes.

May 29, 1998: Regional manhunt begins for three survivalists who murdered a Cortez, Colorado police
officer. After injuring other law enforcement personnel and firing at Hovenweep National Monument
Superintendent Art Hutchinson and visitors, the monument is closed and all SEUG law enforcement
personnel are detailed to the search. One suspect commits suicide on June 4 after a shootout with
police near Bluff; 500 law enforcement as well as bounty hunters scour the Four Corners until July. The
remains of the other two suspects are found in Colorado in 1999 and 2007.
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October 30, 1998: President William J. Clinton signs Public Law 105-329, adding the 3,140 acres of Lost
Spring Canyon to Arches

November 6, 1998: The Lost Spring Canyon addition to Arches National Park is dedicated at an event
attended by SEUG Superintendent Walter Dabney, Representative Chris Cannon, and NPS officials.

December 3, 1998: A pipeline construction crew accidently ruptures an existing 10-inch natural gas
pipeline in Moab Canyon. There are no fatalities and only minor injuries, but the explosion and flames
burn adjacent overhead power poles, scorch 200 feet of US 191, and damage three archaeological sites
in Arches National Park. The park is evacuated and closed for several days. Another near miss along the
same segment of pipe follows on February 26, 1999.

1999: Jerry Banta is named the new superintendent of SEUG. Executive Order 13112 on Invasive Species
directs all agencies to prevent the spread of non-native plants and animals, remove infestations, and
restore landscape to natural conditions. Inventory and Monitoring and Cooperative Ecosystem Study Unit
programs begin, providing scientific research and monitoring for projects in national park system units
and other federal lands. Congress reviews pending Wilderness designations but as of this date, has yet
to act on those in Utah, due in part to opposition from the Utah congressional delegation and state
government.

July 1, 1999: The EPA publishes the final rule on Regional Haze Regulations to address the deteriorating
air quality conditions in the 156 Class | Areas, including Arches National Park.

2000: The National Parks Air Tour Management Act (NPATMA) (14 CFR 136) is passed. It directs the FAA
to develop Air Tour Management Plans (ATMPs) for parks that are not exempt from the requirement. A
survey of the paleontological resources of Arches National Park is undertaken during the summer. A
complete refurbishment of Devils Garden Campground, including the entire water system, is completed.
SEUG implements a Night Sky Preservation Program and helps the International Dark-Sky Association
and local advocates get Grand County to implement a dark sky lighting ordinance.

September 18-19, 2000: Professional photographer Michael Fatali damages Delicate Arch by setting
fires to provide light for night-time photography.

2001: The National Parks Overflights Advisory Group is created to initiate and manage Air Tour
Management Plans. ). Rockford “Rock” Smith is the new Arches National Park Superintendent, on a 2-
year exchange with Utah State Parks. The U.S. Department of Energy takes control of the Atlas Minerals
mill site for remediation, under Title 1 of the Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act (UMTRA). The
National Park Service files a claim against Williams Energy under the Park System Resources Protection
Act, 16 U.S.C. § 19jj, for damages resulting from the 1998 pipeline explosion, one of the first such claims
filed under this act. The final report on VERP is completed. The NPS Northern Colorado Plateau
Inventory and Monitoring Network (NCPN) is instigated as the pilot for the I&M program, and is initially
based in Moab in the same building as SEUG and USGS, later moving to the Arches entrance complex.
The NCPN begins by inventorying existing datasets to determine current and future data requirements,
and monitoring night sky conditions at SEUG units.

September 11, 2001: Saudi Arabian terrorists crash occupied passenger jets in New York City,
Washington D.C., and rural Pennsylvania in a coordinated attack that kills 2,996 and leads to the
creation of the Travel Safety Administration (TSA). Visitation at Arches actually drops 9.7 percent from
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1999 to 2000, but only decreases slightly (4.2%) in 2001 over the previous year; visitation continues a
modest decrease through 2004 to 733,131, before beginning a dramatic increase in 2005. However,
over the same period, NPS budgets are diverted to the undeclared “War on Terror,” resulting in
deferred maintenance, diminished staff, and low morale.

September 19-20, 2001: Practice run of the Olympic torch in Moab occurs. Because of the 9/11 terror
attacks, planning for the Salt Lake City Olympics shifts from logistical issues to security.

2002: Williams Pipeline Company settles with the NPS for $62,575 for damages from the 1998 pipeline
explosion. The George L. Beam photographs are rediscovered as part of a 2002—-2004 project directed by
SEUG Ecologist Charlie Schelz to collect historic photos from regional museums and depositories, and
then re-photograph selected locations. Former Canyonlands Ranger Anthony J. Schetzsle returns to
SEUG as the new superintendent.

February 1, 2002: Michael Fatali sentenced to 2 years of probation, 150 hours of community service, and
$10,900 in restitution for the Delicate Arch fires.

February 4, 2002: The Olympic torch debuts in Utah and is carried beneath Delicate Arch by Stephanie
LaRee Spann, as the morning sun first touches the La Sal Mountains, on its way to the Winter Olympics
in Salt Lake City. Three of the torchbearers are NPS employees, including Arches Ranger Gary Haynes,
who is selected for his role in organizing the event.

2003: The Devils Garden Campground reservation system is revised to combine some reserved spaces
with some available on a first-come, first-served basis, to mixed results.

2004: Laura E. Joss is chosen as the superintendent of Arches National Park. Core Operations Analysis is
instituted by region; it later becomes a national program designed to further reduce the size of the NPS.
The SEUG Trails Crew is reconstituted under Greg Kosa.

July 1, 2004: The newly reconstructed entrance road, which is extended a quarter mile east to avoid a
dangerous blind curve on US 191, and new entrance station are dedicated. The entrance road is
constructed by the Utah Department of Transportation as part of a major reconstruction of US 191,
which is widened to four lanes and realigned.

July 14, 2004: The final rule making permanent the closure of part of Salt Creek Road in Canyonlands
National Park to vehicular traffic is published in the Federal Register in 2003, becoming final on this date.

August 10, 2004: After a family fight, intoxicated James Ricky Cunningham of Richwood, Texas, rams his
car into his girlfriend Rhonda A. Rosenbalm at the Moab Fault Overlook, killing her, setting his car afire,
and driving a third vehicle over the embankment edge, slightly injuring three others in the 20-foot drop.
Cunningham is sentenced to two consecutive sentences of 5 years to life for murder and DUl in 2005.

2005: The Federal Land Recreation Act replaces and extends the Fee Demonstration program for an
additional 10 years. By June 17, all employees with access to secure buildings or computers have to
submit to a background check and are provided with a Smart Card for access.

September 17, 2005: Arches holds a ribbon-cutting ceremony attended by 300 for the new 18,000-
square-foot visitor center. Participants include NPS Director Fran Mainella, local elected officials, and
members of the National Park Foundation board of directors. Two of George L. Beam’s photographs
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from 1923 are part of a permanent exhibition about the founding of Arches, the first public display of
any of Beam’s photos in the context of the monument creation, although they have been available to
view and purchase for some time prior at the Denver Public Library website.

2006: Kate Cannon becomes the superintendent of SEUG. Jay Wilbur measures the span of Kolob Arch in
Zion National Park using laser equipment; the result of 287.4 + 2.0 feet is shorter than the distance of
290.1 + 0.8 feet that he had obtained in 2004 for Landscape Arch, verifying the latter as the longest in
the world. The transportation Implementation Management Plan for Arches National Park is completed;
it recommends expanded parking throughout the park, but fails to address the issue of alternative
transportation systems.

May 7-8, 2006: Dean Potter illegally climbs Delicate Arch and posts video to social media.

December 2007: Collapse of the sub-prime mortgage market triggers the Great Recession (2007-
2009).*? Visitation increases dramatically during this period due to very low gasoline prices, ongoing
uncertainty and difficulty involved in international travel, and increased travel to the United States from
other countries, especially China.

2008: SEUG Superintendent Kate Cannon assumes the position of Superintendent of Arches when Laura
Joss transfers. The BLM initiates a massive sale of oil and gas leases in direct proximity to Arches
National Park and Moab. After lawsuits and public outcry over the sale and its lack of transparency, the
BLM reduces the original auction from 360,000 acres to 164,000. U.S. District Judge Ricardo M. Urbina
issues a restraining order on the auction, suspending the process. Utah submits its state plan for
reducing regional haze as one of the Grand Canyon Visibility Transport Commission (GCVTC) states
under the EPA Regional Haze Regulations, 4 years after the mandated deadline.

August 4-5, 2008: Wall Arch collapses.

2009: Removal of the Atlas Uranium Mill tailings pile begins, intended to be completed by 2025.
Archaeological survey of the natural gas pipeline right-of-way through Arches is undertaken prior to a
major maintenance project, followed by a revegetation program.

February 4, 2009: New Interior Secretary Ken Salazar cancels 77 of the BLM oil and gas leases for further
review.

2010: Victoria Carlson is honored by becoming the first 1-millionth visitor in a single year.

2011: The Arches National Park Alternative Transportation System and Congestion Management Study is
completed, but concludes that a shuttle system would not be cost-effective for the park. A timed-
entry/reservation system is determined to be the preferred approach. One campground space is
replaced with additional photovoltaic panels.

2012: The Utah legislature passes the Transfer of Public Lands Act, which demands the surrender of all
federal lands in Utah to the state, except for parks and Department of Defense installations (but Grand
Staircase—Escalante National Monument is to be included in the transfer) and reorganizes several state
agencies to create the Public Lands Policy Coordinating Office under the Governor’s office, to litigate
claims. Twenty-five lawsuits are filed claiming almost 36,000 miles of roads under RS 2477 claims,
including lands adjacent to Arches. NPS begins development of a system-wide program to improve
accessibility, titled “All In! Accessibility in the National Park Service, 2015-2020,” and issues final rule for
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Vehicles and Traffic Safety — Bicycles. The EPA rejects Utah’s proposed approach to reducing nitrogen
oxide and particulates at two coal-burning power plants located in Emery County in their final review of
the state plan of the Regional Haze Regulations.

June 5, 2012: Arches rangers host observation of the Transit of Venus from the Panorama Point and
Sand Dune Arch parking lots.

August 2013: Approval of the Rock Climbing & Canyoneering Management Plan; BASE jumping remains
banned from Arches.

April 8, 2014: Superintendent Kate Cannon closes the area around Sand Dune Arch after extensive,
deeply carved graffiti is discovered in 2013.

April 28, 2014: The 10%™ Circuit Court of Appeals rules against PLPCO’s attempt to claim Salt Creek
Canyon Road in Canyonlands under RS 2477.

May 31, 2014: Grand opening of the Lions Park Transit Hub on the southside of Utah Route 128. Bike
paths now extend along U 128 and US 191 as far as the U 313 junction.

June 2014: Beginning of the Arches National Park Administrative History project, with a visit to the SEUG
Archives in Moab. The U.S. Mint holds an event at the visitor center on June 6 to release a special
“America the Beautiful” quarter depicting Delicate Arch as the symbol of Utah.

2015: On Memorial Day, the NPS and the Utah Highway Patrol close the Arches Entrance gate after
traffic backs up more than a mile on US 191. The Moab Giants Dinosaur Museum and Park opens
September 1 at the intersection of US 191 and U313.

July 31, 2015: The Federal District Court for the District of Utah ordered the establishment of a
“bellwether” process to streamline the 12,500 RS 2477 rights-of-way throughout Utah.

August 13, 2015: The BLM releases the Moab Master Leasing Plan as a draft Environmental Impact
Statement, which recommends prohibiting leases on 145,000 acres adjacent to national parks and
prohibiting surface occupancy on an additional 306,000 acres, but does offer up 59,000 acres for potash
mining in some areas barred from oil and gas leases. SEUG Resource Stewardship and Science Chief
Mark Miller was a major contributor to this interagency planning effort, the first of its kind in the United
States.

2016: Eight million tons of tailings (50%) from the Atlas mill have been removed and buried by January.
By the end of the year, visitation exceeds 1.5 million for the first time.

March 11, 2016: The redeveloped Lions Park reopens to the public north of U128, including a pedestrian
bridge across the Colorado River to the portion of the park within Arches boundaries, which remains
unchanged.

April 2016: Frame Arch is vandalized with deeply carved graffiti.

June 2016: The EPA orders the installation of scrubbers at the Hunter and Huntington power plants
within 5 years.

July 26, 2016: The BLM Master Leasing Plan Final EIS is published.
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August 2016: The National Park Service Centennial is celebrated nationwide. Arches events include Art
in the Parks on August 12 and the Founders Day Celebration on August 25 at the Moab Information
Center.

December 28, 2016: With strong support from regional tribes and archaeological organizations,
President Barack Obama declares the 1.3-million-acre Bears Ears National Monument over strenuous
objections from state and local officials in Utah.

2017: SEUG enters into NAGPRA consultation over the disposition of human remains that are discovered
inadvertently. The entire 26-mile paved road system in Arches National Park is completely resurfaced
and UDOT installs a “smart” traffic light and median dividers on US 191. The scope of the Traffic
Congestion Management EA is narrowed to just Arches National Park and an additional public comment
period is opened from November 1 to December 18, 2017. The preferred alternative is the use of
reservations and a timed entry system to better distribute visitors throughout the day.

January 1, 2017: Arches National Park discontinues commercial guide service to Fiery Furnace.

February 2017: The owners of coal-fired Navajo Generating Station in Page, Arizona, announce that it
will close by December 31, 2019, removing a major source of regional haze on the Colorado Plateau.

March 2017: A new native plant trail opens behind the Arches visitor center.

September 2017: Ruling in a suit filed by Utah, U.S. 10™ Circuit Court of Appeals stays the final EPA order
requiring scrubber installations to the Hunter and Huntington coal-fired power plants.

2018: The Community Vision Update plan for the former Atlas Mill tailings pile is opened for public
comment from May 15 to June 15. Two brief government shutdowns over spending resolutions in
March and September have little effect on Arches.

January 31, 2018: The Administration of President Donald J. Trump voids the entire Master Leasing
Plan program in an instructional memorandum and reduces the public comment opportunities.

July 2018: The BLM Utah state office announces plans to open more than a half-million acres of energy
leases, but none are located near Arches.

September 2018: Administrators of the Atlas Mill tailings pile cleanup declare the remediation project is
57 percent complete, but that only about 114 acres of the site would be usable for future development.

December 22, 2018: Beginning of a five-week-long government shutdown involving eight departments
including Interior. Utah Governor Gary Herbert authorizes the expenditure of 580,000 to keep Arches,
Zion, and Bryce Canyon open through the winter holidays.

Organization of this History

Writing the administrative history of Arches National Park was challenging, and not just because of the
staggering amount of material to evaluate, read, copy, scan, and incorporate (or not). Many of the
issues that have confronted the very first custodians and superintendents of Arches National Monument
remain active management topics today. This makes a strictly chronological approach to the story
difficult to render, as the first major draft demonstrated. However, the second draft showed that a
purely thematic approach also produced problems with flow and focus. In its final form, the

|Page 21



administrative history of Arches National Park merges the two approaches into what | hope is a
successful blend.

After providing this overview and timeline of the important events relevant to Arches (above), the
remaining eight chapters alternate between being mostly chronological and thematic: Chapter 2
describes the process by which Arches was declared a national monument, Chapter 3 relates the period
of initial development (1929-1971), Chapter 5 examines the establishment and management of Arches
National Park (1971-1990), and Chapter 7 describes more recent developments in Arches, focusing on
visitation and VERP (1990-2018). Lands issues and encroachment problems are approached thematically
in Chapter 4, Chapter 6 examines the shift from contemplative visitation to active non-conformity
among visitors to Arches, and Chapter 8 looks at the synergy between exposure in movies, Edward
Abbey’s writings, and Delicate Arch as an iconic emblem. Chapter 9 concludes the story thus far with a
review of the many very active issues relating to Arches management as the administrative history was
being written, and takes a speculative look ahead to 2060.

This report was completed in a period of acute political and social uncertainty, with the year-long
celebration of the National Park Service Centennial juxtaposed against a political wave of populism,
social conservatism, and anti-environmentalism; unavoidably, this document reflects these discordant
tones.
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Central Files, Arches National Monument, General 1923-32). Arches National Park Records, ARCH 101/004-006,
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as the Arches National Park Administrative Collection, for which a finding guide is available: Vicki B. Webster,
Finding Aid: Arches National Park Administrative Collection, 1929-2008 (Bulk Dates 1940—-2000). (Moab: National
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https://www.nps.gov/aboutus/upload/site-Designations-01-13-17-1.pdf lists 417 of the units in existence by
January 13, 2017. Congress and the President may add units to the national park system. However, 23 units were
removed from the national park system between 1930 and 1994, and were transferred to other federal agencies
or states. Barry Mackintosh, Former National Park System Units: An Analysis, National Park Service, 1995
(Electronic document http://www.nps.gov/history/history/hisnps/NPSHistory/formerparks.htm, viewed August 7,
2014).

3 Bates E. Wilson, Monthly Narrative Report for April 1964, May 8, 1964. ARCH 101/001-025, SEUG Archives.
Wilson noted under a miscellaneous news item: “As a special note of interest we read with pride a note in the
register at the Balanced Rock which described Arches as the ‘greatest piece of natural scenery on the face of the
earth.”

4 Vicki B. Webster, “Finding Aid: Arches National Park Administrative Collection, 1929-2008 (Bulk Dates 1940-
2000), Collection Number ARCH 101,” National Park Service, 2012. (Electronic document
https://www.nps.gov/arch/learn/history/culture/upload/ARCH101.xml). Many Resource and Science Stewardship
projects undertaken at Arches over the past 20 years are of a long-term nature, often involving lengthy periods of
monitoring to establish baseline conditions or changes to established parameters. Consequently, these active
programs have yet to be archived and are somewhat under-represented by this document-focused administrative
history.

5 Edward Abbey, Desert Solitaire: A Season in the Wilderness. (New York: Ballantine, 1968).

6 John F. Hoffman, Arches National Park: An lllustrated Guide. (San Diego: Western Recreation Publications, 1985).
Hoffman lists Desert Solitaire as recommended reading in his guidebook, but does not mention Abbey in the text,
or evaluate his contributions to increasing Arches visitation. Abbey’s work is still cited by visitors as a reason for
their visit to Arches, and more important, his ethos informs many of those who participate in “non-conforming”
activities at Arches. Abbey falls very much on the wilderness end of the conservation-environmentalism spectrum
of beliefs, and his views still greatly influence the debates about visitation, access, and overuse that are current as
this history is being finalized.

7 Samuel P. Hays, From Conservation to Environment: Environmental Politics in the United States Since World War
. In Out of the Woods: Essays in Environmental History, edited by Char Miller and Hal Rothman, pp. 101-126.
(Pittsburg: University of Pittsburg Press, 1997).

8 Samuel J. Schmieding, From Controversy to Compromise to Cooperation: The Administrative History of
Canyonlands National Park. (National Park Service, 2008).

% Peter Laslett and James S. Fishkin, Introduction: Processional Justice. In Justice between Age Groups and
Generations, edited by Peter Laslett and James S. Fishkin, pp. 1-23. (New Haven and London: Yale University Press,
1992). Although this book is primarily a critique of the welfare state from a conservative, free-market perspective,
the focus on political and economic struggle among age cohorts lends insight into the motivations of groups such
as the “Tea Party,” which largely represent the viewpoints of the oldest current generation.

10 Noel Poe, Memorandum: Annual Supt Report, January 18, 1991. Arches National Park Administrative Collection,
ARCH 101/001-035, SEUG Archives.

11 The many additions and subtractions to Arches are described in detail in Chapter 3, including the proclamation
numbers, acreages, and signatories.

12 Timeline for the Great Recession, CS Monitor, September 8, 2013. (Electronic document
http://www.csmonitor.com/Business/2013/0908/Timeline-on-the-Great-Recession, viewed August 11, 2016).

13 National Park Service, Arches National Park — Centennial Events. (Electronic document
https://www.nps.gov/arch/getinvolved/centennial-events.htm, viewed August 10, 2016).
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Prelude: Movement to Preserve the Arches, 1922-1929

For many years, newspaper and magazine articles promoted Dr. J. W. “Doc” Williams
(1853—-1956) and Moab’s Times-Independent newspaper editor Loren L. “Bish” Taylor (1892—-1972) as
the “Fathers of Arches.”! In Arches National Park: An Illustrated Guide, John F. Hoffman examined in
depth the issue of credit for the “discovery” and promotion of Arches as a national monument,
concluding that prospector Alex Ringhoffer was the actual “Father of Arches” (Figure 2-1).2 The Times-
Independent newspaper of Moab had already come to the same conclusion in 1955, giving due credit to
Dr. Williams for helping to enlarge, not found, the monument.® Hoffman’s analysis was very thorough,
but the idea of “fathering” a national monument now seems sexist and outdated. But, a surprising
number of people were exploring southeastern Utah in the 1920s, and several of them added their
voices to the call for greater protection for Arches. Photographs by these advocates, especially those of
George L. Beam and Frank R. Oastler, vividly portrayed the beauty and significance of the landscape,
helping to build the political capital for a Presidential Proclamation, and establishing a perpetual
dialectic between photography and visitation. The story of how Arches came into the national park
system has been revisited for three reasons: it is the logical point at which to begin the administrative
history of Arches as a national park unit; it establishes many of the issues important to NPS management
of Arches such as photography, mineral prospecting, and boundary problems; and it facilitates further
exploration of some details of the relationships and interactions among the people seeking to have the
landscape proclaimed as Arches National Monument.

Some of the issues raised in the proposal of a national monument remain relevant to the interactions of
the National Park Service and Utah today, in the aftermath of the Bears Ears National Monument
proclamation in 2016. Likewise, the idea of “discovering” places for which there is abundant evidence of
Native American occupation is also a relic of Eurocentric approaches to history and claims to property.
As Hoffman describes, Arches has been visited since Paleoindian times by Native People.* However,
these visits did not lead to the creation of a unit of the National Park Service, nor did exploring parties of
the historic period.> More recent visits and even settlement (Wolfe Ranch) are part of the historic record
and did, in the case of Ringhoffer, lead directly to the creation of Arches National Monument. Although
Landscape Arch had been described in an 1898 article in Science, and a photograph of Delicate Arch was
published in a Latter Day Saints (LDS) magazine in 1909, most of the visitors to this landscape prior to
1923 were inspired to graze livestock or stake mineral claims, not seek National Park Service protection.®

Prospectors and the 1872 Mining Law

An act to promote the Development of the Mining Resources of the United States was signed into law
by President Ulysses S. Grant on May 10, 1872.” Known more commonly as the General Mining Act of
1872, the law was not an attempt by Congress to encourage prospecting and mining on public lands (as
it is currently viewed by many environmental groups),® but rather was an act to control and regulate the
mining activity that was already taking place.® Mining of lands in the West had been happening since
Spaniards established a major copper mine at Santa Rita, New Mexico, in the seventeenth century. The
Spanish had developed a legal system for regulating mineral resources that was in use throughout New
Spain. When the United States acquired Texas, New Mexico Territory, and California Alto in the Mexican
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2-1. Alex Ringhoffer, date unknown. Arches National Park Black-and-White
Photographic Collection, ARCH 3322.000321, SEUG Archives. (Photographer
unknown).

War, Americans began to prospect for minerals in these territories. When gold was discovered at
Sutter’s Mill, California, in 1849, the governments of California and the United States lacked the
legislative frameworks to regulate, tax, or adjudicate disputes involving miners or their camps. During
this period of uncertainty, miners organized themselves by mining districts, establishing rules for
discovery of minerals, claims and claim marking, and ore recovery that derived from the mining laws of
the Spanish colonial period. This system was spread from camp to camp, district to district, and strike to
strike throughout the western territories and states. As almost all of the land in the western territories
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was owned by the federal government (or was land for which ownership had yet to be resolved), most
of the prospecting and mining took place on public lands. Local and state governments supported this
system, deriving revenue from sales taxes on goods sold to miners and on the mineral products of
mines. Yet, the mining and prospecting was illegal under the existing federal laws. After the Civil War,
some congressional delegates from eastern states came to view this situation as a significant problem.
The miners were regarded as stealing public resources that could be used to pay the enormous debt
accrued from the Civil War and Reconstruction. Some congressmen advocated for seizing mines on
public lands and selling them at auction, or authorizing the federal government to work the mines to
directly enrich the Treasury.®

Between 1865 and 1870, Congress enacted a series of mining laws, or public lands laws with appended
mining laws, to forestall this possibility. The Chaffee amendment of 1866 and the “placer law” of 1870
were combined in 1872 as 30 U.S.C. §§22-42, the General Mining Act.!! The law addressed both hard
rock and placer lodes, expanded the scope of the law to include “other valuable minerals” in addition to
gold, silver, cinnabar and copper, granted miners the right to follow mineral veins (“extralateral rights”),
and fixed the size and price of patented load claims. Additionally, this act provided rights-of-way across
public lands for roads to facilitate the extraction and processing of mineral strikes. Since 1872, the
government has been paid $2.50 to $5.00 per acre for patented mineral claims on federal land, and is
not paid royalties on the extracted minerals. The lack of compensation to the federal government and
the absence of any requirements for environmental protection or reclamation of mine sites remain
points of controversy to the present day, despite numerous amendments to the basic law, and the
passage of other environmental and land management laws that supersede portions of the 1872 act
(such as the Federal Land Policy and Management Act of 1976 that rescinded the road right-of-way
portion, as discussed in Chapter 4). At its heart, the 1872 law gives any United States citizen over the age
of 18 years the right to locate and claim deposits of valuable minerals on federal lands that are open to
mineral exploration, which are all lands that have not been withdrawn from mineral entry for some
other purpose, such as lands set aside for national parks, monuments, and Wilderness areas.
Furthermore, the Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 excluded certain non-metal minerals such as oil, gas, and
petroleum, from claiming under the 1872 law.? Prospecting for minerals has swept across the West in
waves, driven by peaks in commodity market prices responding to new technologies or the material
needs of wars. Copper achieved new value during the early decades of the twentieth century through
rapid industrialization and the spread of the electrical grid and telephone networks, and the onset of
World War |, instigating a fresh round of prospecting.

From 1917 to 1941, Alexander Ringhoffer (1869 or 1870 to 1941) prospected for copper and silver ore
around Moab.!? Alex, as he was known, was a native of Hungary who had originally settled in southern
Texas when he immigrated to the United States.!* According to the recollections of his son, Arpod
Ringhoffer (sometimes referred to as Arpad, 1897-1973),%° Alex Ringhoffer was joined in his prospecting
in 1922 by his sons, including Arpod and “a couple or three” brothers. Ringhoffer and his family filed at
least 129 claims in southeastern Utah between May 27, 1922 and August 2, 1930.1° These include two
claims for “Devils Pocket” in 1922, and numerous claims that reference the family’s previous association
with southern Texas: “Texas,” “Texas Ranger,” “San Angelo,” “San Saba,” “San Antonio,” and “Texas
Rider.” Alex filed most of the claims, 96 in all, although Evalon Ringhoffer is listed on eight claims and
Mrs. Alexander Ringhoffer took the lead on thirteen. F. D. Lewis claimed “Ringhoffer 1-12” on June 25,
1924, following Alex Ringhoffer’s claims of “Lewis 1-13” and “Ringhoffer 1-12” (among others) on March
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14, 1923. The nature of the association between Lewis and Ringhoffer is undocumented. According to
the oral record of Arpod the Ringhoffers lived in Thompson at the beginning of the prospecting, with
various sons and a daughter joining, then leaving Alex for varying lengths of time. At the time of his
death in 1941, Alex Ringhoffer was living in a cabin in Salt Valley (according to Arpod) or at Thompson.’

“The Devil’s Garden”

Alex and Arpod Ringhoffer were the first documented Euroamerican visitors to some of the formations
of Arches, although there are differing accounts as to why and when. According to a letter dated
February 2, 1977, the Ringhoffers were prospecting on December 24, 1922, when they stumbled into
the area that Alex named “The Devil’'s Garden.”*® They returned with additional family members the
next day (Christmas) to further explore the area. This account was disputed by Arpod Ringhoffer, who
stated in 1970 that it was during a deer hunting trip that took place in 1922 or 1923 that Arpod and an
unnamed brother first observed part of the monumental landscape of Arches. They returned with Alex,
who named the area “The Devil’s Garden.”?® The Ringhoffers are also reported to have made two
additional explorations of “Devil’s Garden” after Christmas, including “once with an engineer from Los
Angeles who was doing some surveying in the vicinity.”?° Hoffman provides an account of the discovery
in his history of early exploration in Arches, and notes that the area named “The Devil’s Garden” by
Ringhoffer is not the area currently known as Devils Garden.?! It was the Klondike Bluffs, Marching Men,
and Tower Arch formations that the Ringhoffers first viewed.??

Hoffman attributes the name “Klondike Bluffs” to its cold winter weather, a premise related to Hoffman
by Samuel J. Taylor (1933-2010), editor and publisher of The Times-Independent newspaper in Moab,?3
and son of “Bish” Taylor.?* Hoffman equated the conditions of this part of Arches to the Klondike region
of Canada, in the Yukon Territory, but it is more likely the association with a potentially rich strike,
rather than weather, for which Klondike Bluffs was named. The Alaska Gold Rush (also known as the
Klondike Gold Rush) of 1896-1899 would have been fresh on the minds of any prospectors of the era,
including Alex Ringhoffer; one of his claims (July 31, 1922) was named “Clondike Unorganized.”?
Klondyke, Arizona, located in the southeastern part of that state in the hot Sonoran desert, was settled
in 1900 by miners who had actually participated in the Alaska Gold Rush.?® Archival sources do not
indicate in what year the area was first called Klondike Bluffs, or by whom, but it was clearly after the
name Devils Garden had moved in 1925 to the landscape feature that now bears that name. Given that
Alex Ringhoffer had already named the area “The Devil’s Garden,” the 1925 release of Charlie Chaplin’s
movie The Gold Rush, which was set in the Klondike, is another and more likely inspiration for the
name.?’” As Hoffman correctly points out throughout his Arches guidebook, an important facet of the
story of Arches is the issue of place names, many of which have changed through the years, including
Devils Garden.?® Marching Men is also a later sobriquet, replacing “The Fingers,” another short-lived
place name for which no record remains of its namer.?

On the base of Tower Arch is carved this inscription: DISCOV-D. / BY M. AND / MRS. / ALEX RINGHOEFER
/ AND SONS / 1922-3 (Figure 2-2).2° Although the date of the inscription is the interval during which the
Ringhoffers first explored the area, Hoffman questions the authenticity of this carving in his lengthy
analysis of the naming of Tower Arch by Beckwith in 1934.3! Based on the apparent misspelling of
Ringhoffer’'s name, the presence of another inscription by Hugh S. Bell from 1927, and various
circumstantial lines of evidence, Hoffman suggests, but does not conclusively state, that the
“Ringhoefer” inscription was a later addition, and that it was not inscribed by Alex Ringhoffer in 1922 or
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2-2. Ringhoffer inscription, January 2017. High dynamic monochrome digital image. (Photo credit: David E. Purcell).

1923. The inscription is not visible in a photograph of Tower Arch taken by George L. Beam during the
visit to the area by Wadleigh and Beam in September 1923, although the lighting conditions could have
obscured it, if it was present (Figure 2-3). Bell visited Tower Arch in 1927 and took large format
photographs of landscape features in the Arches area, including Double Arch, Tower Arch, and Double O
Arch (originally Double-O Arch,3? the National Park Service now spells it without a hyphen). Bell named
the feature now known as Tower Arch “Minaret Bridge” as demonstrated by his inscription at its base:
MINARET BRIDGE / H. S. BELL / 1927 (Figure 2-4).3 Bell also added inscriptions to Double Arch (which he
called “Twinbow Bridge”) and Double O Arch. In 1985 Bell stated in an interview that the “Ringhoefer”
inscription did not exist at the time that he visited Tower Arch. Hoffman does not identify who might
have carved the “Ringhoefer” inscription, but does suggest that it was done after Frank Oastler’s visit in
1925 and Bell’s in 1927, and before Frank Beckwith observed it in 1934.3* Hoffman also dismisses the
idea that the “Ringhoefer” or Bell inscriptions were later altered by the National Park Service, an idea
that had been suggested by arch hunter Robert Vreeland.*
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2-3. View from within Tower Arch, with no “Ringhoefer” inscription visible, 1923. James Ozment collection of
George Beam photographs, “Arches Nat’| Mon. — Utah,” GB-5731, Denver Public Library. (Photo credit: George L.
Beam). © Denver Public Library. Used with permission.

Alex Ringhoffer and Frank A. Wadleigh

The effect of the discovery of “The Devil’s Garden” on Alex Ringhoffer was so profound that in July 1923
he wrote a letter about the find to Frank A. Wadleigh (1857-1933%¢), passenger traffic manager at the
Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad System (D&RGW; Figure 2-5).3” This letter has not yet been
located in any archive, but is referenced in Wadleigh’s letter to Stephen Mather, as described below.
Ringhoffer apparently believed that the D&RGW would be interested in developing “The Devil’s Garden”
as a tourist center, and that “the tourists could come in and look it over and come in on the D&RGW.”*°
Whether out of curiosity, or more likely, intrigued by the real potential of a major new tourist
destination, Wadleigh and D&RGW photographer George L. Beam (1868—1935) traveled from Denver to
Thompson, Utah, in September 1923, where they were met by Alex Ringhoffer, who drove them in his
automobile approximately 18 miles southeast (Figure 2-6).%C The party, which also included Arpod
Ringhoffer, Henry Ringhoffer (son), and Lonnie Gray (Alex’s son-in-law),** then hiked 2—3 miles, involving
“heavy climbing,” to “The Devil’'s Garden” (Figures 2-7 and 2-8), as described by Wadleigh:
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There are no trails and there is no way to get into this “garden” except over the rocky ridge referred to.
Arriving, we found some stupendous sandstone formations of very remarkable shapes and unlike
anything | have ever seen in the Rocky Mountain region. The monoliths are greater than those in the
Garden of the Gods, the Colorado National Monument near Grand Junction, or in any of the southern
Utah regions that | have visited—excepting Zion.

We found what undoubtedly is the fifth in size of the known natural bridges. We had but two days at our
disposal and could only cover a small part of the district in that time, but Beam managed to make forty
or fifty exposures, and his pictures will convey some idea of the freakishness of the region.**

2-4. 1927 inscription by Hugh Bell beneath the northern end of Tower Arch (as it is now known), January 2017.
High dynamic monochrome digital image. (Photo credit: David E. Purcell).
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2-5. From left to right: Frank A. Wadleigh, Denver and Rio Grande Passenger Traffic Manager; A. R. Stevens,
Secretary; Mrs. Gertrude Wild; Fred Wild, Vice President of Traffic, ca 1924. “D&RGW business car A-1 at Salt Lake
City Union Depot, Utah,” GB-8193, Denver Public Library. (Photo credit: George L. Beam). © Denver Public Library.
Used with permission.
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2-6. A view of the La Sal Mountains on the road to Alexander Ringhoffer’s Devil’s Garden, 1923. This image may
have been staged by Beam at the end of their 2 days of exploration. The images of Tower Arch and the vicinity
were clearly taken around noon, and the view above is late afternoon to early evening. “Devil’s Garden section of
Arches Nat’'l Monument,”GB-8376, Denver Public Library. (Photo credit: George L. Beam). © Denver Public Library.
Used with permission.
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2-7. The Devil’s Garden exploration party at the San Rafael River bridge in Emery County, Utah (the two
unidentified men with the wagon are not part of the group). “Five man party involved in early exploration of Devils
Garden section of ultimate Arches National Park northeast of Moab, Utah,” GB-8372, Denver Public Library. (Photo
credit: George L. Beam). © Denver Public Library. Used with permission.
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2-8. Detail of the Devil’s Garden exploration party. From left to right “Alexander Ringhoffer, discoverer of Devils
garden [sic], and party leader, Arpad Ringhoffer, son, Frank A. Wadleigh, pass. traffic mgr, DRRGWRR, Lonnie Gray,
Ringhoffer son-in-law, Henry Ringhoffer, son, driving car,” GB-8372, Denver Public Library. (Photo credit: George L.
Beam). © Denver Public Library. Used with permission.

The natural bridge observed by Wadleigh and the others is now known as Tower Arch, the same feature
at which the “Ringhoefer” inscription is located (Figure 2-9). Wadleigh’s familiarity with other significant
landscapes of the region suggests that he was aware of the sort of places that might still be
undiscovered, and the sort of attention that they could attract from tourists. Garden of the Gods has
been a major destination since the 1870s, and would have been well known to anyone living in Denver
in the 1920s.*® Furthermore, nearby Colorado Springs was founded by General William Jackson Palmer,
the president and founder of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad. Frank A. Wadleigh worked in the
railroad business for 45 years,* during which he actively promoted both the settlement of railroad lands
and the growth of passenger traffic.*® Wadleigh was born November 15, 1857, in Clinton, lowa, and
began his railroad career as a ticket seller in Clinton with the Chicago & Northwestern Railroad.*® He
moved to Pueblo, Colorado in 1882 and joined the Denver & Rio Grande, working in the ticket office. He
was promoted in 1887 to chief clerk of the general passenger office in Denver, then promoted again in
1889 to assistant general passenger and ticket agent. In 1895, Wadleigh became the general passenger
agent of the Rio Grande Western Railroad, relocating his office to Salt Lake City in the same year.
Wadleigh quickly moved up in railroading circles, with many newspapers commenting that he was
outgoing, well-liked, and a hard worker.*’ In 1900, Wadleigh married Mrs. Harriet L. Keller in New York
City, where he moved to become the commissioner of the immigrant bureau of the Western Passenger
Association.”® He returned to Denver to resume his job as assistant general passenger agent in 1904
upon the resignation of T. E. Swann.* In 1910, Wadleigh moved his offices to San Francisco after being
promoted to general passenger agent for the Western Pacific Railroad.>® By 1913, he was the general
passenger agent of the Denver & Rio Grande railroad, possibly through mergers, and was making big
plans to improve rail traffic in Utah.>! During the late 1890s and early decades of the twentieth century,
the Passenger Department of the D&RGW periodically published “Tourists’ hand-book” guides to
Colorado, New Mexico, and Utah as a means of promoting ticket sales and development of railroad
lands.>? As passenger traffic manager, Wadleigh was directly involved in the production of these books.
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2-9. Tower Arch, 1923. James Ozment collection of George Beam photographs, “Sandstone spires,” GB-5744,
Denver Public Library. (Photo credit: George L. Beam). © Denver Public Library. Used with permission.

Wadleigh’s next step regarding “The Devil’s Garden” was to write to Stephen T. Mather (1867—-1930),
founding director of the National Park Service,*® urging him to “have the section surveyed with the view
of setting it apart as a National Monument.” But, Wadleigh was clearly aware of the sorts of issues that
could impede such a withdrawal of federal lands:

This man Ringhoffer has a mine prospect about four miles from the “Devil’s Garden,” and he is of the
opinion that there are ore deposits in that section, although not in the “garden.” With the exception of
this one prospect, there is nothing in the region. Some cattle and sheep range there during the winter,
but there are no settlers thereabouts and no one could possibly be injured, as | see it, by making a
National Monument out of the region.>*

Wadleigh added a postscript that clarified the specific source of his concerns: “It is possible that there
are mineral locations on some portions of this tract, but | have no definite knowledge as to this.”*
Beam’s photographs accompanied the letter. (Copies of most or all of these were discovered during the
research for this document in the James L. Ozment Collection of George Beam Photographs at the
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Denver Public Library.)®® The letter was filed as the first correspondence relating to Arches National
Monument in the National Archives, but not in the records of Arches National Monument itself. Arches
staff actively sought a copy of this letter to display at the park’s 50" anniversary in 1979; they contacted
the Moab Lions Club, the D&RGW (which responded that they had no record of Wadleigh’s
employment!),>” as well as the director and associate director of the Preservation of Historic Properties
Division of the National Park Service.® The letter was finally located by National Park Service Chief
Historian Harry W. Pfanz, and was sent to Arches National Park on July 27, 1977.%° Pfanz notes in his
cover letter that Wadleigh's letter documents Ringhoffer as the discoverer of Arches. Wadleigh relates
the story of Ringhoffer and other family members first seeing “Devil’'s Garden” on Christmas Eve, 1922,
substantiating this account. Pfanz also notes that other documents credit Wadleigh with having brought
“Devil’'s Garden” to the attention of the National Park Service and Department of the Interior
(Wadleigh’s letter to Mather shortened “The Devil’s Garden” to “Devil’s Garden”).®° Although Hoffman
briefly evaluates Wadleigh as a possible “Father of Arches” for his promotion of the idea of a national
monument, he assigns this title to Ringhoffer for his discovery of Klondike Bluffs.®! Hoffman obtained
copies of the complete National Archive holdings for Arches National Park during the research for his
book, and subsequently donated a copy of the collection to the SEUG Archives.5?

Knowing the Right People — Stephen T. Mather

Frank A. Wadleigh probably first met Stephen T. Mather during a 2-week tour of southern Utah and
northern Arizona that was designed to promote Mather’s vision of a highway linking the major parks of
the West—the Golden Circle.®®* Mather arranged for a Yellowstone National Park touring car to be
delivered to Marysvale, Utah, which was used to visit Bryce Canyon, Zion, and the north rim of Grand
Canyon. The tour started in Salt Lake City, where a special railroad car carried the group to Marysvale on
the Denver & Rio Grande. Mather was accompanied from Washington by “prominent men,” including
Emerson Hough, editor of the Saturday Evening Post, and naturalists Thomas Thorkildsen and Edmund
Heller.®* They were met in Salt Lake City by Wadleigh, George Beam, and I. H. Luke, the general
superintendent of the railroad. Chief Ranger O. J. Smith of the Kaibab National Forest joined the group
for their tour when they arrived at the Arizona Strip.% At the conclusion of the trip, the group met with
local good roads advocates and tourism boosters on the lawn of the Reeve Hotel in Hurricane, Utah.
Mather, Hough, Wadleigh, Smith, and some of the local leaders spoke to the people. Mather endorsed
road improvements, and wrote a personal check for $250 towards the upgrade of the road from
Hurricane to Fredonia so that tourists could drive a loop that included Grand Canyon, Cedar Breaks,
Bryce Canyon, and Zion. Hough reaffirmed Mather’s remarks, then Wadleigh spoke:

Mr. Wadleigh said that this was his first visit to this part of Utah’s scenic wonderland®® and he was
deeply impressed with the wonderful beauty of it all. He predicted an immense tourist travel to those
wonderful scenic points and said that his railroad would work with the Union Pacific to bring this travel.
He said there had been some talk about railroad extensions toward these points but advised the people
not to place too much reliance on this as he did not believe there would soon be any railroad extension.
“Auto travel will bring the main part of the tourist travel to you and to get this travel you must have
good roads. It means a great deal to you people and you cannot afford to miss it. You must set to work
and improve the road so that passengers may travel over it in comfort or they will not go over it at all.”
Strong applause greeted Mr. Wadleigh’s remarks. [Quotation marks added for clarity.]®’
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The Frank A. Wadleigh Collection at History Colorado contains a detailed map of southwestern Utah that
depicts Mather’s circle route of roads and the nearest railroad stations, an indication that the D&RGW
was seriously interested in the promotion of tourism to national park system units.®® Wadleigh’s appeal
directly to Mather regarding Ringhoffer’s discovery therefore makes sense in light of this tour. Mather
cooperated with major railroads as a means of increasing visitation to remote NPS units,®® and, as noted
above, railroads were eager to increase ticket sales. Wadleigh probably also traveled in the same well-
heeled circles as Mather, perhaps in Chicago, where Mather lived from 1894-1917 and Wadleigh
sometimes traveled on business.”” Wadleigh also knew other officials of the National Park Service: “I
learn from Mr. Nusbaum that you are expected in Denver the latter part of next week. Unfortunately, |
am obliged to leave for Chicago on Sunday, and it is possible that | will not be able to get back to Denver
before Saturday or Sunday, and | am fearful that by that time you will have departed. | wanted to take
up with you personally the matter of making a National Monument out of a new beauty spot recently
brought to my attention and explored by Mr. Beam and myself in September.””* Mr. Nusbaum was
undoubtedly National Park Service Archaeologist Jesse L. Nusbaum (1887-1975). In 1921, Mather and
Assistant Director of the National Park Service Arno Cammerer (1883-1941)72 had selected Nusbaum to
become the new superintendent of Mesa Verde National Park, a position he would hold until 1946.73
Wadleigh may have known Nusbaum personally, although the finding guide to Nusbaum’s papers do not
list Wadleigh by name, and a review of 1921-1927 correspondence files in this collection did not locate
any documents from or relating to Wadleigh or Ringhoffer.”*

Despite his concerns regarding schedule, Wadleigh was able to meet Mather in Denver and deliver his
letter personally as he had intended. Pfanz notes that Mather was so enthusiastic that he had Wadleigh
write to Acting Director Arthur E. Demaray (1887—1958) on November 11, 1923:

Mr. Mather, who is now in Denver and to whom the enclosed letter [of November 2 from Wadleigh to
Mather] was handed, has suggested that the communication and the “Devil’s Garden” photographs
referred to therein be forwarded to you in advance of his arrival in Washington.... He is very favorable to
my suggestion that this tract be made a National Monument and thought that you might take
preliminary steps toward having a survey made.

Mather followed through on November 22, 1923, with a letter to William Spry, Commissioner of the
General Land Office (GLO), requesting a survey of Township 23 South, Ranges 22 and 23 West.”® Mather
copied Wadleigh on this letter, with a cover letter by Demaray. All of the parties agreed through these
communications to restrict access to the photographs of the proposed monument until after the GLO
had completed its survey and assessed the area for its potential inclusion in the national park system.
Spry soon directed his Utah field staff to begin the survey, and Wadleigh was again advised on the
progress. By July 9 of the following year, no report had been made on the progress of the survey,
instigating Wadleigh to write to Cammerer, seeking a status report. On August 21, 1924, Wadleigh wrote
to Mather in response to an article of July 17 in The Times-Independent of Moab. The article was titled
“Government Engineer Here to Make Examination and to Locate Feasible Road Site: Proposed Park
Situated Ten Miles Due North of Moab,” and it included six photographs from an area identified as “The
Windows”:

The unique scenic attractions in the section known locally as “The Windows,” situated some ten miles
north of Moab, will probably be set aside by the department of the interior [sic] as a national monument,
as the result of a movement by the Denver & Rio Grande railroad. On the request of the railroad, the
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interior department [sic] has sent T. W. McKinley, of the field corps of the general land office [sic], to
Moab to examine “The Windows” section and submit a report with his recommendations concerning the
plan to designate the locality as a national monument.””

Wadleigh read the article, and recognized that the General Land Office had surveyed a landscape other
than “Devil’s Garden,” which was located 37 miles by road from Moab, not the 10 miles identified in the
article. Wadleigh wrote to Mather, expressing his concerns on this point: “It has occurred to me that
some mistake may have been made after leaving Thompson, especially as there is no one living in the
immediate vicinity of the “Devil’s Garden” and so far as | know very few people at either Thompson or
Moab know of its existence.””®

Hoffman provides a wonderful narrative of what transpired next, a true comedy of errors regarding the
survey.” McKinley had been unable to find anyone in Thompson or Salt Valley who knew of a “Devil’s
Garden,” as Wadleigh had surmised, so he traveled to Moab where Heber Christensen guided him to
“The Windows.” Wadleigh and Beam reviewed the survey report, when it was finally available, and
concluded that the area examined by McKinley was indeed not “Devil’s Garden.” The National Park
Service then delegated the General Land Office to conduct a second survey, undertaken by F. J. Safley,
June 11-14, 1925. Wadleigh had requested that he or Beam be present to guide Safley to the Devil’s
Garden, but evidently this did not take place.?’ Safley investigated an area of sandstone fins and arches
that he believed to be “Devil’s Garden,” located on the eastern side of Salt Valley. This location was also
not the area named by Ringhoffer and visited by Wadleigh and Beam, but has been known by that name
ever since. Safley recommended that this area, like “The Windows,” was eligible for designation as a
national monument. Mather came to the conclusion that both areas should be designated as a single
monument.

Unaware of the existence of either “Devil’s Garden” location, Southwestern Monuments Superintendent
Frank Pinkley (1881-1940) visited “The Windows” while traveling between southwestern Colorado and
Pipe Spring National Monument in northwestern Arizona.®! During his visit, Pinkley took photographs,
and noted that the formations are arches, not natural bridges, referring to the area by the local name of
“The Castle Windows,” although Pinkley did not care for that name. In his letter to Stephen Mather on
July 24, 1925, he urged him to designate “The Arches National Monument,” the first use of this name.
But the political tide had turned against further expansion of the Park Service, with Secretary of the
Interior Hubert Work (1860-1942) having placed a moratorium on any additional monuments while he
investigated the possibility of transferring all of the national monuments and some existing park units to
the states as state parks.

Pfanz noted that this reversal in political fortune did not deter Mather: “Among other things, it
illustrates Mather’s typical method of operation when faced with internal obstacles and the power of
the bureaucracy to ultimately triumph over whoever happens to be Secretary of the Interior at a
particular period.”®? During the second GLO survey, Dr. Frank Richard Oastler (1871-1936) of New York
City visited the Moab area and was guided through the first “The Devil’s Garden” by Alex Ringhoffer.®
Although Oastler met the GLO survey crew, the two parties apparently did not realize that the name
“Devil’'s Garden” was being applied to ridges on opposite sides of Salt Valley. Oastler took photographs
of the original “The Devil’s Garden” area® and contacted Mather, urging him to make the area a
national monument.®> Mather worked with Oastler and John H. McNeely to develop an illustrated article
for the May 9, 1926, issue of the New York Times Magazine to promote the creation of a national
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monument that would incorporate “The Windows” and “Devil’s Garden” areas.®® Two views of Tower
Arch and one image of some of the Marching Men were depicted. Alexander Ringhoffer is given credit in
the article as discoverer of both landscapes, which Oastler describes in florid detail in the form of a
travelogue. No mention is made of the earlier expedition of Wadleigh. Mather was “interviewed” for the
article, in which he was quoted as follows: “The national park system contains many marvelous
prodigies, yet none of them exceeds in interest the extraordinary specimens of natural sculpture and
architecture found in these two small areas in Utah.”®” The article was published less than 2 weeks after
Secretary Work had overturned a draft executive order to create Arches, but following its publication,
Work agreed to reserve no more than 80 acres around each of the areas of interest. Pfanz put it this
way:

The [National Park] Service recognized that this compromise was unworkable and made no effort to
expedite the necessary survey while Work and Roy West, the following Interior Secretary under President
Coolidge, remained in office. But the month after Herbert Hoover became President, the new Secretary,
Ray Lyman Wilbur, sent up for the President’s signature an executive order reserving 4520 acres.®

The significance of Wadleigh’s role in the creation of Arches National Monument is evidenced by the
eight letters—of the 77 letters and reports that constitute the original Arches collection at the National
Archives—which are correspondence from the National Park Service to Frank Wadleigh.®® Although
some of these are direct responses to letters from Wadleigh, others are of an informative nature,
keeping him apprised of the current status of the effort to create a new national monument. Although
Frank Oastler and George Beam were also provided updates on the monument, that correspondence
took place after Arches National Monument was proclaimed, and in direct response to letters of inquiry
that they had sent to the National Park Service.

The “Window Castles” and Other Advocates for a National Monument

Alex Ringhoffer also remained interested in the ultimate disposition of “The Devil’s Garden.” In 1925,
Ringhoffer apparently wrote again to Wadleigh on January 13, a point referenced by Wadleigh in his
response to Ringhoffer of January 29:%° “I have no doubt that the Devil’s Garden looks very attractive in
its winter garb. | certainly would like very much to go there again and have more time to spend
exploring the region.” Wadleigh notes that he will be glad to continue promoting the area, and that
Ringhoffer should feel free to refer interested parties to contact him. Apparently the letter from
Ringhoffer, a copy of which has not been located, was largely instigated by the discovery of another area
of fantastic scenery, which Ringhoffer called the “Window Castles.” In his reply to Wadleigh, Ringhoffer
describes these formations:

In reference to the Window Castles, | beg to state that they are almost east, a little south of east, from
where we have been, about 10 miles, with an extent of probably 10,000 of more acres. [sic] of various
kinds of wonderful natural wonders besides the Castles. The main castle is an immense sand rock with
doors and windows. It has to be determined if it was formed by nature or built by hand and age wore it
to seemingly a natural ruin.

| suspect that there are several closed-up caves which hold the mummies, as the earmarks show them to
be such. | haven’t had time enough to explore that part to open up the caves, but | am sure there is a
great surprise for us closed up there.*
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It is difficult to tell whether Ringhoffer is being facetious in suggesting that the castles are ruined
buildings containing mummies or not.%? This is probably the formation now known as Cove of Caves,
located in The Windows north of Double Arch. Regardless, Wadleigh forwarded a copy of this letter to
Demaray on February 9, 1925, with a cover letter that reiterated his concern that the General Land
Office had surveyed the wrong section of land, and not observed the “Devil’s Garden.”®®> Wadleigh
qguoted his own letter of November 24, 1924, in pointing out that the location of Ringhoffer’s “Window
Castles” matches the location of the “Windows” inventoried by McKinley.

By strange coincidence, on the same date, February 9, 1925, Geologist L. M. Gould (1896-1995)%* of the
Department of Geology, University of Michigan, wrote a letter to Utah Senator Reed Smoot, Chairman,
Committee on Finance, regarding “The Windows.”*> Gould had conducted his dissertation research on
the La Sal Mountains during 1924 to 1925. He noted that he had also recently visited Natural Bridges
National Monument, and took a side trip to visit “what the people of Moab call ‘The Windows.””*® Gould
made the following statement, presaging National Park Service interpretive literature:

Whereas the bridges represent the grandest examples known illustrating a type of natural feature
resulting from stream erosion,. [sic] “The Windows” show equally well the fantastic and bizarre effects
produced only by the wind. | know of no place which is such a veritable museum showing the work of the
wind as this little known locality. Here one may see most superb examples of caves, arches, chimneys,
bridges and the like all carved from a massive red sandstone.’”

Gould recommended that the “Windows” be made a national monument, and noted that he had taken
a number of photographs during his explorations.®® Smoot immediately forwarded this letter to Stephen
Mather with the request that Mather “make an examination with a view of recommending, if you think
proper, legislation making that part of the State a national monument.”*® Mather replied to Smoot the
next day with a synopsis of the efforts to make a national monument of the area, beginning with
Wadleigh's letter and concluding with the observation that two adjacent areas were being considered
for inclusion in the monument, including the “Windows.” At the same time, Demaray wrote to Wadleigh
acknowledging receipt of his letter of February 9, and acquiescing that “Devil’'s Garden” and the
“Windows” are separate areas, both of which would now be investigated for inclusion in a single
national monument. He also mentioned Gould’s letter, and included a copy for Wadleigh’s use.
Momentum to create a new national monument was clearly reaching critical mass in early 1925.

In addition to the efforts of Ringhoffer, Wadleigh, Oastler, Pinkley, and Gould to create a national
monument, at least one other individual visited the area with the idea of promoting the landscape for
tourism. Hugh S. Bell was a Presbyterian Sunday School teacher, reporter and photographer, and
lecturer based in Willoughby, Ohio.}® In 1927, he obtained financing from the Cleveland Plain Dealer
newspaper for an expedition to the Southwest, which would be the genesis of illustrated articles about
the region.’®® According to Hoffman, Bell traveled to Mesa Verde National Park, where he met Jesse L.
Nusbaum. Nusbaum showed Bell a letter that he had received describing a little-known landscape called
“Devil’s Garden” near Moab, Utah. When Hoffman interviewed Bell, he recollected that Alex Ringhoffer
had been the author of the letter.l%2 Whether this letter was a copy of the letter Ringhoffer sent to
Wadleigh, was a copy of the letter Wadleigh sent to Mather, or was a different document altogether is
unknown, but the fact that Nusbaum was aware of “The Devil's Garden” provides additional
circumstantial evidence that Nusbaum and Wadleigh were acquaintances. Bell drove to Moab from
Mesa Verde and reportedly spent about a week hiking around the Arches area, documenting his finds
with a large format (5 x 7 inch) camera; he was assisted by two young men from his Sunday School class,
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who had accompanied him from Ohio. Bell published his color photographs of Double Arch and Double
O Arch in National Geographic Magazine in 1936.1% Bell did not advocate for the establishment of a
national monument for this landscape, but as described in Chapter 8, the publication of his photographs
in 1936 set off a veritable stampede of photographers to visit and photograph Arches, which had the
corresponding and immediate effect of increasing visitation.

Prior to the creation of Arches National Monument, the residents of Moab had little to say on behalf of
or against the proposal, due in no small part to the fact that all of the people involved in its creation
were outsiders, including Alex Ringhoffer. Ringhoffer lived in Thompson, over 30 miles from Moab, at
the time of his discovery of Klondike Bluffs. During the years in which the monument proposal was
advancing in the National Park Service and Department of the Interior, Ringhoffer also lived in Sego,
Utah, and Cedar Edge, Colorado. He was not a resident of Moab. All of the other advocates lived in other
states, and the GLO surveyors worked out of Salt Lake City. The first GLO survey of Arches was guided by
Moab resident Heber Christensen, who referred to the area as “The Windows.” Although the area was
known to residents of Moab, including “Doc” Williams and “Bish” Taylor, none had contacted the
National Park Service or congressional representatives seeking protection. The numerous applications
for oil, gas, and potash leases across the area suggest that the mineral wealth of the area was initially a
bigger draw for local residents than was the scenery.

The arrival of McKinley to conduct the first survey in 1924 was, therefore, front page news in The Times-
Independent newspaper, which included six photographs from “The Windows.” In response, John
Bristol, a local resident and occasional journalist, wrote to Stephen Mather in March of 1925, seeking to
obtain copies of photographs of “The Windows” that he could use to illustrate articles for eastern
newspapers and for the Salt Lake Tribune, for which he was the local correspondent. “It seems to me
that an article on “The Windows,” with a mention of the probability of the same being made into a
National Monument would be of value to you and the tourists, as well as to this section of the state.”1%
In keeping with Mather’s original plan to circulate photographs of the potential monument only in select
circles, Mather replied to Bristol that “all of the pictures we have of this area are those in connection
with the reports about the area and must be retained for official references. For that reason | cannot
furnish you with any.”'®> Mather did provide Bristol a synopsis of the plans to create a national
monument, however, and noted that another survey of the area would be made when the weather
improved. Although Mather acknowledged that two areas were under consideration, and might be
included in a single monument, “the entire matter is so indefinite that the idea of its being made a
national monument is still hazy.” Mather’s tone and equivocation about whether a national monument
might happen or not seems intended to dissuade Bristol from further correspondence, if not further
writing, on the subject. Given Mather’s problems with the Coolidge Administration, he probably feared
stirring up interest and possible opposition at the state level in Utah.

The GLO surveys of July 1924 and June 1925 by McKinley and Safley were undertaken with two primary
goals. First, to identify in a legal sense where the lands in question were located by reference to legal
land subdivisions, maps, and land ownership, and second, to assess the presence and nature of existing
uses. McKinley noted that the area he inventoried (“The Windows”) was known only to cattlemen and
sheepmen, and he observed cattle in Salt Wash and three horses in what he thought was “Devil’s
Garden” (actually “The Windows”). He was careful to note that the land contained no rights-of-way or
reservoirs and was marginal grazing for livestock. Safley went further, noting that no habitations of
occasional prospectors and ranchers, and no mineral claims were found but that numerous oil, gas, and
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potassium (potash) applications were on file for the area under the names of 18 different people, all
filed between 1920 and 1925.1% Despite the existing applications, Safley recommended that the two
areas of “Devil’s Garden” and “The Windows” be set aside for a national monument.

First Assistant Secretary of the Interior Edward C. Finney, however, was not convinced of either the
scenic value of the areas proposed for withdrawal, or that the existing mineral applications were not a
potential problem. Finney wrote to the Department of the Interior Solicitor March 31, 1926, seeking a
review of the matter of the applications “on account of alleged natural curiosities”:

While | am in sympathy with the preservation of natural curiosities, | do not like to see large areas of the
public domain withdrawn so as to preclude development of their mineral and other natural resources
necessary and useful. '’

Mineral applications did prove to be problematic, particularly those for potash. In 1926, the Office of the
Solicitor, Department of the Interior reviewed the proposed withdrawal, and suggested to Finney that
“if the last paragraph of the proposed withdrawal were changed to read substantially as below set out,
would it not permit development without interfering with the purpose of the withdrawal.”%®

That there shall be excepted from the force and effect of this withdrawal all prior existing or pending
valid applications or filings which do not require the ultimate disposition of the title of the United States
to the land or any part thereof, under any of the public land laws. Such claims may be perfected and
completed in accordance with the terms, provisions, conditions and limitations of the laws under which
initiated and consistent with the purposes hereof.

Mather reviewed Finney’s and Patterson’s comments and accepted the amendments on April 8, 1926.1%°
The issue was therefore not so much resolved, as sidestepped, to be dealt with at a later date. During a
supplemental survey of the proposed monument in 1928, Inspector A. D. Ryan observed active well-
drilling on the prospecting permit of Charles M. Rath, adjoining the Devils Garden to the west.!*® Mineral
and petroleum deposits are a persistent theme throughout Arches history (see Chapter 4).

Presidential Proclamation of the 33" National Monument

On April 10, 1929, Secretary of the Interior Ray Lyman Wilbur transmitted to the President of the United
States, Herbert Hoover, the revised proclamation for Arches National Monument (Figure 2-10), which
now withdrew 4,520 acres in two areas (mistakenly identified as 4,500 square miles, but corrected by
“G. J. B” on April 18 in a marginal note).!'* Hoover signed the proclamation on April 12, which was
described for the public in an official press release of April 22, 1929:

A new national monument, known as the Arches, in Grand County, Utah, has just been established by
presidential proclamation upon recommendation of the Secretary of the Interior.

The new monument consists of two areas, known locally as the “Devil’s Garden” and the “Windows,”
containing approximately 2,600 acres and 1,920 acres, respectively. Within these areas are extraordinary
examples of wind erosion in the shape of gigantic arches, natural bridges, “windows,” spires, balanced
rocks, and other unique wind-worn sandstone formations, the preservation of which is desirable because
of their educational and scenic value.

With this addition there are now 33 national monuments under the jurisdiction of the National Park
Service of the Department of the Interior.**2
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ARCHES NATIONAL MONUMENT
UTAH

By the President of the United States of Emerica
EH Proclamation

HEREAS, there are located in unsurveyed townships twenty-three and

twenty-four south, range twenty-one east, and twenty-four south, range

twenty-two east of the Salt Lake meridian, in Grand County, Utah, two
areas, known locally as the “Devil’s Garden” and the “Windows,” containing
approximately 2,600 acres and 1,920 acres, respectively;

WHEREAS, these arcas contain extraordinary examples of wind erosion in the
shape of gigantic arches, natural bridges, “windows,” spires, balanced rocks, and
other unique wind-worn sandstone formations, the preservation of which is desirable
because of their educational and scenic value; and

WHEREAS, it appears that the public interest would be promoted by reserv-
ing these features as a national monument, together with such land as may be
needed for the protection thereof;

NOW, THEREFORE, I, HERBERT HOOVER, President of the United
States of America, by virtue of the power in me vested by section two of the act of
Congress entitled, “An Act for the Preservation of American Antiquitics,” approved
June 8, 1906 (34 Stat. 225), do proclaim that there are hereby reserved from all forms
of appropriation under the public land laws and set apart as a national monument
all those pieces and parcels of land in Grand County, State of Utah, shown as the
Arches National Monument upon the diagram hereto annexed and made a part
hereof, subject to prior valid claims and pending applications for permits to prospect
for potassium under the act of Congress approved October 2, 1917 (40 Stat. 297),
provided that they do not involve the ultimate disposition of the title of the United
States to any lands within the area hereby reserved.

Warning is hereby expressly given to all unauthorized persons not to appropriate,
injure, destroy or remove any {eature of this Monument and not to locate or settle

.upon any of the lands thereof.

The Director of the National Park Scrvice, under the direction of the Secretary
of the Interior, shall have the supervision, management, and control of this Monu-
ment as provided in the act of Congross entitled, “An Act to establish a National
Park Service and for other purposes,” approved August 25, 1916 (39 Stat. 535), and
acts additional thereto or amendatory thereof.

Fui TWituess T hereof, T have hereunto set my hand and caused the
seal of the United States to be affixed.

Done at the City of Washington this 12th day of April in the year of
our Lord one thousand nine hundred and twenty-nine and of the

[sar]  Independence of the United States of America the one hundred and

fifty-third.

HERBERT HOOVER
By the President:
Hexry L. Stimson
Secretary of State.

[No. 1875]

2-10. Arches National Monument Proclamation, April 12, 1929. Arches National Park Administrative
Collection, ARCH 101/006-010. SEUG Archives, NPS.
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Because Mather and Demaray had been keeping their final efforts to create Arches National Monument
quiet, the proclamation caught many of the monument’s early advocates by surprise. In short order,
Frank Oastler, Frank Pinkley, and George Beam contacted Mather or his assistants to express their
surprise and excitement that their efforts to preserve the landscape of Arches had at last come to
fruition. Oastler went further, however, and requested national monument status for “a Canyon that we
named Arch Canyon, not far from the White Canyon Bridges in Southern Utah.”!!3> Cammerer responded
to Oastler May 14, 1929. In his letter, Cammerer identifies Ringhoffer and Wadleigh as the men who
instigated the creation of Arches National Monument, and briefly describes the many GLO surveys and
political obstacles that were finally overcome with the presidential proclamation of April 12, 1929.
Cammerer also commented on the situation of Arch Canyon:

Arch Canyon was first brought to the attention of the Service in 1923 when Mr. Demaray accompanied
Congressmen Cramton and Anthony on a pack trip across Southern Utah. This party saw Arch Canyon
and remarked on its beauty. Later on their return the location of the area was looked up and it was
found to be within the La Sal National Forest. As the area if further withdrawn as a national monument
would have been under the administration of the Forest Service, no further steps were taken by the
Service. Arch Canyon still remains in the La Sal Forest.***

It was thus that Arches National Monument began life with no road access beyond the two-track wagon
road in Salt Valley, virtually no infrastructure (Wolfe Ranch, then known as “Turnbow Cabin” for the
owner from 1916—-1946, was the only habitation near the monument, as documented on the 1928 GLO
survey map),!*® and without either Delicate Arch or the “Devil’s Garden” viewed by Ringhoffer,
Wadleigh, and Beam included within the monument boundaries (Figure 2-11). Although “The Windows”
had been visited by residents of Moab (and by Ringhoffer), the new “Devil’s Garden” section had only
been viewed in person by Oastler, Safley, and Gould.

Following the Proclamation of Arches National Monument, the documents and photographs so
instrumental in its founding began a lengthy odyssey through various repositories. Following Pfanz’s
research in 1977, historian John F. Hoffman found most of the 1923-1929 correspondence that led to
Arches’ creation in the files of the National Archives,'® but Ringhoffer’s first letter to Wadleigh'!” and
the George L. Beam photographs were not among the collection. In fact, Hoffman noted that Beam had
taken photographs, but did not explore the central role that these images played in the creation of
Arches National Monument. Hoffman used these documents to set straight the story of how Arches
came to be, noting that Moab residents L. L. “Bish” Taylor and John W. “Doc” Williams were
instrumental in the expansion of Arches in 1938, but not its creation, as had long been believed.!®

The first Ringhoffer letter to Wadleigh has yet to be rediscovered. The Beam photographs have
resurfaced to public view a few times in the decades since. The Southeast Utah Group (SEUG) instituted
their Historic Photograph Project in 2002, searching local and regional museums and repositories for
historic images of the group’s parks for use in monitoring changes to vegetation.''® Beam’s photographs
were discovered and several images were used as baseline photos for repeat photography at Arches.'?°
Two of Beam’s images were incorporated into an exhibit on the creation of Arches that was installed in
the new visitor center in 2005. During the course of preparing this administrative history of Arches
National Park the entire surviving collection of Beam’s images from 1923 was found at the Denver Public
Library. In addition to his work with the railroad as photographer and Wadleigh’s secretary, Beam was a
well-known photographer in his day, and operated a private studio in Denver. His images are actively
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collected. James L. Ozment made a collection of many Beam photographs, particularly those that
depicted the railroad and its construction and operation. He lent his collection to the Denver Public
Library, which scanned them, with permission. Research on Frank Wadleigh and his relationship with
Stephen Mather led us to an image by Beam of Wadleigh’s Victorian mansion in Denver—and the rest of
the “lost” images. These photographs were instrumental in the successful creation of Arches National
Monument but this link remained unrecognized and unacknowledged until the installation of the 2005

visitor center exhibition.
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2-11. Arches National Monument original boundaries 1929, as depicted in Presidential Proclamation No. 1875
(note the confusion of Courthouse Wash with Salt Valley Wash). Arches National Park Administrative Collection,

ARCH 101/006-010. SEUG Archives, NPS.
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Arches National Monument, 1929-1971

The proclamation of Arches National Monument could not alter the sometimes harsh reality
that despite the presence of a transcontinental railway line and US 6/50 just 30 miles to the north, the
new monument was as remote and inaccessible a location as could be found anywhere in the 48 United
States. Development of Devils Garden and The Windows (which were sometimes named “The Arches” in
early NPS planning documents) proceeded very slowly, a situation compounded by a series of national
catastrophes, beginning with the onset of the Great Depression later in 1929. Unfortunately, few
administrative records from the period 1929-1939 were retained by which to reconstruct the struggles
of this decade.! As the first contact station was not erected until 1939 near Willow Springs, most of
those struggles were likely personal, on the part of the early custodians.? Arches was vigorously
promoted by Dr. J. W. “Doc” Williams and Moab Times-Independent editor L. L. “Bish” Taylor, who saw
future economic opportunities for Moab and Grand County, unlike many of their peers in conservative,
Mormon, and rural southeastern Utah.? Despite those seemingly inauspicious beginnings, Arches was
eventually developed for visitation and began to flourish following World War I, when the baby boom
and new-found post-war prosperity met the amiable charm and “can do” work ethic of Superintendent
Bates E. Wilson.

Custodians, Superintendents, and Unit Managers

During the 1920s and 1930s, the National Park Service administered national monuments from regional
centers, with on-site custodians who answered to remote superintendents. Arches was under the care
of custodians James Marvin Turnbow* (1933-1936), Harry Reed (1937-1939), Henry G. Schmidt (1939-
1942), Lewis T. McKinney (1942-1944), and Russell L. Mahan (1944-1949) until 1948, when Mahan was
elevated from custodian to superintendent of Arches (Figures 3-1, 3-2; Table 3-1).°> From its inception,
the custodians of Arches reported to Frank Pinkley, the superintendent of the Southwestern
Monuments in Coolidge, Arizona, on the grounds of Casa Grande National Monument. The difference in
roles between custodian and superintendent is significant, and reflected the need to assess the new
monument and plan for development, as well as the lesser status of national monuments within the
national park system, at least in 1940, when the distinction between a park and a monument was that
“the former is scenic and inspirational, the latter is primarily educational.”® The early custodians of
Arches also performed all of the functions expected of rangers, law enforcement, and maintenance, in
addition to their regular duties. Superintendent Frank Pinkley described the requirements of the
custodian to Harry Reed, in a letter offering him a new term on May 16, 1938:

You will be expected to be present at the monument between the hours of 8:00 a. m. and 5:00 p. m.
daily. You are entitled to one day off each week. During the travel season Park Service employees usually
work on Sunday, taking their day off during the week. We will rely on you to make whatever
arrangements seem proper to insure meeting park visitors. We do not need to instruct you with respect
to guiding them as we are sure that you are already a thoroughly competent guide and if you tell the
story of the monument and explain its formations to visitors as well as you have to representatives from
this office, we will be pleased. While your employment contemplates primarily work with visitors, you will
probably have a certain amount of free time and it may properly be used to continue your explorations of
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3-1. “J. M. (Marv) Turnbow — First custodian of Arches (Natl. Monument) Son Bruce M. Turnbow — Age 10 yrs.”
1933. ARCH 3368, SEUG Museum Collection. (Photographer unknown).

the monument, to make minor and incidental repairs to the entrance road, study the signing
arrangements, location of future utility, headquarters, and parking areas, trails, etc., and make
recommendations to this office. We know that you are a professional photographer and consequently
hesitate to take advantage of your ability to obtain official photographs for the headquarters file, but
should you feel that you can consistently do so, we would welcome the opportunity to supply perhaps
two or three hundred feet of color film, 16 m. m., for the purpose of securing color pictures of Arches
National Monument which can be utilized in headquarters lecture work and which would, of course, have
to become the property of the Government.’

Arches did not have its first seasonal ranger until June 1946, when Billy Walker of Moab was hired to
assist Custodian Mahan.® From 1948 to 1954, the entire permanent Arches staff consisted of a custodian
or superintendent, a ranger, and Maintenanceman Merle E. Winbourn, who held the position (re-
designated Operator General in 1958) from March 1948 until his death in January 1960.
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3-2. Custodian Henry G. Schmidt, ca. 1940. ARCH 3994, SEUG Museum Collection. (Photographer unknown).

T. Earl Worthington was the first permanent ranger from 1948 to 1952. Robert L. Morris was ranger and
supervisory ranger from 1952 to 1956 when he transferred to White Sands. His place was taken by Lloyd
M. Pierson in September 1956 and he was joined by Roby “Slim” Mabery in December 1961 (Mabery
transferred to Carlsbad Caverns in 1966). Seasonal and temporary rangers assisted during the summer
months after 1955 to help with the increasing visitation. Bates Wilson did not receive dedicated
administrative help until September 1957 when Arthur M. Sear joined the staff as Administrative
Assistant.

Construction of a permanent custodian’s residence (the Rock House) did not begin until 1941.° Until
then, the custodian lived in Moab, although Custodian Schmidt noted in February 1941 that the house
that he and his family had rented in Moab had been sold from beneath them to make way for a motel.°
Bates Wilson and his family resided in the Rock House during his entire 23-year tenure at Arches (1949-
1972).1! Wilson’s younger daughter Caroline recalled that the house was perfectly located for
impromptu interpretations of the geology of the Moab fault by her father.'? Frequently, at cocktail hour,
the house would fill with friends, staff, and visitors whom Wilson had impulsively invited in to share his
favorite adult beverage, Jim Beam. With glass in hand, he would lead the group to the porch, and point
out the nearly 2,000-foot offset of the fault, with Navajo Sandstone at eye level on the north side and
Wingate Sandstone on the cliff top at the south side,* lecturing with the whiskey glass like a pointer to
show that normally the Navajo sits on top of the Wingate, and all heads would swivel back and forth
from south to north as they would try to grasp the scale of the fault’s displacement.
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Table 3-1. Arches Superintendents, Custodians, and Unit Managers'*

SERVICE
NAME POSITION UNIT INTERVAL
Frank Pinkley Superintendent Southwestern Monuments 1923-1940
James M. Turnbow Custodian Arches National Monument 1933-1936
J. Harry Reed Custodian?®® Arches National Monument 1937-1939
Henry G. Schmidt Custodian Arches National Monument 1939-1942
Hugh M. Miller Superintendent Southwestern Monuments 1940-1942
Charles A. Richey Superintendent Southwestern Monuments 1942-1943
Lewis T. McKinney Custodian Arches National Monument 1942-1944
Minor R. Tillotson16é Regional Director Region IlI 1943-1948
Custodian Arches National Monument 1944-1948
Russell L. Mahan Superintendent Arches National Monument 1948-1949
Superintendent Arches National Monument? 1949-1972
Bates Wilson Superintendent Canyonlands Complex?2 1964-1972
Director Utah State Office 1967-1972
Robert Kerr Superintendent Canyonlands Complex3 1972-1975
Larry Reed Unit Manager Arches National Park 1974-1981
Peter L. Parry Superintendent Canyonlands Complex3 1975-1986
Jim Capps Acting Unit Manager* Arches National Park 1981-1982
Sherma E. Bierhaus Unit Manager Arches National Park 1982-1986
Anna M. Fender Acting Unit Manager® Arches National Park 1983
Unit Manager Arches National Park 1986-1987
Paul D. Guraedy Superintendent Arches National Park 1987-1990
) Superintendent Canyonlands Complex3 1987
Harvey Wickware Superintendent Southeast Utah Group 1987-1991
Noel Poe Superintendent Arches National Park 1990-1995
Walter D. Dabney Superintendent Southeast Utah Group 1991-1999
Gail C. Menard Acting Superintendent Arches National Park 1995-1996
Steve W. Chaney Acting Superintendent Arches National Park 1996-1997
[unfilled]® Superintendent Arches National Park 1997-2001
Phil Brueck Acting Superintendent Southeast Utah Group 1999
Jerry Banta Superintendent Southeast Utah Group 1999-2004
J. Rockford Smith Superintendent Arches National Park 2001-2004
Laura E. Joss Superintendent Arches National Park 2004-2008
Anthony J. Schetzsle Superintendent Southeast Utah Group 2004-2006

Kate Cannon

Superintendent

Southeast Utah Group

2006—present

Superintendent

Arches National Park

2008—present

1 Wilson was superintendent of Arches and Natural Bridges national monuments.
2 Wilson was superintendent of the Canyonlands Complex, Canyonlands National Park, Arches and Natural Bridges national monuments.

3 The superintendent of the Canyonlands Complex was also the superintendent of Canyonlands National Park.
4 Acting unit managers or acting superintendents are appointed when the unit manager or superintendent is away from their duty station,

usually for a few days or weeks. Prolonged vacancy of a unit manager or superintendent position often required those appointed to an acting
position to occupy the role for months or years; only those acting unit managers and superintendents in the latter capacity are listed here.

5 Bierhaus was ill for much of 1983. Fender was acting unit manager February 2 to September 27. Steve Swanke and Joan Swanson-Young

also acted in this capacity for shorter periods.
6 Dabney eliminated the position of Arches superintendent as a cost-saving measure and acted as superintendent of both Canyonlands and
Arches, although day-to-day activities at Arches were administered first by Assistant Superintendent Phil Brueck and later by Acting
Superintendents Gail C. Menard and Steve W. Chaney.?”
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Frank Pinkley was superintendent of Southwestern National Monuments from the establishment of the
National Park Service until his sudden death in 1940.1 Pinkley began government service with the
General Land Office as a caretaker at Casa Grande Ruins in 1901. Casa Grande was proclaimed a
National Monument by President Woodrow Wilson on August 3, 1918.%° By 1940 Pinkley’s portfolio of
units had grown to 27, scattered across the Four Corners states. To relieve the workload on other
superintendents, and to provide more direct oversight of individual monuments, the NPS revised the
management structure in 1948 to place superintendents at individual park units. Superintendents
answered to regional offices of the NPS, but had the authority to allocate resources and supervise
interpretation, law enforcement, construction, and maintenance personnel, as well as the clerical and
fiscal operations. Bates Wilson transferred from El Morro National Monument in 1949, becoming the
second on-site superintendent. He served as Arches (and Natural Bridges) superintendent until 1964,
when Superintendent of Canyonlands National Park and Superintendent of the Canyonlands Complex
were added to his titles; he held those positions until 1972, when he was replaced by Robert Kerr.?°
Under the Canyonlands Complex, Wilson and Kerr were superintendent of Natural Bridges, Arches, and
Canyonlands. In 1975, Kerr transferred to Grand Teton National Park and was replaced by Peter L. Parry
(1931-2013) as superintendent.

Following the retirement of Wilson, it became apparent that each unit of the Canyonlands Complex
would require individual supervision. Beginning about 1974, “unit managers” were designated for each
of the Canyonlands units, with Larry Reed the first to fill that role at Arches. Sherma Bierhaus's
appointment as unit manager in 1982 marked the first time that a woman filled the role of
superintendent at any national park, a real milestone considering that only 22 of 333 other Park Service
units were headed by women at that time.?! Unit managers or acting unit managers served under the
Canyonlands superintendent until 1988, when Paul D. Guraedy’s role as unit manager was reclassified as
superintendent.?? In 1988 the Canyonlands Complex was renamed the Southeast Utah Group after an
organization structural change initiated by Harvey Wickware (discussed further below). In 2008, with the
promotion of Laura E. Joss, SEUG Superintendent Kate Cannon also assumed the role of Arches National
Park superintendent. Through their actions or inaction, the superintendents, custodians, and unit
managers created Arches National Park, sometimes literally with their bare hands, and sometimes by
directing a large staff, but Arches would simply be a name on a map without the hard work and
dedication of the NPS employees who have staffed the park.

Southwest Monuments to Canyonlands Complex: Administrative Reorganizations

The National Park Service has periodically undergone reorganizations at various scales, including at the
level of national, regional, and group. Despite the scope of some of these changes at the national and
regional levels, the administrative reorganizations that have most affected Arches are those at the group
level. During the earliest years of the monument, 1929-1948, Arches was under the command of a
superintendent of the Southwestern Monuments based at Casa Grande National Monument in Arizona,
with an on-site custodian from 1933 to 1948. The NPS underwent a major reorganization in 1933 under
the administration of Franklin D. Roosevelt, but it had almost no effect on Arches National Monument:

Specifically, two executive orders, effective August 10, 1933, transferred the War Department's parks
and monuments to the National Park Service. In addition the National Park Service received all the
national monuments held by the Forest Service and the responsibility for virtually all monuments created
thereafter. It also assumed responsibility for the parks in the nation's capital, which had previously been
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managed by a separate office in Washington. The reorganization was one of the most significant events
in the evolution of the national park system. The Service’s holdings were greatly expanded and there was
now a single, national system of parklands. With the 1933 reorganization and new responsibilities for
historical areas, historic preservation became a primary mission of the National Park Service. >

The reason that this affected Arches so minimally had to do with the differential treatment of
monuments and parks within the NPS. Monuments were created by the Executive Branch through the
1906 Antiquities Act, and were often regarded within the NPS as “parks in training.”

The term “holding action” is most appropriate in describing national monuments in the 1920s and 1930s.
The duration of national monuments was often short, and their definition was hazy at best, and
nondescript at worst. Official National Park Service policy called for the “upgrading” of national
monuments to national park status. One might legitimately ask, “What was the difference?” The
question could be answered in a variety of ways—none satisfactory—but certainly national parks were
well funded, and national monuments were not. This had nothing to do with congressional law, but
rather with bureaucratic preference and public popularity. Under the leadership of Stephen Mather and
Horace Albright the national parks were considered the “crown jewels” of the system, thus entitling them
to generous appropriations. National monuments, on the other hand, were expected to survive with
little, and often no, appropriation. Many were simply a convenient way to accomplish immediate
conservation goals. **

The effect on Arches by the establishment of NPS regional offices in 1937 was more profound (Table 3-
2).% The development of regional offices was an evolution of Executive Order 6166 and the 1933 NPS
reorganization, which increased the interpretive scope of the park system and its size. The NPS regional
system was initially based partly on the existing Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) regional structure, as
the CCC provided almost all of the labor for NPS developments during the Great Depression. Subsequent
evolution of the regional system reflected both internal NPS conflicts and external directives, such as
President Richard Nixon’s 1971 order that all federal agencies should use the same regional structure.
Despite that, the regional system continues to evolve today.

The Southwestern Monuments actually remained an NPS unit after 1937, but was subsumed within
Region 111.%® The headquarters moved to Santa Fe, New Mexico, in 1939, when the Region Three (as it
was then designated) headquarters moved from Oklahoma City. The Region Three director directly
administered Southwestern National Monuments from 1943 to 1950. In 1952, the Southwestern
National Monuments headquarters was relocated to Globe, Arizona, where it remained until the unit
was again and finally absorbed by Region Three in 1957.%” Each of the small monuments, most of which
were archaeological sites such as Montezuma Castle or Tonto National Monument, had very limited
staff, usually consisting of an on-site superintendent (under the supervision of the general
superintendent of Southwestern Monuments), a ranger, and a maintenance position.?® Other tasks were
handled out of Globe.?® “They had archaeologists, naturalists, engineers those sort of people and if we
needed help on a project they’d come out and do it.” The Southwestern National Monuments group
primarily handled the administrative functions for each monument,® until the group was finally broken
up in 1958. Thereafter, some of the administrative functions were delegated to individual monuments,
which were provided with an administrative assistant for the purpose (Arches received theirs a year
early). But small monuments in proximity to one another were often managed as a group. Zion National
Park administered Cedar Breaks and Bryce Canyon for many years, Hovenweep was overseen by Mesa
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Verde, and Arches administered Natural Bridges. In 1962 regions were again reorganized and Arches
was part of a newly designated Southwestern Region headquartered in Santa Fe.

During the period 1948-1964, Arches and Natural Bridges shared a superintendent, Bates Wilson (Table
3-3). With the creation of Canyonlands National Park in 1964, Wilson also assumed the duties of
superintendent of the Canyonlands Complex, the administrative unit that oversaw all three park units.
During Wilson’s tenure this arrangement worked well, as management decisions did not have to be
justified to the public as they have been in the post-National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA, 1969) era
of public scoping, meetings, and Records of Decisions. Superintendents determined what needed to be
done in consultation with staff and superiors, and issued the orders. All of the units of the Canyonlands
Complex were underfunded, so funding was the real limitation on what could be achieved. Arches was
fully developed under Wilson’s direction (see discussion below). Wilson’s skill in completing tasks (often
by doing the job himself), and later the funding and program drive of Mission 66, fulfilled the long-
deferred basic infrastructure of Arches between 1948 and 1962. Wilson was perhaps less successful at
establishing Canyonlands infrastructure, in part because he was one of the more vocal opponents to the
grandiose plans initially proposed.3! Reduced funding for the NPS during the Vietnam War also hindered
the development of Canyonlands.

The NPS underwent another significant reorganization in 1964, dividing into natural, historical, and
recreational branches, with different management concepts, principles, and policies for each branch,
although coordinated in a single system.3? The primary goal of the reorganization was the assimilation of
recreation areas and places primarily put aside for recreation (such as some seashores, reservoirs, and
rivers), into the NPS. This change would allow the NPS to administer Lake Powell, which was already
filling behind Glen Canyon Dam following its completion in 1963, as the Glen Canyon National
Recreation Area. As part of the complex compromise over the creation of the reservoir, Congress
created Canyonlands National Park in 1964; in some ways, the passage that same year of the Wilderness
Act may also have been a congressional attempt to “balance” the environmental impact of Lake Powell.
Following the creation of Canyonlands National Park in 1964, Arches, Natural Bridges, and Canyonlands
were administered as the Canyonlands Complex.3® Bates Wilson’s joint superintendency of Canyonlands,
Arches, and Natural Bridges, and the dispersed configuration of the Canyonlands districts, led naturally
to lumping the three units together administratively as the Canyonlands Complex. Multiple monuments
had been administered from a single office before, as were the Southwest Monuments under Pinkley,
and the National Capital Monuments. The Canyonlands Complex was a move to eliminate redundancy in
administration and personnel in places where monuments and parks in relative proximity to one
another had similar classifications and faced similar external issues, such as oil and gas leases.

Table 3-2. Arches in the NPS Regional Structure3*

Southwestern National Monuments Coolidge, Arizona 1929-1937
Regional Organization adopted based partly on existing Civilian Conservation Corps structure 1937

Region IlI Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 1937-1939
Region Three Santa Fe, New Mexico 1939-1962
Southwest Region Santa Fe, New Mexico 1962-1971
Midwest Region Omaha, Nebraska 1971-1973
Rocky Mountain Region Denver, Colorado 1973-1995
Intermountain Field Area Denver, Colorado 1995-1997
Intermountain Region Denver, Colorado 1997—-present

|Page 59



Table 3-3. Historic Changes to Arches Organizational Structure

1929-1943
Frank Pinkley (1929-1940)
Southweth(JeFr’rfT\llg':i-ir’:laDlﬁ\'/l\l;)rnuments Hugh M. Miller (1940-1942)
Charles A. Richey (1942-1943)
Position vacant (1929-1933)
CUSTODIAN James Turnbow (1933-1936)
Arches National Monument J. Harry Reed (1937-1939)
Henry G. Schmidt (1939-1942)
Lewis T. McKinney (1942-1944)
1943-1948
REGIONAL DIRECTOR Acting direc.tors (1937-1940)
Region Three (1937-1948) John R. White (1940)
Minor R. Tillotson (1944-1955)
CUSTODIAN Lewis T. McKinney (1942-1944)
Arches National Monument Russell L. Mahan (1944-1948)
RANGER Seasonal (1946—-1948)
1948-1964
SUPERINTENDENT Russell L. Mahan (1948-1949)
Arches National Monument Bates E. Wilson (1949-1972)
RANGER (1948-1955)-> SUPERVISORY RANGER (1955-1964)
MAINTENANCEMAN (1948-1958)-> OPERATOR GENERAL (1958-1964)
NATURALIST (1962-1964)
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT (1957-1964)
1964-1972
SUPERINTENDENT
Canyonlands Complex
Canyonlands National Park
Arches National Monument/Park Bates E. Wilson (1964-1972)
Natural Bridges National Monument
SUPERINTENDENT
Arches National Monument/Park
SUPERVISORY RANGER
OPERATOR GENERAL
NATURALIST
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT
1972-1980*
SUPERINTENDENT Robert Kerr (1972-1975)
Canyonlands Complex Peter L. Parry (1975-1986)
Secretary-Stenographer
Division of Administration
Concessions
Unit Managers
Central Maintenance
Staff Interpretation
Resource Management
Ar—ghilzl\'gﬁgr?;i;k Larry Reed (1974-1981)
INTERPRETATION
RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND
VISITOR PROTECTION
MAINTENANCE
1980-19872
SUPERINTENDENT Peter L. Parry (1975-1986)
Canyonlands Complex Harvey Wickware (1987)
Assistant Superintendent
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Secretary
Information Receptionist
Canyonlands National Park

Headquarters Operations and Staff
Unit Managers

UNIT MANAGER
Arches National Park

Larry Reed (1974-1981)
Sherma E. Bierhaus (1982-1986)
Paul D. Guraedy (1986-1987)

INTERPRETATION — RESOURCES MANAGEMENT —
VISITOR PROTECTION
MAINTENANCE

1987-20183
SUPERINTENDENT Harvey Wickware (1987-1991)
Southeast Utah Group Walter D. Dabney (1991-1999)
e Administrative Officer Jerry Banta (1999-2004)
° Management Assistant Anthony J. Schetzsle (2004-2006)
e Facility Manager Kate Cannon (2006—present)
e Park Ranger
e  Secretary
e Arches National Park
e  Natural Bridges National Monument
e  Assistant Superintendent
Canyonlands National Park
SUPERINTENDENT Paul D. Guraedy (1987—-1990)
Arches National Park Noe‘I ‘Poe (1990-1995)
e Administrative Clerk Position vacant (1995-2001)
. J. Rockford Smith (2001-2004)
° Typist
Laura E. Joss (2004-2008)
° CHIEF RANGER
° CHIEF OF INTERPRETATION
° CHIEF OF MAINTENANCE
20184

SUPERINTENDENT
Southeast Utah Group

Kate Cannon (2006—present)

Chief of Administration

Chief of Interpretation

Chief Ranger

Chief of Facility Management

Chief of Resource Stewardship and Science

Safety Officer
Superintendent’s Assistant

Brendan Hickey
Angela Richman
Scott Brown
John Lewis
Terry Fisk
Position vacant
Kat Kirby

SUPERINTENDENT
Arches National Park
Canyonlands National Park

Kate Cannon (2008—present)

Administrative, Interpretation, Ranger, Facility, RSS, and LE personnel attached to Arches answer to the
SEUG chiefs, not to the Arches National Park Superintendent

NOTE: This table is not intended to track the evolution of SEUG organization from 1987 to the present, but rather to document major changes

in the administration of Arches National Monument and Park from proclamation to the present. The first four periods (1929-1972) reflect
changes in Arches relationship with higher levels within the NPS; after 1972, changes are internal within the Canyonlands Complex and

Southeast Utah Group.

11972 organizational structure shown.3
21980 organizational structure shown.3®
31988-1992 organizational structure shown.?’
42018 or 2019 organizational charts.3®
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The Canyonlands Complex was initially headquartered at Arches National Monument, which had the
staff and physical spaces needed for administration, interpretation, and maintenance functions.®
Consequently, these functions were initially handled as though Canyonlands, Arches, and Natural
Bridges were units of a single park. Maintenance staff roamed southeastern Utah repairing,
constructing, and remodeling, moving back and forth as the need arose and funds allowed. On
December 1, 1964, Canyonlands headquarters moved to the Uranium Building in Moab in Grand County,
infuriating officials in San Juan County where the majority of Canyonlands National Park was located.
Wilson hired a small administrative and interpretive staff for Canyonlands when he was prevented from
transferring some of his experienced Arches staff to the new park. Canyonlands National Park operated
under an Interpretation and Resource Management structure, with “park rangers and managers ...
responsible for the planning and construction of roads, trails, housing services, interpretive displays and
signage, dispersal of information to the media, visitors and map-makers about park regulations,
camping, roads, trails, lodging and food, as well as natural and cultural history.”*® But continued
controversy over development plans at Canyonlands brought development there to a virtual standstill
during the late 1960s, and in turn made Congress reluctant to fund development; Canyonlands ended up
at the bottom of Rocky Mountain Region funding lists for many years.

The Legacy of Bates Wilson

Arches National Monument was transformed in March 1949 when Bates Eno Wilson (1912-1983)
transferred from El Morro National Monument and was appointed as superintendent of Arches National
Monument.** Wilson served as superintendent of Arches and Natural Bridges, or the Canyonlands
Complex until his retirement in 1972, following the elevation of Arches to National Park status (Figure 3-
3). Wilson’s tenure at Arches included the construction of the scenic drive (completed 1958—-1964), a
new visitor center (1958-1960), the discovery of tens of arches (including Wilson’s finding of Surprise
Arch in Fiery Furnace), community outreach including the long-standing Easter Sunrise Service, and
elevation of Arches to National Park status (1971). Wilson also became one of the leading advocates for
the creation of Canyonlands National Park (1964), beginning with his first view of the region from an
airplane in 1949.%2 Most of the significant events at Arches, described below, took place under his
direction; at least some of them did not strictly follow NPS protocol.”* Somehow, Bates Wilson also
found the time to personally assist visitors to Arches, including those stranded by vehicular problems or
flash floods (Figure 3-4). Much of what happened at Arches National Monument during this period took
place because Wilson did it himself, often with the assistance of his wife Edie, son “Tug,” Ranger Lloyd
Pierson (1921-2015), or Ranger Roby “Slim” Mabery. Pierson described it this way:

| remember Bates and his son, we had this new administrative assistant come in and he had four kids so
we had to get another trailer and put it up for him, and Bates was out there digging a line for the water.
We did have water, | can’t remember how, | guess we had a tank up on the hill, we had a well and a tank
and later they improved it. But we had water and he was bringing the water line in for the house, the
trailer, and here comes a guy in a big, pink cadillac [sic] and he says “Bates,” he says “Sir, have you got a
ticket to do that sort of work?” and Bates says “What do you mean?” and he says “You’re supposed to
have a plumber’s ticket to do that sort of work, supposed to be a member of the union” and Bates looked
kind of funny and says “Sir, | am the superintendent, this is my son and he’s working for nothing, and |
don’t need any damn ticket!” So he got him out of there. *
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3-3. Bates Wilson in uniform, 1958. ARCH 104/000965, SEUG Archives (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).

Bates Wilson’s NPS career was extraordinary at the time, and is unlikely to be repeated in the current
NPS structure. He entered the Park Service through the CCC, working for 8 years as a foreman in the
Santa Fe region.”® In 1937 he took the ranger exam, and applied for a position as ranger, but never
worked as one.*® He entered NPS service as an Acting Custodian of Organ Pipe National Monument in
Arizona when the previous acting custodian was drafted for service in World War Il. Wilson did apply for
a transfer to the position of superintendent of Blue Ridge Parkway, Virginia, in 1951, but turned the
position down “due to the prohibitive increases in the living cost entailed in the transfer.”%” During his
career at Arches, Wilson became the superintendent of Canyonlands National Park following its creation
in 1964 (in recognition of his efforts to make it a park) and the head of the Canyonlands Complex.*®
Much of Wilson’s energy during this period was directed towards Canyonlands, leaving the day-to-day
operations of Arches and Natural Bridges to staff, including Rangers Pierson and Mabery.*® In 1967,
Wilson was appointed the NPS Utah state director and split his time and residence between Moab and
Salt Lake City. After seeing Arches successfully elevated to a national park in 1971, but also having
received considerable acrimony from local and state leaders for withdrawing his support for a highly
developed Canyonlands National Park, Bates Wilson retired in 1972 to his ranch in Professor Valley.>®
Significantly, the NPS policy document “Rethinking the National Parks for the 21 Century” suggests that
the NPS change the traditional career path, which discourages employees from staying at a single park
unit for long periods of time:
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National Park Service’s relationships with indigenous and local people must become steeped in
understanding, patience, and mutual respect earned over time. The Service should value park staff who
choose to remain in one post for extended periods of time so they can more fully understand and work
with native and local cultures. The transfer of park personnel from one post to another should no longer
be essential for career advancement. >*

Wilson was active in the Moab community—as a member of the Lions Club, helping the Girl Scouts and
Explorer Scouts, directing the Moab Jeep Posse, as a member of the Utah State Travel Council,
fundraiser for the March of Dimes, and other school and church affairs.> His friendliness and legitimate
ranching background in Silver City, New Mexico, encouraged a close bond between Arches and the
people of Moab, even among those who were naturally skeptical of “The Government.” Although
Wilson was, for a brief time, the subject of local animosity when the NPS scaled back the plans for
development at Canyonlands (in large part at Wilson’s instigation),>® his community stature ensured that
Arches was elevated to National Park status in 1971, despite Utah’s opposition to President Johnson’s
expansion of the monument in 1969.

3-4. Bates Wilson (center, in cowboy hat) assisted visitors stranded by a flash flood in 1956. Ranger Edward Abbey
is reportedly among those visible in this image, but Tug Wilson believes that he was not. ARCH 428/001.002, SEUG
Archives. (Photo credit: Jean Cohen [née Sharp]).
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Much of what Wilson did, and what he is probably best remembered for, was facilitating the
interactions between the National Park Service and residents of Moab through “handshake”
agreements. Wilson initiated the popular Easter Sunrise Service at the La Sal Mountain Overlook in
1958. He also assisted local cattle ranchers in navigating Park Service rules, even while trying to stop
cattle trespass. After Wilson’s retirement in 1972, Arches Unit Manager Larry D. Reed was surprised
when local rancher Tommy White called Assistant Superintendent Tom Hartman to tell him that he
would be trailing his cattle through Arches to Dry Mesa.’* Hartman was reluctant to let White do this
without consulting the unit manager. Reed reviewed the situation and was surprised to find no record of
any permit for this in the park’s central files, and was informed by Mrs. White that Bates Wilson had just
given them verbal permission in the past to do so. Initially, Reed denied the Whites a permit, as the park
planned to phase out all grazing by 1981. However, after reviewing further the records pertaining to
grazing, and talking with Bates Wilson, Reed realized that the park Establishment Act specifically
permitted cattle driveways through Arches.>® Wilson had never issued a permit because the timing of
when the Whites needed to move the cattle was variable, depending on the level of the river.*® So Reed
relented and permitted the drive, but requested that in the future, the Whites at least give the park staff
a 2-week notice before the planned drive.

After Wilson’s death on February 25, 1983, Arches held a memorial service at Devils Garden, with
approximately 300 mourners in attendance.’’” Wilson was memorialized with a bronze plaque at the
Arches Visitor Center, with text written by former ranger Lloyd Pierson and bas-relief sculpture by
neighbor Pete Plastow.>® A dedication ceremony held July 7, 1986, was attended by 35 people (Figure 3-
5).> The plaque is now on display at the Needles Visitor Center in Canyonlands National Park.®® Bates
Wilson lives on as the soul of two national parks, the father of a son and four daughters scattered across
the southwest, and through the Bates Wilson Legacy Fund of the Friends of Arches and Canyonlands
national parks.

Surveys of the Monument and Early Development Plans

The proclamation of Arches National Monument came just 6 months before the October 24-29 crash of
the New York Stock Exchange triggered the Great Depression (1929-1941). The collapse left many
projects, such as the development of new NPS units, in limbo, without funding for development. In the
example of Arches, no development was even planned until 1934 (Figures 3-6a and b). The earliest
custodians of Arches were forced to provide whatever meager accommodations they could to visitors,
but between 1929 and 1936, Arches had no vehicular access from established roads other than some
two-track ranch roads,! almost no interpretation, no law enforcement other than the Grand County
Sherriff, and visitation that consequently numbered in the hundreds per year. NPS statistics show Arches
visitation at an estimated 500 people during its first year, and the monument did not attain a visitor
count of 1,000 until 1937, the year after Grand County improved the Willow Springs Road.®?
Consequently, a visit to Arches National Monument almost guaranteed an adventure of some sort.

The Arches National Monument Scientific Expedition

Arches National Monument was set aside to preserve pristine examples of a landscape formed by wind
erosion, but the National Park Service knew almost nothing specific about the two blocks of land within
the original 1929 boundaries. From December 1933 to March 1934, the Arches National Monument
Scientific Expedition was directed by Frank A. Beckwith to address this deficiency (Figures 3-7 and 8).
The NPS project was administered by Zion National Park but used Civil Works Administration money.®
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3-5. Memorial plaque dedicated to Bates Wilson July 7, 1986. ARCH 101/003-118 .204, SEUG Archives.
(Photographer unknown).

The project had three goals: to survey and map the “chief points of interest,” to conduct a geological
reconnaissance, and to conduct an archeological reconnaissance.®* The expedition also investigated the
paleontological resources near Turnbow’s Cabin and the Yellow Cat area to the north of and outside the
monument boundaries:

The interest of the Arches and of the Devil’s Garden consists in the forms of erosion, and the scenic appeal to
tourists; the interest in the Yellow Cat area lies in the fact that it contains many dinosaur bones. Its scientific
appeal is its chief value, as it lacks the formations and character of the other two areas. %

Some early NPS documents referred to The Windows section as “the Arches.” As described below, the
Arches Scientific Expedition and a companion reconnaissance for planning both operated under the
mistaken assumption that Yellow Cat was part of the monument. Beckwith’s report described the access
points and difficulties associated with each section, including Yellow Cat. The expedition reported on
known archaeological finds and sites in and near Arches, supplemented by additional reconnaissance
and excavations undertaken at Archaeological Cave in The Windows section. Unfortunately, this site had
already been looted, and it produced nothing new, although reportedly “cedar bark, a few squash seeds,
and some bone awls” had previously been collected there. The survey also located petroglyphs of
various ages near Wolfe Cabin and in Yellow Cat. Beckwith also reported that two skeletons and the
mummified remains of a Navajo person of fairly recent times had been excavated by amateur
archaeologists along the pack trail in Courthouse Wash. Beckwith was not an archaeologist by training,
but was a well-read and skilled amateur archaeologist and paleontologist.%®
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3-7. The Beckwith Expedition camp, 1933—1934. ARCH 3324, SEUG Museum Collection. (Photo credit: Joseph C.
Anderson).

The results of the mapping and geologic components of the project were reported separately, but
Beckwith provided a fairly lengthy description of the important landscape features. This section included
dimensions of the main arches, the type and color of sandstone formations, and the viewscapes visible
both from, and including, these features. Beckwith’s report is one of the first published descriptions of
Delicate Arch, the name he applied to a feature previously known by a number of less flattering names,
but it received only two brief mentions, perhaps because it was outside of the original monument
boundaries. Beckwith also named Landscape and Tower Arches.®” The Beckwith report is also perhaps
the first mention of Lost Spring Canyon, the most recent addition to Arches (1998): “The pack train to
Yellow Cat passes up a narrow and deep wash, with high ledges of sandstone on either side, fantastically
eroded, with spires, twin spires, towers, and caves to interest.” Beckwith’s description suggests that this
area was, in part, the area described in 1925 by Ringhoffer as part of the “Window Castles” area.
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3-8. Beckwith (standing, left) and company. The notation on the back of the photograph states “The coffee was so
strong you couldn’t drive a fork in it.” Report of Arches National Monument Scientific Expedition, ARCH 3323.2,
SEUG Museum Collection. (Photographer unknown).
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J. C. Anderson, a graduate student in geology at the University of Utah, was the project geologist. He
published his report in 1934, scooping the 1935 publication of the U.S. Geological Survey report titled
“Geology of the Salt Valley Anticline and Adjacent Areas, Grand County, Utah” for which field work had
taken place in the summer of 1927.% These reports, along with three additional studies made by NPS
geologists in 1936-1941, formed the basis for interpretation of the Arches landscape, and facilitated
planning for monument developments.

While the Beckwith Expedition was in the field, Harry Langley, resident landscape architect, Zion
National Park Superintendent P. P. Patraw, and landscape architect G. W. Norgard visited Arches to
conduct the first planning reconnaissance for monument development.® The group visited the Beckwith
camp at Willow Spring on March 12, 1934, and overlooked the region from a high vantage point after
hiking from the camp. Patraw and Langley were unable to stay for the entire 4-5 days estimated for a
minimal reconnaissance, but Norgard remained behind to do so. Langley’s report on this study is
important for several reasons. First, he properly credits Alexander Ringhoffer as the first to advocate for
the creation of a national monument in the area. Second, Langley includes the Yellow Cat area as part of
the monument, which he describes as 6,610 acres. Yellow Cat also appears on the maps accompanying
the report (Figures 3-6a and b). Yellow Cat is described as being unsuitable for tourists, but a rich
paleontological location. Third, Langley notes the presence of the Klondike Bluffs outside the monument
as another area of interesting formations: “Although believed by many to be part of the ‘Devil’s Garden’
and a continuation of it, it actually is across the Salt Valley Wash from the ‘Devil’s Garden.”” But, he
notes that the formations are not so interesting as to make it worth extending the monument
boundaries to include them, unless doing so simplifies the whole boundary. He also commented on the
scenic values of the Courthouse Towers, which were not as yet part of the monument, but he
recommended a boundary extension to include them. In assessing the level of support for the
monument in the community, Langley noted the following:

The older and more conservative people of Moab and Grand County are not very much interested in
building a road into the monument, due to the apparent heavy cost of construction.... The members of
the Lion’s [sic] Club of Moab are very much enthused with the beauties of this wonderland and have
made several trips into the region for the purpose of looking over possible road lines and development.
Mr. Taylor, president of the Lion’s Club and editor of the Times-Independent of Moab, is very active in the
movement for development of the Arches National Monument and furnished maps and other valuable
information.”®

Langley evaluated two primary development possibilities: No. 1 would place the monument
headquarters at Willow Springs, with a road from US 450 (now US 191) at Sevenmile Bridge to Willow
Springs (Figure 3-6a), and 28 miles of trails to the various arches; No. 2 would place the headquarters at
Turnbow’s Cabin, with the road climbing the Moab Fault to Courthouse Towers and on to Turnbow’s
Cabin (Figure 3-6b). Langley noted that a road into Devils Garden would be very difficult to build, and he
recommended against attempting to build a road from Devils Garden to Yellow Cat. He evaluated a loop
road using Salt Valley, but pointed out that it would be 35 miles in length, and would parallel US 450 for
20 miles. All road possibilities were regarded as expensive to construct, but Grand County officials
thought that state funds could be secured if the road were to link Cisco and Moab, and could be
designated a part of the state highway system. Langley ultimately recommended that the No. 2
development plan proceed, as Turnbow’s Cabin seemed like the logical headquarters with a central
location, ample water, and proximity to dinosaur bones and a “large Indian cave dwelling.” But the
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existing configuration of the monument boundaries was problematic: “Existing boundaries fit the scenic
areas very snug and allow no room whatsoever for development purposes so that the headquarters area
will have to be outside the Monument areas.””*

Although Langley’s vicinity map included Delicate Arch, his report made no mention of this feature
which was, at the time, outside of the monument boundaries. Langley’s report and maps caused no
small confusion due to his inclusion of Yellow Cat as part of the monument. Assistant Chief Engineer A.
W. Burney actually contacted the NPS director for information on boundary expansion proclamations
made after the 1929 foundation of Arches, and was informed that none had been issued.”? “We spoke
to Mr. Langley, who is now back in San Francisco, and he states that everybody around the Monument
thinks that the ‘Yellow Cat Area’ is part of the Arches National Monument!” Beckwith also fell prey to
the same mistaken belief.

Langley’s report also instigated serious discussion about expanding the monument. NPS engineers
circulated sketches of the Arches area and its existing boundaries in 1935.7% This would have eliminated
more than half of what had been proclaimed in Devils Garden, along the southeast and western edges,
added to the eastern and northeastern edges, and extended the boundaries by more than 20 sections to
link the two monument units and included “squaring out the sections of worthless land.””* The proposed
boundary revision was being evaluated on the 1929 proclamation map, however, which was the only
map available at the time, which “is not correct in regard to the shape of the townships and size of
certain sections,” underscoring the paucity of information about the area available to the National Park
Service.””

An inspection of the Arches area conducted on July 14-15, 1936, by District Engineer J. B. Hamilton,
Mesa Verde National Park Superintendent Jesse L. Nusbaum, Assistant Superintendent Paul Franke,
Deric Nusbaum (son of Jesse), landscape architect Charles A. Richey, and Assistant Regional Officer
George L. Collins, as well as various Moab residents including Dr. J. W. Williams, with the goal of
identifying expanded boundaries that could accommodate development and include all the significant
features of the landscape.’® This inspection also included an overflight of the whole area for the first
time, from which several rolls of film were shot. By car and on foot, Courthouse Towers, Devils Garden,
and the Arches (Windows section) were studied. Significantly, Hamilton also contemplated the scenic
value of the Klondike Bluffs and the Colorado River canyon. Like Langley, Hamilton viewed the Moab
Fault escarpment as the best route into the monument; it would cross Bloody Mary Wash (the name is
blank in his report) and “ascend a sloping ledge of white sandstone and swing around a point of red
sandstone into the Courthouse Towers area.” The road was then to pass through the Courthouse
Towers along Park Avenue and extend to The Windows and Devils Garden areas. Hamilton further
suggested a rim drive along the cliffs above the Colorado River, and possibly forming a loop from Devils
Garden east to the rim and back to the Courthouse Towers area. He acknowledged that such a route
would be expensive but worthwhile. Klondike Bluffs would require a spur road to reach it, “if not left as
a wilderness area” that could be “inaccessible except for the hardier souls among the tourists.”
Hamilton recommended greatly expanding the monument:

To unify the whole area, bringing in the Courthouse Towers, the Klondyke [sic] and the Cliffs overlooking
the Colorado, the boundary should be much extended. It should extend to the north to the Salt Wash to
take in geologic formations containing dinosaur tracks, to the Colorado River on the east to the Moab-
Thompson road on the south and about as shown in the accompanying map to the west.”’
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Even after obtaining U.S. Geological Survey topographic maps of the region, the extension boundaries
remained unsettled. Assistant Regional Officer Collins made another field trip to Arches in 1937 after the
boundary extension “had been reopened” because he had been absorbed with “the study of the
proposed development” rather than the boundary during his visit with Hamilton in 1936.7® Ultimately
the development plans for Arches could not proceed until the boundaries had been significantly
expanded from the 1929 proclamation. Finally resolved in 1938, as described below, a unified national
monument permitted the development of a master plan for Arches and the beginning of actual, on-the-
ground management.

Boundary Additions and Subtractions

The lands surrounding Arches were (and still are) owned by Utah or the BLM, and were to be managed
with a mixed use/maximum return philosophy. The original monument boundaries conformed not to
natural landscape features, but to section lines. Arches was proclaimed under the 1906 Antiquities Act,
which required that monuments "shall be confined to the smallest area compatible with proper care and
management of the objects to be protected."” Mather intended to seek enlargement of Arches as soon
as he could gather the political capital, but tragically suffered a stroke in January 1929 that ended his
NPS career and forced his retirement. While convalescing in Brookline, Massachusetts, Mather died
January 22, 1930. Horace Albright (1890-1987), the second director of the Park Service and Mather’s
long-time assistant, could do little to expand Arches given the dire financial situation at the beginning of
the Great Depression. The scenic wonders of southeastern Utah extend far beyond the original
boundaries of Arches and Natural Bridges national monuments, however, and during the 1930s, a very
large area of this landscape was proposed for preservation as the Escalante National Monument.
Escalante would have encompassed what is now Canyonlands, Glen Canyon/Lake Powell, and Grand
Staircase—Escalante. Although this initial attempt to preserve what came to be known as the “Canyon
Lands” ended in failure, Arches was collaterally expanded for the first time in 1938 to include Fiery
Furnace and Delicate Arch.®

1938 Boundary Extension

The most important of these adjustments, which took place in 1938, finally brought Delicate Arch into
the monument boundaries, but more importantly, provided space to construct a visitor center and
scenic drive within the monument. Without this change, the NPS was unable to provide basic visitor
services or interpretation, and the units of the monument were vulnerable to being split by industrial or
commercial development. Maps drawn in 1934 depict a possible visitor center near Balanced Rock
(Figure 3-6a) or Turnbow’s Cabin (Figure 3-6b), but this was a placeholder plan, never seriously
considered, while attempts to expand the monument continued in the background (see discussion
above). Unfortunately, these efforts at expansion exposed a significant schism within the National Park
Service that involved the Escalante proposal. Archaeologist Jesse L. Nusbaum was a leading proponent
of Escalante, and he sought to tie expansion of Arches to the creation of an Escalante National
Monument. Superintendent of the Southwestern National Monuments Frank Pinkley was opposed to
Escalante and to Nusbaum’s methods, which he saw as heavy-handed and insensitive to local feelings.
Pinkley was acutely aware of how the National Park Service was perceived by local interests in general,
and in the very touchy relationship with people in southeastern Utah in particular. Pinkley had worked
closely with “Bish” Taylor who was head of the local District Six Advisory Grazing Board to ensure that
expansion of Arches did not encumber high-quality range or affect too many local ranchers.
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Then in 1936 the technicians and others flocked in on us and told us we needed 18 or 20 sections more of
land because of its scenic and wild life values. We tried to tell these fellows that the local situation was
delicate; that we had the Board with us on our boundaries but 15 or 20 square miles of additional land
might upset the apple cart; that we didn’t need any more scenery or wild life in order to administer the
Arches, which is what the monument was reserved for, but in the final upshot we were told to include the
enlarged area.’!

Nusbaum provided a detailed accounting of his efforts on behalf of the Arches expansion and the
Escalante project in a letter to NPS Director Arno B. Cammerer on April 9, 1938, in which he describes
his instruction from the director to confer with “Bish” Taylor and his subsequent negotiations.®
Nusbaum notes that one of the sticking points with Taylor was a proposal to expand Arches to the
Colorado River on the south, an area that included an existing stock driveway. This proposal was also
problematic to the NPS, as it would have included within the monument boundaries the US 450 right-of-
way. To prevent commercial encroachment on the southern edge of Arches, the Grand County
Commission and the State Highway Department agreed to impose strict zoning on the area, in exchange
for the NPS retaining the stock driveway. Nusbaum also noted that an exploratory oil well then being
drilled at Cane Creek south of Moab was a factor in whether or not oil and gas interests would support
an Arches expansion. Pinkley’s involvement in the boundary extension was barely mentioned in
Nusbaum’s letter. Pinkley viewed Nusbaum’s actions differently, and detailed his concerns in two
strongly worded letters to the Director of the National Park Service on April 19 and 21, 1938. Pinkley
described his relationship with Taylor and the Grazing Board, and the problems that the Escalante
proposal had caused for a proposed Arches expansion:

Boiled down, it looks something like this: We made a definite proposal on October 11, 1935. A few months
later Jesse seems, uninvited, and without specific instructions from your office, to have organized a
pretentious expedition for the purpose of revisiting the proposal. Since that date, much money and fuss have
been expended to put through the revision which resulted from his interference, and now he has gone in,
nearly two years later, as your representative, and comes out with the advice that the Service should adhere
to the proposal originally made by this office, to avoid adverse effect on the Escalante project! 8

Unbeknownst to Pinkley, Nusbaum had been acting with the approval of and at the direction of Director
Cammerer.2* Cammerer responded to Pinkley on May 4, and asked “Frank, have you been sitting on a
cactus?”® Cammerer explained that he “wanted a larger pitching staff” working on the Arches boundary
extension “because | thought the project needed supporting energy.” He admonished Pinkley to “run what is
handed to you as best you can” but to not “be critical of me, or of any of your other brother members of the
Service, for trying to make any area as comprehensive as possible.” Cammerer shut the door on further
discussion of the matter: “I want you to accept without rancor my decision not to use your letter in any way.
We can talk this matter over personally some time if you care to bring it up again.”

The Moab Lions Club voted in February 1938 to support the Escalante proposal, in sharp contrast to the
Governor and many other local organizations.2® The Moab Lions Club was also strongly supportive of
expanding Arches. In recognition of this support, particularly Dr. J. W. Williams, Williams was accorded a
special honor: his personal fountain pen was sent by the Moab Lions Club to Washington, D.C., where
President Roosevelt used it to sign the expansion proclamation.®” President Roosevelt also sent Williams
a personal letter December 15, 1938, thanking him for his work on behalf of Arches National Monument
and 40 years of work on behalf of conservation.®®
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The 1940 Development Plan for the monument noted that no modifications to the newly adjusted
boundaries were proposed, but that the monument still contained within it “alienated lands” owned by
the state of Utah, for which an “effort will be made to exchange for public domain outside the
monument, under the provisions of the Taylor Grazing Act.”® Only the lands in Section 16, T25S, R21E
were “likely to prove embarrassing to development.”

A much bigger problem was the Turnbow Cabin, the home of the first custodian of Arches James M.
Turnbow. This property was an unproven homestead until Turnbow’s widow, Susie, patented the 160-
acre homestead on March 2, 1942.% Situated in Salt Valley in the E%:NEY%, NEWSEY of Section 7,
SWX%NW?Y of Section 8, T24S, R22 E, it blocked access to Delicate Arch. Additionally, there are several
springs on or near the patent. Custodian Henry G. Schmidt examined the potential for Turnbow to claim
water rights, and noted that two springs known as Freshwater Spring are located outside of the patent
and James Turnbow had made no attempt to develop them; a small seep 300 yards from the cabin had
been slightly improved by Turnbow by digging a larger catchment; and Wolfe had used the same springs
but never developed them.®! Wolfe had used water from Salt Wash to irrigate “a small crop of hay, a
few fruit trees etc., until flood waters in Salt Wash entered his irrigation ditches, and washed away all of
the good top soil from the farming land.” The State Engineer determined that Utah had no applications
for water rights on file for the property since the office was created in 1903.9 “Assuming that no water
was used before 1903 they have no water rights,” and the Superintendent was informed that the NPS
could “refuse access to any springs not on their own land so that they cannot perfect water rights on the
federal lands.”*3

Retracting for Oil, Expanding for Roads

Boundary changes were attempted again in 1946-1949 and during the 1950s, but were unsuccessful
other than for a small exchange of Utah state lands into the monument in 1955. The 1955 exchange did
not change the size of the monument, however, as these acres had been counted with the total
monument acreages since the 1938 addition (Table 3-4). In 1960 the monument was expanded, but
without consulting the Bureau of Roads, which was in the process of finalizing their plans to complete
the park scenic road from Balanced Rock to Devils Garden.?* Most of the 1947 road was located outside
of the monument boundaries. To bring the scenic drive within the monument required a steep descent
into Salt Valley, then a curve back across the wash before climbing to Fiery Furnace (the route that was
later constructed during 1963—1965 and is in use today). To avoid a massive cut-and-fill on the lower
slope of Salt Valley, the route across Salt Valley would cross Utah state lands in the S¥% of Section 2,
Township 24 South, Range 21 East. A land exchange was proposed with Utah in 1959 for the 320
additional acres, but the lands included two sets of mineral claims that were staked as lode claims,
requiring almost 2 years to research and retire before the exchange was finally completed in 1963.%
Because the exchange took so long to complete, the NPS was forced to apply for a right-of-way across
the lands proposed for exchange, which was completed as Utah Right-of-Way No. 814 on January 28,
1963.%° The proclamation of 1960 also removed 720 acres along the southeastern side of the monument

“which are used for grazing and have no known scenic or scientific value.”%’

To address the shortcomings of the original Arches monument boundaries, to protect the viewscape
surrounding Arches, and to prevent development within the vicinity (especially mining and oil/gas
drilling), the boundaries of Arches have been adjusted five times (Table 3-4). Arches was enlarged in
1938, 1960, 1969, 1971, and 1998, but also had lands deleted in 1960 and 1971 (Figure 3-9). One block
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of land northeast of The Windows and south of Delicate Arch was added in both 1938 and 1969, only to
be removed in 1960 and again in 1971. This area, known as Dry Mesa, forms the foreground backdrop to
both Delicate Arch and The Windows; for this reason, the potential for the visual intrusion of oil and gas
development in this area has been a topic of critical concern to the NPS.%® As illustrated by Table 3-4 and
Figure 3-9, there are discrepancies between the reported acreage of Arches in official NPS documents at
various times, and the cumulative acreage as described in Presidential Proclamations and Public Laws
modifying the monument or park boundaries. At least some of this may be due to the presence of Utah
state inholdings within the monument or park boundaries; in some documents these are counted as
part of the park unit, and in some others apparently not counted towards the total acreage described by
the legal description or polygon described by the boundaries. According to the current GIS data, Arches
should encompass 75,949 acres (not including the CNHA donation of 1.08 acres which has yet to be
included within the park boundaries). The National Park Service officially lists Arches National Park as
encompassing 76,678.98 acres, including the 133.03-acre Grand County patent (Riverway/Lions Park).>®

Table 3-4. Boundary Adjustments to Arches National Monument and Arches National Park

ACTION ACREAGE! ACT SIGNATORY
Proclamation 1875,
46 Stat. 2988

Proclamation 2312,

Establishment of April 12, 1929 4,520 Herbert Hoover

Addition of November 25, 1938

2 Franklin D. R |
(29,160 acres) 33,680 53 Stat. 2504 rankiin D. Roosevelt
BLM State Exchange of June 21, 1355 33,680 Salt Lake 066292, Clear List 247
(200 acres)
Addition of July 26, 1960 (480 ac) Proclamation 3360 . .
33,440 ! Dwight D. E h
Deletion of July 26, 1960 (720 ac) ' 74 Stat. C79 Wig Isenhower
State Exchange (Addition) 1963 (320 ac) 34,010° Utah Exchange 035421 J. E. Keogh
Addition of January 20, 1969 Proclamation 3887
! 2 6 ! L B. Joh
(48,943 acres) 82,953 83 Stat. 920 yndon B. Johnson
Addition of November 12, 1971 Public Law 92-155
. 73,3797 ! Richard M. Ni
Deletion of November 12, 1971 ' 85 Stat. 422 char mon
5 parcels between south boundary and 73379 None —acquisition never i

US 191 (6.41) completed

Addition of October 30, 19988 76,519 Public Law 105-329,
(3,140 acres) ! 112 Stat. 3060°
Addition of April 10, 2003
(1.08 acres)

William J. Clinton

76,520.08° Arches NP Deed No. 17 Barbara A. Sulhoff

1 Acreage is based on statutory legal description; actual acreage as legally surveyed or by GIS may differ.

2 “Arches — Past to Present” (ARCH 101/004-001) provides acreage of 34,049; Newell (1972) says this should be 34,250; according to the 1940
and 1965 Master Plans, and the acreage described in Proclamation 2312, 33,680 is correct.

3 This acreage is described as 34,249.5 “Federal and gross” by Assistant Chief of Lands James M. Siler in a memorandum to the Region Three
Director, dated December 21, 1955;'% Newell (1972) cites 34,250.1° The 1965 Master Plan gives 33,680 as the correct acreage, indicating that
the 200 acres was already counted with the total acreage.

4 Based on the 1965 Master Plan total of 33,680 before the adjustment.

534,009.94 according to the 1965 Master Plan.?2 The exchange was completed November 12, 1963 for 320 acres, but the NPS did not receive
confirmation of its completion until January 22, 1964.1% The total should be 33,760; the 250-acre discrepancy is unaccounted for.

6 The addition of 48,943 acres to 33,760 would be a total acreage of 82,703, but if the 320-acre exchange of 1963 was already included in the
total acreage, the total should be 82,383.

7 The act does not specify the acreage involved in the park designation. The 1980 Land Acquisition Plan lists the 1971 total acreage as 73,379,
which would be a net reduction of 9,574 from 82,953. The reduction of 9,574 acres from 82,383 would be a total acreage of 73,129.

8 As Amended October 31, 1998, by Public Law 105-335 and March 10, 2000, by Public Law 106-176.

° This parcel was donated to Arches National Park by the Canyonlands Natural History Association, but the park boundary has never been
officially adjusted to include this, and the official park acreage does not reflect the inclusion of this parcel. The July 2013 Parkwide Road
Maintenance and Modification Environmental Assessment provides a current park acreage of 76,679; the discrepancy of 160 acres is
unexplained.
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3-9. GIS map of Arches changing boundaries. National Park Service, Arches National Park. Courtesy National Park
Service.
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The largest addition of land to Arches came in 1969, involving an area 10.8 times larger than the entire
original monument area of 1929, and 1.46 times larger than the monument after the 1960 boundary
amendments. This included a large area adjacent to the eastern and northeastern boundary, Salt Valley
and Klondike Bluffs, and the area between the monument and the Colorado River east of the visitor
center and south of The Windows. The 1969 boundary correction was intended to forestall
development, particularly oil and gas drilling, at the edges of the park, where these activities would be
readily visible from most of the developed interpretive sites and trails. As noted in the Utah Geological
and Mineralogical Survey report of 1969, this action was bitterly opposed by many within Utah who
wanted to exploit these areas for oil and gas, potash, and uranium.® Furthermore, Johnson’s use of the
Antiquities Act to achieve this expansion during the final 90 minutes of his administration!®® exacerbated
local passions, particularly among those who felt that Canyonlands National Park had been “oversold”
with promises of extensive development, which were subsequently withdrawn. The Salt Lake Tribune
characterized Johnson’s actions as a “land grab,” a term that has become a rallying cry for rural Utah,
despite the Tribune’s acknowledgement that the land in dispute already belonged to the federal
government,1%

In response to pressure from the Utah congressional delegation, which had been holding hearings and
had repeatedly proposed expansion bills in Congress,*®” some of the 1969 additions were stripped from
Arches when it was declared a National Park in 1971. These consisted of two small blocks along the
southwestern portion of the park and the large Dry Mesa area to the east. Creation of the park did result
in an addition at the northwestern end of the park, an area that is an extension of the rock formations of
Devil’s Garden.

The deletion of Dry Mesa came with an unintended consequence, namely that access to this area is only
available from within the park. The landscape north of Dry Mesa prevents building a road from the
north, and sheer cliffs descend from Dry Mesa to the Colorado River on the south. This required
companies seeking to do test drilling in the oil and gas leases there to obtain a special use permit to
drive through the park. And, should any wells be developed on Dry Mesa (or in Cache Valley), field
vehicles would only be able to access the sites through the park, although 36 CFR 5.6 does not grant the
NPS authority to authorize commercial vehicle use on park roads.'® Additionally, the 1971 inclusion of
lands along the Colorado River has required management of resources that were not part of Arches’
original mission, namely the preservation and interpretation of the wind-eroded formations of arches,
towers, and bridges; Arches staff must now be concerned with water quality, aquatic recreation, and
viewscapes within the canyon that are not visible from the rest of the monument. The re-inclusion of
Dry Mesa remains a priority for Arches staff, as it forms the visual backdrop to Delicate Arch when
looking towards the La Sal Mountains. As of this writing, a proposal to further expand Arches by 20,000
acres has been advanced by the Utah congressional delegation as part of the Public Lands Initiative (see
Chapters 4 and 9 for further discussion); Dry Mesa constitutes the largest part of the proposed addition.

By 1980 it had become apparent to Canyonlands Complex staff that the 1971 Arches National Park
boundaries imposed several new land management problems.1® These included the 133 acres of the
Grand County Riverway Park (now Lions Club Park) located on the north side of the Colorado River
where it enters the Grand Valley, and 11 state-owned parcels of 6,902 acres that were completely
within the park boundaries (see Chapter 4). Of the latter, 6,774 acres qualified for Wilderness status, but
could be used for grazing or mining should Utah decide to lease or sell the parcels. Canyonlands
Complex staff developed a Land Acquisition Plan that identified the specific parcels of state land and
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recommended the development of a land exchange for federal lands outside of the park boundaries.
The plan also recommended a legislative boundary adjustment to exclude the county park, which was
patented lands obtained by Grand County before the boundary expansion and establishment of Arches
National Park. The plan was forwarded to the Regional Director, Rocky Mountain Region in February
1980.119 Expansion of Arches National Park has also had the effect of negating some previous boundary
fencing efforts, leaving the remnants of old boundary markers and range fences marking the 1938
boundaries, especially in the area west of Balanced Rock.!!!

During 1957-1958, UDOT constructed a completely new alighment of US 191 south of the park.''? This
had the effect of creating narrow slivers of private land between the northern highway right-of-way and
the then current park boundary, which had been established by Congress in 1938 as US 450.1" By
relinquishing the old right-of-way, ownership of the parcels reverted to the previous owners, with two
going to Atlas Minerals Corporation and three to the Bureau of Land Management. Although the five
parcels totaled less than 10 acres, Arches staff members were concerned about these being used for
unsightly billboards, with one of the parcels located almost directly across from the visitor center.
Beginning in 1993, Arches lands staff and Superintendent Noel Poe began to investigate the
requirements of such an acquisition. Arches negotiated with Atlas Minerals for a donation of two of the
parcels after surveying them to make sure that they did not contain any residue of uranium
processing.'* Arches received title insurance for three parcels in April 1994.1%> As of 2018, however, the
five parcels have yet to be incorporated into Arches National Park.

One additional boundary adjustment is described in the May 22, 2015, “Final Arches National Park
Water Rights Agreement,” apparently in error. This is listed as an addition of October 1, 1993, Public Law
105-93, signed by President William J. Clinton. Public Law 105-93 (107 Stat. 995) renames the Federal
Building and United States Courthouse located at 300 Northeast First Avenue in Miami, Florida, the
“David W. Dyer Federal Building and United States Courthouse” and does not pertain in any way to
Arches National Park. The 1998 addition of Lost Spring Canyon is discussed in detail in Chapter 7.

The 1940 Master Plan and Early Interpretation at Arches

The 1940 Master Plan envisioned a very modest interpretive program of guided field trips, a small
exhibit room/museum (to contain one 12-case exhibit), a single trailside exhibit near “Unbalanced Rock”
(now known as Balanced Rock), a nature trail through The Windows section, and a single overlook
pullout between the Courthouse Towers and Balanced Rock:

The amount of time and money expended in providing for the interpretation of these features depends
upon the length of visitor stay and the number of visitors whom they will serve. Inasmuch as it is
impossible to prophesy what future conditions beyond our control may do in the way of swelling visitor
attendance, provision should be made to facilitate such expansion of the interpretive program as
increases in travel may require, but interpretive development should follow demand and not precede it.
This outline, therefore, is designed to cover the modest interpretational needs of the monument under
present visitor conditions with provisions included for expansion if necessary. 16

Arches National Monument accommodated 2,512 visitors in 1940, a 41.52 percent increase over the
previous year, but still only a few cars per day. The visitor contact station was located at Willow Springs;
the headquarters building was really just the administrative offices for the monument, described further
below, yet a few visitors managed to find their way there as well.}¥ Dr. J. W. “Doc” Williams offered in
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1940 to donate “a number of historical and archaeological items” from his personal collection to be
displayed at Arches “when storage and museum space is available.”*!® During planning discussions about
museum and interpretive space, Custodian Henry G. Schmidt also reported that many local pioneer
families in Moab had offered to donate historical items for display, and he urged that adequate space be
allocated.’® The first five accessions to the museum were prehistoric arrow points that Schmidt
collected in 1940 “on the sand flat near Delicate Arch.”*?° Schmidt had previously sent Naturalist Natt N.
Dodge an arrowhead from “an old Indian campground, in a sheltered cove halfway between The
Windows and Courthouse Towers.”*?! Regional Biologist W. B. McDougall conducted a reconnaissance
of the flora and fauna of Arches in September 1941, which documented both the unique vegetative
associations and the past effects of grazing on the landscape.?? Schmidt also sent pressed flowers from
the monument to the University of Utah for identification in 1941, but had few other opportunities for
research, most of his time being occupied with washouts of the entrance road. Schmidt did assess the
potential requirements of Arches museum as 45 percent geology, 25 percent history, 20 percent
archeology and ethnology, and 10 percent natural history.'?

Custodian Russell Mahan noted in April 1945 that the entire Interpretive Program at Arches National
Monument consisted of just 12 slides.'?* This was considerably augmented in December 1946 when
professional photographer Bernard B. Freeman provided twenty-four 3% x 4% and 4 x 5 negatives, four
3% x 4% and 4 x 5 transparencies, and twenty-eight 35-mm transparencies for interpretive use.'?®> Mr.
Freeman had taken the images for the NPS while shooting a magazine article earlier in 1946. Arches also
offered duplicates of Kodachrome slides by professional photographer Jack Breed for sale at the
headquarters during the early 1950s.12® In 1960, Region Three debated returning photo negative files to
individual parks for curation from the now defunct Southwestern National Monuments archives.'?’

During the 1930s and 1940s, the custodian often led group tours of The Windows, Delicate Arch, Devils
Garden, or occasionally Fiery Furnace; this constituted most of the monument’s interpretive program.
Dr. J. W. Williams also guided tours,'*® and often accompanied NPS visitors to the scenic highlights.'?
But Custodian Henry Schmidt was admonished to curtail the use of “fancied resemblances in calling
attention to the formations” following a visit by the director, although he “did not object to the Parade
of Elephants, as being distinctive and possessing general interest.”!3® During the early decades of the
monument the NPS also promoted the use of professional guides who could both ensure that visitors
viewed the appropriate landscape features (and return) and interpret the story of wind-generated
erosion. Arches National Monument also had few guidebooks or other informative publications
available to the public. In January 1947, Custodian Mahan listed the following free handouts as
constituting the entire inventory: “Glimpses of Our National Parks” (92), National Park Location Map No.
5 (5), National Park Location Map No. 6 (882), Southwestern National Monuments Information Folders
(36), and mimeographed leaflets for Arches (600) and Natural Bridges (500).

During June 1941, Custodian Schmidt assisted Regional Geologist Dr. Ross Maxwell in a geological survey
of the area, covering Devils Garden, Delicate Arch, Fiery Furnace, and Courthouse Towers.’3! The
biological reconnaissance started in October 1941 by Regional Biologist McDougall was terminated
abruptly by a death in the family.!32 Under the direction of Dr. D. Eldon Beck, Brigham Young University
initiated the first study of the natural history of Arches National Monument in 1946 but it was not
conducted in the field until 1950,%** and comprehensive study of mammalian species was still identified
as needed research in 1956. The dire state of interpretation at Arches in 1956 merited comment in the
Master Development Plan:
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Under present circumstances about four out of five visitors never see a uniformed Park Service employee,
and during the nine months of the year most of them never see a Government employee at all. Those
who do meet an employee at headquarters have no opportunity to receive other than oral orientation. In
many cases they meet nobody, because with present limited staff the only man on duty is frequently
away from headquarters on other duties.*>*

Although cultural resources were less of an interpretive focus than geology, the early monument staff
was on the lookout for relic hunters and looters in violation of the 1906 Antiquities Act, which requires a
permit to collect or conduct excavations. Custodian Schmidt noted in 1941 that someone representing
himself as an artist had been asking questions about the locations of Basketmaker cave sites in the area,
and that he would be vigilant to make sure that they were not illegally excavating in the monument.'®
Schmidt also noted that professional archaeologists with the University of Utah and University of Denver
had been working near Cisco in 1940. With the arrival of the electric grid to Arches in 1954, the park
staff was able to rearrange the headquarters building and install a small exhibit of Southwestern
National Monuments Association publications in early 1955.13¢ In 1958 Erik K. Reed supported the
development of a “cartoon-type Disney film” as the “most effective means of interpreting the geological
story at Arches,” but lamented that it would be expensive and beyond the means of the Park Service at
that time.*¥’

The Arches administrative records do not include any specifically interpretive files dated prior to 1962,
when monthly records were filed by the park’s naturalist (for Arches—Natural Bridges National
Monuments). Before that, the Monthly Superintendent’s Reports to Southwestern National Monuments
detailed interpretive efforts. Records for November and December of 1962 indicate that wayside
exhibits had been installed and fitted with counters to measure visitor use. At Arches, these indicated
peak visitation at the roadside exhibits closest to the visitor center, falling off with distance: “La Sal Mt.
Overlook, 145; Courthouse, 101; Fiery Furnace View Point, 65; and Skyline Arch View Point, 49.” At the
same period, 724 visitor contacts were made at the visitor center and 394 visitors signed the wayside
register.!3® These numbers dropped in December to 368 and 182, respectively.*®

Monthly notes about wildlife sightings were reported by the park’s naturalist, but beginning in
December 1962, a card file was established at Arches to record sightings of birds, mammals, and
reptiles. All employees were encouraged to report observations of animals to expand the known wildlife
of the area. In that same month, however, the following incident occurred:

The most significant wildlife observation made during the month, was a spotted skunk. The skunk was
found in a kitchen drawer of the Naturalist house trailer. After many unsuccessful attempts to remove it
without disastrous results, it was finally removed forcefully with disastrous results, the aroma of which is
still faintly discernible. 4°

Records from January, March, April, June, and possibly July, 1967, were also retained in the archives.'*
The only information on research and interpretation is for June and July when it was reported that pellet
group transects were undertaken in April and May but showed no changes, an Arches interpretive
ranger assisted Utah Fish and Game personnel in conducting range vegetative studies using line
intersect transects at The Windows and Devils Garden, and a ringtail cat was observed near the entrance
to Devils Garden. Most of the report filed under Conservation, Interpretation and Use for 1967 detailed
issues of cattle trespass, lost hikers, fallen rocks, and weekend beer parties and associated litter.
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The casual nature of research and interpretation of this period is emphasized by the inclusion of the bird
species observations of Park Naturalist Dennis L. Carter, from November 8, 1964 to December 18, 1966
(including some observations from outside of Arches).}*? Carter’s observations range from the informal
(December 20, 1964: “I saw a ROCK WREN on a brick wall outside my window at the visitor center
today”) to the first annual Arches National Monument Christmas Bird Count on December 22, 1964. The
Audubon Society began Christmas Bird Counts in 1900 in response to perceptions of declining numbers
of birds, due in part to a tradition of Christmas Day “side hunts,” in which teams took to the field and
competed for the largest number of birds and animals killed.}** Carter, Ranger Robert Ferris, Ranger
“Slim” Mabery, and Ted Tibbetts observed 782 individual birds of 23 species between 7 AM and 5 PM.
The list included pintail duck and common merganser, as the observation points included a drive along
Utah Highway 128 adjacent to the Colorado River. Other observations were made along the scenic drive,
Courthouse Wash, and Salt Wash near Turnbow Cabin. These observations provide a valuable, but
incomplete baseline historical database. The Audubon Christmas Bird Census, as it is now known, is one
of the 26 indicators of climate change used by the Environmental Protection Agency in preparing their
2013 report on global warming.'** Naturalist Carter continued making observations of birds until he
transferred to Craters of the Moon in 1967, at which time his annotated list of 126 species was prepared
for distribution to researchers and the interested public; two new species were observed shortly after
the list was published.**

Naturalist Carter was also responsible for the Arches library, which housed a variety of non-fiction and
fiction pertaining to the Colorado Plateau, Utah, Four Corners, Mormons, and other topics relevant to
Arches. Arches was selected as a pilot library for an accessioning procedure after naturalist Carter
corresponded with naturalist Earl Jackson at the Southwest Archaeological Center about the collection.
Between February and April of 1965, 294 items were accessioned into the library catalogue.l**A few
books were transferred to the Canyonlands National Park library.

Much of the research and interpretation of the monument period at Arches was conducted by outside
institutions in the 1950s and 1960s. NPS Regional Naturalist Natt N. Dodge assessed the needs of then
Arches National Monument for calendar year 1964, when three projects were listed as underway, two
by outside research programs and one by Arches staff.¥’ Brigham Young University had completed
approximately 60 percent of an inventory of the natural resources of the monument by 1964, under the
direction of Dr. Elden Beck, Dr. Stanley Walsh, and Dr. Glenn Moore, having made a collection of 300
herbarium specimens. 18 Brigham Young University biologists published a paper titled “The Vascular
Plants of Arches National Monument” in 1964, with the research partially underwritten by the
Southwestern Monuments Association, which agreed to purchase 500 copies of the final paper for sale.
Arches was hoping to push BYU to finalize a study of the mammalian and reptilian species, and complete
the inventory. Texas Tech University, under the direction of Dr. Alton Wade and Dr. Richard Maddox,
had completed about 40 percent of a geological study of Arches, with a focus on geological structures,
stratigraphy, and special features such as the salt plug in Salt Valley. In 1960, Texas Tech published the
results as a 1:6000 scale color map of Cache Valley, which provided the fledgling Arches interpretive
program with an important new visual tool.!*® Both projects were important for Arches as they were
entirely funded by the respective universities, and when completed, would provide much-needed new
interpretive material. The third project, an inventory of the archaeological resources of the monument,
had suffered a serious setback at just over half-completion, when NPS Archaeologist Lloyd M. Pierson
was transferred to another unit. In fact, serious archaeological study did not resume until 1987 when
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1,160 acres were surveyed in the park frontcountry by archaeologists from the Midwest Archaeological
Center (see Chapter 5). In March 1964, a collection of beetles made in Arches and sent to the “National
Museum” (the Smithsonian Institution) for identification was found to contain one rare and one
previously unknown species of tiger beetle.*>°

Outreach to Moab and other local communities was also a major component of the early interpretive
program at Arches. This included participation in the San Juan County Fair in Monticello, many lectures
and presentations at the Moab Lions Club and other civic organizations, helping to organize a Grand
County Archaeology Society (under the direction of archaeologist and ranger Lloyd Pierson), and
entering a float in the 1960 Moab Uranium Days Parade to publicize the problem of litter.’*! The float
“consisted of a very large picture of the Grand Tetons mounted on a pickup with Administrative
Assistant Yardic dressed in full uniform and surrounded by 8 small monument children in litterbug
costume.”

Roads to Nowhere

On the day following the proclamation of Arches National Monument, access to its scenic wonders was
exactly as it had been the day before—extremely difficult. Horseback travel was safer and more reliable,
especially for those traveling from Moab, the nearest settlement. The initial development proposals
recommended a visitor center at either Willow Springs or Turnbow Cabin, combined with a series of
horse trails to the monument landmarks, but Balanced Rock became the de facto visitor center,
providing an area to camp and trailheads to the known arches. Yet, getting to Balanced Rock required
negotiating some large impediments to travel.

A three-span bridge was erected across the Colorado River in 1912 (Figure 3-10), replacing a small ferry,
but the Moab Fault formed a bigger obstacle to vehicular access from the south.’>? For automobiles, US
450 (subsequently designated US 160, US 163, and now US 191)**3 between Crescent Junction and Moab
allowed two points of access at (upper) Courthouse Wash and Salt Valley (Table 3-5). This road was
gravel-surfaced until 1938, when the State Highway Commission oiled the last section.' Willow Springs
Road and Salt Valley Road provided the only vehicular access routes until the scenic drive was
completed from the headquarters area to Balanced Rock in 1958. L. L. Taylor began to agitate for civil
works projects to assist in building a road into Arches as early as November 1933, but it was “Impossible
to include it in national park program” at that time, according to NPS Director Arno B. Cammerer.'>

Frank A. Beckwith described the “temporary” road to Willow Springs in 1933 as being 4.8 miles in
length, from the end of which a visitor would have to proceed on horseback the remaining 4 miles to
The Windows or 5 to 7 miles to Devils Garden; a “poor dirt road” in Salt Valley beginning near Valley City
Junction could be driven to within 1 to 2 miles of Devils Garden, but left visitors on the opposite side of
the valley from The Windows.®® Beckwith’s Arches National Monument Scientific Expedition made
camp at Willow Springs and packed with horse trains into Windows and other localities they examined,
as this was easier than attempting to drive.’® Langley’s report states that “a poor road 4.8 miles in
length has been opened into the camp ... and is being clayed at the worst sections.”**® The context of his
observation indicates that the 15 men of the Civilian Works Administration camp (the Arches Scientific
Expedition) were responsible for the road improvements.

|Page 83



3-10. View towards the east of a White Motor tour bus crossing the 1912 Colorado River Bridge north of Moab,
Utah, 1923. “Devil’s Garden section Arches Nat’l Mon,” GB-8373, Denver Public Library. (Photo credit: George L.
Beam). © Denver Public Library. Used with permission.

The separation of the two units of Arches National Monument from main roads established an
important distinction between an “entrance road” into the monument and a “scenic drive” within the
monument. The earliest roads to Arches were envisioned and described as providing access to Arches.
With the completion of the temporary road spurs from Balanced Rock to Windows, Delicate Arch, and
Devils Garden, Custodian Mahan began to distinguish between “approach roads” and “monument
roads.”**® It was not until much later, when the focus of visitor services shifted from Balanced Rock to
the visitor center, and a road extended from the visitor center to the monument attractions, that the
“entrance road” became just the short section of pavement linking US 191 to the visitor center. NPS
personnel continued to refer to the entire scenic drive as the “entrance road” for years after this change
was effected, however, creating a confusing legacy of designations.'® The 2013 Parkwide Road
Maintenance and Modification Environmental Assessment perpetuates the confusion by referring to the
Main Entrance Road.'¢!
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Table 3-5. The History of Primary Road Construction and Improvement in Arches National Park

as Arches Entrance Road in 1958. Remains in use as a four-wheel-drive rou

te.

LENGTH
YEAR LOCATION (miles) SURFACE CONSTRUCTOR
Willow Springs Road — In use by 1933162—the original entrance road. Graded and redesignated Utah 93 in 1936. Abandoned

>1928163 US 450-Willow Springs 4.8 Dirt two-track Unknown
. . “ ” Civilian Works
1934 US 450-Willow Springs 4.8 clayed Administration
1936 C.oyr.thcl)ise Wash to Balanced Rock ~7.0 Graded dirt Grand County
vicinity
1936 Willow Springs to the Garden of Eden 5.0 Two-track Harry Goulding
Salt Valley Road — Remains in use as access to Klondike Bluffs.
<1908165 Thompson to near Devils Garden 27.0 Unimproved dirt Unknown/Grand County
1945 Valley City to “lower end” ? Graded dirt Unknown
2000-2001 Within Arches National Park ? Gravel NPS-SEUG
Scenic Drive — Completed road dedicated August 24, 1958.
1941 US 450-Three Penguins <1 Graded dirt CCC
1947-1948 Balanced Rock—Skyline Arch 9.2 Graded dirt Multiple?
1950 Entrance Road in Headquarters area ? Gravel NPS
1957-1958 Entrance Station to Balanced Rock 9.2 Oiled gravel® Strong Construction
1963 Balan.ced Rock.—DeV|Is.Garden 8.96 Asphalt Stout Construction Co.
(Realigned entire section)
1964-1965 Entrance to Balanced Rock 9.2 Asphalt Corn Construction Co.
Route 1B Sta. 132+50-230+00 Schocker Construction
1971 (Reconstruct five segments north of ? Asphalt Company
Delicate Arch Spur)
Headquarters Service Road
1941166 Scenic Drive to headquarters 0.4 Graded dirt Cccc
1959167 Entrance Road to residences ? Asphalt LBJ Construction Co./NPS
1964 Utility area and residence road ? Asphalt Corn Construction

Entrance Road

— After completion of Entrance Station in 1960; US 191 to Entrance Station

Redrock General

1988 Repair Bloody Mary Wash Culvert n/a n/a Masonry/NPS
2003 Moved entrance intersection southeast — ~0.25 Asphalt UDOT/WW Clyde
culvert abandoned Construction
2013168 Realigned spur to residential area; added 2 Asphalt 2
outbound lane
Windows Road — Realigned 1960-1962 and dedicated May 5, 1962.16°
1936 Willow Springs to The Windows 5.0 Two-track Harry Goulding
1944 “Windows section road” ? Graded shale Uta.h State Highway
Maintenance
1947-1948 Balanced Rock to Windows 1.5 Graded dirt Grand County
1960-1962 Scenic Drive to Windows Loop (included) 2.795 Asphalt W.W. Clyde Construction

Picnic Area Loop — 1948 route ended at Skyline Arch; extended 1949 to “Terminal Loop”17°

1949171 Devils Garden Loop ? Dirt Unknown

1963 Boute l.to Devils Garden Picnic Area (loop 14 Asphalt Stout Construction Co.
is 0.6 miles long)

2013 Expand parking from 137 to 225 spaces ? Asphalt ?

Shale Pit/Garbage Pit Road — Open pit mine for road and trail base was reused as a monument landfill circa 1962 until
sometime after 1975.°

1948172 | Spur from Route 1A | ? | Graded dirt | Unknown
Devils Garden Campground Loop
1964 SD;:/rllss Garden Campground road and 39 07 Asphalt Earl Troop

Delicate Arch Spur — before 1908 a two-track extended 27 miles to Wolfe Ranch

1947-1948

| Scenic drive to Turnbow Cabin*

1.2

| Graded dirt

Bureau of Public Roads
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LENGTH

YEAR LOCATION (miles) SURFACE CONSTRUCTOR
1993 Scenic Drive to Wolfe Ranch 1.5 Asphalt NPS
19941995 | Scenic Drive to new Delicate Arch 25572 | Asphalt Mendez Construction

Viewpoint; Wolfe Ranch Parking Lot
Delicate Arch Viewpoint Road — Reconstructed 1994—1995 and parking area moved. Delicate Arch is no longer visible from
parking area and parking area is no longer visible from Delicate Arch.

Grand County/
NPS
1994-1995 Wolfe Ranch to Delicate Arch Viewpoint 1.3 Reconstructed Mendez Construction/NPS

1951 Turnbow Cabin to Delicate Arch Viewpoint 1.3 Graded dirt

1 Madrid (1993) identifies this as the “Arches National Park Main Entrance Road” and lists length as approximately 18.5 miles. Because this is
the entire park drive, and to distinguish the section between US 191 and the Entrance Station, we refer to this as the scenic drive. The NPS
also uses scenic drive for all of the park roads, without capitalization.

2 Grand County and Utah Department of Publicity and Industrial Development.

31955 Road & Trail System map depicted Route 1 and Route 2 as paved, although the entire distance to Devils Garden was not completely
graded until 1958, and not paved until 1963—-1965, following a realignment.

4 First Custodian James Turnbow owned the ranch homesteaded by the Wolfe Family, and for many decades it was known as Turnbow Cabin.
Historic research done in conjunction with restoration work in the 1960s revealed that the chain of ownership and the original name was
restored.

5 A second shale pit was in use before 1941, and was often referred to in Monthly Narrative Reports. Its location was not described, but it may
be the Route 12 of 1955, a spur off of Salt Valley Road.

As discussed below, frequent changes in the names and numeric designations of the roads makes
tracing their development difficult; Table 3-5 draws upon road system and construction project maps,
road construction project files, and management plans to describe the evolution of the Arches road
system. Routine maintenance projects, including chip-and-seal coatings, are not shown, but have been
undertaken periodically to preserve the asphalt. The best overview of the overall road and trail system
was produced in 1975 (see Figures 3-22 and 3-23).17* The configuration of the entrance road and
Delicate Arch Spur have changed since then, but this is the most accurate depiction and most
comprehensive list of routes available for Arches National Park, providing a visual reference for locations
discussed below and the relative scale of different segments of the system. Some information regarding
the road system remains elusive, particularly the scope of some projects. Completion reports, where
available, sometimes fail to describe the scope of the project, and some more recent project records
and maps have yet to be curated in accessible collections.

In 1936, Grand County graded the route from US 450 along Courthouse Wash to Willow Springs.?”> Using
this improved road, Harry Goulding (Navajo trader and founder of the eponymous trading post near
Monument Valley, Arizona) was the first person to drive a motor vehicle into Arches National
Monument on June 15-17 of that same year, accomplishing the 9-mile round trip from Willow Springs
to The Windows and back after equipping his car with special “balloon” tires for the deep sand.’®
Goulding made the drive three days in a row, taking with him various passengers, including “Doc”
Williams and Harry Reed on June 16, and Reed, “Bish” Taylor, and visiting NPS Ranger Deric Nusbaum on
June 17.'77 Courthouse Wash was sandy and flooded frequently, often stranding inexperienced
travelers.’® Although the road was in less than ideal condition, Grand County and the Dalton Wells CCC
camp enrollees worked to keep it passable.’” Custodian Harry Reed observed in July 1938 “that out of
the three hundred visitors during the past two months only two have complained seriously about the
road and all have agreed that the trip was well worth making.”*® The turnoff to Arches was 20.2 miles
south of Crescent Junction, and for many years the entrance road was designated State Route 93
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because much of the land it traversed was owned by the state of Utah.’®! Signs directing travelers to
Arches National Monument were not installed on US Highway 160 until 1938.182

Custodian Henry Schmidt constructed the first actual piece of Arches National Monument infrastructure
in December 1939 when he erected a 12 by 14 foot frame entrance station on State Highway 93, about
5 miles west of Double Arch near Willow Springs.'®® Southwestern National Monuments had transferred
a used 14 by 16 foot wall tent from Chaco Canyon to Arches earlier in 1939 for use as a temporary
contact station, but Custodian Harry Reed found it to be “practically worthless.”*®* As the contact station
was located outside of the monument boundaries, Schmidt applied to the Division of Grazing for a
permit for the station.’®> To help him in performing his duties, Schmidt was assigned a new Chevrolet
pickup truck in 1940 (possibly the vehicle visible in Figure 3-25b).1% Perhaps optimistically, a 1941 tour
guide for Arches stated that “roads are unimproved, but are patrolled six days each week, and offer no
difficulties if speed is kept below 35 m.p.h.”*®” As of 1940, trails in Arches were not marked, and guides
were recommended “who will explain the invisible geology behind the visible forms.”

The road in Salt Valley was improved by Grand County for local ranchers, but during the first two
decades following the monument proclamation, it offered the only vehicular access to Devils Garden.
Custodian Henry Schmidt clocked the distance in 1939 from the “concrete bridge, one-half mile from
Valley City, on the old Valley City—Thompson cut-off” as 22.0 miles one way to Turnbow’s Cabin.'® The
main entrance road required a 14-mile round-trip hike to view Landscape Arch and 8 miles to visit
Delicate Arch, from Balanced Rock: “By the use of the road in Salt Valley these distances are cut to 3
miles for Delicate Arch and 6 miles for Landscape Arch.”*® Custodian Mahan evidently upset superiors in
the regional office in 1945 by requesting that Grand County make some improvements to this road by
“running their patrol over the existing road to make it passable.”

This road is not signed as an entrance to Arches National Monument and there is not much danger that
visitors will use this road as it cannot be distinguished from the hundreds of other roads that leave the
main highway in this section of country. They will certainly not use it when a first class road is built into
the areas in question. One year of non-use will practically obliterate the spur road built to the Devil’s
Garden. **°

The Salt Valley Road remains in use as the primary access to Klondike Bluffs, with visitors approaching
both from the park from the southeast and from US 191 to the northwest. Visitors with passenger cars
can enter or exit the park using this road, which intersects with the paved scenic drive near Skyline Arch.
The Willow Springs Road and Herdina Park roads are strictly for four-wheel-drive vehicles, and
passenger cars are excluded. The roads currently signed on US 191 for the Klondike Bluffs trails and
Klondike Bluffs North trails provide access to a network of jeep, mountain bike, and hiking trails that are
mostly on BLM and Utah lands, but do not provide easy access to Marching Men or Tower Arch.

A scenic drive that allows visitors to drive through Arches, with more than one access point into the
monument, was never seriously considered, and the residents of Moab actively opposed such a
possibility in 1938.2! The favored one-way route had “an entrance through Courthouse Towers to The
Windows and then to Devils Garden, with a turnaround at the latter place, and either a return trip over
the same road or a parallel loop road, provided the exit is over the same entrance road.” The location of
the monument road was largely predicated on the location of the monument headquarters; although
some early development proposals placed the headquarters near Willow Springs or Balanced Rock, a
location in Moab Canyon and actually within the monument boundaries was the preferred proposal.!*?
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The Moab Canyon location had a developable water supply, unlike Willow Springs, and would provide
“bottleneck” travel control:

It is feared that construction of an entrance via Willow Springs would be followed by pressure ultimately
to construct on out to Moab Canyon, providing two entrances and through traffic, further diffusing
control, increasing administrative expense, and greatly impairing the primitive scenic qualities of the
monument.1%3

No funds were allocated for any development in Arches until the Civilian Conservation Corps established
a camp near Moab in 1940. All of the design surveys for roads, trails, interpretation, and infrastructure
were undertaken by specialists from the Southwestern Monuments Headquarters in Coolidge, Arizona,
or from Washington, D.C., who visited Arches during a series of field trips in 1940. For naturalist Natt N.
Dodge, this involved overnight drives of 28.5 hours and 26.5 hours between Coolidge and Arches and
back, plus a day trip to Mesa Verde National Park and back to Moab.'**

In 1939-1940 a reconnaissance was undertaken for an 8-mile-long entrance road from the new
headquarters at the base of the Moab Fault to The Windows section, a new route that intersected with
the highway closer to Moab, essentially following the route still in use to Balanced Rock.!® The Willow
Springs road was deemed substandard, and it was proposed that it be bypassed by the new entrance
road, blocked, and obliterated. In addition, the entrance road plan of 1940 included a half-mile-long
service road connecting headquarters units, a parking area at the proposed new administrative building
with a capacity of “20 automobiles, or less,” and a parking area at the end of the Windows road with a
capacity of 50 cars maximum. A road from Balanced Rock to Devil's Garden of approximately 10 miles
was also proposed for the “future.”’®® The new route involved a series of switchbacks, roughly
paralleling part of an old Mormon dugway (an excavated, below-grade roadbed, cutting through the
ridge northwest of the headquarters area), to ascend the Moab Fault scarp. Work began on a road of
this basic design in 1941 using CCC labor, including construction of a masonry bridge over the wash
between Highway 160 and the new headquarters and residences at the base of the Moab Fault.’” The
dugway was originally recommended as part of the monument interpretation by Dodge, who suggested
the construction of a trail from the administration building/museum to the remains of this historic
wagon road (destroyed by expansion of US 191 in 2003).1%®

Civilian Conservation Corps

The economic relief programs implemented by the administration of President Franklin D. Roosevelt,
collectively known as the “New Deal,” provided the National Park Service with a huge pool of labor for
construction projects, and a ready source of work for those enrolled in the programs.’ It is not an
exaggeration to state that even after the implementation of the Mission 66 program, the majority of
NPS developments have been constructed by New Deal programs. The Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC)
was perhaps the most active New Deal program in the NPS, although the Works Progress Administration
(WPA) was also active in large-scale archeological projects. The CCC enrolled young men, particularly
from urban settings, and placed them in primarily rural settings to undertake a variety of construction
tasks, including infrastructure for national parks and national forests, archaeological excavations under
the 1935 Reservoir Salvage Act (construction of large reservoirs being another component of the New
Deal), and construction of features to mitigate widespread erosion from the Dust Bowl climatic event.
The CCC started in 1933 and grew to 1,500 camps by early 1940, located throughout the United
States.??® Although the camp originally planned for Moab in 1939 was reallocated to Texas, a well for a
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future CCC camp near the entrance to Arches National Monument was drilled on December 7, 1939, in
anticipation of the April 1, 1940, construction date.?* The CCC camp of 200 men was designated for
exclusive use in developing Arches National Monument.2?2 Forty enrollees from the existing camp at
Dalton Wells built the Moab camp under the direction of Lt. Edward Coffin.?’® The camp was located on
a 10-acre site near the mouth of Moab Canyon, half a mile west of the Colorado River and 1 to 2 miles
from the monument headquarters (Figure 3-11).2% Camp Arches NP-7-U was part of Company 6428 in
the Fort Douglas District.?® The Fort Douglas district was established in 1933 and administered between
16 and 46 camps in Utah, Idaho, Nevada, Wyoming, and Arizona. Harry G. Letts (Captain, Infantry
Reserve) was Company Commander, following the unexpected suicide of Lieutenant Woodrow W. Tickle
after 3 weeks on duty.?%®

3-11. Aerial view of the Civilian Conservation Corps camp adjacent to the Colorado River, 1939-1941. The Dorris
Yates “Doc” Bumgarner Photograph Collection ca. 1939-1941 ARCH 3994, SEUG Museum Collection.

After completing construction of the camp, the CCC crews immediately began to assist park staff in
maintaining the existing Willow Spring entrance road, building a new headquarters building in Moab
Canyon, and constructing a new entrance road up the Moab Fault. Construction was under the direction
of Project Superintendent W. W. Welton, who had “a gasoline shovel, tractors equipped with bulldozers,
jackhammers, compressors and graders” available for heavy construction.?’’ Custodian Henry Schmidt
worked 5 days per week as foreman on the construction crew, in addition to his other duties to the
monument.?®® The custodian’s residence was built in 1941 adjacent to the new headquarters building,
based on a design from Region Ill, Branch of Plans and Designs:
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The structure is sited on a modified rectangular plan approx. 60' x 27" within a single story and a small
utility basement. The exterior walls of red pitched-faced random ashlar sandstone masonry with mutined
double hung sash inset. A gable cedar shingle covered roof is above with white facia and trim and with a
shed roof extension over slate porch infilling the east corner. A central chimney stack, also of ashlar,
protrudes from the roof. Inside are 4 large rooms partitioned with framing and wallboard. **°

The project required 3,214 “man-days” of labor and cost $5,830.20.21° Custodian Schmidt estimated that
the house was 95 percent complete when the CCC was disbanded and withdrew in 1942, so he hired
two carpenters and a painter to assist him in completing the house, which involved sanding the
hardwood floors, installation of linoleum flooring in the kitchen, installation of window screens, final
finishing of wood trim, and interior painting.?!* This house had only two bedrooms, however, and during
its occupation by Superintendent Bates Wilson, his son lived in a “shack” behind the house, with his two
daughters occupying one of the bedrooms.?’? Construction of a fence, graveled driveway, and
landscaping was accomplished by Custodian Lewis T. McKinney, the first resident of the house, in 1942—
1943.213 Work on the picket fence (which extended to the headquarters area) continued in 1945-1946
under Custodian Mahan, but it was not painted until 1947.2%4

In addition to these accomplishments, CCC Camp NP-7-U also experienced its share of problems. Camp
enrollees were drawn from the Carolinas and other Deep South states, and were unaccustomed to
Utah’s climate. To protest what they felt were harsh working conditions during inclement weather, they
staged a work strike on December 18, 1940.2" Enrollee Griner led the strike, and he and the other
leaders and assistant leaders who refused to work were demoted by Project Superintendent Welton,
when the Commanding Officer failed to act. One enrollee who had declared that he would work that day
was beaten with two brooms and ended up in the infirmary for 2 days to recuperate from his injuries.
Sometime during the night of December 17 or 18, 1940, the camp telephone line was sabotaged, with
sections of the line cut out between approximately 40 poles, by a large number of men wearing
overshoes for the snow. Although the perpetrators were never identified, Schmidt, Welton, and the
Sherriff all concluded that the vandalism was in retaliation for the punishment meted out following the
strike, rather than an attempt to steal the wire for scrap.’® Commanding Officer Captain Pressley
resigned effective January 21 as a result of the action.

The CCC crews also built a 20-foot-long multiplate steel arch culvert with masonry headwalls across the
wash flowing at the bottom of the Moab Fault scarp (Moab Canyon Wash), and 0.3 miles of entrance
road between Highway 191 and the new headquarters (Figure 3-12).27 Work had just begun on the first
3-mile-long section of scenic drive between the headquarters and Courthouse Towers when World War
Il broke out. According to a 1940 memorandum, “It is proposed at present to build only to The Windows
section; the route to the Devil’s Garden is for future construction not contemplated for the CCC.”%8 Less
than 1 mile of this route was actually completed, to Three Penguins, when the CCC was disbanded and
the camp withdrawn from Moab on May 31, 1942. The camp was completely dismantled by February
1943, except for the Maintenance Shop, which was moved to the Arches Headquarters area; the other
buildings were demolished and used for firewood.?'° Materials were also purchased to construct an
equipment storage shed but “the camp was terminated before it was possible to begin construction on
this building.”?%°
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3-12. Members of the CCC during construction of the entrance road culvert on Moab Wash, 1941. The Dorris Yates
“Doc” Bumgarner Photograph Collection CA. 1939-1941 ARCH 3994, SEUG Museum Collection. The image is titled
“buildingshelter” but is clearly a depiction of the entrance road culvert.

Construction of the road required large quantities of dynamite for blasting through the sandstone cliff
edges. In January 1941, the CCC camp had on hand 8,779 pounds of 20 percent dynamite, 18,666
pounds of 40 percent dynamite, and 9,022 electric detonation caps with lead wires stored in the only
powder magazine in Grand County.??! This magazine was adjacent to the bridge over the Colorado River
(the man-made caves in the cliff east of the northern abutment, now in Lions Park). Due to concern
about infiltrators and saboteurs, the magazine was placed under 24-hour guard using “competent and
responsible enrollees” during the day and the CCC camp foreman at night; as of January 11, the State
Road Commission had yet to arrange for guards on the bridge.??> The December 7, 1941 Japanese attack
on Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, led to more stringent security of the camp and explosives under the provisions
of the Federal Explosives Act:2%

1. A nightwatchman is on duty every night at the Headquarters Area and Custodians Residence. He
is instructed to immediately report any irregularity to the Foreman in charge of quarters.

2. Daily inspection is made of all work projects and machinery.

Daily check is made of the powder and cap magazines, also area around same.

4. All keys, etc., to automotive equipment is placed under lock and key every night. This also
pertains to camp buildings under the direct jurisdiction of the Park Service.?*

w

By March of 1942, the road construction project was using 500 blasting caps and 1,000 pounds of
dynamite a month; 4,633 caps and 24,958 pounds of dynamite were on hand at that time.?®
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As the United States involvement in World War Il deepened, the
few visitors to Arches found a new headquarters that was still 8
miles distant from the functioning Willow Springs entrance road,
the same problematic route improved in 1936. In 1942, Bureau of
Mines Engineer Sam Hendricks proposed certifying a road to
Turnbow cabin as being “a necessity for the development of critical
minerals there” as a way to get the road construction funded
during wartime shortages.??® Realizing that if such a road were built
it might embolden the Turnbows to refuse to sell their property to

VISITOR COMMENTS ON ROADS

“This is a beautiful area but the paved road
has created a monster; too many cars/people.
The park service would do the public, and the
land, a favor by stopping this madness. Heed
Ed Abbey’s suggestions. Creat [sic] a shuttle
system and eliminate all private motor
vehicles from the park. Everyone wants to see
the beauty of the land not masses of people.
Some may not like this system but those who

the Park Service, and might open the monument to further mineral
encroachment, the plan was quashed by Southwestern National
Monuments. The Park Service had only the previous year turned
back an attempt to develop a vanadium mine near Fiery Furnace.??’
Completion of the scenic drive and development of visitor services
was put on hold until the war ended.

really want to enjoy the park would be
delighted. Most people would support this
change.

The park employees are very helpful +
informative.”

Visitor, January 2, 1998

Post-War Road Construction Resumes

Following the end of the war in 1945, vehicular and visitor demands on Arches increased dramatically
and suddenly, although no further development had taken place during the war years. In August 1947,
NPS staff surveyed temporary spur roads to Turnbow Cabin and Delicate Arch, Fiery Furnace, and Devils
Garden, originating from the terminus of the Willow Springs Road near Balanced Rock. By 1948, the
scenic drive from Balanced Rock to Devils Garden was completed, and a spur road to Turnbow Cabin
was under construction using equipment and crews supplied by Grand County and the Utah Department
of Publicity and Industrial Development (Figures 3-13 to 3-16).2%2 Both routes had yet to be surfaced due
to delays caused by severe winter weather in that year, but 2 weeks of additional work were estimated
to complete the job. A 1949 map of roads, springs, and monument boundaries depicts the completed
road network, with roads to The Windows, and Devils Garden and Delicate Arch (splitting in Salt
Valley).?”® The Fiery Furnace spur was temporarily postponed, in part because the county had deferred
road work elsewhere that needed immediate attention. New trails to Delicate Arch and Devils Garden
were surveyed in conjunction with the road work, but the construction did not take place until 1954.,%°
Two pit latrines were constructed in early 1947 at The Windows, the first formal rest facilities in Arches
National Monument.?®! Drinking water was made available at the same location later that same vyear,
using war surplus water tanks. A Wayside Exhibit with directions, interpretation (including photographs
by former custodian Harry Reed), guide brochures, and register book was started near Balanced Rock in
1950%%2 but was not completed until early 1951.%3

Bates Wilson purportedly constructed the Delicate Arch viewpoint road (the portion from the new
Lower Viewpoint parking area to the 1951 Lower Viewpoint parking area was closed in 1994-1995)
using Grand County equipment loaned by County Commissioner “Bish” Taylor, following an old mining
road in Cache Valley, thus bypassing normal NPS procedures.?®* The viewpoint allowed the “man in the
pink Cadillac” to view Delicate Arch without leaving his car, one of the developments that gave Arches a
reputation as a “windshield park.” Landscape architect Carl Alleman inspected the newly constructed
road in Cache Valley from Turnbow Cabin to the Lower Delicate Arch Viewpoint in June 1951, reporting
to the regional landscape architect that the new road “will serve to eliminate a great number of public
complaints” on the part of those who did not want to hike from Turnbow Cabin.?*> Alleman’s report also
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Switchback in Escarpment
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Bench Section in Escarpment

Page 11 (See Road Key Map Fage 15)

3-13. Reproduction of Page 11 of the report by Carl W. Alleman (1948): “Foot Trail Delicate Arch Area and Road
Construction,” showing construction of the Arches scenic drive, ca. 1947/1948. ARCH 101/003-001, SEUG Archives.
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3-14. Construction bulldozer at work on the Arches scenic drive, 1947/1948. Marginal note in Alleman (1948)
report identifies the operator as Jack Beeson. Alleman Report Photo No. 27, "Diesel Caterpillar Dozer (D-7)" ARCH
101/003-060.149, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Carl Alleman).

makes clear that Wilson’s construction of the road was undertaken as part of planned and approved NPS
developments, which included collaborations with Grand County and the state of Utah, and was not a
circumvention of the proper procedures by Wilson. Wilson was reprimanded, however, for failing to
dispose of used equipment properly in 1953 when he traded or sold without advertising some used
tools.?3®

According to NPS Landscape Architects Charles Carter and Carl Alleman, the road and spurs constructed
in 1947-1948 were supposed to be temporary (with the exception of the spur to Wolfe Ranch), and
were to be placed outside of the staked centerline for the “permanent” road that was to be constructed
at some undefined point later in time.?®” Subsequent correspondence regarding roads makes no
mention of “temporary” or “permanent” roads, and it seems that much of the road built in 1947-1948
between Balanced Rock and Devils Garden became the “permanent” road following additional
modification in 1956-1958.2%8 It was not until 1963—-1965 that the scenic drive north of Balanced Rock
was realigned to a completely new route that was carefully designed to be as inconspicuous across the
landscape as possible. The Arches scenic drive was recognized in 1966 by the American Society of
Landscape Architects as one of the three most outstanding roads constructed under the Mission 66
Program; the other two were for roads in Bryce Canyon National Park, Utah, and Ft. Caroline National
Memorial, Florida.?®
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This map, recently revised by Custodian Mahan. shows the new roads in the Monument.
Double lines are dirt roads subject to weather conditions. Dotted lines are foot trails.

AUGUST, 1948 27

3-15. Map of the roads and trails of Arches National Monument, from “Utah’s Incredible Arch of Stone,” The

Desert Magazine, August 1948. A copy of this map without the byline is curated in ARCH101/003-059, SEUG
Archives. (Map drawn by Norton Allen).
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3-16. View of Skyline Arch from the under-construction scenic drive, 1947. ARCH 4020-029, SEUG
Museum Collection. (Photographer unknown)

3-17. Willow Springs Road (State Route 93) in the aftermath of heavy rains, 1957. ARCH
104/000012, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).
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Arches National Monument immediately advertised the new spur roads and improved surface of the
entrance road with articles in major newspapers, resulting in a dramatic increase in visitation, from
4,701 in 1947 to 8,500 in 1948.%*° On August 22, 1949, the Lions Club of Moab made a request to
Congress to appropriate funds to complete the 9-mile-long scenic drive started by the CCC; a survey was
undertaken in 1950, but the project was not funded until 1956 as part of Mission 66.2' Mission 66 was
an ambitious development project for the National Park Service during the 10-year lead-up to the 50
anniversary of the NPS (discussed in greater detail below).2*> The 1950s witnessed explosive increases in
visitation at Arches, in conjunction with some vexing weather events. Heavy rains in 1957 washed out
the scenic drive and Willow Springs Road, leading to a closure of the monument for 30 days, with a
resultant drop in visitation of more than 3,000 people over the same period in 1956 (Figure 3-17).24

During the Mission 66 planning for Arches National Monument, significant alterations to the 1940
Master Plan were proposed by General Superintendent John M. Davis, and ultimately rejected by
Regional Director Hugh M. Miller.?** Extending the monument’s scenic drive beyond Devils Garden to US
160 was again suggested, but would have required two points of access, doubling the number of rangers
on duty, and potentially opening the monument to commercial vehicle traffic.2* The drive-through
scenic drive was rejected on these grounds, but the construction of a road to Landscape Arch was
seriously considered:

We concur in the proposal for extending the Devil’s Garden road to the vicinity of Landscape Arch. We
prefer that such road terminate probably 1000 feet from the Arch in order that automobiles will be kept
entirely out of view. Such arrangement would make Landscape Arch accessible to all and Delicate Arch
accessible to those willing to make the hike.?*

To protect Delicate Arch, Miller recommended no improvements to the road beyond Turnbow Cabin.
During the final assessment of the Mission 66 Prospectus, virtually all of the proposed deviations from
the 1940 Master Plan were rejected, and the scenic road and other infrastructure were constructed as
previously proposed. Mission 66 planning also resulted in formal route designations for the first time
(Table 3-6). During May of 1955, as the final designs for the monument scenic road were being
completed, the preliminary numbering system was substantially revised. After Arches National Park was
created in 1971, the road system designation was further altered, with many individual spur roads,
loops, and parking areas assigned route numbers as shown on the Road and Trail System map of 1975.
Most of the primary road designations were retained from 1955 until 1988 when the entire road system
was completely renumbered. Minor changes to this system were implemented at some time after 1988.

The CCC culvert on Moab Wash was reconstructed in 1957 to improve visitor access, in conjunction with
the realighment and improvements to US 160. Excavations were made around the culvert to expose the
footers. By mounting the masonry tailwall on rails and unbolting the corrugated steel plates, a vehicle
(probably a bulldozer) 2’ was able to pull the two sections apart, allowing the roadbed to be widened to
37 feet to meet the construction standards (and bigger cars) of the post-war era, and to support the 15
feet of fill required to bring the entrance road to the new grade of US 160 (Figure 3-18a and b).%*®
Although a rockslide in February 1958 slowed progress on the new scenic drive (Figure 3-19), it was
completed as an oil-surfaced road of 9.3 miles, dedicated on August 24, 1958,%*° shortly before the new
visitor center was approved on August 28 (Figure 3-20).
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Table 3-6. Changes to Arches National Park Road System Designations

ROUTE NUMBER
19551 19552 19753 19884 20185 ROUTE NAME/LOCATION
1 1A 1A 10 10 US 191 to Balanced Rock Scenic Drive/
1B 1B Balanced Rock to Devils Garden Entrance Road
2 2 2 11 11 Windows Spur
3 3 3 100 100 Delicate Arch Spur
11 8 8 101 101 Salt Valley Road®
10 10 10 401 401 Headquarters Service Road
- - 11 200 200 La Sal Overlook
U 93 - 13 213 213 Willow Springs Road/Utah 93/0Id Entrance Road
- - 14 205 205 Panorama Point Overlook
- 14 15 Shale Pit/Boneyard and Landfill (1947—-1948 segment)
- - 16 206 903 Salt Valley Overlook
- - 17 207 902 Fiery Furnace Parking
5 1B 18 501 901 Picnic Loop/Devils Garden Campground (including Scenic Drive
5 208 917 from Skyline Arch Parking 1975)
- 15 19 403 Generator Shed
- 25 204 907 Garden of Eden Overlook
3 11 35 201 201 Cache Valley Road
85 209 - Herdina Park Road (and part of Klondike jeep trail)
11 8 88 210 203 Tower Arch Spur and Parking
89 Eagle Park Road
13 132 402 402 Mixing Table (spur from Willow Springs Road)
852 203 203 Tower Arch 4WD parking (part of Klondike jeep trail)
855 - 903 Salt Valley Viewpoint
857 Eye of the Whale Arch View
- 12 Shale Pit (spur from Salt Valley Road)
2 500 11 Windows Loop

1 ARCH 138/2102g.0001 “Road & Trail System” May 1955, revised December 1963. Roads depicted on map but not individually designated
are indicated by [-]; roads that were not within the monument boundaries or did not yet exist are indicated by shaded cell.

2 ARCH 138/2102h.0001, “Roads and Trails,” May 1955.

3 ARCH 138/80000a.001, December 24, 1975, and ARCH 138/80000b.0001 March 12, 1976 [a more legible version with additional trail
information], “As Maintained Roads & Trails.”

4 ARCH 138/20040.001, “Road System Route Numbers,” September 1988.

5 Audrey Casper, FMSS Specialist, SEUG, June 11, 2018.

8 Including 1947-1948 section to Devils Garden.

Caroline Coalter Wilson recalls Bates Wilson taking her out to the La Sal Viewpoint shortly after the road
was completed.?®® He asked her, “Look around, what do you see?” Caroline looked around and said “I
don’t see anything!” and Bates replied, “That’s the point! That was the idea, that you can’t see the
road.” He was very proud of his alignment of the scenic drive and remembered it as one of his biggest
accomplishments.

Ranger Lloyd Pierson recalled that when the road was first opened, there were immediately several auto
accidents, something the monument had never experienced before (Figure 3-21).%! “It is apparent that
among other things the new entrance road has opened us up to the “sunday” driver and we shall have
to increase our warning sign program and expect more accidents of this type until the new road system
is complete.”?? The oiled scenic drive ended at Balanced Rock, where it connected with the 1948 graded
dirt roads to The Windows, Delicate Arch, and Devils Garden. The New York Times helped to stoke
visitation with an article about the new road in 1959:
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3-18a. Disassembly of the CCC-built entrance road culvert on Moab Wash, 1957.
ARCH 104/000066, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).

3-18b. The Moab Wash culvert masonry tailwall was separated from the headwall
and moved downsteam on rails to widen the road. ARCH 104/000067, SEUG
Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).
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3-19. 1958 rock slide onto the under-construction scenic drive slowed progress on its completion. ARCH
104/000068, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).

The highly scenic new road, an initial fruit of the Mission 66 program of improvements for Arches
National Monument, seems proof that pavement can be provided in a park preserve previously kept in its
nearly natural state without unduly marring scenic values. In fact, the route taken by the highway
builders has opened to tourists some spectacular sights previously unknown to monument visitors. >>3

Upon completion of the scenic drive in 1958, the old Willow Springs road was immediately removed
from service, although it remained visible. Arches staff first installed an 8-foot “ROAD CLOSED” sign at
US 160, but visitors continued to use it, so a four-strand barbed-wire fence was erected across the road
just inside the monument boundary, and a cable and reflective signs were installed at the Balanced Rock
end.” In 1967 this was replaced with a pipe gate, painted and flagged for safety, and the old picnic area
was dedicated to materials and equipment storage.?*® Park staff made repeated attempts to conceal and
remove the road, but decades of compaction of the underlying clay formations discouraged revege-
tation, so the road has been returned to service for off-road-capable vehicles.?® The road has also occa-
sionally been used for the Moab Jeep Safari and as an unofficial foot trail from Balanced Rock westward.
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3-20. Mrs. J. W. Williams cutting the ribbon at the scenic drive dedication ceremony, August 24, 1958.
Superintendent Bates Wilson is in uniform at the left. Regional Director Hugh Miller, State parks Director Chet
Olsen and Master of Ceremonies Mitchell Melich, President of the Uranium Reduction Company are also present.
The ceremony also honored Founders Day, and was attended by 200 people. ARCH 104/000035, SEUG Archives.
(Photo credit: Natt Dodge).

Completion of the new road also required moving the Wayside Exhibit to a new location at the
intersection of the old and new roads (discussed above), installation of roadside interpretive signs, and
creation of an auto tour guide.?®” Although the new scenic drive was a vast improvement over Utah 93
and Salt Valley Road, the unpredictable and sometimes violent weather of the Colorado Plateau still
inflicted some road maintenance headaches. Following a heavy rainstorm in August of 1959, extensive
repairs to the new road were required, due to inadequate shoulder drainage.?®
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3-21. An automobile accident in Arches National Monument, August 2, 1969. The car left the road and crashed into
Moab Wash, landing on its side at the base of the entrance road culvert. ARCH 104/000007, SEUG Archives. (Photo
credit: NPS).

The scenic drive was partially reconstructed during 1961-1963 with the addition of pullouts, parking
areas, 2,500 linear feet of gutters, and 2,000 feet of asphalt curbing, a project frequently delayed by
snowstorms, high winds, and extreme high temperatures, and finally washouts and a lightning storm.2*®
This project also significantly realigned Route 1B between Balanced Rock and Devils Garden, replacing
“temporary” switchbacks down into Salt Valley with the long, steep grade that is currently in use, and
moving much of the road out of Salt Valley onto the ridge above, closer to Fiery Furnace. Part of this
road crossed a state land inholding in the S¥% of Section 2, Township 24 South, Range 21 East that was in
the process of being exchanged into NPS ownership; when the exchange had not been completed by the
time construction was slated to begin, Arches obtained a right-of-way to a 200-foot-wide corridor across
the contested land (Figure 3-22).2%° The graded dirt road from Skyline Arch down into Salt Valley and a
short segment of the route northwest of the Delicate Arch Road are the only remaining sections of the
1947-1948 road still in use; the rest was abandoned, but remains visible in aerial images. The old
“terminal loop” and 1947-1948 road alignment near Devils Garden were obliterated in December
1963.%! The old loop and Devils Garden trailhead are shown on working drawings and as-built maps of
the Devils Garden Campground; only short segments of the old loop near the picnic area on the east
side and along the west side before the trailhead were retained in the new loop.?%2
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3-22. Map showing the location of the recently completed scenic drive from headquarters to The Windows

section, proposed route across State land, and existing “temporary” route from Balanced Rock to Salt Valley,
built 1947-1948. ARCH 101/003-059, SEUG Archives.
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The Windows spur was also realigned at this time, moving the entire road farther north, now
intersecting with the scenic drive between Balanced Rock and Panorama Point, rather than at Balanced
Rock, where the old road was really a continuation of Utah 93/Willow Springs Road. The entire scenic
road was given an asphalt surface during 1963—-1965, as described in the Historic American Engineering
Record (HAER) documentation completed in 1993.283 Although a final chip-seal coat was deemed
unnecessary in 1965, chip sealing was undertaken in 1971, 1986, and 1997 to preserve the original
asphalt surface.?® This included 19.6 miles of the scenic drive, and 3.6 miles of spurs and overlooks that
had previously been oiled or graded dirt.2®°

Between 1965 and 1994, the Arches road system changed little. Paved roads accounted for 13.2 of the
62.9 miles of road (21.0%) in the park by 1976 (Figures 3-23 and 3-24), consisting of the scenic drive
from the visitor center to Balanced Rock (Route 1A), the residential/maintenance road (Route 10), and
La Sal Overlook (Route 11). The park also included 13.0 miles of treated (oil-surfaced) road (20.7%),
including the majority of Route 1B between Balanced Rock and Devils Garden, the Windows Spur (Route
2), and various overlooks (Panorama Point, Salt Valley, Fiery Furnace parking, Devils Garden
campground, Garden of Eden, and part of the Delicate Arch spur). Graded dirt roads represented
another 21.6 percent of the road system (13.6 miles), most of which was the Delicate Arch spur road
(Route 3) and the Salt Valley Road (Route 8). A graded dirt road of 0.5 miles to the Boneyard & Landfill
(Route 15) indicates that this park facility was still in operation in 1976. Four-wheel-drive roads
comprised 22.8 miles (36.2%), the largest component of the road system in 1976. These included the old
Willow Springs entrance road (Route 13), the road to Herdina Park (Route 85 and several short spur
roads), the road to Eagle Park (Route 89), and the Tower Arch jeep road (Route 852).

On August 7, 1987, an intense local thunderstorm caused severe flooding in Bloody Mary and Moab
washes, washing away part of US 191 (Figure 3-25) and damaging the Moab Wash Culvert beneath the
entrance road.?®® The culvert was repaired in 1988 with new rip-rap along the wash banks and
reinforcement of the culvert footers.?®’” The concrete footers were being under-cut by erosion of the
wash bed. %8 To mitigate this, a poured concrete floor was constructed with rebar that tied the sides of
the culvert together, which also increased the span from 6 feet 6 inches to 10 feet. At this time, the
masonry was also repointed.

Dynamite was a crucial tool in completing the Arches road system, as it had been for the CCC, but it was
occasionally misplaced. In 1988 a visitor reported finding “wires coming out of the rock from
construction in 1958,” which were detonation leads to “live” dynamite, but due to its location, was not
able to be detonated in place.?®® A whole case of 38 sticks of dynamite was found near the gauging
station on Courthouse Wash in 1997, but by the time rangers made it to the scene 3 hours later,
someone had dumped the dynamite (marked as having been manufactured in 1955) and stolen the
crate in which it had been stored.?’® The sticks were detonated with the assistance of Burt Explosive.

Further evolution of the entrance road has been tied to realignments of US 191 and to changes in the
headquarters area. Likewise, major changes to the Delicate Arch Road and parking areas took place in
the 1990s. All of these alterations to the Arches road system are discussed in Chapter 7.
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3-23. In 19751976 the entire Arches National Park As Maintained Roads and Trails system was mapped and

tabulated, providing the first accurate and comprehensive overview of park transportation developments. Recent

changes to the entrance road intersection with US 191, and to the Delicate Arch Road are the only substantial

changes to this depiction. All paved or treated roads show on this map (and Delicate Arch Road) were completely

resurfaced with asphalt 2017-2018. ARCH 138 80000b.001, Denver Service Center, Technical Information Center.

105

|Page



ROAD INVENTORY

MILES | MILES | MILES | MILES | TOTAL
ROUTE | TERMINI PAVED |TREATED|GRADED |4W D | MILES
A UsS.163-18 8.2 93 93
EQUIVALENT 08 08
B IA~DEVILS GARDEN 06 90 96
EQUIVALENT 2 12
2 [ A~ WINDOWS 27 27
EQUIVALENT 05 05
3 IB —DELICATE ARCH ol 26 27
EQUIVALENT o X
8 1B — NORTH PARK BOUNDARY 92 92
10 V.C. PARKING — RES. 5 05 05
EQUIVALENT 02 02
T iA—- LA SAL OVERLOOK 0.2 0.2
3 [A—WEST PARK BOUNDARY 09 36 |45
EQUIVALENT 02 02
4 |B-PANORAMA _OVERLOOK 02 02
5 {B—BONEYARD & LANDFILL 0.5 0.5
6 {B— SALT VALLEY OVERLOOK 0.2 0.2
7 IB—FIERY FURNACE PARKING 0.3 03
8 16— DEVIL S GARDEN C.6. 07 07
19 IB — GENERATOR SHED Y 0.1
25 2—GARDEN OF EDEN OVERLOOK 0.2 0.2
35 3—EAST PARK BOUNDARY o7 |o7
85 =13 2.2 |2z |
88 | 8 —TOWER ARCH PARKING 02 0.2
89 8 — NORTHEAST PARK BOUNDARY 40 4.
32 | T3-MIXING TABLE X X
852 | 85 4WD TOWER ARCH PARKING 6 6
855 | 85—~SALT VALLEY VIEW 04 |04
857 | B5-ARCH VIEW 02 0.2
TOTAL MAINLINE 1056 |30 |136 |22.8 |599
TOTAL EQUIVALENT 271 _o0o| 03| 00| 30
TOTAL 32 | 130 | 139 | 228 | 629

3-24. Detail of a portion of Figure 3-23 showing the route numbers, route names, and road surface for the Arches
National Park Roads System in 1976. ARCH 138 80000b.001, Denver Service Center, Technical Information Center.
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3-25. View of flood damage to US 191 on Bloody Mary Wash, August 10, 1987. ARCH 101/003-073.004, SEUG
Archives. (Photo credit: Larry Thomas).
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Horses to Hikers: Trails

Almost all of the visits to Arches in the early days of the monument, from 1929 into the 1940s, were
guided by the custodian. Visitors would write to the custodian requesting information on conditions and
sights to visit. In his reply to H. G. Hottes of Grand Junction Colorado in July 1938, Custodian J. Harry
Reed described the situation:

I am now stationed at the monument with temporary headquarters in the Windows section. | will be on
duty every day except Mondays until Sept. 1°'. There will be no one stationed at the monument after that
date.

If you can arrange to make your visit any time during August, | will be glad to take you to any part of the
monument you wish to see. If you will advise when you will arrive, | will meet you at the intersection of
the monument road and highway 160. | would suggest that you visit both sections of the monument as
they are both remarkable and vastly different.*”*

The first trails in Arches National Monument were planned as equestrian trails (see Figures 6a and b).
These do not appear to have been formally constructed or signed, and a pack and saddle concession was
not initiated until 1949, after roads were extended from Balanced Rock to Delicate Arch and Devils
Garden, generally following the proposed route of the horse trails.?’> Custodian Harry Reed observed in
1938 that there were no marked trails, and a trail to The Windows section was indicated by a signboard
at the trail head, but the trail itself was not marked in any way.?’® Construction of the trails followed
much the same pattern as for the roads, slowly, and as time and budgets allowed (Table 3-7). Informal,
unsigned trails were in use in Courthouse Towers, The Windows section, Delicate Arch, and Devils
Garden by the 1940s (Table 3-8). Custodian Mahan began a trail signing program in April 1948 on the
Delicate Arch and Devils Garden trails, including the addition of a rope handhold on the slickrock section
of the Delicate Arch trail, and name signs at various arches.”’* In May 1948 signs were placed in The
Windows section and name signs at Cove, Double, and Turret arches, The Windows, and Parade of
Elephants.?’”> Courthouse Towers Trail was signed in June of the same year, including directional
arrows.?’® Private ownership of Turnbow Cabin was initially an obstacle to developing a better trail to
Delicate Arch, as the obvious parking area was located near the cabin.?’’ The National Park Service
bought Wolfe Ranch from Emmett Elizondo in 1948, completing the road and trail system.?’® After The
Windows, Delicate Arch, and Devils Garden spur roads were built in 1947-1948, new trails were
constructed from the end of the Windows road to The Windows, Turret Arch, and Double Arch; the end
of Delicate Arch Road at Turnbow Cabin with Delicate Arch; and from the end of the Devils Garden spur
at Skyline Arch to Landscape Arch. By 1953, there were 8 miles of signed trails and 3 miles of unsigned
trails in Arches that were used for guided tours (although only 1.3 miles of trail were shown on the
Master Plan).?”®
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Table 3-7. Trails Developed at Arches National Park

NAME LE'\.‘GTH LOCATION
(miles)t

Amphitheater 0.04 Amphitheater parking to amphitheater
Balanced Rock Loop 0.3 From Balanced Rock Parking
Black Arch 0.14 Spur from Devils Garden Trail
Box Arch 0.04 Spur from Devils Garden Trail
Broken Arch Loop 2.0 Devils Garden Campground (1.25 miles without loop)
Courthouse Towers? 2.3 Headquarters to Courthouse Towers
Courthouse Wash Rock Art 1.0 US 191 Parking Area to Courthouse Wash Rock Art Panel
Cove Nature 0.5280 Cove of the Caves area
Crystal Arch 0.28 Spur from Devils Garden trail
Dark Angel 1.0 Spur from Double O Arch (end of Devils Garden Trail)
Delicate Arch3 3.0 Wolfe Ranch Parking to Delicate Arch
Desert Nature 0.2 Loop from visitor center
Devils Garden* 4.2 Parking Lot to Double O Arch (1.6 miles to Landscape Arch)
Doc Williams Point ? Around the Doc Williams overlook parking area
Double Arch> 0.5 Spur from Windows Loop to Double Arch
Eye of the Whale 0.5 Herdina Park jeep trail to Eye of the Whale Arch
Fiery Furnace Loop® 2.04 Loop through the Fiery Furnace (approach trail not included)
Fin Canyon ? Loop from Devils Garden Trail back to Double O Arch
Garden of Eden 0.2 Around parking loop
Headquarters Area’ 0.1 Administrative Area
Landscape Arch Loop ? Beneath Landscape Arch
La Sal Viewpoint ? Around parking loop, extending to overlook loop
Lower Delicate Arch View 0.22 Delicate Arch parking area to viewpoint
Klondike Bluffs 0.5 From BLM boundary fence to Klondike Bluffs viewpoint
Natural Bridge 0.06 Spur from Fiery Furnace
Navajo Arch 0.2 Spur from Devils Garden Trail
North Window Loop 0.12 Primitive trail around North Window
Park Avenue 1.0 Park Avenue Viewpoint to Courthouse Towers Viewpoint
Partition Arch 0.2 Spur from Devils Garden Trail
Petrified Sand Dunes 2.0 Social trail from Petrified Sand Dunes Viewpoint
Pine Tree and Tunnel Arches 0.25 Spurs from Devils Garden Trail
Primitive Loop?® 7.2 Double O Arch to Landscape Arch
Private Arch 0.6 Spur from Primitive Loop
Sand Dune Arch 0.3 Main Road to Broken Arch Loop
Skyline Arch 0.4 Main Road to Skyline Arch
Surprise Arch 0.11 Spur from Fiery Furnace Loop
Tapestry Arch?® 0.6 Spur from Broken Arch Trail to Tapestry Arch
The Windows10 2.7 Parking area (Rt. 2) to Windows
Tower Archl! 3.4 From Klondike Bluffs Parking Area®
Tower Arch 0.26 Four-wheel parking to Tower Arch
Turret Arch 0.12 Windows Trail loop
Twin Arch 0.15 Spur from Fiery Furnace Loop
Upper Delicate Arch View 0.5 Lower Overlook to Upper Delicate Arch Viewpoint
Visitor Center Loop?? 0.22 Visitor Center nature trail
Windows Loop 1.0 From Windows Loop Parking
Windows Primitivel3 1.0 From Double Arch Trail around Windows (one way)
Wolfe Ranch 0.25 Loop from Parking Lot

1 All distances round trip, except Park Avenue and Windows Primitive (one way) from Arches Visitor Guide 2016, Arches website, or as
described in notes below; distances in italic are one-way from 1975 Trail Inventory. For some trails, there are significant discrepancies in
distances shown on the current Arches Visitor Guide, and archival sources. Underlined distances were obtained from Internet hiking sites.

2 Trail length in 1953 given as 1.5 miles.?®! The 1955 Road & Trail System map states that 1.3 miles of this trail from Headquarters Parking Area

to First Parking Area is to be removed from use and obliterated; this then becomes the Park Avenue Trail.

|Page




3 Delicate Arch Trail length in 1953 2.0 miles.?82 During 1954-1957, approach route was changed to eliminate a steep section of slickrock and a
pipe-and-rope handrail; and “oil mulch” asphalt surface was also applied.?® 1955 Road & Trail System Map gives distance of 2.1 miles; 1975
Trail Inventory gives one-way distance of 1.55 miles.

41953 the trail length is described as 2.1 miles.?®* 1955 Road & Trail System map gives distance of 3.6 from Parking Area to Double “O” Arch;
1975 Trail Inventory gives distance of 5.21 miles, possibly the round trip length.

5 Distance given as 0.22 miles in 1975.

6The total distance of the loop and side routes was measured May 7, 1964, as 1.58 miles, but the walking distance, including returns to the loop
from side routes is 2.04 miles. 23> The distance given on the 1975 Roads & Trails map is 1.26 miles; the reason for the difference is unknown.
71953 length given as 0.2 miles.?¢

8The route of a “proposed Devil’'s Garden loop trail through Fin Canyon” was scouted May 12, 1965.287 The one-way length of the Primitive Trail
from Double O Arch to Landscape Arch is 2.7 miles.?88

9 utahoutdooractivities.com, Tapestry Arch Trail — Arches National Park.?® Hoffman (1985) depicts this trail, but it does not appear in official
trail lists and may be a social trail.

10 Length of Windows Trail in 1953 was 1.0 miles.?*® The Windows Trail and Windows Loop Trail were reconstructed during 1998-2000 as a
single project.

111955 Road & Trail System map gives distance of 1.0 miles from Route 11 (Salt Valley Road) to Tower Arch.

12 The Visitor Center Loop and the Desert Nature Trail are the same route but in various sources are referred to by one or the other names. The
Visitor Center Loop was constructed in 1960; the first reference to the Desert Nature Trail was circa 1992.

13 The 1992 Hiking Guide names this the “Primitive Loop Trail,” and the return trail from Double O Arch.

Table 3-8 illustrates all named trails in the archival sources consulted for this administrative history.
Every new repository consulted provided new information on known trails—and names of trails not
described previously. Forty-five trails in total are named in various documents, plus two trails (Petrified
Sand Dunes and Tapestry Arch) that are identified on Internet trail sites and probably social trails, not
recognized or designated by the NPS.?! Some appear in only a single document or map, often without a
length or date of construction indicated. The first formal, developed hiking trail in Arches National
Monument linked the headquarters area with Courthouse Towers (Trail 1). It was first described in 1948,
and apparently came into use after the Headquarters and Custodian’s Residence were built, as no CCC
documents mention trail marking or building (Table 3-8).2%% In 1958, upon completion of the new scenic
drive, the section from the Headquarters Area to Courthouse Towers was abandoned; the remaining
section of the trail was redesignated as the Park Avenue Trail, beginning at the Park Avenue parking
area. Thus, although the trail through Park Avenue was in use before 1948, this designation did not
come into use until 1958.

As noted above, four other trails were in existence by 1948, when they were depicted in a visitor
brochure.?®® In a 1953 memorandum to the general superintendent, these trails were identified by trail
number: No. 2 — Windows Trail, No. 3 — Delicate Arch Trail, No. 4 — Devil’s Garden Trail, and No. 6-
Headquarters Walks.?** Trail No. 5, Fiery Furnace, was not listed in 1953 but is assumed to be in
existence, as it is shown by this number on the 1955 Road & Trail System map. Fiery Furnace Trail may
not have been included in the 1953 memorandum for several reasons: it was not signed and had no
constructed or enhanced features; an accurate trail length could not be provided or mapped; and the
1947-1948 road did not provide access to Fiery Furnace. The Fiery Furnace Trail was formally marked
with signs in 1964 and a shale-surfaced trail to the Fiery Furnace was built from the newly constructed
parking area along the newly realigned scenic drive.
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Table 3-8. Known or Inferred Dates for Arches National Park Trails

PERIOD

BUILT OR IN USE

1929-1948

Courthouse Towers (<1948)
Delicate Arch (<1948)
Devils Garden (<1948)

Fiery Furnace (<1948)

Fin Canyon (<1948)

Garden of Eden (1948)
Headquarters Area (<1953)
Partition Arch (<1948)

Pine Tree/Tunnel Arch (<1948)
Skyline Arch (1948)

Turret Arch (<1948)

The Windows (<1948)

RECONSTRUCTION

REMOVAL/CLOSURE

1950-1958

Cove Nature (1950)

La Sal Viewpoint (1958)

Lower Delicate Arch (1954)
Park Avenue (1958)

Petrified Sand Dunes (1959) 2°5
Tower Arch (1954)

Upper Delicate Arch (1954)

Delicate Arch (1953-1957)
Devils Garden (1956-1957)

Courthouse Towers (1958)
Headquarters Area (1958)

1960-1965

Amphitheater (1964)
Broken Arch Loop (1965) 2%
Doc Williams Point (1963)
Natural Bridge(1964)
Navajo Arch (<1963)
Surprise Arch (1964)

Twin Arch (1964)

Visitor Center Loop (1960)
Windows Loop (1965)

Cove Nature (?)

1966-1975

Black Arch (<1975)

Box Arch (<1975)

Crystal Arch (<1975)

Dark Angel (<1975)

Landscape Arch Loop (1966) 2°7
North Window loop (<1975)
Primitive Loop (1974)

1983-1997

Windows Primitive (>1989)
Private Arch (1992)
Wolfe Ranch (1992)

Delicate Arch (1997)

Desert Nature (ca. 1992)
Landscape Arch Loop (1983)
Primitive Loop (1991)

Landscape Arch Loop (1995)
Lower Delicate Arch (1994)

2000s

Balanced Rock Loop (2000)
Courthouse Wash Rock Art
(>2013)

Sand Dune Arch (2000)
The Windows (2000)
Windows Loop (2000)

Devils Garden (2008)

Unknown

Eye of the Whale (?)
Tapestry (<1981)

Double Arch (>1989)
Klondike Bluffs (<2003)
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This group of early trails also underwent a complicated and lengthy period of further development.
Various documents confuse the situation by referring to Delicate Arch, Windows, and Devils Garden
trails as being “under construction” between 1954 and 1958, although the activity underway may
actually have been survey, repairs, reconstruction, or surfacing. Specifically, the 1956 Development Plan
states that all trails except for Windows are in development or planning, despite documentation that
these trails were already in existence in some form. A 1954 Monthly Narrative Report describes the
Devils Garden trail under construction, but the October 1956 Monthly Narrative report states that a
“definite decision on the exact route of a trail from the Devil's Garden parking area to Landscape Arch”
had just been made.?® The new shale-surfaced trail from the parking loop to Landscape Arch (0.75
miles) was completed on March 8, 1957.2°

This job was accomplished by the use of an ingenious spreader, constructed by Maintenanceman Merle
Winbourn. Shale was hauled, % cubic yard at a time and unloaded in the spreader which was then pulled
along the trail spreading the shale to the correct depth and width. This device saved a great deal of shale
and time by eliminating any waste or material and hand spreading.3®

The 1948 Desert Magazine map shows a trail into Fin Canyon and a spur from the Windows Trail to
Turret Arch.3%! Short spur trails to Skyline Arch, Tunnel Arch, Pine Tree Arch, and Partition Arch are also
assumed to be present in some form in 1948, as these are depicted as prominent features of The
Windows and Devils Garden trails in the Arches visitor guide and the Desert Magazine map. Thirteen
trails appear to have been in use by 1948, but only six of those were formally designated as named and
numbered trails.

The Cove Nature Trail was completed September 22, 1950,3°2 and was one of the main trails accessible
during the 1950s, yet it never received a unique numeric trail designation, nor was it depicted on any of
the maps of roads and trails of this period. Numbered wooden posts adjacent to plants were keyed to a
trail guide that identified the plants for visitors along an easy quarter-mile-long hike to Double Arch and
Parade of the Elephants. The Cove Trail had a trail register beginning in June 1951, when an estimated
640 visitors used the trail; Cove Trail use was one of the official counts of visitation reported in Monthly
Reports.>® The 1956 Development Plan states that the Cove Trail will be removed, and it does not
appear on the 1962 Roads and Trails system map.3% Cove Trail was not depicted on the 1955 Road &
Trail System map by this name, but was apparently shown as part of The Windows Trail, which is
depicted as three trails: one to Double Arch, and one to each of the Windows.3® Cove Trail is not
currently listed in park interpretive literature. Three signs for the Cove of Caves Viewpoint, which was
apparently part of the Cove Trail but has not been officially interpreted or shown on maps for decades,
were removed in 2015; their presence was instigating social trail development in the area.3%

A trail to Tower Arch in the Klondike Bluffs was not listed in 1953, but does appear on the first of two
1955 maps as Trail 7. The second 1955 map shows the locations of 13 trails, designated 1-7, 9, and 11—
15 (Table 3-9).3% No Trail 8 or 10 is shown, and these are not described in other documents pertaining
to trails. It is important to note the presence of two Tower Arch Trails on Table 3-7. The first, Trail No. 7,
has a trailhead at the parking area at the end of the access spur road from Salt Valley Road, located on
the east side of the Klondike Bluffs. The other Tower Arch Trail begins at the BLM/NPS boundary fence
west of the Marching Men, and traverses a short section of Arches National Park to view the Tower
Arch.
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Table 3-9. Changes to Arches National Park Trail System Designations

TRAIL NUMBER
19531 19552 19753 20187 TRAIL NAME/DESTINATION
1 1 B Courthouse Towers
C The Windows
) , C-1 North Window Loop
C-2 Turret Arch
D Double Arch
3 3 E Delicate Arch
] Devils Garden North
Primitive Loop
J-1 Pine Tree Arch
J-11 Tunnel Arch
1-22 Partition Arch
-3 Dark Angel
-4 Box Arch
J-5 Black Arch
1-6 Crystal Arch
5 5 G Fiery Furnace
G-1 Natural Bridge
G-2 Twin Arch
G-3 Surprise Arch
6 6 Headquarters Area walks
M Tower Arch
- No Trail 8 was depicted; location unknown
9 - La Sal Viewpoint
- Devils Garden Picnic Area (Trail 10, 1963)
11 - Garden of Eden
12 - Doc Williams Point
13 F Upper Delicate Arch Viewpoint
14 K Campfire Circle/Amphitheater
L Broken Arch
15 | Skyline Arch
H Sand Dune Arch
N Tower Arch 4WD Parking
H-L Sand Dune Arch to Campground Loop
A Visitor Center Loop (Desert Nature Trail)

1 8NS-079-94-143, Folder 630, J. R. Lassiter, Regional Engineer, Memorandum: Roads and Trails Statistics, Arches, March 13,
1953. Shaded cells indicate trail was not in existence or not depicted on map. Trails depicted on map but not designated are
indicated by [-].

2 ARCH 138/2102h.0001, “Roads and Trails,” May 1955. Trail numbers 8 and 10 are not depicted.

3 ARCH 138/80000b.0001, “As Maintained Roads & Trails,” December 24, 1975. 1975 designations remained in use as late as
1992.

4 Audrey Casper, FMSS Specialist, SEUG, June 11, 2018 (personal communication) noted that there is nothing in the current spec
templates that matches that 1975 designations.
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Trail 6, the Headquarters Area Loop, is not listed in trail summaries after 1955; it is presumed to have
been removed during construction of the visitor center during 1958-1960. On the 1955 map (2102g) it is
depicted as a short spur paralleling part of the headquarters access road. The Visitor Center Loop is a
trail that first appears on the 1975 Roads & Trails map, forming an open loop from the 1960 visitor
center to the Rock House. This trail is not currently listed by Arches National Park as one of the hiking
trails, and was apparently renamed Desert Nature Trail, which is first described in a 1992 Arches Trail
Guide.3%® Several trails depicted on the 1955 map would have been under construction or proposed, not
in use, as the scenic drive was not completed until 1958. So Trail 9 — La Sal Viewpoint Trail, Trail 12 — Doc
Williams Point, and Trail 14 — Devils Garden area trails could not have been completed until 1958 (Trail
No. 9) or 1963 (Trails No. 12 and 14) following completion of those sections of road, although trails may
have been present in those locations as informal or social trails.

Trail No. 10 is, finally, depicted in 1963 in the Devils Garden Picnic Area as three short spur trails from
the loop to various fins nearby.3% Subsequent maps do not show this trail. This is the same general area
of the 1955 Trail No. 14, although that map does not depict a Trail No. 10.

The 1975 Trail Inventory lists 27 trails with completely new alphanumeric designations, but does not
include Balanced Rock Loop, Headquarters Area, or Cove Nature trails. Sand Dune Arch Trail is shown on
the 1975 Roads & Trails map, and is designated Trail H. But a review of the trail condition and status in
2000 determined that this was actually a social trail that had never been formally constructed.?° SEUG
Staff debated the need for and final configuration of a formally constructed trail to replace the multiple
social trails to Sand Dune Arch. While some argued for a stepped trail to reduce erosion, and others
advocated for a ramped surface for wheelchair accessibility, SEUG Superintendent Jerry Banta pointed
out that the real issue was wilderness, and the need to start considering wilderness values in all
projects. He recommended that the project proceed after conducting the needed analysis of minimum
impact, and rewriting the justification to support the analysis. Five trails shown on the 1975 map and
inventory (Black Arch, Box Arch, Crystal Arch, Dark Angel, and North Window Loop) were probably built
some time prior to 1975, but were either not included on earlier maps, or were built between 1963 and
1975 between inventories of the road and trail system at Arches.

The Delicate Arch Trail required the greatest level of effort to reconstruct, as it is the most developed of
all the Arches trails. The oldest approach to Delicate Arch was from the east, climbing up from Winter
Camp Wash, which was longer but did not require the level of construction required by an approach
from the south and west, the route of the new trail. The new Delicate Arch Trail was surveyed in
conjunction with the scenic drive and Delicate Arch spur road in 1947-1948.3!! The planned approach
required drilling, cutting slick rock, and lengthy sections of pipe handrails for fall protection.
Additionally, a swinging pedestrian suspension bridge was constructed across Salt Wash to provide
access to the trail from the parking area at Turnbow Cabin. This proved to be one of the most difficult
parts of the trail to maintain, as it was repeatedly vandalized in the 1950s to 1970s. In its original
configuration, this bridge was too low to the ground, and was within the flood zone until 1956, when it
was raised and strengthened with additional steel cables.3!? In 2013, Arches staff discussed the
possibility of constructing a new spur trail into the “bowl!” beneath Delicate Arch, to avoid a sometimes
icy section of the trail; due to potential cost, safety issues, a desire to retain the “surprise” appearance
of Delicate Arch at the end of the trail, and lack of consensus that such a trail was actually needed, the
project never reached the formal planning stages.3'® Of note, this was similar to Alleman’s proposed
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Route #1 from 1948, which would have crossed the blowout basin below Delicate Arch, with steel ladder
rungs set into the steep northeast face of the basin.3*

Landscape Architect Carl W. Alleman visited the project in 1953 and suggested that the rock work and
railings could be eliminated “by the construction of step ladders at the point leading up to the Arch
Area,” similar in construction to ladders in use at Montezuma Well and Montezuma Castle in Arizona.3"
General Superintendent John M. Davis vetoed the plan on safety grounds and noted that “it would be
far better to cut the trail through the side of a solid rock cliff.”3!® Developing the trail involved blasting
and chiseling of the sandstone (Figure 3-26), an act that still upsets some visitors. Dean Potter cited this
“defacement” in his defense of climbing Delicate Arch in 2006 (see Chapter 6). Despite this effort, and
even with the large numbers of people on the trail to Delicate Arch, a surprising number of visitors
manage to lose the trail and get lost or find themselves on an exposed slickrock location from which
they have to be rescued. The Delicate Arch Trail has also required numerous changes over the decades;
in 2002 several sections were rerouted and most of the steps were removed, retaining just 25 in an area
where they were unavoidable.??” The other trail to view Delicate Arch, extending from the Delicate Arch
Viewpoint parking lot (the Lower Delicate Arch Viewpoint), was surveyed in 19513 and constructed
circa 1954-1956. It is known as the Upper Delicate Arch Viewpoint Trail.

Several trails have undergone substantial reconstruction or alterations since their initial development
(Table 3-6). The original approach to the Delicate Arch trail included a steep section of slickrock, with a
pipe-and-rope handhold. This was removed and the approach realigned in 1954-1957; at this time, the
“oil mat” asphalt surface was installed to improve traction and safety. After a number of delays for
weather, the project was finally completed June 18, 1957.3'° Following the completion of the Devils
Garden Campground in 1964, monument staff realized that Skyline Arch was readily accessible to
campers, so existing rocks at the base of the arch were removed to prevent campers from trying to
climb to the arch.3?® In 1991, a section of the Primitive Trail was rerouted due to concerns about the
safety of visitors, particularly during the winter months.3?! Since its designation in 1974, the park had
routinely received complaints from visitors who had gotten lost or injured on this trail, but efforts “to
change the route of this trail ... have been resisted by everyone from a supply clerk to resource
management.”3?2 The section of trail in question was a steep, exposed slickrock face on which ice and
snow would often cling. After conducting an archaeological survey and an Environmental Assessment
(EA), the reroute was marked and the old section of trail was obliterated. In 1997, Arches staff removed
the swinging bridge on the Delicate Arch Trail and replaced it with a fixed, single span bridge, which
proved to be highly controversial with both the Utah State Historic Preservation Office and the local
public.32® Likewise, the trail beneath Landscape Arch was closed in 1995 after a series of rock falls from
the arch; it was rehabilitated in 2003, and the adjacent section of Devils Garden Trail was moved closer
to Landscape Arch to provide visitors a view of the sky beneath its span.32* Devils Garden Trail was
further modified following the 2008 collapse of Wall Arch, which deposited debris on the trail; the trail
was moved to another fin to the east.3*

Three other trails are mentioned in archived documents, but little additional information regarding
these is available. Private Arch was first documented in 1980, but the recognition that it was previously
unknown to other “arch hunters” did not come until 1992.3% A trail to Private Arch was hastily created
in 1992 after its discovery was widely publicized and undesirable social trails across soil crusts quickly
developed.3?” A trail to Eye of the Whale Arch is only described on Internet hiking sites.3® Hoffman
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3-26. Delicate Arch Trail construction planning photograph, 1947. Blue indicates the route of the
trail, and orange the locations of handrails. Alleman Report Photo No. 5 “Route No. 1--Trail &
Handrail,” ARCH 101/003-060.133, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Carl Alleman).
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illustrates a spur trail from the Broken Arch Loop Trail to Tapestry Arch, located north of the Devils
Garden Campground, but no documents pertaining to the construction of this trail were discovered
during the research on the history of Arches trails.3? It was obviously in use before Hoffman’s guide was
published in 1981, and may have been constructed in conjunction with the Broken Arch Loop Trail in
1965, or a social trail that has developed since then.

VISITOR COMMENTS ON TRAILS

“Make delicate arch accessible as the campground
area is. Delicate Arch is the significant arch of the
total arch system. If you do not wish to pave the
route to the viewpoint for Delicate Arch then why
continue to emphasize an arch with both restricted
viewing access and visiting access.”

Visitor from Otsego, Michigan, March 2, 1978

“Concerning hike to Delicate Arch. Because of the
graffiti on the arches, some of the hazzardous [sic]
portions of the hike, + the length + heat of the hike
.... | would suggest that this hike be made into a
guided “tour” — You have protected Fiery Furnace,
why not protect Delicate arch.”

Visitor from Salt Lake City, Utah, April 20, 1980

“First | would like to say that this certainly is a
beautiful place and has, in general, been managed
very nicely. Personally | am a bit disappointed that
there are not any more hiking trails. | think that it
would be a definite improvement if some of the 4-
wheel drive roads were changed to solely hiking
trails. Although it is fairly easy to negotiate most of
the terrain without trails, perhaps more trails, or at
least fewer roads, would encourage more people to
walk.

| was quite surprised that the trail to delicate arch
was paved throughout much of its length. | found
the pavement to be offensive and hope that you
don’t bother to pave any other trails.

| did enjoy the 2% days that | spent hiking and
camping in the park and would like to say again that
it is a very nice place. By getting people out of their
cars and walking around the park, | think that you
will be helping the people as well as the area. Thanks
for reading this.”

Visitor from Denver, Colorado, October 1, 1978
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In response to visitor comments, developing awareness in the
National Park Service of the many impediments to those with
physical handicaps, and later the 1990 Americans with
Disabilities Act, several trails were modified for use by the
disabled of those in wheelchairs. Trails or viewpoints that are
currently considered completely ADA-compliant are the Lower
Delicate Arch Viewpoint Trail, Balanced Rock Viewpoint and
Picnic Area, Wolfe Ranch Cabin and Petroglyph Panel trail, and
the Park Avenue Viewpoint.3® Three other trails are considered
“barrier free”—Devils Garden Trail to Landscape Arch,
Windows Trail (only the first 100 feet), and Double Arch. These
trails were hard-surfaced to accommodate wheelchairs, steps
were removed (only the first 100 yards of the Windows Trail is
wheelchair accessible), and slopes were modified. Trail
hardening also reduced trail maintenance and was intended to
encourage visitors to stay on the trail, reducing trail-side
erosion. 33! During reconstruction of the Windows Trail in
1998-2000, the existing steps were buried under gravel to
create a ramp for equipment access.?3? SEUG staff debated at
length retaining the ramps for wheelchair and stroller
accessibility, but ultimately decided the gravel was a tripping
hazard and would require annual maintenance to keep it from
washing out and exposing the steps—a further tripping hazard.
Delicate Arch was visible from the automobile overlook
between 1951 and 1994, but the parking area was likewise
visible from Delicate Arch. Delicate Arch can now be viewed
after a 100-yard flat, wheelchair-accessible trail is traversed
from the current parking area, which was moved in 1994-1995
out of view of Delicate Arch. The Upper Delicate Arch Overlook
can be accessed after a half-mile hike up a steep trail of steps
and slickrock. In 2000, three AmeriCorps teams assisted Arches
staff in reconstructing the Windows Trail, which SEUG
Superintendent Jerry Banta recognized as “now one of the
highest quality trail systems in the United States Park
Service.”®® The AmeriCorps crews also assisted with
reconstructing parts of the Devils Garden and Sand Dune Arch
trails in 2000.
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In regards to the Lower Delicate Arch Viewpoint Trail, it is worth noting that the state of Utah provided
financial assistance for its modification in 1994.334 Relocating and modifying the trail was part of the
Delicate Arch road and parking project, but the NPS Denver Service Center and Federal Highway
Administration did not want to fund the trail portion of the project. Utah Natural Resources contributed
money, and in exchange the head of Utah Natural Resources was invited to participate in the ribbon-
cutting ceremony for the project in 1995. Utah’s assistance is acknowledged with a sign at the trail.

Trail construction was initially undertaken by National Park Service employees, using funds allocated for
park development. With increases in visitation, and budget cuts and program cuts since 1991, trail
maintenance has become a task that involves the assistance of outside volunteer organizations such as
the AmeriCorps National Civilian Community Corps (NCCC), Sierra Club, American Conservation
Experience (ACE), Southwest Youth Corps, the American Hiking Society, Outdoor Colorado, Trail Mix,
and others, as well as the “Flame ‘N’ Gos” prison work crew. The Fee Demonstration program gave a
much-needed boost to deferred maintenance projects in the 1990s and 2000s, but major corporations
such as American Airlines and Nike also donated money to help maintain trails. American Airlines
contributed $28,000 to rebuilding the Windows Arch Trail in 1998, which was accomplished by the SEUG
Trails Crew and NCCC over 3 years.3® In 2003 the SEUG Trail Crew was disbanded, with each park
maintaining their own crew.3® Following the departure of a problematic crew chief, SEUG reconstituted
a unified Trails Crew in 2004/2005 under the direction of Greg Kosa.?*’

During the major trail reconstruction projects of the late 1990s and early 2000s, each project was
evaluated and approved using the N-16 process internally.33® This did not account for analysis of other
attributes such as wilderness values, as discussed with the Sand Dune Trail Reconstruction Project, nor
did it give the public the opportunity to comment on these projects. SEUG began work on a Trails
Management Plan to deal with trails throughout the group, but was still working on it while each of the
major trail reconstruction projects was evaluated individually, partly because promised guidance on
NEPA compliance and the use of categorical exclusions had not been promulgated by Washington, D.C.
Squad Meeting notes in 2003 discuss N-16 clearance for repairs and upgrades to a Klondike Bluffs Trail, a
bike trail across BLM lands from US 191 to the park boundary, and a foot trail of approximately 0.25
miles (one way) to an overview of the Klondike Bluffs.3* It is not known when the trail first came into
use, but by 2003, 32,000 people per year were using it, leading to serious erosion; additionally, the trail
cut across a large archeological site. SEUG Superintendent Rock Smith wanted to “re-establish the
boundary fence” and install a gate in this location, indicating that this had evolved as a social trail. This
trail is different from the second Tower Arch Trail, which has a trailhead on the Klondike Bluffs 4WD
road (Trail N on the 1975 map).

Remote Rangers: Balanced Rock and Devils Garden

An interpretive wayside exhibit at Balanced Rock, constructed in 1950-1951, also doubled as the visitor
center, at which post cards from the Southwestern Monuments Association were offered for sale (see
Chapter 8, Figure 8-4). The Balanced Rock interpretive exhibit contained a visitor register that for many
years was the principal count of monument visitors, supplemented by ranger contacts and visitor
contacts at headquarters, or, after 1960, at the visitor center. With the completion of the scenic drive in
1958, which changed the location of the road intersection near Balanced Rock, the original Wayside
Exhibit was moved adjacent to the new road.3* The wayside remained the focus of interpretation for
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many visitors until it was demolished in October 1966, along with many of the roadside interpretive
signs, as all were deemed to be in poor repair.3#

In 1951, a used trailer from Bandelier National Monument was installed near the new Wayside Exhibit at
Balanced Rock as a residence for a ranger to be stationed within the monument.3*? This marked the first
time that there was an NPS presence within the publically accessible portions of Arches National
Monument, although rangers did not initially stay overnight. But by May 1952, rangers were assigned
the trailer as their duty station, beginning with Ranger Howard Williams.3** The completion of the
Wayside Exhibit made this location the focus of visitor activities within Arches; the trailer was situated
near the camping area at Balanced Rock for the convenience of and oversight of visitors. The Balanced
Rock trailer was made famous as Edward Abbey’s duty station and residence, and was described in
Desert Solitaire. In 1960, after Abbey’s second season was completed, the trailer was moved to the
headquarters residence area for permanent employees.3** One pit toilet was installed at Balanced Rock
in 1952, and another at Devils Garden that same year.

General Superintendent John M. Davis recommended that a ranger residence be established near Devils
Garden as part of the Mission 66 Prospectus. But in his review of the prospectus Regional Director Hugh
M. Miller suggested that remote residence was unnecessary if the monument drive remained a one-way
route and proper fencing and other protective measures were in place; additionally, Miller advocated
for eliminating all campground facilities within the monument, making it available for day trips and
picnickers only.3* The Mission 66 Prospectus, not Miller’s opinion, was acted upon, and a house trailer
was installed adjacent to the campground road, just off of the Devils Garden loop.3*¢ Supervisory Park
Ranger Lee Ferguson recalls that the trailer was occupied by law enforcement ranger Marc Yeston when
he first arrived at Arches in 1992.3% Ferguson also spent part of a summer in the trailer and
remembered that “there it was a constant flood or constant flow of people coming into the campground
looking for a place in spite of the fact that all the signs said it was full ... we had people knocking on our
door all the time.” Within a year the trailer was condemned and removed, in 1994, as it was in poor
repair and was infested with mice, which suddenly became a major health scare following the 1993
Hantavirus outbreak.?*® The trailer was replaced with a small (20 x 24 feet) frame visitor contact
building, constructed by Rholand Murphy Construction and NPS personnel using $12,000 in year-end
repair/exterior construction money and $5,000 of fee money to furnish materials for the interior. It was
also at this time that three of four solar photovoltaic charging systems were installed in the
campground, to eliminate the noisy, expensive, and polluting generators.3* Since the removal of the
Devils Garden trailer, no rangers have been stationed within Arches National Park (beyond park housing
in the headquarters area). As part of the development of a reservation system for the campground,
volunteer campground hosts have resided seasonally in RVs in the campground, fulfilling the informal
role imposed on Yeston and Ferguson.

Park Infrastructure Development

The Master Plan of 1940 described the proposed development of Arches National Monument, but the
construction proposal for the road system (NM-ARC-R-1-1, Entrance Road, Section A, Grading and
Surfacing) was actually prepared before the Master Plan was completed.®*® As described in the annual
report of 1942, the CCC camp succeeded in building some basic infrastructure for Arches National
Monument: a headquarters building; the custodian’s residence (NM-ARC-B-1, Custodian’s Residence); a
well and reservoir (NM-ARC-U-3, Water Reservoir) and water distribution system (NM-ARC-U-1, Water
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Supply, Headquarters Area); and the entrance road bridge (NM-ARC-R-5, Arch Culvert, Entrance Road).
Monthly notes list construction of a sewer system (for the custodian’s residence only) but official
correspondence regarding the development plans indicate that this had not yet been started in
September 1942 .3°! Custodian Schmidt noted that much was left uncompleted:

Other projects started, and worked on but not completed, include headquarters circulation system,
section 1A of the road, channel change and revetment, grading headquarters are [sic], construction of
signs and pit latrines, maintenance and storage shed and maintenance of the existing roads.3>?

Custodian Schmidt managed to construct a storage shed for tools (NM-ARC-B-7, Equipment Storage
Building, Utility Area) using materials that had been purchased while the CCC camp was still in
operation.3®® Although the national focus was on World War Il, the National Park Service continued
preparations to complete Arches National Monument’s development, submitting funding requests to
Congress that prioritized various projects. Proposal B-18-1, Power House and Pump House for Arches,
was priority 5 in September 1942.3%*

Arches and Natural Bridges national monuments benefited from the abundance of surplus materials
from World War Il, and to a lesser degree, from uranium mining in the Four Corners region following the
war. The Surplus Property Act of 1944 was a temporary statute created in recognition of the potentially
devastating effect on the American economy of the potential surpluses of real estate, military
equipment, and consumer goods that would become available at the conclusion of World War 11.3%° The
act (Public Law 78-457) created various federal entities to dispose of surplus property, and allowed for
the transfer of materials among government agencies and the donation of surplus to local governments
and non-profit institutions at reduced or no cost.®*® Subsequently, the Federal Property and
Administrative Services Act of 1949 (Public Law 81-152) established the General Services Administration
to manage all government property, surplus or otherwise. Between 1946 and 1950 surplus vehicles,
generators, pumps, and other materials were transferred from the Department of Defense to the
National Park Service. The Monthly Narrative Reports of this period documented multiple trips to White
Sands, Big Bend, Carlsbad Caverns, and Chaco Canyon to retrieve surplus equipment that was
designated for use at Arches by the War Assets Administration. A second wave of surplus materials
became available in the late 1950s as the Atomic Energy Commission began to demobilize their
operations in the region. A large AEC facility just 2 miles from Natural Bridges supplied that monument
with many buildings, but some smaller structures were transported to Arches:

June has been declared “outhouse” month at Arches. Thanks to the A.E.C., four slightly used one holers
were transferred as excess property and placed into service at Arches. Two more, one a mobile trailer
type, the other a steel building, are in the plans and preliminary construction has been started pending
their arrival. All the rest of the small government buildings have been painted.>’

From 1941 until 1954, the headquarters area was powered by a succession of mostly unreliable gasoline
and diesel generators. In 1952, the Utah Power & Light Company first offered to extend electrical service
from Moab to the headquarters area, but the project was repeatedly delayed.?*® After a substation was
constructed for the uranium mill in early 1954, other delays occurred that prevented power from being
delivered to the monument until October 28, 1954, at 2:08 PM.*° The connection of national park units
to commercial power, including Arches, was prominently featured in the 1954 Annual Report of the
Director of the National Park Service to the Secretary of the Interior as a significant improvement in
services and reduction in costs.>*® Equally unreliable pumps for the 20,000-gallon water tank at
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headquarters broke with some regularity during the 1940s and 1950s. A completely new well and
50,000-gallon storage tank were part of the Mission 66 improvements to the headquarters area. The
new system was completed May 4, 1959, ending a lengthy period of hauling potable water from
Moab.3¢!

Development plans for headquarters had originally included seven residences (in addition to the Rock
House). Three were constructed in 1958, and one (Residence #5) was built as part of the visitor center
contract in 1959-1960.3%2 But sudden and dramatic increases in visitation, and very limited housing in
Moab due to the uranium and oil booms, required the addition of seven trailers for three permanent,
one seasonal and Western Office of Design and Construction personnel in 1960.33 The rest of the
permanent residences—Residences 4, 7 [seasonal apartment], and 11—were constructed in 1964.3%*

The septic system was expanded with the addition of new residences, but construction of an on-site
wastewater treatment plant was never seriously considered. Sewage from vault toilets and other
locations not connected to septic fields was dumped at an undisclosed location within the park until
1986, when Arches signed a disposal agreement with the City of Moab, and the dump was closed and
rehabilitated.?%> The cost of such a facility was evaluated in 1988 as part of the GMP planning; based on
projected additions of three visitor center staff and 30004000 visitors to the headquarters area, “the
cost of providing the wastewater treatment facilities would be $17.24 per additional visitor per visit.”36¢
But, by 1999, sewage dumping by the NPS (100,000 gallons from Canyonlands National Park alone) and
the dramatic growth of Moab strained the capacity of Moab’s sewage plant and the NPS was prohibited
from further dumping.3®’ Waste was trucked to Blanding, but “they have made it clear they don’t want
our waste.” In 2000, the Water and Sewer Service Agency received funding to construct water and
sewer lines to Arches and a new water tank.3%®

Potable water was regarded as a potential development liability at Arches from the beginning. Five
possible sources of water were evaluated in 1938: the spring near the Colorado River bridge, springs in
Courthouse Wash, Entrada Sandstone natural catchments, a sheet-iron catchment, and wells drilled into
the Navajo Sandstone.?® In the same year, after the first monument expansion, the National Park
Service instructed Grand County to file for water rights on Matrimonial Spring, the spring adjacent to the
Colorado River Bridge, as a potential future source of water for monument developments.3”°
Unfortunately, Grand County filed on the upper of two springs at this location, and the NPS had no
jurisdiction to prevent other uses of this source, which was outside of the monument boundaries.
Development of this water source had proceeded to the point of drafting construction plans and
budgeting for construction of a 300-gallon sump, 18,480 feet of 2-inch waterline, and a 20,000-gallon
storage tank with pump and distribution lines, estimated to cost $15,900.3* The first well for the
headquarters area was drilled by the CCC to 117 feet and cased in February 1940. By February of 1941,
the well had filled with debris to a depth of 112 feet, but still had water at 92 feet.?”? Custodian Schmidt
investigated drilling the well to a deeper depth, using the Grazing District’s drill rig (on loan from Loren
L. “Bish” Taylor), but the well driller noted the danger of hitting a fault and losing the aquifer, so they
decided to clean out the debris with a pump. The CCC also constructed a 20,000-gallon underground
storage reservoir on the slick rock above the residences, but was forced to use 2-inch pipe instead of the
recommended 4-inch pipe due to lack of funds.3”® A gasoline engine powered a 30-gallon-per-minute
pump to fill the two-cell concrete tank.3”*
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Mission 66 development at Arches included a new, larger well and storage tank in the headquarters area
and a permanent water system at the proposed Devils Garden Campground, as the earlier well and tank
were considered inadequate for the demands of a new visitor center, residences, and the increasing
number of visitors. In November 1958, the Moab Drilling Company began drilling a new well to supply
the newly completed 50,000-gallon tank that sits above the headquarters area. The project encountered
a series of problems: sand in the borehole, out of plumb well casing, and no suitable pump to conduct
tests.’”> To complicate matters, the driller’s mud and mill fiber that was used in the final stages of
drilling migrated through the aquifer and plugged the existing well (which had ceased working prior to
the new well construction due to a failed generator and damaged pump shaft). By December 1958, the
old well remained blocked and the new well still had no pump; Arches hauled 36,000 gallons of water
during the month to supply the basic needs of the monument.3’® Changing water safety standards
required chlorination of the headquarters and Devils Garden water systems by 1984, a project that itself
required an Environmental Assessment to complete.3”” The project included putting back into service a
well capped in 1978, replacement of pipelines, and burial of electrical and television cables in the
pipeline trenches.

Disposal of trash was another development issue at Arches. Trash generated in the headquarters area,
including the residences, was burned in barrels prior to March 1965:

A new system of garbage disposal is being experimented with in the Headquarters area. The burning
barrels have been replaced with garbage cans in an effort to cut costs of hauling burned materials to the
city dump. Wastes from these cans will be hauled to the Devils Garden and burned during routine
trips.3’®

At the same time, an existing garbage pit in the Devils Garden area was covered over and a new one
excavated; the locations of these pits are not known. The 1962 Roads & Trails map depicts a spur road
from the Salt Valley Road, on the slope south of Skyline Arch, as “Garbage Pit,” a location previously
identified as a “shale pit” that had presumably been the source of the shale that was used to surface
roads and trails during the 1940s and 1950s. This place is still identified as a landfill as recently as the
1975 Roads & Trails map.

Mission 66

For Arches National Monument, Mission 66 would finally complete basic park development, particularly
the entrance road and rebuilding of the spur roads to Devils Garden and Delicate Arch.

Other proposals in the program include improved trails to individual arches, headquarters facilities to
include a visitor center, maintenance buildings, employee housing, campgrounds, picnic areas, wayside
exhibits, utilities, fencing and other improvements which will assure preservation of the unique features
of the area and at the same time meet increasing visitor-use requirements. 3”°

A headquarters building was one of the few improvements completed at Arches by the CCC, but by 1956
it was 15 years old and the parking lot with “fewer than 20 spaces” was completely inadequate for the
level of visitation Arches experienced in the early 1950s (Figures 3-27a and b). Park development under
Mission 66 would also include an entrance station, site-built residences (instead of trailers; Figure 3-28),
maintenance facilities, an upgraded water system (Figure 3-29), and septic systems. But during the
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planning process a complete revision to the 1940 Master Plan developed at Region Ill offered a very
different approach to developing Arches National Monument:

The radical masterplan revision being offered as the “MISSION 66” proposal strikes me as excellent—(1)
main developed area, including campground and residences and utility yard, on high ground in the
southeast corner of the monument, with numerous advantages and no immediate apparent serious
drawbacks; (2) only a checking station and a public use building (or small museum or information
station) in the present headquarters vicinity; (3) the entrance road continuing northward past item (1)
above from item (2), with a few viewpoints and interpretive markers, to approximately the present

VISITOR COMMENTS ON MISSION 66
DEVELOPMENT

“This national park looks more like
Disneyland than a wilderness area. The
number of visitors is ridiculous and the idea
of guided walks is contrary to my idea of a
park experience. | know Arches N.P.
receives a lot of political pressure to
provide a plush park visit to America’s and
Europe’s wealthy few. Stop “improving”
visitor services and stick to the first
mandate of the park service — preserving
our country’s incredible resources for the
enjoyment of future generation. In an ideal
world, I'd tell you to rip out the roads and
take down the signs. Realistically, | just
wanted to cast my vote that this park does
not meet my expectations due to overuse.
I’'m an environmentalist and I'll support any
congressional plan to cut this park’s (and
others) funding.”

Visitor, September 16, 1997

Ranger Comments: “- Yep! let the park run
itself 11”

[Visitor Comment forms of this period
included a few lines at the end for Ranger
Comments. Usually these were a notation
that the issue had been resolved or a
request for an official response. Obviously
the antagonistic manner of this visitor had
upset the ranger, who was responding to
that in an unofficial way — Ed.]

junction, the present interpretive wayside exhibit there being revised
toward more an orientation display; (4) extend the road as far as
Landscape Arch; (5) two or three geological wayside exhibits at
points along the road north of the junction, to its end; (6) develop a
trail from Landscape Arch, relocate the Cove Trail slightly, make that
to Delicate Arch a geological nature trail, and have guided trips only
(with no signs or markers) in the Fiery Furnace area. The prime need,
of course, is a third permanent man, so as to have two men on duty
much of the time .3

The revision also toyed with continuing the scenic drive past Devils
Garden to US 160, and removing the campground completely.
Ultimately, nearly all of these changes were rejected, with the trail
beyond Landscape Arch and guided access to Fiery Furnace the only
changes that were retained.

Each year during the early 1960s Arches received money in the
federal budget for significant improvements. In 1962, for example,
$319,000 was earmarked for an equipment and storage building,
one employee residence, a boundary fence, utility connections, a
new well, storage tank and distribution system and restrooms and
septic system, for Devils Garden Campground.3&!

NPS Renaissance or the Car Culture Conquers All

Mission 66 remains a polarizing program. For those within the Park
Service who had witnessed the deprivation of the War Years, followed
by the explosion in visitation immediately afterward, Mission 66 put
the Park Service back in the black and gave it the funding and federal
prominence it deserved. In many parks like Arches, some planned
development had never been completed, and Mission 66 provided
the needed political push and financial resources for the park-as-

intended to be realized. Mission 66 emphasized interpretation and visitor accommodation, elevating the
quality of the park experience to equal the popularity of that experience.

For environmentalists, wilderness advocates, and others (including Edward Abbey),3®? Mission 66 was a
travesty, the victory of “industrial tourism” over what they viewed as the key components of the
Organic Act—preservation of wilderness, of quiet, of nature. Parks such as Great Smoky Mountains were
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already being encroached upon by gaudy and sordid sideshows such as that which developed in Maggie
Valley, North Carolina, at the park’s eastern entrance. The agent of tackiness, the facilitator of laziness,
conveyor of crassness was the car, and Mission 66 capitulated to its intrusion into the wilderness (Figure
3-30).

.—“—‘;‘—?

3-27a. The 1940-1960 Arches National Monument Headquarters, date unknown, but after May 1947 when the
telephone line connected the headquarters and office. ARCH 104/001380, SEUG Archives. Photographer unknown.
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3-27b. The 1940-1960 Arches National Monument Headquarters, no date but taken before August 1945 when a

flagpole was erected. ARCH 104/00323, SEUG Archives. Photographer unknown (possibly George Grant, U.S.
Department of the Interior).

The most immediate problem posed by Mission 66 road-building was that automobiles provided easy
access not just for tourists, but for “local ‘Pipe-Rattlers’ and nocturnal ‘Beer-Can-Spreaders’” looking for
a place to party.3® In 1959, the NPS began to close the entrance gate at night due to the littering and
vandalism being perpetrated.®* During the 2 months prior to the dedication of the new Arches Visitor
Center and Windows Loop Road on May 5, 1962, Arches experienced a rash of vandalism that included
the complete destruction of one new interpretive sign, damage to other signs, dumping of trash, and
piling rocks into a toilet.3> Four local boys were arrested on April 10, 1962, for indecent exposure and
vandalism, and late patrols were instituted to control vandalism.3®® One roll of toilet paper was unrolled
along the park road as far as it would go—a sad index of the level of boredom afflicting the local
teenagers. Arches was short-staffed at this time and unable to maintain nightly patrols of the
monument roads, so a nighttime closure of the park from 8 PM to 7 AM was imposed, with the entrance
road gated and locked. In response, names were painted on the cliffs above Lower Courthouse Wash in
bold letters.3®’

Unruly juveniles remained a problem for Arches law enforcement through the 1960s; in 1966, an
editorial in The Times-Independent complained about the lack of police response to juveniles harassing
visitors to Arches and Lions Park.3® The swinging bridge at Turnbow Cabin was damaged multiple times,
including May 2, 1966, when nine local kids pulled down the bridge and scattered broken beer bottles
over the area (they were subsequently caught and forced to pay for repairs).3® Arches reopened to
nighttime visitation but added night ranger patrols in 1971 to deal with beer parties and littering.3%
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3-28. Many current visitors to Arches haul camping trailers larger than the residence trailers occupied by park
personnel in the 1950s. One of these may be the trailer occupied at Balanced Rock by Edward Abbey 1956—1957; it
was later moved to the Headquarters area. 1959. ARCH 104/000187, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).

Continuing problems with parties, littering, and vandalism, including destruction of some interpretive
signs, pushed Arches staff to again consider closing for the night in 1975.3%' More vandalism took place
in October 1976, including four interpretive signs pushed over with a motor vehicle, and two signs in
Fiery Furnace that were cut off with a saw and axe and stolen from the park.3®> The cohort of young
people perpetrating the damage must have grown up by the late 1970s, as fewer reports of vandalism of
this sort were logged in park files or by the local newspapers.

Delicate Arch by Road and Trail

Until 1948, the road to Delicate Arch (Salt Valley Road) was unpaved, and ended at Turnbow (Wolfe)
Cabin. From there, Delicate Arch was a 2-mile hike, a distance that made viewing the Arch a special
experience, but also excluded a number of visitors from seeing it because the arch was not visible from
the parking area. Landscape Architect Carl W. Alleman proposed two possible routes for a new trail to
Delicate Arch in that same year (Figure 3-31), and in 1951 he conducted a field inspection of Arches
National Monument, focusing particular attention on the Delicate Arch road and trail. The road had just
been extended down Cache Valley from Turnbow Cabin:
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From the end of this new road a prominent view is obtained of the Delicate Arch with some indication of
its dramatic setting. From this point we made a reconnaissance for a proposed foot trail approximately
three-fourths of a mile leading into the Arch. A plan from aerial photographs will be prepared showing
this perposal [sic]. For the benefit of those who do not make the hike to the Arch, a sign or a small exhibit
at the Parking Area giving such information as location, height and breadth of the Arch, as well as
perhaps photographs and some of the geological story should be considered. 3%

3-29. Construction of the park water tank in progress, 1959. ARCH 104/000232, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd
Pierson).
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3-30. Visitor cars parked at the Devils Garden Trailhead, ca 1968. ARCH 104/323.002, SEUG Archives.
(Photographer unknown).
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3-31. Page 6 of Landscape Architect Carl Alleman’s 1948 report on the Delicate Arch trail and road, with the
alternate trail routes mapped and photo points illustrated. ARCH 101/003-001, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Carl
Alleman).

|Page 129



Alleman also inspected the location of a proposed campground 2 miles west of The Windows section
(which was not subsequently built) and the location of a new ranger’s quarters and wayside exhibit near
Balanced Rock. The ranger trailer was found to be within the viewscape from The Windows, and a
different site was selected a short distance to the south.3®* Alleman and Landscape Architect Van Pelt
visited Arches in 1953, primarily to examine the progress on the construction of Delicate Arch Trail.

Alleman noted that the route had been carefully studied, and would
use mostly slickrock as the trail bed. Although this route would require
more drilling and blasting to achieve the correct grade and emplace
guard rails (Figure 3-32), the “longitudinal slope of the formation
follows closely the proposed trail grade and its transverse bed sloped
sharply, but not excessively, down and away from the natural face of
the fin adding to the feeling of safety if the trail were constructed along
this natural shelf.”3%

Devils Garden Campground

Although the road to Devils Garden had been completed in 1958,
camping was “rustic” and lacked the sort of formal amenities now
expected by the traveling public (Figure 3-33). In conjunction with
paving the park roads and completing the viewpoint pullouts,
creation of a formal campground that could accommodate both tent
camping and trailers was an important component of Mission 66 at
Arches. Camping was available at both Devils Garden and Balanced
Rock, where the camping area was expanded in 1963 when frequent
closures of the Devils Garden road were required for road
realighment and surfacing.3®® Park Landscape Architect Alleman
scouted a possible campground location north of Landscape Arch, to
be reached by a one-way loop road, in 1952.37 Alleman’s proposal,
which was accompanied by a sketch map, utilized the same initial
route from the Devils Garden trailhead loop, but turned west to form
a large loop in the open area north of the fins, with proposed short
hiking trails to Tunnel, Pine Tree, Landscape, and Crystal arches, and
Fin Canyon. However, unlike the entrance road and spurs, which were
designed and constructed with little controversy, the Devils Garden
Campground underwent multiple design changes.?*® The initial design
had two loops of nearly 100 camping spaces, later increased to 120
spaces (a 1963 construction design plan shows 133 spaces),>*® but early
in the design process, in 1962, the second loop was dropped, reducing

VISITOR COMMENTS ON CAMPGROUND

“1. COMPLAINT. — On arrival at both Capitol
Reef and Arches National Parks at midday
10/6 and 10/7, campgrounds were full. -
Facilities for camping are completely
inadequate at these and all other National
Parks. Arches and Capitol Reef have only
about 50 campsites each — this is ridiculous.
Why limit campsites and crowd people
together in small areas in these huge parks.
This SPOILS a vacation.

2. SUGGESTION. — Expand campground
facilities with designated primitive overflow
areas to accommodate all wishing to stay in
these beautiful areas. Raise fees to finance if
necessary. There is plenty of room.

Please, let me have your comments.”

Visitor from Gates Mills, Ohio, October 7,
1978

Ranger Comment: “I encountered this
gentleman at Entrance. His complaint &
aggravation may be valid but his manner was
rude and obnoxious. | tried to explain our
filling early this weekend & the objectives of
the Park. He only replied with rude remarks.”

“Arches (+ Canyonlands) are my favorite Nat’l
Parks. Please don’t commercialize these
fantastic natural wonders. Grand Canyon was
partly ruined by all those cities at the top.
Don’t enlarge campgrounds! Keep the
experience a really good one. Keep roads dirt
(don’t pave them!).”

Visitor from Boulder, Colorado, June 4, 1978

the campground to 60 spaces (the 1963 design plan still shows the two deleted loops and 52 remaining
spaces on the portion actually constructed, but correspondence regarding the campground consistently
refers to 60 spaces).’®® The new Southwestern Region office did not want to fund a larger campground,
and decided to use 60 spaces on a “trial” basis;*! additional cost savings were realized by using culverts
already stored at the maintenance yard, replacing colored concrete barriers with crushed rock berms, and
reducing the size of some restrooms. Several suggestions made by Bates Wilson to modify the design (such
as moving the Campfire Circle closer to the road “Y”4%2) were rejected.*®® But construction by Earl Troop of
Cory, Colorado, began in August 1963 and the project was completed June 18, 1964 (Figure 3-34).4%
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3-32. Page 5 of Alleman’s report illustrating the proposed locations of cuts and handrails. ARCH 101/003-001,
SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Carl Alleman).
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3-33. Before the Devils Garden Campground was completed, visitors camped near Balanced Rock, as seen in this
vacation photo from 1956. ARCH 428/001.005 SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Jean Cohen [née Sharp]).

From the very beginning, the campground fills to capacity every night, causing some visitors and rangers
alike to hope that the Park Service will expand the campground to the 120 spaces originally planned.*®
A visitor survey in 1977 found that 40 percent of campers would like more campsites, but 54 percent
wanted to keep the same number; 50 percent felt the quality of the camping experience was about the
same as elsewhere, 30 percent said it was actually a better experience, and only 10 percent stated that
the campground quality is worse than elsewhere.?® Over the years since it was completed, the Devils
Garden Campground has actually lost spaces, although it is unclear when and for what purpose some of
the spaces were removed. Currently, 51 spaces are available to campers, including two group-use sites,
but some management documents variously list 52 to 54 spaces. The original small group space was
moved in 1983 to increase the picnic area capacity, increase visitor safety, and make fee collection more
efficient.*”” The old site was converted into an additional picnic site. Fifty-three spaces are described on
a 1988 site plan of the campground, with 10 new walk-in tent sites proposed (but never constructed)
northwest of Comfort Station #1.%%® One space (#37) was removed in 2011 to construct a photovoltaic
array panel to provide additional solar power and reduce hours of operation for the generator.*®
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3-34. To save money and reduce the footprint of the park developments, the NPS built a single campground of 60
spaces, rather than two much larger campgrounds. Competition for campground spaces is one of the most
common complaints registered by Arches visitors. ARCH 104/001395, SEUG Archives. (Photographer unknown).

Completion of the campground necessitated some ancillary developments in the area, including a
generator shed, new comfort stations with septic systems, a well and storage tank, and a ranger
station.*'% Several of these proved to be maintenance headaches. The well burned out pumps on an
annual basis, often breaking down at the beginning of the camping season. After paying well-drillers to
remove the pump for repairs in March 1966, the well was drilled 200 feet deeper to 1,100 feet in June
1966, providing a better flow of 10-11 gallons per minute using a new pump.*! The generator was also
problematic. In July 1966, the cranking switch, then the rectifier burned out; new parts were only
available from the factory, which took 6 weeks to 2 months to ship. This forced Arches staff to haul
water from headquarters at a cost of $97.05 per week.*'? The pump failed again in March 1967, at the
beginning of tourist “high” season, and again, well-drillers were hired to remove it.*!* The capacity of the
Devils Garden water system was evaluated in 1988 as part of the General Management Plan.*** The
study concluded that there was sufficient capacity for current and projected future uses, but recom-
mended upgrading the distribution system to connect with the comfort stations, residences, dump
stations, office, and drinking fountains, and to automatize the operation of the reservoir with a float
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control. Yet the water pumps remained a problem; even after rebuilding the campground water system
in 2001, the first pump stopped working and a replacement pump overloaded the electrical system and
tripped off the generators.**®

Ground fires have been prohibited in the campground (and elsewhere in the park) since the 1960s, but
firewood gathering was not banned until 1977.41® Arches National Park hired a firewood concessionaire
beginning in 1976 to sell bundles of cut and split wood that could be used in the campground grills. The
campground was open on a seasonal basis until the late 1990s, as the comfort stations were unheated
and the water system had to be drained to prevent freezing. An early Fee Demonstration project in 1998
installed heat in all three comfort stations and three handicapped stalls.**’

3-35a. The new Mission 66 Visitor Center was completed in 1960. ARCH 104/000150, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit:
Lloyd Pierson).
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3-35b. A view of the new visitor center in the summer of 1960, before the site was landscaped. ARCH 2906, SEUG
Museum Collection. (Photographer unknown).

The First Visitor Center 1958-1960

Arches National Monument existed for almost 30 years before a true visitor center was constructed
during 1959-1960 (Figure 3-35a and b). As Christine Madrid French observed, Mission 66 invented the
“visitor center” as an integrated administrative, interpretive, and commercial facility.*'® Although the
Rock House had initially served as an informal visitor center, between 1949 and 1972 it was the
superintendent’s residence, and in any case it was far too small to accommodate visitors by the time the
Wilson family occupied it in 1949. A frame structure built by the CCC west of the Rock House (now
within the footprint of the current visitor center) served as the contact station, museum, and
administrative offices from 1940 until 1960. The new visitor center was designed at the Western Office
of the Division of Design and Construction but Bates Wilson suggested some modifications to the
locations of ancillary buildings to better accommodate the local landscape. Bids were opened June 23,
1959, and the contract was awarded to Gunter-Perryman Construction Company of Grand Junction,
Colorado, after the low bidder failed to acknowledge a proposal addendum.*'® The project consisted of
the visitor center—3,800 square feet of covered building space, 1,250 square feet of covered exterior
porch areas and 1,000 square feet of walkways and steps—as well as an entrance station, one employee
residence, and a sewer system, for a total contract cost of $124,024 (Figure 3-36).
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3-36. 1959 view of the headquarters area from the Moab Fault overlook. The new visitor center and residences are
under construction, with the old Headquarters still extant east of the Rock House; the Moab Wash culvert
widening has been completed. ARCH 104/000068, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Lloyd Pierson).

A national steel strike in late August 1959, then snow in December, delayed the completion of the visitor
center, but by shifting resources to the residence, the contractor was able to stay on deadline; minor
changes in the project necessitated change orders in October 1959 and February 1960, pushing the final
cost to $131,768.83. Final inspection took place on January 22, 1960, at which time the only tasks left
uncompleted were finishing stucco on the exterior back porch foundation, installation of metal
partitions in the restrooms, and installation of six light fixtures.*”® Landscaping took place during 1960,
with replacement of plants and trees that had died after transplant in 1961. With great relief and
excitement, the Arches Visitor Center was dedicated May 5, 1962, along with the newly completed
Windows Loop Road, three park residences, the entrance kiosk, and a bust of Dr. J. W. Williams,
displayed prominently in the visitor center lobby.***
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The construction of an entrance station in conjunction with the visitor center was another important
milestone for Arches. First opened April 15, 1966,%?2 it moved the point of initial contact with visitors out
of the visitor center, allowed for fee collections, and gave some control over traffic entering the
monument (Figure 3-37). During the 1960s, when the visitor season was shorter and more clearly
defined than it is today, the entrance station was only operated from April 15 to October 15, with the
visitor center the point of contact in the off season.*?® Arches had not yet charged an entrance fee, but
after the entrance station was completed in 1966, an entry fee was instituted.*?* Visitors could buy a 50

cent one-day pass, a $3 pass for 30 days to Arches, or a $7 “Golden Passport” annual pass to all federal
recreation areas.*?

3-37. The new entrance station in 1960. ARCH 104/000212, SEUG Archives. Photographer unknown.
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In an interesting departure from the typical landscaping of the era, native species were used extensively
at the Arches Visitor Center (with the one exception being a “small lawn” of turf), under a separate
contract from the construction (for an additional $5,324.70, plus $325 in change orders).*?® The project
entailed grading the visitor center grounds with “native” topsoil, collected from the local area but
outside of the monument grounds, installation of a drip-irrigation system, and planting of native tree
and shrub species. Grading began in November 1960 and was completed by Christmas of that year. By
November of 1961 “60% of a required 85% [of the shrubs] have survived,” and “77% of a required 85%
have survived” of the Populus acuminata.**” However, none of the 22 evergreens (pinon pine and
juniper) survived, and 52 of the native shrubs died. Many native Colorado Plateau species do not
transplant well, and the contract included a guarantee for replacement if the transplants did not survive
the summer. Replacement species included 10 cliffrose, 4 single-leaf ash, 10 Mormon tea, 4 sandsage, 5
Gambel oak, and 5 blackbrush.*?®

The 1960 Arches National Monument Visitor Center also included an expanded museum and exhibition
space for the first time. Lloyd Pierson recalled shooting chipmunks and jackrabbits for the taxidermy
display, and noted that once installed, the displays did not change for more than 30 years.*”® John
Jenkins and Clair Younkin installed the exhibits on April 2, 1960; as Wilson noted, “not every area rates
the services of the Chief of the Museum Lab in the installation of their exhibits and we certainly
appreciate our good fortune and the excellent job.”**® The new visitor center included a small
auditorium in which an audio-visual exhibit was displayed, using a slide projector and tape player. It was
first put into operation on August 29, 1960, to generally favorable comments from visitors.3!
Unfortunately, this system proved to be unreliable, and the Monthly Narrative Reports through the
1960s make frequent comments about the audiovisual system ceasing to function and visitors’
disappointment. In 1964-1965 the audio-visual system was inoperable for over 10 months.**? Despite
these shortcomings, the newly completed developments were appreciated by staff and visitors alike,
some of whom recalled the decidedly primitive conditions that prevailed as recently as 1946. However,
in 1973, increases in visitation necessitated the replacement of the information desk with one that could
accommodate more people at once, a foreshadowing of the changes to come.**3
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Grazing, Minerals, and Development Encroachments:
A Pattern Established

The proclamation of Arches National Monument in 1929 came with baggage—a pattern of
land use issues both within and adjacent to the monument boundaries that persists to the present.
Although few of the resources at Arches have been greatly harmed by livestock trespass, mineral
prospecting, or oil and gas development, the frequently changing boundaries and use of section lines to
demarcate those boundaries have made it difficult to adequately fence or patrol Arches against
incursions. Furthermore, the presence of state inholdings and highway and utility rights-of-way presents
a constant management challenge, within and along the edges of the park. Yet despite the frequency
with which cattle trespass or encroaching oil leases are mentioned with concern by park staff in park
records, natural gas pipelines have had the greatest and longest-lasting effect on the park resources.

The earliest serious encroachment on Arches was by the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (BOR), which
reserved potential dam and reservoir locations along the length of the Colorado River in the 1930s. One
of the dam sites was just above the US 160 bridge north of Moab. On March 1, 1950, the BOR contacted
Superintendent Bates Wilson by phone to inform him that they intended to build such a dam,
impounding the waters of the Colorado. Wilson immediately contacted the regional office because the
reservoir created by such a dam would have backed up into Salt Wash, isolating Delicate Arch from the
rest of the monument, “making it inaccessible by road or trail.”* Bowing to pressure from conservation
groups,? the Colorado River Storage Project Act of 1956 specifically prohibited construction of any dams
in national parks or monuments within the Upper Basin.? This area was returned to public use by the
BOR in 1963 after Grand County petitioned for a patent to build Lions Park.

Encroachment issues reached a crisis point in 1982, during the Reagan administration, when Arches and
Canyonlands were threatened by plans for nuclear waste repositories, coal strip mines, and oil sands
development, and the Atlas Uranium Mill was belching dense smoke.* In recent years, degradation of
the air quality in Arches National Park has become an issue of increasing concern, as regional haze
threatens all units of the national park system. Arches National Park has successfully resolved state and
county land inholdings, but remains threatened by anti-environment, pro-development attitudes in
Utah, including attempts to seize federal and private lands as historic road rights-of-way. Although
Grand County and the Utah Department of Publicity and Industrial Development were instrumental in
constructing and maintaining the early roads into and across Arches National Monument, animus
towards the federal government by the Utah legislature and county governments has intensified after
every new expansion of parks or creation of new monuments in Utah, culminating in the Public Lands
Transfer Movement.”

Cattle, Sheep, and the Open Range

Grazing was the first resource issue to confront Arches. Utah is one of thirteen western states that
possess similar laws regarding livestock range and fencing, a legacy of Territorial-period laws to protect
large grazing operations. These “open range” statutes permit livestock owners to run herds anywhere
that is not fenced against them with a “lawful” fence.® Utah Code Ann., Section 25, Estraying and
Trespassing Animals [§ 4-25-8 (3)(b)], states that the owners of livestock are not responsible for
damages if “the premises that was trespassed is not enclosed by an adequate fence at the time the
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trespass occurs.”” This section does not define an “adequate” fence, but § 56-1-13 (fencing railroad
rights-of-way) does: “Such fence shall not be less than four and one-half feet in height and may be
constructed of barbed or other fencing wire with not less than five wires, and good, substantial posts
not more than one rod apart with a stay midway between the posts attached to the wires to keep said
wires in place.”® In 1946, Grand County adopted Ordinance No. 39, requiring landowners to fence their
property against livestock using language similar to Utah Code Ann., Section 25.° The onus of the law
places all responsibility on landowners, railroad operators, and operators of motor vehicles on public
roads to avoid injury or death of livestock, and the full expense of constructing an “adequate” fence to
prevent livestock trespass. This includes Arches National Monument, where boundary fence
construction was not initially a priority. Frequent changes in the monument (and later park) boundaries,
as well as the use of section lines rather than natural contours for those boundaries amplified the
difficulties, and many miles of boundary ran across slickrock exposures that would require costly drilling
to install the fence posts. In 1975, Grand County amended the livestock ordinance with Ordinance No.
124, establishing a zone around Moab and in Spanish Valley in which roaming livestock were excluded,
but Arches was not included within that zone.°

Livestock was trailed through Salt Valley and the area to become Arches National Monument as early as
1875, but John Wesley Wolfe was the first year-round resident to graze cattle in the area circa 1898.11 J.
M. Turnbow, the first Custodian of Arches, bought the Wolfe Ranch from Tommy Larson in 1914 and by
1916, had 100-475 cattle in the area. The 1930s witnessed relatively little actual grazing but much
correspondence between Arches and the NPS and the Grazing Service regarding proposals to expand
Arches National Monument, incorporating some 24,420 acres of Grazing District No. 6 within the
expanded monument.'? It was noted that one sheepman had withdrawn his herd from this area in 1937
because the terrain was too rough and he had lost too many animals to predators. In 1941 the U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service examined the issue of grazing on national parks and monuments (Table 4-1).13
Harold M. Ratcliff, an ecologist who was acting assistant in charge of the Fish and Wildlife Service at that
time, prepared an outline of the history of grazing in Arches National Monument, noting that “at the
time of the boundary extension of Arches National Monument, three men were using a portion of the
lands taken into the monument as cattle range. Each man was at that time grazing approximately 100
head. The grazing rights were to continue for 10 years with a 10 percent reduction of the herds each
year until extinguished. Since that time two of the permittees have sold all cattle and have discontinued
their grazing rights.”** The Division of Grazing issued the permits, not Arches National Monument, a
situation over which the NPS had little say at the time. Rancher Bert Newell died in 1939, with his heirs
selling his cattle and grazing rights, and Turnbow was killed in a car crash in 1940; although Turnbow’s
widow Susie attempted to continue ranching, she eventually sold out, in 1941, to the Moab Land and
Cattle Company.®®

To increase the supply of food and fiber (wool) for the war effort of World War I, the National Park
Service was called upon in 1943 to increase cattle grazing 27 percent and sheep grazing 11 percent on
NPS-administered lands.'® It was up to the NPS to apportion those percentages, and mindful of the
Organic Act and the fragile nature of some ecosystems, the NPS crafted a policy that provided for six
different strategies to grazing, while reaffirming “the policy of eventual elimination of grazing in the
national park system.” The six management strategies were to exclude all grazing from park units with
no existing grazing (14 national parks); continue without change grazing in units that permitted grazing
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Table 4-1. History of Grazing Leases at Arches National Park

LOCATION or ALLOTMENT
ALLOTTEE NAME/NUMBER ACRES? AUMs or HEAD
Arches Expansion, 19387
Bert Newell Devil’'s Garden ~100 cattle
J. M. Turnbow Devil’'s Garden ~100 cattle
James Westwood Devil’'s Garden ~100 cattle
Institution of formal grazing permits, 194318
James Westwood T23S, R20E, Sec. 24 NW¥% 160 100 cattle
Frank Paxton Driveway - 2,000 sheep
Gus Morris Driveway - 1,600 sheep
Henry Revoir Stock water - 1,400-1,600 sheep
Establishment of Arches National Park, 19712
Tad Paxton Salt Valley /1 (A) 891 (NPS) 174 (State)
Ina H. Young Courthouse Wash / 2 (B) 202 (NPS) 616 (State)
George M. White Willow Flats / 3 (C) 459 (NPS) 140 (State)
Curecanti Sheep Company Whipsaw Flat / 4 (D) 4,568 (NPS) 504 (State)
Taylor Livestock Company Lost Spring / 5 (E) 1,992 (NPS) 162 (State)
Jay Elizondo / Colorado-Utah Livestock Monument Wash / 6 (F) 9,961 2,160 (NPS) 204 (State)
Retirement of Grazing Leases, May 31, 1982
Martin Etchard Unknown
Don W. Holyoak Willow Flats 306
Jack Garrison Big Flat-Ten Mile 480
George W. White T24S, R22E
Emmet Elizondo Unknown
Curtis Young Unknown
Curecanti Sheep Company Unknown
TOTAL 25,057
LIf known.

2|n 1971 permits were on an annual basis, and the number of AUMs (animal unit months, consisting of a cow and weaning calf, or an adult
cow, per month of grazing) varied year to year. Several documents retained in the SEUG Archives for 1969, 1972, and 1973 also show
different numbers as the portions of the allotted areas under analysis were different; the grazing allotments were present at the
establishment of Arches National Park (date of permit reviews April 1970). Allotments were listed by name, number, or alphabetic
designation on different documents (Figure 4-1).

(7 national parks and 16 national monuments); increase the scale or scope of grazing (1 national park, 2
national monuments and 1 national historic site); graze range not previously permitted and increase the
number of animals (2 national parks, 6 national monuments including Arches, 1 national historical park,
1 national recreational area, 1 national historic site, 2 national parkways, and 3 recreational demon-
stration areas); and prohibit grazing due to logistical problems (2 national parks, 1 national battlefield
site, 1 national historic site, 32 national monuments, and 31 recreation demonstration areas). During
the war years, permits were issued for 3-year periods, with 1-year permits in use after the conclusion of
the war. These grazing permits provide the first accurate records of grazing activities in Arches, as
described by SEUG Biologist William B. Sloan in his discussion of the desert bighorn sheep herd:

Prior to 1943, written grazing or watering permits were not necessary within the Monument; however,
upon a recommendation from the Department of Interior, permits were soon required for grazing upon
and crossing the Monument. In 1943, 1600 domestic sheep are recorded as using the area around
Freshwater Spring; in 1944, an additional 2000 sheep were also watering at this spring. Despite severe
overgrazing in the past and the resultant degradation of the range, grazing continued to be allotted on
the Monument throughout the subsequent decades (NPS 1994).°
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Harold M. Ratcliff again visited Arches in 1943 for a 7-day field inspection.?® He noted that there
remained two grazing permittees and three crossing (driveway) permittees. Ratcliff recommended no
expansion of existing grazing, that Emmet [sic] Elizondo be excluded from the monument (as he had no
legal grazing or watering rights), that James Westwood be issued a grazing permit (if he requested one)
with the proviso that he continue to reduce his herd 10 percent per year, and that the three ranchers
with allotments or property on both sides of the monument be given permits to cross (Frank Paxton and
Gus Morris) or be given access to emergency water (Henry Revoir). The permits were issued soon after
Ratcliff’s report, marking the first time in the history of Arches National Monument that the National
Park Service had some degree of direct legal control over grazing in Arches. Four other ranchers were
also using the “Arches unit” in 1943: “James Sommerville held 2200, W. D. Hammond 500, J. M. Bailey
540, and Gus Morris held 1320 AUMs.”?! Some of these animals were grazed in Salt Valley outside of the
monument boundaries, and it is unclear what defined the “Arches unit,” so the latter four are not
included in Table 4-1 as being present in 1943 when permits were issued.

Emmett Elizondo of Fruita, Colorado, and his family had a long and complex relationship with Arches
over grazing rights. At the time of Ratcliff’s inspection in 1943, Elizondo had just purchased Susie
Turnbow’s grazing rights in Cache Valley, outside the monument boundaries, where he grazed sheep.?
He had already had conflicts with the monument custodian, who recommended that he be denied any
grazing permits in the monument (including a stock driveway or access to water) and that he be
reprimanded by the superintendent for animal trespass. Elizondo continued grazing animals in and near
Arches long after Custodian Schmidt had left. In 1952, the (then) Region Three office in Santa Fe
requested information on all special use permits and other authorizations within Arches. At that time,
four livestock driveway permits were in effect for Frank Paxton (I-33np-326), Emmett Elizondo (I-33np-
180), James S. Westwood (I-33np-250), and Ross S. Musselman (-

33np-241).2 Elizondo also possessed 35-year watering privileges
as part of the purchase agreement between the NPS and Mr.
Elizondo for the Wolfe Ranch.

VISITOR COMMENT ON CATTLE TRESPASS

“On May 30 we back-packed into upper
Courthouse Wash (north of Highway). There
was a herd of about 30 to 40 head of cattle,
with their visual nuisance value. The herd ran
ahead of us through the hanging fence which
is now badly broken up. The herd was initially
quite close to highway.”

Arches remained open for grazing for many years following World
War Il, and issued permits to local ranchers for livestock driveways
and stock crossings of portions of the monument. In 1944,
Superintendent Mahan observed the movements of two 1,000-
head herds of cattle owned by the Scorup-Summerville Cattle
Company, one of the larger cattle operations in southeastern Utah

Visitors from Walnut Creek, California, June 1,
1980.

H 24
(Figure 4-2).** Arches staff also documented legal and trespass Ranger Comments: “Apparently cows have

cattle encounters over many decades. By 1967, reports of
trespassing cattle appeared monthly in the Interpretation reports
filed by Robert J. Ferris, who noted that “trespassing cattle
continue to be a problem, pointing up the need for more fencing
of Monument boundaries. As usual, John Ross, the cowboy in

come in during the last week. Drift fence
needs repair. Mr. + Mrs. ____ were quite upset
at seeing cows in the park. | will contact
BLM.”

charge removed them promptly when notified.”? The following month “John Ross came out on several
occasions to remove cattle from the Turnbow Cabin area.” Although Ross removed “the last of stray
cattle seen in the upper Courthouse Wash area” a month later, the situation in July 1967 was “cattle
trespass continues.”
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4-2. Cattle drive in Arches, circa 1939-1941. The Dorris Yates “Doc” Bumgarner Photograph Collection, “cowboys,”
ARCH 3994, SEUG Museum Collection.

Grazing on portions of six allotments partially within Arches National Park was permitted until May 31,
1982.% Emmett Elizondo was permitted for 22 AUMs of sheep, but the rest of the 1,169 total AUMs
permitted in Arches were issued for cattle.?’ Two other ranchers (Taft Paxton and M. H. Young) held
grazing leases on Utah state lands within the boundaries of Arches National Park, but did not also graze
federally owned lands within Arches; Elizondo also grazed state lands.? In a review of the grazing history
of Arches, Superintendent Noel Poe noted that “as recently as 1983, the Curecanti Sheep Company was
issued a permit which expired in 1987. Other livestock companies held permits which expired about the
same time. One was valid until 1992 (near the Colorado River).”?°

Even when funds were available to fence sections of the park boundary against trespassing cattle,
Arches staff sometimes encountered problems with adjacent Utah state lands managers. In 1984,
Arches proposed to fence portions of the western park boundary adjacent to Courthouse Wash, an area
where many of the previous trespasses had taken place. NPS had already emplaced a fence across the
wash channel at a narrow point approximately % mile within the Arches boundary in T24S, R20E, Section
30, and proposed to build fences along the terraces above the wash to link with existing and new fences
on the section lines (park boundary). Utah State Lands & Forestry Southeast Regional Manager Mike
Grosjean wrote to Arches Unit Manager Sherma E. Bierhaus expressing his concern that boundary
fencing would exclude 100 head of cattle from using a spring-fed pond in the Courthouse Wash channel
that is 200 feet inside the park boundary.3® Grosjean supplied a map showing where the state would like
to see the fence installed so that the cattle could continue to use the water tank. Bierhaus replied to
Grosjean that, due to the locations of cliffs that were being utilized as part of the fencing proposal, the
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pond would remain accessible to cattle.3! No mention was made in either letter as to whether the state
of Utah or the grazing allottee would compensate NPS for this use of federal resources. This problematic
situation of the spring being fenced outside of the park still prevails in 2018.

By 1991, ongoing cattle trespass had been identified as the number one resource threat at Arches. Park
rangers documented 12 incidences of cattle trespass in 1990, with an additional 12 visitor complaints
filed. The boundary fence funding proposal of 1991 noted that funding was still not available to fence
the entire park boundary, but that 22 miles of boundary had been identified that could be fenced,
greatly reducing the trespass, which had increased in the preceding 5 years due to drought conditions.
The funding proposal noted that cattle had impacted the park in a number of ways, including trampling
baseline vegetation and small mammal monitoring transects, destruction of cryptobiotic soils, sheet
erosion and gullying, water pollution, and the spread of invasive plant species such as cheatgrass,
sagebrush, and cactus. Available funds in FY 1991 would only allow up to 4 miles to be fenced, however.

The ongoing presence of trespass cattle also affected the visitor experience. In 1995, visitor Eddy Eckley
of Montana filed a Freedom of Information Act request regarding cattle grazing allotments in Arches and
Canyonlands after “hiking in lower Courthouse Wash and finding a herd of cattle thrashing the riparian
zone in the Nat’L Park. | find it idiotic your education message about visitors destroying the cryptobiotic
crust yet you permit foul 1000 pound cattle to roam freely in the most fragile and beautiful part of our
park.”3? Superintendent Noel Poe responded to Eckley with a lengthy letter that explained that grazing
allotments had been retired in 1982 and that the cattle that Eckley had witnessed were in trespass; Poe
also described in detail the history of the boundary fencing problems, including the reality that to fence
the western boundary would require 5.5 miles of posts to be drilled into solid bedrock, at considerable
expense. Thirty miles of the 67 miles of Arches National Park require fencing to prevent cattle trespass,
but by 1996, 15 miles remained to be fenced (the other 37 miles are protected by natural barriers such
as cliffs).3® By 1998, park staff completed a fence to prevent cattle trespass with assistance from Sierra
Club volunteers and the “Flame ‘N’ Gos” prison work crew.3* OHV riders and trespassing cattle
continued to cause widespread and extensive ecological damage in the Sevenmile and Eagle Park areas
by 2003, and two sections of fencing were proposed in these areas, even though many of the posts
would require drilling into bedrock.®®> This project also triggered discussion of the need for a Fencing
Management Plan. Approximately 17 percent of Arches National Park boundary is fenced as of 2018, a
total of 73,000 feet, 7,000 feet of which is right-of-way fence along US 191 on the park’s southern
boundary.?® The park boundaries along the Colorado River are naturally defended by sheer cliffs and the
river, and do not require fencing to prevent animal trespass, but most of Arches remains open and
unfenced.

Oil, Gas, and Potash: Prospects and Leases

The complicated faulting and uplift that created the Arches landscape also acts as a trap for petroleum
and natural gas.®” Arches is within the Paradox Fault and Fold Belt of the Paradox Basin, which is
underlain by the evaporite sequence of the Pennsylvanian-age Paradox Formation (formerly the Paradox
member of the Hermosa Formation).3® Within this belt the Salt Valley anticline is one of the major
structures, containing a massive deposit of potash (potassium salts including potassium chloride [KCI]
and sodium chloride[NaCl] that are mined for use as agricultural fertilizers) and petroleum. The Four
Corners region has been actively exploited for these resources since 1899 when the first exploratory
wells were drilled along the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad.*® The Mexican Hat oilfield was discovered
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in 1908* and many other locations in southeastern Utah were prospected for oil and gas, with some
areas such as Aneth and Lisbon Valley being subsequently developed for production. Although the
petroleum was sought for use as a motor fuel (and other uses), much of the early prospecting for
petroleum was actually done using horses to haul the drill rigs (some of which were steam-powered), or
undertaken in the winter when the washes were frozen. Few motor vehicles of the era had four-wheel
drive and most of the region had no roads and was too rough or steep for any vehicles.*

Encroachment of oil and gas and potash leases and their development has been an issue of concern for
the management of Arches since the monument’s inception, as test wells had already been drilled near
Cisco, in Salt Valley, and at Willow Flats, before proclamation of the monument.*? Arches collections
include an oil placer claim dated January 3, 1912 for 160 acres for “Oil King No. 6.”** The mid-1920s
were a boom time for oil prospecting in Moab, with as many as 5,000 people in town, many of whom
were out-of-state oil drillers. One Salt Valley well was drilled by the Utah Southern Oil Company to a
depth of 3,500 feet; although flowing 10—12 barrels a day, the well was later abandoned and plugged.*
The 1930s witnessed renewed interest in the oil reserves beneath Arches. On September 22, 1936,
Secretary of the Interior Harold Ickes announced that existing oil and gas permits were to be cancelled
on December 31, 1937, unless oil or gas had actually been discovered on the permit area, the permit
area was included in an approved unit plan, or the permit area had been converted into a lease under
the act of August 21, 1935.% Two additional wells were drilled near Arches in 1937, but one showed no
oil at 6,400 feet deep, and the other showed slight oil but did not appear to have commercial potential.
Ickes’ action on oil and gas leases was in direct response to plans to enlarge Arches National Monument
to 29,160 acres, of which two-fifths were covered by existing oil and gas prospecting permits; these
were extended unconditionally to December 31, 1938, based on the “Solicitor’s opinion that these
permits could not be singled out to deal with more unfavorably than others.”*® Superintendent Frank
Pinkley noted in 1938 that “our proposed extension, however, seems hung up until a flock of oil claims
which cover that county expire,” in reference to the possibility of extending the boundaries to include
the Klondike Bluffs.*’

Another oil boom in 1959-1960 brought monthly requests by oil prospecting crews to use the monument
roads to access various leases in Salt Valley, Cache Valley, or Dry Mesa.*® Superintendent Wilson noted
that “we find it necessary to ride herd on the numerous seismograph crews daily,” through frequent
patrols of the monument boundaries.*

The exploration for and extraction of oil and natural gas impacts the environment in many ways, both
direct and indirect. Much of the concern on the part of the Arches staff regarding the development of oil
and gas leases near Arches derives from the visual impacts from the construction of roads, drill pads,
detention ponds, drill rigs and work lights, gas flaring, and pipelines and tank farms. These affect not
only the viewshed in the background of specific landscape features within Arches National Park, but also
more generally the night sky when drill rigs may be visible from anywhere in the park, and when the use
of bright lighting and gas flaring degrades the natural dark skies. In particular, the presence of BLM oil
and gas leases within the viewscape of Delicate Arch have and continue to cause concerns, a point
acknowledged by the current (2012) proposal to expand Arches National Park. However, oil and gas
drilling can also directly affect air quality in the vicinity and downwind due to dust from road and pad
construction, truck traffic, drilling, and loss of vegetation cover. This is a consideration for leases located
upwind from Arches National Park, generally to the west and southwest. Arches staff have formally or
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officially commented on pending oil and gas leases near the park boundaries since the 1960s due to
these potential resource impairments.

A location southwest of Arches was identified as a potential source of commercially-exploitable potash.
In 1961, Texas Gulf Sulphur developed this prospect, building an underground potash mine along Cane
Creek (as it was spelled then) with a shaft 2,810 feet deep.*® To provide egress, they also built a new
state highway along the right bank of the Colorado from near the Arches entrance, and a railroad spur
from Thompson.>! The extensive evaporation ponds at Potash, readily visible from Dead Horse Point,
demonstrate the level of visual impact that potash mining could have on the visitor experience at
Arches, an intrusion actually much greater than that of oil and gas drilling, even though the mine itself is
subterranean. Nevertheless, petroleum exploration was the primary focus of park staff concerns about
mineral exploration in the vicinity of Arches for decades.

In 1969, the Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey conducted an assessment of the mineral content
of Capitol Reef and Arches national monuments, following an expansion of both units earlier in the
year.>? The study was part of an attempt by the state of Utah to overturn the expansion, by identifying
the potential value of mineral wealth that had been “locked into” protected status by their inclusion into
NPS lands. The report noted that two petroleum test wells had been drilled within Arches, both in Salt
Valley (it is unclear if these are the two wells described above or other tests; Figure 4-3). These wells
were not developed for production although the report noted that based on the results logged from the
wells, “it is difficult to understand why several of them were not completed as producing wells.” The
report noted the existence of active wells at Long Canyon (7 miles west-southwest of Arches) and Big
Flat (10 miles west-southwest), and test wells 4.5 miles southwest of the monument. The revised
boundaries of Arches National park did little to alleviate the situation, as it included a number of
potential petroleum leases (Figure 4-4).

Likewise, extensive test drilling for potash had taken place near Crescent Junction, to within 5 miles of
the monument boundaries. These deposits were described as being potentially more valuable than any
potash beneath Arches, and therefore “any northwestward extension of the Monument should be
viewed with caution.” As of 1969, BLM land records indicated that 80 percent of the Utah state lands
within Arches (6,880 acres) were under lease for oil and gas, 7,600 acres were leased for other activities
(possibly including potash mining), and 3,500 mining claims were documented. The report concluded
that the one area of known potash deposits in T25S, R21E, Sections 7 and 18, “if at all possible, should
be removed from the Monument.” Federal lands that were to be included in Arches National Park
included 61,158 acres covered by oil and gas leases, and 2,437 acres of potash leases.

In 1982, Park Resource Specialist Joan Swanson-Young expressed concerns about a test drill hole in
Moab Canyon near Highway 163 (now US 191) to the BLM Surface Protection Compliance officer for the
Moab District and to the Environmental Scientist for Minerals Management Service.>* Although the drill
hole was not visible from within the park, Swanson-Young identified four areas of concern: air quality,
waste material, possible wildlife (bighorn sheep) interference, and noise. In the first two areas of
concern, the prevailing winds and drainage would carry pollutants into the park. The drilling practice for
the test hole did not produce significant dust and fumes, and the drilling waste material (slurry) was to
be contained within plastic-lined retention ponds. So, after further consideration, it was agreed that
Highway 163 presented an equal obstacle to the movement of bighorn sheep, and the noise was
mitigated by the use of mufflers on equipment.
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4-3. The aftermath of oil and gas exploration in 1974. “Test Well #3, showing litter, several truck-loads of boards,
cable, tin & misc. trash in area not visible from road; also soakage pond (dry); NW 1/4 NW 1/4 Sec. 32, R 20E T23S
SLB&M,”. ARCH 104/001239, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Carl Mikesell).

At the time, an area of greater concern for Arches staff was the location of Utah state land sections
within Arches National Park, including one oil/gas lease and eight grazing leases in 1983, and adjacent
BLM leases for which the only access was NPS roads. In 1983, Arches issued a special use permit to an oil
exploration company to drive two drill rigs through the park and out the Delicate Arch/Cache Valley
road to such a lease on Dry Mesa.>* Due to a washed-out section of the road, it was necessary to offload
a bulldozer and regrade that section of the road, causing minor damage to vegetation, which was
charged against a bond required for the permit. A second drilling operation later that year was escorted
by a ranger to avoid similar problems.

Under SEUG Superintendent Walter D. Dabney, Arches staff attempted to take a more proactive
approach to encroaching oil and gas leases, in response to a suggestion made by the BLM that NPS
develop maps of areas adjacent to park units that were considered sensitive.>® Arches Superintendent
Noel R. Poe prepared a map and narrative description of the sensitive areas adjacent to Arches National
Park;® a similar document was completed for Canyonlands. The locations identified included areas of
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general concern and specific sensitive locales. The general areas were those in which paleontological
and cultural resources were split by NPS and BLM jurisdiction. The specific locations were high-elevation
landscapes on Ringtail Mesa and north of Poison Strip, as these would be readily visible from Devils
Garden, Landscape Arch, and Eagle Peak in the park. Three specific lease parcels in Dry Mesa/Cache
Valley, in Lost Spring Canyon, and along the park’s west boundary were red-flagged as present and
future problem areas.

During the 2000s, a new oil and gas boom occurred in southeastern Utah, with the BLM leasing many
parcels west, north, and east of Arches for drilling and extraction. SEUG Superintendent Anthony J.
Schetzsle wrote to the deputy state director of the BLM Division of Lands and Minerals in February 2005
regarding six leases proximal to Arches, three of which were initially identified by park staff as being
visible from the park, and therefore problematic:

Potential impacts to Arches National Park resources from possible exploration or development of the oil
and gas lease could likely to be [sic] a new source for air pollution to a Class | Airshed from the flaring of
natural gas and fugitive dust release. Additionally, we are concerned with impacts to nightsky resources
by lighting during the drilling phase and with flaring during production as well as the visual intrusion on
the natural scene from the drill rig, and noise from drilling and pumping. Siting of facilities will be critical
for mitigating visual impacts from any development and production activities. Exploration and
development of oil and gas production in this area should be carefully regulated to protect sensitive
cultural and natural resources. >’

One week later, Arches National Park Superintendent Laura E. Joss wrote to the BLM to further clarify
the NPS position on the leases, noting that during a subsequent GIS review of the viewshed, one of the
contested parcels was no longer identified as an intrusion, and for another there was probably room to
place facilities out of view from park locations.® The BLM released additional leases early in 2006,
including 18 that were within 5 miles of the park boundaries. GIS viewshed analysis indicated that all or
part of each of these leases would be visible from within the park, and Arches requested that these
leases be deferred until the BLM Moab Field Area had completed their Resource Management Plan,
including appropriate Visual Resource Management stipulations.>® Additional concerns were raised with
two lease parcels located adjacent to the Colorado River, upstream from Arches, due to the potential for
a spill of waste materials into the river.%°

In 2008, the administration of George W. Bush aggressively promoted expanded oil and gas
development, culminating in a massive lease sale of BLM parcels in direct proximity to Arches National
Park and Moab itself (as well as Dinosaur National Monument).! The sale greatly expanded the number
of lease areas in Utah, but cut the comment period from the typical 1-3 months to just a few weeks. In
an unexplained deviation from normal operating procedures, the BLM released the final map of lease
locations on Election Day, with the auction set to take place on December 19, 2008, only one month
before President Bush was to leave office. Some residents of Spanish Valley discovered that the mineral
rights beneath their homes were available for lease, with virtually no regulations to control the activities
of drillers on their land.®? A consortium of national environmental groups filed suit to block the auction,
including the Wilderness Society and the Natural Resources Defense Council.®® Although they were
unable to stop the auction, the groups negotiated a settlement with the BLM which agreed to withhold
the leases for 30 days, providing time for the lawsuit to be heard by a federal judge. Meanwhile, the NPS
mounted a campaign of public complaint over the process, location, and lack of transparency of the
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sales, resulting in widespread public protest; as a result, the BLM scaled back the original auction from
360,000 acres to “just” 164,000. U.S. District Judge Ricardo M. Urbina issued a restraining order on the
auction just before Bush left office, suspending the process.®* On February 4, 2009, new Interior
Secretary Ken Salazar cancelled 77 of the leases pending further review.

The administration of Barack Obama subsequently initiated a review of drilling policy at the Department
of the Interior level, from which developed a new BLM Master Leasing Plan. The Master Leasing Plan
(MLP) concept was introduced in an Instructional Memorandum to BLM field officials as a supplement to
the existing Regional Master Plans (RMP), which identified oil and gas leasing decisions.®® This process is
to be conducted through NEPA, and incorporates best-science practices, modeling, and specific concerns
about cultural resources, air quality, noise pollution, and impacts to units of the National Park Service,
National Wildlife Refuges, and National Forest Wilderness Areas. Because the MLP concept at BLM was
developed from the proposed Utah lease sale that was withdrawn by Secretary Salazar, southeastern
Utah was the focus of the very first MLP to be completed, with the Moab MLP covering 1 million acres of
public lands in Grand and San Juan counties. SEUG Resource Stewardship and Science Chief Mark Miller
and Superintendent Kate Cannon were integrally involved in the development of this pilot plan, which
included areas around both Arches and Canyonlands national parks.®® This plan was released August 13,
2015, as a draft Environmental Impact Statement. The preferred alternative identified by the BLM
prohibits leasing on 145,000 acres adjacent to national parks and prohibits surface occupancy on an
additional 306,000 acres, but does offer up 59,000 acres for potash mining in some areas barred from oil
and gas leases.” The implementation of the MLP was denigrated as another regulatory impediment to
energy development by energy industry spokesmen, and was heralded as a positive development by
environmentalists, including the Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance (SUWA) and the National Parks
Conservation Association (NPCA). The final EIS was published July 26, 2016, incorporating the public
comments received and BLM internal review, but did not substantially change the language of the draft
EIS. Alternative 4, the preferred alternative,

provides for both oil and gas leasing and potash leasing. Mineral development would be precluded in
many areas with high scenic quality, in some high use recreation areas, specifically designated areas,
and in other areas with sensitive resources. Outside of these areas, surface impacts would be minimized
by separating leasing of the two commodities (oil/gas and potash), locating potash processing facilities
in areas with the least amount of sensitive resources, and limiting the density of mineral development.
Potash leasing would involve a phased approach and would be prioritized within identified areas. The
proposed plan would provide operational flexibility for mineral leasing and development through some
specific exceptions and would close the BLM-managed lands adjacent to Arches and Canyonlands
National Parks to mineral leasing and development. In the proposed plan, a controlled surface use
stipulation requiring compensatory mitigation would be applied to sensitive resources where onsite
mitigation alone may not be sufficient to adequately mitigate impacts. Best Management Practices
(BMPs) have been developed that include components of the draft compensatory mitigation policy such
as the priority for mitigating impacts, types of mitigation, long term durability, and monitoring. The
BMPs also identify Utah’s Watershed Restoration Initiative projects as potential locations for
compensatory mitigation outside the area of impact. Utah’s Watershed Restoration Initiative is a
partnership-driven effort which includes State and Federal agencies with a mission to conserve, restore,
and manage ecosystems in priority areas across Utah. %
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The final Record of Decision was released in December 2016. The MLP will guide the BLM’s actions for
the next 15 years, if not overturned by the administration of President Donald J. Trump, or subsequent
administrations.

Uranium — The New Gold Rush

Uranium is a fissionable, radioactive heavy metal (s;U) that is the active component of atomic, or fission
weapons in its ionic forms (23s-23sU). Uranium oxide (UsOsg) is a natural component of the sedimentary
deposits that are widely exposed in the formations of the Colorado Plateau.?® Although uranium is a rare
element in the universe, it is relatively plentiful in the sandstone of the Southwest. Uranium is present in
the lower members of the Jurassic Morrison Formation and the Triassic Chinle Formation, where
uranium was deposited in stream channels in a complex natural process of concentration: groundwater
dissolved uranium from volcanic rocks, then was precipitated when the groundwater contacted
extensive deposits of decaying plant material, such as that found in swamps, river deltas, and stream
channels.” Uranite is one of the ores that results from this concentration.

Uranium was first isolated and mined in 1871, but is often part of complex mineralizations that include
other economic minerals such as copper, radium, and vanadium.” Radium was first to be commercially
exploited in the late nineteenth century for use in luminescent watch faces, in medical and scientific
devices, and as a radioactive marker. Vanadium and uranium were initially just unwanted byproducts of
radium mining, which peaked in the period 1917-1924. It was subsequently discovered that vanadium
significantly improved the performance of steel, so existing radium mines in southeastern Utah became
the focus of a vanadium boom beginning in 1936.72 In 1941, Custodian Henry G. Schmidt discovered a
vanadium claim within the boundaries of Arches National Monument, near Fiery Furnace.” Prospector
Jack Owens claimed to have political connections with Utah Senator Abe Murdock that would “enable
him to secure permission for Owens to operate the recently discovered vanadium deposit,” despite the
fact that he had not registered the claim and made it more than 2 years after the area was formally
closed to mining. Owens’ claim was rejected and a mine was never opened. Uranium next became the
primary commodity when the Cold War accelerated the development and stockpiling of nuclear
weapons. As a result, the Colorado Plateau has experienced a series of economic booms and busts
associated with uranium.”

The Cold War Uranium Boom

The Cold War was a protracted economic, diplomatic, and covert military conflict between the United
States, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), and their allies (the “First World” or West) and
the Soviet Union, the Warsaw Pact, and their allies (the “Second World” or the East) between 1945 and
1991.7> Non-aligned countries and puppet states of the two sides, often impoverished or developing
countries (the “Third World”), were used as pawns in the struggle. In the Korean Conflict (1950—1953)
and the Vietnam War (1954-1975) open warfare erupted, but was contained as civil conflicts within
those regions, and did not expand into a global “hot” war.”® Overarching the Cold War was the
development of nuclear weapons by the United States during World War I, followed by the Soviet
Union’s development of nuclear technology in 1949. Between 1946 and 1972, the principal antagonists
in the Cold War engaged in a fantastically expensive arms race that included not only the development
and production of increasingly powerful fission and fusion bombs, but aircraft, naval vessels, and missile
delivery systems. The doctrine of “Mutually Assured Destruction” supposedly prevented the Third World
campaigns from erupting into all-out nuclear war between the two sides, but it exerted significant
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psychological and economic effects on both sides.”” Beginning in 1972, treaties were negotiated to
reduce the testing of nuclear weapons (Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty, SALT 1), the deployment of
anti-ballistic missiles (1979, SALT Il), and finally a reduction in the numbers of intercontinental ballistic
missiles and warheads (1991, Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty, START).”® Ultimately, it was the economy
of the USSR that was destroyed, as the cost of developing and maintaining a global military presence,
including nuclear weapons, exceeded the Gross Domestic Product of the Soviet Union, which supported
the economies of Warsaw Pact countries and client states like Cuba. With the fall of the Berlin Wall in
1989, the Warsaw Pact disintegrated, leading to the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991, and the end of
the Cold War.”®

An important collateral effect of the Cold War was the Uranium Boom, which largely affected the Four
Corners states of Arizona, New Mexico, Colorado, and especially Utah. The Colorado Plateau, underlying
parts of these four states, was the most remote and least populated part of the continental United
States. Uranium prospectors armed with surplus Jeeps and Geiger counters began to penetrate this
region immediately after World War I1.2° The Atomic Energy Commission (AEC), successor to the
Manhattan Project, which developed the first atomic bomb, discovered that uranium was present at
abandoned vanadium mines in the Southwest, sparking the boom. Prior to this, the AEC imported most
of its uranium from Canada and Belgian Congo.8! However, when the AEC set the commodity prices for
uranium at $50 per ton at 0.3 percent concentration, and offered a $10,000 cash award for finding new
high-grade ore lodes, thousands of would-be prospectors descended on the region.?? Between 1946 and
1959, prospectors filed on 309,380 claims in four Utah counties alone.®® Prospector Charlie Steen’s
discovery of a major deposit of pitchblende uranium ore in the Big Indian Wash District south of La Sal in
1952 made him famous and wealthy overnight, and drove the prospecting frenzy to new heights.?* This
boom lasted until the end of the Cold War in 1991, but was at its peak from 1948 to the early 1980s.%°
The “boom” also included several “busts,” notably following the October 31, 1958, moratorium on
nuclear testing by the United States and Soviet Union.2® However, by 1961 the Soviets had resumed
testing, so the United States did as well, temporarily reviving the uranium industry. By 1966, the growing
demand for commercial nuclear power again improved the uranium market.

The 1969 Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey report on the mineral content of Arches National
Monument noted that no field study of the uranium prospects of Arches had taken place.!” However,
immediately north of Arches was the Yellow Cat uranium production area, in which the same sandstone
formations exposed in Arches were exploited. The report also noted that many uranium claims were
documented within the monument, although Arches’ records indicate that staff went to considerable
efforts during this period to keep prospectors out. Custodian Mahan and Ranger Worthington checked
the monument boundaries near a uranium mine in the Klondike Bluffs area in August 1948, marking the
first mention of encroaching uranium activities.® In February 1954, the NPS marked 29 miles of the
boundaries of Arches National Monument for the first time since its declaration due to an influx of
uranium and oil prospectors in Moab.®?® Monument staff frequently found claim markers within the
monument boundaries in 1955, and would dismantle them and return the claim papers to claimants.*®®
On January 18, 1956, the AEC released a large area adjacent to Arches’ north and east boundaries for
prospecting. Even though the monument boundaries were posted at all section and quarter section
corners, Superintendent Wilson noted that “there are still some lost souls who have staked within the
monument boundary. As soon as the rush is over and the danger of getting shot is less we will go out
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and remove the stakes inside the boundary.”®* Worse, Acting Superintendent Robert L. Morris reported
the following in August 1954

Rumors are flying in Moab that Arches is to be opened up for Uranium mining. The personnel at this
monument does [sic] not know a thing about it and in the past three weeks we have seen several faces
fall and a few million dollars fade from the eyes of would be miners who are sure they would be another
Charley Steen if the monument were only opened up.>?

From the Uranium Building to the Atlas Mill tailings pile, the legacy of uranium mining and processing
cannot be escaped in Moab. But until relatively recently, the Uranium Boom period has often been
downplayed or ignored in formal histories of the Colorado Plateau and Utah.®® Yet, the Uranium Boom
had a number of impacts on the region and its peoples. Direct impacts included the construction of
thousands of miles of bulldozed roads (“cat tracks” after the most popular bulldozer manufacturer
Caterpillar) and excavation of thousands of prospects and mines. More than 3,000 mines are
documented in the Four Corners states, although the total number of mines and prospects has not been
determined.% At least 1,542 mines are known to exist in Utah alone.®® At one time, the Lisbon Valley
area, south of Moab, was the most productive uranium field in Utah,% producing about 10 percent of
the uranium in the United States.”” In 1951, the Utah State Road Commission funded $1.6 million in
construction of roads to uranium mines, splitting the cost 10/90 with the Atomic Energy Commission.®®
Mills were located at Salt Lake City, Monticello, Blanding (White Mesa), La Sal, Mexican Hat, Monticello,
and Moab.”® The latter, operated by Atlas Minerals, filled the valley with smog and created a large,
radioactive tailings pile adjacent to the Colorado River and just outside of Arches National Monument
boundaries (in approximately the same location as the earlier CCC camp). Indirect effects of the
Uranium Boom included sudden economic growth in a generally impoverished area, the influx of
“outsiders” to closed communities of Native Americans and Mormons, and dissemination of information
about the geologic and scenic wonders of the Colorado Plateau to a national audience.® The Annual
Report for 1955 clearly articulates the effects of uranium prospecting on Arches National Monument:

The uranium boom in this section of Utah has indirectly given Arches a tremendous amount of publicity
which has increased our information requests over 200%. Inspite [sic] of this publicity and interest travel
only increased 1% over last year. We atribute [sic] this very slight increase to the lack of accommodations
in the boom-town of Moab.*!

The Monthly Narrative Reports from 1948-1960 frequently attribute decreases in visitation to scarce or
non-existent hotel accommodations in Moab, which were rented by uranium (and oil) prospectors and
workers. Moab ended up suffering terribly when the Uranium Bust finally came. USGS Research
Ecologist Jayne Belnap recalls driving into Moab after dark in the early 1980s and seeing only a third of
the houses lighted, the rest sitting empty as they could not be rented or sold.1°> Arches Facility Manager
Tome Johnson, who grew up in Moab and worked in the uranium mines, noted that it was the economy
provided by Arches that saved Moab when uranium collapsed.1®® Specifically, new forms of outdoor
recreation such as off-road driving, mountain biking, river running, and rock climbing developed, and
Moab found itself on the map as a major destination for these activities (see Chapter 6).

The legacy of the Uranium Boom profoundly affected the region, including government cleanup of
contaminated sites which continues to the present.'® The EPA produced the first report on abandoned
uranium mines in 1983, marking the end of the Uranium Boom.%
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Atomic Legacy

World War 1l has yet to take place, but the United States has already experienced more than 200
nuclear bomb detonations above-ground. The Four Corners states bore the brunt of the U.S. nuclear
weapons development programs following World War 11.2% Not only were the sandstone formations of
the Colorado Plateau the source of the uranium used in the weapons, but people living in these states
were exposed to fallout from above-ground and underground test explosions, beginning with tests at
the Trinity Site in New Mexico in 1945. Nuclear tests were moved to the South Pacific on the U.S.
Territory of the Marshall Islands until 1949, when the Soviet Union successfully tested a nuclear device,
and testing was returned to the continental United States due to fears of espionage or sabotage. The
Nevada Proving Ground was created northwest of Las Vegas in 1950, and renamed the Nevada Test Site
in 1954. Nuclear weapons tests were initially conducted above-ground, and often measured the
weapon’s effects on simulated buildings, vehicles, and living people.

Although several of the larger above-ground tests in the mid to late 1950s exposed the entire
continental United States to radioactive fallout,'®” Utah and Arizona received the greatest exposure to
radiation because they were the locations of both the mines and the mills, and were the closest
downwind states to the Nevada Test Site. In fact, the fallout in Utah was sometimes worse than in White
Pine County, Nevada, the area nearest to the test site. The heaviest particles fell to the ground near the
detonation site in Nye County, but intermediate-sized fallout was carried on the wind to the north and
east, into Utah. The heaviest fallout was deposited on the western two thirds of Utah, based on
estimates of thyroid doses of lodine-131,%® although maps of uCi/square meter exposure (1 micro Curie
or 10 Curies per square meter) show that all of Utah received the maximum doses of 409—6788 units
(as did most of Nevada and New Mexico, and parts of Arizona, Colorado, Wyoming, Idaho, Oregon,
Washington, and lowa).’® In one 1955 test, so much radiation was released that it set off prospector’s
Geiger counters across the Colorado Plateau, leading to many false strikes and days of frustration before
it cleared.°

Despite this exposure, Grand County is not among the counties included in the Radiation Exposure
Compensation Act (42 U. S. C. §2210 note [2012]) for downwinder exposure to nuclear tests, but is
covered by the portion of the act that applies to occupational exposure while employed in the uranium
industry.’! A third section of the act applies to “onsite” participants at the tests. RECA only applies to
persons who can prove that they were in the locations defined by the act during the testing period for 2
years, and had subsequent diagnosis of specific diseases. Unfortunately, the exposure is limited to the
periods January 21, 1951, to October 31, 1958, and June 30, 1962, to July 31, 1962, when atmospheric
tests were conducted. Demonstrating that testing fallout was reaching Grand County, in January 1962,
the Civil Defense and Mobilization Administration distributed the leaflet “Facts About Fallout” and
booklet “Fallout Protection” to monument personnel.'? However, many underground tests vented or
leaked vapor, radiation, and fallout, and in some cases were in excess of above-ground explosions.!3
This period, which extended to 1986, is not covered. The “downwind” counties as defined by RECA are
Apache, Coconino, Gila, Navajo, Yavapai, and the portion of Mohave County in the Arizona Strip in
Arizona; Nevada counties Eureka, Lander, Lincoln, Nye, White Pine, and part of Clark County; and Utah
counties Beaver, Garfield, Iron, Kane, Millard, Piute, San Juan, Sevier, Washington, and Wayne.**

Arches successfully kept prospectors out of the park (but had to repeatedly re-post the park boundaries
against trespass during the peak years of prospecting in the 1950s and 1960s) but could not remain free
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of the other effects of the Uranium Boom (Figure 4-5). The Utah Highway Department was forced to
build a new bridge over the Colorado River north of Moab due to deterioration of the old one-lane
bridge under heavy uranium ore trucks: “An armed guard is posted to keep drivers of the Uranium Ore
trucks from shifting gears on the bridge and enforce a 5 mph speed limit.”!*> The park’s long-term
Coming of Man exhibit featured a geology display, including five samples of uranite.!'® In 1991, local
resident Susan Miller visited the park and asked interpretive staff if the ore was radioactive, and if so,
did it pose a health hazard? Superintendent Noel Poe arranged for Dale Edwards of the Atlas Minerals
Corporation to check the Arches Visitor Center and exhibit area with a calibrated Simulation Meter, a
sophisticated detector of gamma radiation. Although the visitor center and general exhibition space was
below the accepted background radiation threshold of 0.2 mr/hour at a typical visitor distance from the
uranite samples, the reading was 0.3 mr/hour. Edwards recommended immediately removing the rocks
for disposal at the Atlas facility. Poe agreed, and since this constituted an immediate hazard to health
and safety, advocated that it was unnecessary to contact the regional office for approval. Thinking a
follow-up memo was a good idea, and in keeping with NPS practice, Poe also suggested the following:

If the rocks are accessioned or catalogued, we will need to follow through on some paperwork process. If
not, box them up and take them to Atlas and leave for Dale. We should have some written record (memo
to files) of our final action.

You may want to replace them with other rocks in the exhibit.*'

A more serious hazard developed almost directly across US 191 from the Entrance Station, on the site of
the old CCC camp. In 1954 the Atomic Energy Commission began development of a uranium ore
sampling plant, and Charlie Steen announced that the Uranium Reduction Company (Utex Corp) would
invest 4.5 million dollars in an ore processing mill on the same site, to process ore from Steen’s Una Vida
Mine and other regional operations (Figure 4-6).1'® Ground was broken in 1955 and the mill was in
operation by October 4, 1956.1*° In 1962, the Atlas Minerals Corporation bought the mill outright (a
wholly owned subsidiary had been a silent partner) and continued to operate it as the Atlas Uranium
Mill until 1984, when the operation was closed during Atlas’s bankruptcy.'?® The waste slurry pond,
which had been built adjacent to and on the floodplain of the Colorado River, was capped in 1984, but a
90-foot-high pile of mill tailings was uncovered. Pollutants leeching from the tailings and slurry pond
into the Colorado River kill fish and cause other threats to the health and safety of wildlife and human
users of the river.

In 2001, the U.S. Department of Energy took control of the mill site for remediation, under Title 1 of the
Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act. The DOE developed a Draft Environmental Impact
Statement with the preferred alternative to improve the tailings cap but leave the tailings in place,
adjacent to the Colorado River. Opposition to this plan, led by the Grand Canyon Trust, forced the DOE
to consider an alternative: move the 16 million tons of tailings and clean the mill site. Moving the tailings
was given final approval in 2006 by the Environmental Protection Agency.'?! The plan requires the
excavation of all contaminated tailings and soil, placement in sealed containers, and transportation by
rail to Crescent Junction (30 miles north of Moab, where the spur line from Potash meets the Union
Pacific Mainline and 1-70) where they are to be buried in perpetuity. Removal began in 2009 and is
expected to continue through 2025, depending on funding levels.?? As of January 2016, 8 million tons of
tailings (50%) had been removed and buried (Figure 4-7).1%
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4-5, Preparation of Boundary Line property signs in the sign shop, 1964. ARCH 104/000988, SEUG Archives.
(Photo credit: Tom Mulhern).

The plume of toxic ground water beneath the site is being cleaned by extracting the water through a
well field between the mill site and the Colorado River, removing toxins (799,000 pounds of ammonium
and 3,990 pounds of uranium by February 2014), and injecting fresh water.??* After the U.S. Department
of Energy’s Office of Environmental Management requested a 10 percent reduction in the remediation
budget for the 2017 federal fiscal year, Grand County sent a letter to the Utah congressional delegation
requesting an intervention to maintain current funding.”® Funding was increased for 2018 by $2.9
million, but had to be spent before September 30 of that year.1?®
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4-6. (Top) The Atlas Minerals Uranium Mill in operation, circa late 1960s. Image courtesy Wikiwand. (Bottom) The
Atlas Minerals Uranium Mill before dismantling in 1988. (Photo credit: Vicki Barker).
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4-7. View of the Atlas tailings pile remediation, January 2017, following removal of approximately half of the
tailings (8 million tons). (Photo credit: David E. Purcell).

Despite the issues associated with the Atlas Mill and abandoned uranium mines, the U.S. Department of
Energy continued to view the Moab area for Cold War projects. During 1978-1980, the DOE investigated
three sites in southeastern Utah for a high-level nuclear waste repository, due to the presence of buried
salt domes: Salt Valley, Elk Ridge (near Natural Bridges National Monument), and the Gibson Dome.'?’
Salt domes are geologically stable over long periods of time, and the salt provides natural radiation
containment. Salt Valley, immediately adjacent to the park boundaries, was tested during the initial
period of investigation (Figure 4-8). Based on a test drilling done 1 mile north of the boundary, this
location was removed from consideration.}® However, the Department of Energy refused to engage
with the NPS about their plans, placing great stress on park staff. After initial testing, the location
preferred by DOE for burial was in the Gibson Dome, adjacent to and partially beneath Canyonlands
National Park.'®

Arches staff created an exhibit about the proposed dump that was displayed in the Arches Visitor
Center, the NPS facility in southeastern Utah that received the most visitor traffic, in the hopes of
alerting the public to the DOE’s plans.’* The repository would have been constructed adjacent to North
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4-8a. Department of Energy nuclear waste test site in Salt Valley, 1978. ARCH 104/001231, SEUG Archives. (Photo
credit: Jim Stiles).
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4-8b. Alternate view of Department of Energy nuclear waste test site in Salt Valley, 1978. Panorama of two
Polaroid images. ARCH 104/001232 and 001233, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Jim Stiles).

Six-Shooter Peak, following a multi-year project of testing that would involve drilling hundreds or
thousands of bore holes and massive test trenches to expose geological contacts, installation of 197-
foot-tall meteorological towers as well as at least 10 tiltmeter stations and meteorological recording
stations, installation of six seismic reflection lines, improvement of existing roads, and construction of
up to 300 miles of new roads.’3® The DOE completed a cursory Environmental Assessment, but
threatened to conduct additional testing without updating the document. The Bureau of Land
Management found the EA to be inadequate and requested a much more detailed description of the
actual proposed activities and their impacts before making the final decision. The scale of the waste
repository itself was proposed to be even larger, with a railroad spur for hauling nuclear waste canisters,
possibly a coal-fired power plant to provide electricity for the project, and excavation and storage of 40
billion tons of salt from the Gibson Dome; an estimated 1,800 construction workers would be required
for the project. After extensive review and litigation, the plan was not abandoned until 1986, when the
Final Environmental Assessment ranked the Gibson Dome as the least preferred site of three under
consideration.3?

Clearing the Air: From Radiological Monitoring to Regional Haze

Industrialization and the use of fossil fuels began to affect air quality in the United States in the
nineteenth century. The post-World War Il population growth, economic expansion, and a dramatic
increase in automobile use instigated air quality crises in cities throughout the United States in the late
1940s, but particularly in Los Angeles. In response, Congress passed the first of a series of laws to
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control airborne pollutants with the Air Pollution Control Act of 1955 (Public Law 84-159: Amended
1960, 1962), which was largely an acknowledgement that the air quality problem existed, and it
provided some funding for additional research.!® Concrete measures to reduce air pollution followed
with the Clean Air Act of 1963 (Public Law 88-206: Amended 1965, 1966, 1967, and 1969), the Clean Air
Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-604: amended 1977), and the Clean Air Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-549).
Unlike the many other environmental and land management acts passed in the 1960s and 1970s, the
Clean Air laws had little initial effect on Arches, other than to establish in 1970 the standards by which

VISITOR COMMENTS ON AIR POLLUTION
FROM ATLAS MILL

“Heavy, blue, hard to breathe air in valley today.
Thick chemical taste fills the air.

This blanket of smog certainly detracts from my
enjoyment of the National Park.”

Visitor from Moab, Utah, September 11, 1983

“AWFUL!!!! POLLUTION FROM URANIUM MIL [sic]

We have been coming to this area for 20 years, but
this is the first time we have seen the air like this.
This is supposed to be a clean air nature place.
Can’t we keep it that way? Eventually it will be the
end of an unusual, absolutely fantastic area.”

Visitor from Boulder, Colorado, September 13, 1983

“I find it hard to fully appreciate the park when the
air is as polluted as one might find in a large city
(such as Salt Lake). What happened to the EPA?
Isn’t the air quality of this park protected under the
Clean Air Act? Is this what is known as ‘pristine’ air
quality? | can’t believe no action has been taken—
its even worse than when | was visiting last year.”

Visitor from Grand Canyon, Arizona, January 3,
1982

“The refining plant could provide an interesting
interpretation resource. Perhaps the pollution
could be ‘used’ to develop a public education
project.”

Visitor from Olympic National Park, Washington,
January 3, 1982

“This is degrading and disgusting to the area & the
nation! What about pristine air in the national parks
& monuments? What about the visibility criteria in
the Clean Air Act? Denver’s air isn’t even this bad—
only Provo could compare. Utah is a disgusting
state for letting this continue. Industry indeed!”

Visitor from Fort Collins, Colorado, January 12,
198[1]

clean air is determined, the National Ambient Air Quality
Standards (NAAQS). The 1970 Clean Air Act also regulated
regional air quality, which had begun to affect NPS units
downwind from major urban areas and coal-fired power plants.
Air pollution takes several forms that can affect visibility
(transparency of the atmosphere), and can result in precipita-
tion of acids and concentrations of gaseous pollutants.3*

In 1977 Congress attempted to address the deteriorating
quality of the air in national parks (and by extension,
everywhere else) by setting a goal of “remedying any existing
and preventing any future human-caused visibility impairment
in most of our largest national parks.”*** As a natural resource
managed under the Organic Act, the NPS could now record
baseline observations of air quality and monitor changes to
those conditions. Grand Canyon, in particular, documented
progressive deterioration of air quality from multiple sources,
although the worst Vvisibility impairment was in the
Appalachian parks such as Great Smoky Mountains (ironically),
Shenandoah, and Mammoth Cave. The Canyonlands Complex
installed an Air Clarity Research Station in February 1978 at
Island in the Sky in Canyonlands National Park.’*® By 2002,
some impairment of air quality was documented at every
national park. Arches remained within Class 1 air (the highest
quality) until the 1980s, when concerns were raised about the
Atlas Mill emissions. But after the mill closed in 1984, it was
the tailings that raised concerns about local air and water
quality.

Atlas Tailings and Radiological Monitoring

Uranium mill tailings present several hazards in addition to the
obvious release of radiation. First, the processed material
contains remnant uranium, radium, lead, arsenic, and caustic
chemicals used in leaching. These are the most direct threats
to water quality, and the reason the Grand Canyon Trust (and
other groups) demanded the removal and burial of the tailings.

Second, the decaying radium 226 releases radon gas at a concentration as much as 500 times above the
natural rate of release for areas such as the Moab Valley.® Third, the uncapped pile was exposed to the
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gusty and unpredictable winds of the Colorado Plateau. During one storm in the spring of 2001, Moab
was pelted with particles from the tailings pile, material that also covered every surface and fell into Mill
Creek and the Colorado River.*® Wind coming from the south-southeast, as sometimes happens during
monsoon thunderstorms, would carry the tailings to Arches National Park and into the visitor center and
entrance station.

Beginning in 1979, Arches National Park issued a special use permit to Atlas Minerals to operate a
continuous air sampler for emissions from the mill and tailings.**® This monitor occupied a 5 by 5 foot
pad behind the brick privacy fence east of the visitor center. However, during the late 1970s, Atlas
evaluated the natural radioactivity levels in various areas of the park to describe the baseline against
which the monitors were measuring, and found that the natural radioactivity near the park residences
was higher than other park areas.® In 1987, Acting Superintendent J. M. Brady inquired about
relocating this monitor, but its location was established by the Source Material License issued to Atlas by
the U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, and would have required a license amendment, so it was not
pursued further.'*! The monitor established monthly (1983—1984) or quarterly (1985-1988) readings for
uranium 238, thorium 230, radium 226, radon 222, and lead 210 (1983 to October 1984 only). Although
the exposures varied seasonally and by year, all of the readings of each monitored substance were well
below the NRC-established standards.

Regional Haze

Local, point-source emitters of air pollution can and have been mitigated through the NEPA process, but
the issue of regional or continental air pollution has proven so far to be unresolvable and increasing in
severity. Concern about (and reaction to) regional air quality issues emerged in the late 1970s,
particularly on the Colorado Plateau, which had been possessed of some of the clearest air in the
country before widespread industrial development. By 1981, the

EPA was proposing the designation of “integral vistas” associated

with Class 1 air as a means of tracking and preserving air quality
over national parks.'*? Promulgated during the Reagan
administration, the standards also required the input of the states
to allow them to balance development with improving air quality.
The Utah Bureau of Air Quality and NPS officials visited Moab for
a public hearing in February 1981. Possible “integral vistas” at
Arches National Park were tentatively identified as the view from
Delicate Arch, the La Sal Mountains viewpoint, and views to the
horizon from Panorama Point. Predictably, and despite the state
involvement, Governor Scott Matheson released an angry
rebuttal to the process:

In addition to our outright objection to the provision for integral
vista protection, we find the process for identifying those vistas
unacceptable. States are denied any role in the identification
process, but are then required to protect the federally-selected
vistas in state implementation plans.**®

VISITOR COMMENTS ON REGIONAL HAZE

“The park (Arches) seems to have a
considerable amount of air pollution in and
around the area. A brown color is visible in
the air for miles in all directions. The La Sal
Mountains are almost invisible. Clean air
standards should be enforced. This is the most
polluted park | have been to in the Lower 48.”

Visitor from Denver, Colorado, April 18, 1980

Ranger Comments: “l informed the visitor of
our air quality-monitoring instruments here at
Arches & ISKY and how we were trying to
establish good baseline data on air quality
here at the park. | also informed him that the
pollution wasn’t necessarily from a local
source.”

At the regional level, the Environmental Protection Agency is charged with monitoring, regulating, and
reducing air pollution, a program that began in 1988. In the Southwest and Colorado Plateau, regional
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haze derives from pollution emitted by coal-fired power-generating plants, dust, and smog generated in
southern California, Las Vegas, and Phoenix, and transported on the prevailing winds. Seasonally, smoke
from wildfires (and prescribed burns and managed wildfires) makes a significant contribution to the air
pollution.’* In fact, NPS studies have shown that the largest contributor to air pollution emission from
parks is prescribed burns; the NPS Environmental Leadership Initiative directs the NPS to practice sound
environmental stewardship by reducing park emissions as much as possible. In many cases, such as
saving energy and reducing visitor vehicle emissions by using mass transit, these goals mesh with other
initiatives aiming at reducing waste, increasing energy efficiency, and reducing traffic congestion.
Additionally, ozone levels have increased in regional parks, despite its reduction in major urban areas.
Parks in other regions of the county face additional challenges due to acid precipitation, nitrogen
deposition, and other toxic fallout.

Air quality monitoring stations with IMPROVE particulate and 35 mm automatic cameras were installed
at both Canyonlands and Arches. In 1992, the NPS Air Quality Division removed the monitoring station
from Arches and reinstalled it at Island in the Sky in Canyonlands “because of the proximity of Arches
and Canyonlands and considering the more-lengthy database obtained from the monitoring efforts at
Canyonlands.”** The facility, ironically, was a portable building weighing 3,500 pounds, and required 8—
10 KwH of power, which was supplied by a diesel generator when it was installed at Arches.'%
Additionally, the facility required 6 hours per week for an attendant and 2 hours of administrative time,
for an annual budget of $10-12,000 dollars.

On July 1, 1999, the EPA published 40 CFR Part 51, a final rule on Regional Haze Regulations to address
the deteriorating air quality conditions in the 156 Class 1 areas, most of which are national parks
(including Arches) or Wilderness areas.*” The rule defined regional haze as “visibility impairment caused
by the cumulative air pollutant emissions from numerous sources over a wide geographic area.” The
rule required states to improve the visibility in all Class 1 areas through the establishment of goals and
strategies to reduce emissions. Specific provisions within the nine Grand Canyon Visibility Transport
Commission (GCVTC) states (including Utah) were to be implemented within the national framework of
the rule. The rule provided up to 8 years (ending 2007) for states to submit haze plans (only 4 years for
those in the GCVTC group), with 2008 set as the latest date for states to submit plans.'*® The state plans
are to be updated in 2018 and every 10 years thereafter.

The Regional Haze Regulation immediately ran afoul of industry opposition and election year politics. In
2002 the District of Columbia Circuit Court vacated certain provisions of the portion of the rule related
to the best available retrofit technology (BART), requiring amendments in 2004 and 2006, including a
plan to trade emissions as an alternative to power plant retrofits.*® Despite this delay, in 2009 the EPA
reported that 37 states and the District of Columbia had failed to submit plans. The EPA published the
final rule on emission trading in the Cross-State Air Pollution Rule (CSAPR) as an alternative to the BART
provision. In April 2016, the EPA proposed an amendment that would address requirements for the
2018-2028 second planning period, based on the experiences of the first, yet to be completed, planning
period.

Utah submitted their plan in 2008, but the EPA rejected the proposed approach to reducing nitrogen
oxide and particulates at two coal-burning power plants located in Emery County (Hunter and
Huntington) in their final review of the plan in 2012. In response, the state ordered the closure of the
172-megawatt Carbon power plant near Helper, an alternative strategy that was part of the original
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plan.’ The Utah Air Quality Board included the closure in its revised regional haze plan, and claimed
that the closure would achieve much greater reduction in pollutants than retrofitting the Hunter and
Huntington plants with scrubbers. Critics of the plan called Utah’s closure of Hunter a bait-and-switch
tactic. The Sierra Club observed that the Carbon plant had been built in 1954 and would have to be
decommissioned now, as it could not be upgraded to meet current standards for mercury emissions.
The issue with Hunter and Huntington is the emission of nitrogen oxide, which forms ground-level
ozone, which monitoring stations at Canyonlands Island in the Sky indicated were approaching a level
deemed unsafe for humans on bad days. Despite the confidence of the Utah Air Quality Board and
Rocky Mountain Power, the owner of the three plants, that the revised plan would result in the greatest
reduction of pollutants, the NPS was critical of this step.® NPS Associate Regional Director Tammy
Whittington submitted a letter on April 2, 2015, to the EPA and the Utah Department of Environmental
Quality officially commenting on this situation, noting that regional haze is visible at all of the “Mighty
Five” Utah national parks 75 percent of the time. The cost of the retrofits to selective catalyst reduction
(SCR) at each of the four power generating units was estimated by Rocky Mountain Power to cost more
than $680 million, although the National Parks Conservation Association noted that the 7 million visitors
to the “Mighty Five” generated $730 million per year. In June 2016, the EPA ordered Rocky Mountain
Power to install the scrubbers at Hunter and Huntington within 5 years,*>? but it is unclear as of this
writing if this decision will survive the Trump administration’s pro-coal, anti-regulation policies. Arches
National Park established a photo station at Doc Williams Point in 2016 to monitor haze, but no repeat
photographs have yet been taken.3

Pipelines

Two gas pipelines have had major impacts on Arches. In 1955 Pacific Northwest Pipeline Company
forced a right-of-way across the monument, slicing future wilderness in half, introducing invasive non-
native plants, and leaving a scar that remains visible despite efforts at replanting native vegetation. Also,
during construction of a new pipeline in Moab Canyon in 1998, another pipeline was punctured, causing
a huge explosion and fire that burned vegetation and archaeological sites in Arches National Park.

1955 Pacific Northwest Pipeline Construction

The Pacific Northwest Pipeline Company of Houston, Texas, applied for a right-of-way across part of
Arches National Monument in June 1955. This application was forwarded from the NPS Land Office in
Salt Lake to the field office in Santa Fe, New Mexico, and on to the acting director of the National Park
Service, Thomas J. Allen.’> Noting that the construction of a pipeline was contrary to the preservation
mandate of the Organic Act, and that Section 28 of February 25, 1920 (41 Stat. 449), as amended,
authorizes pipeline rights-of-way across federal lands but does not specifically include lands of the
National Park Service, Allen wrote to the director of the Bureau of Land Management requesting that
the application be submitted to the Solicitor General for review. Apparently, construction of the pipeline
was being pushed at higher levels of the government, as Allen issued a very terse note less than a week
later to the director of Region Three, regarding the pipeline right-of-way application:

Director determined granting of permit for pipeline across Arches on your route number two to be proper
and advisable. Request you issue permit on basis our normal authority and not in reference to any other
Act. Negotiate with Pacific Northwest company as to any special conditions. Their attorney here has
been advised. >
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The special use permit granting the right-of-way was issued the same day, July 1, 1955.%%% Apparently,
the statute did include units of the National Park Service, or the pipeline was viewed as part of the Cold
War military-industrial complex and pushed by the Eisenhower administration.> Lloyd M. Pierson later
characterized the decision to authorize the pipeline in a letter to the editor of The Times-Independent:

The pipeline was shoved down the throat of the National Park Service by a Republican administration in
the pocket of the oil and gas industry. Arches Superintendent Bates Wilson was informed by telephone
one morning to let the pipeline through in spite of rules and regulations against such nonsense.*>®

Archived records from Arches National Monument contain surprisingly little correspondence on this
matter, but do include an extensive collection of photographs made by Bates Wilson documenting all
stages of the pipeline construction (Figure 4-9). The 26-inch pipeline crosses Arches northeast to
southwest, cutting across the ridge between Skyline Arch and Fiery Furnace near the intersection with
the Salt Valley Road; the pipeline crosses the road twice as it traverses Salt Valley. NPS General
Superintendent John M. Davis, Park Landscape Architect Harold Marsh, Chief of the Branch of
Conservation and Protection Lon Garrison, Regional Director Hugh Miller, and Regional Landscape
Architect Jerry Miller all visited Arches in June 1955 to inspect the two proposed routes and meet with
supervisors of Fish Construction Company about the pipeline. Two potential routes through Arches were
evaluated, although the alignments of the routes were not described. Actual construction of the pipeline
took place over a few weeks in late 1955, but the daily passage of 10 trucks and buses carrying the
construction crews caused severe damage to the monument roads. Superintendent Wilson and Robert
Morris inspected the completed line on November 18, 1955: “We now have a fifty foot strip of bare,
sterile soil, 4000' of which can be seen from the Devils Garden approach road. We hope the ten year
planting program will be successful so that this eyesore can be obliterated.”?*® Revegetation actually
took “only” 4 years to complete. Crews from Roberts Nursery began work on November 5, 1956,
planting 1,400-1,600 native shrubs per acre, and 611 pinon and juniper (71 more than the required
minimum of 540).'%! Eight thousand additional plants (50% saltbush, 35% sand sage, and 15%
blackbrush) were planted in April 1958 to replace previous plantings that had died.®?> On December 8—
10, 1958, 7,500 more shrubs were planted, using 15,000 gallons of water on both old and new plantings,
during a very dry winter.1®® It took many years for the plants to grow to mature size, yet the scar remains
visible today.

Outside of the park, the pipeline right-of-way turns south into Moab Canyon, south of US 191. The
pipeline was originally 1,500 miles in length, supplying natural gas from the San Juan Basin of Colorado
to Washington and Oregon.!®* The pipeline has changed hands several times since its construction. El
Paso Natural Gas acquired Pacific Northwest in 1957 but was forced by federal regulators to divest in
1974, selling Pacific Northwest to Midwest American Pipeline Company (MAPCO). Williams Energy
purchased MAPCO in 1998, but sold the division in 2002 to Enterprise Products Partners. The pipeline
has been upgraded to bi-directional supply and expanded to 3,900 miles in length, with laterals in
Washington, Idaho, Wyoming, and Colorado.

Although the pipeline crossed about 2.5 miles of Arches National Monument when it was constructed,
the dramatic expansion of boundaries that accompanied the creation of Arches National Park also
increased the extent of the pipeline within NPS jurisdiction, necessitating an adjustment to the
Wilderness proposals submitted after 1974. The revised Wilderness Recommendation of 1982 included
the provision that “any major maintenance or pipeline replacement should be cause for rerouting the
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4-9. Construction of the Pacific Northwest Pipeline across Arches National Monument, 1955-1956. (a) View along
the staked right-of-way, before construction. (b—e) Clearing of the right-of-way. (f) Explosives were required to cut
the trench in slickrock. (g—i) After construction, the scar of the pipeline was most readily visible in winter, following
a snow storm. ARCH 104/472, 473, 474, 475, 476, 494, 458, 484, and 540. (Photo credit: Bates E. Wilson).
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entire line around the park.”'®® The pipeline was also a cause of concern during the realignment of the
scenic drive between Balanced Rock and Devils Garden in 1963. At that time, the pipeline was the
property of El Paso Natural Gas, whose division engineer wrote to the Utah Bureau of Public Roads to
request that the section of road crossing over the pipeline be elevated 2 feet more than called for in the
construction plans, to provide adequate protection to the pipe.t®”

In April 1956, Superintendent Wilson reported on an accident with the pipeline, ominously fore-
shadowing the events of 1998 (described below):

No one was hurt nor was their health impaired; however we had a preview of what could happen if the
natural gas line should break in the monument. On April 23, four miles west of Headquarters a break in
the pipeline occurred which caused a terrific explosion. A spectacular fire with flames licking 100 feet in
the air followed along the 2700 feet of demolished line. The only control was to shut off the gas and let
the fire burn until the gas was consumed. The electric transmission line was broken by torn pipe thrown
400 feet. All vegetation was burned to the ground within 500 feet of the line. If this had happened in the
monument the pipeline right-of-way would be widened to over 1000 feet.*®®

The real danger of the pipeline is not its demonstrated potential to rupture and explode, but the
precedence it established of intrusive utility infrastructure. In 1997 SEUG Archivist Vicki Webster was
contacted by the U.S. Geological Survey for information on the history of the pipeline, particularly the
legal circumstances of how it came to be built. The state of Utah was interested in constructing pipelines
within Grand Staircase—Escalante National Monument and other national monuments in Utah and
wondered “whether it is legal or if there is a law that covers installation in existence.”®

The legacy of the pipeline continues to manifest itself in other ways that impact the resources of Arches
National Park. Natural gas pipelines require routine inspection and maintenance, and changes in
technology have improved the safety and efficiency of pipelines, requiring periodic excavation and
replacement of the pipe. Because the pipeline was installed before NHPA or NEPA, the effects of its
construction on cultural resources and the environment had never been evaluated. SEUG conducted an
archaeological survey of the pipeline right-of-way across Arches in 2009, in advance of scheduled
repairs, and monitored those repairs for potential impacts to archaeological sites and plant
communities.'’® SEUG also planned and oversaw efforts over the next several years to restore and
monitor plant communities that were disturbed by the 2009 repairs.}’* The routes to the repair sites
were accessed by heavy machinery, traveling over pipeline paths that had not seen vehicular traffic in
decades. The pipeline is aging, and the frequency of repairs and impacts is expected to increase.

1998 Williams Pipeline Explosion

On December 3, 1998, a pipeline construction crew operating under contract to Williams Energy
accidently ruptured an existing 10-inch high-pressure pipeline in Moab Canyon.’? The crew was clearing
the right-of-way for a new 16-inch pipeline with a Caterpillar D-8 bulldozer when the blade caught and
punctured the pipe, releasing a pressurized vapor cloud of unrefined “Y grade” natural gas liquids (NGL)
(Figure 4-10).1”® The construction crew escaped the vicinity, but within a few minutes, the vapor cloud
was ignited by either the cab dome light or engine of a semi-truck on US 191, which had stopped at the
approach of one of the workers on foot (Figure 4-11). The vapor cloud exploded about 9:40 AM*"* in a
massive fireball that injured four people and destroyed nine vehicles (Figure 4-12), as well as the
bulldozer.”> Most of the vehicles destroyed were the personal transportation of the construction workers.
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4-10. Following the explosion of the NGL vapor cloud on December 3, 1998, the damaged section of pipeline was
closed, and the fire burned for more than 6 hours before consuming the remaining contents of the pipeline. Arches
Pipeline Explosion Collection 3167, Roll E, Image 20. (Photographer unknown).

At least one of the vehicles was thrown across the road, landing in Bloody Mary Wash.® The truck
driver and the construction worker were able to escape the explosion, but the tractor was charred in the
fire.)”” A south-bound truck was also stopped by a construction worker just beyond the limit of the
fireball; the driver was later able to back his truck several miles up the canyon and return safely to
Crescent Junction.'’8

No fatalities resulted from the accident, and only one injury required hospitalization for possible internal
injuries; the three cases of smoke inhalation were treated at the scene.”® US 191 was closed for two
days while the fire was extinguished and the scene cleaned up, including emergency repairs to the road
surface.’® UDOT closed US 191 at the Crescent Junction interchange and diverted traffic onto Utah 128
at Cisco.!®! Dozens of long-haul truckers were stuck on each side of the closure, as Utah 128 and the
route from La Sal junction (south of Moab) to Grand Junction are not recommended for oversized
vehicles.’ To clear the backup of commercial trucks, UDOT instituted a temporary opening (4 hours) of
the highway on December 4, then closed it again to begin the repair work.®® Arches National Park
closed immediately following the explosion, with six visitors who were in the visitor center evacuated
along with the park employees and residents.’®* Other visitors in the park were evacuated later in the
day through Salt Valley to US 191. The Mid-America Pipeline Company (MAPCO, a Williams subsidiary at
the time) was able to isolate the damaged section of pipeline by closing valves north and south of the
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4-11. A semi truck carrying a load of diesel fuel headed north on US 191 encountered the vapor cloud at 9:50 AM,
igniting the escaping NGL into a fireball that burned 21 acres. The truck sustained relatively minor damage (visible
in the right foreground) and the driver was uninjured. The photo was taken a few hours after the explosion, as the
fire was still burning. The worst damage was north of US 191, which is lower in elevation and collected more of the
vapor, which is heavier than air. Arches Williams-MAPCO Pipeline Incident Records (1998—2002) ARCH 3167, Roll
D, Image 5. (Photographer unknown).

rupture, but it took nearly 6 hours for the remaining fuel in the 10-mile section of pipe to burn off. An
emergency command center was initially established by the NPS at the intersection of the entrance road
with US 191 but was soon moved to the intersection of Potash Road and US 191; this was also deemed
too close to the still-burning pipeline, and was again moved to the Utah 128/US 191 intersection at Lions
Park.’> NPS rangers monitored the situation throughout the day, with Ranger Gary Salamacha observing
from the Moab Fault Overlook and Ranger Van Slyke using a fixed-wing aircraft to observe and
photograph the fire from the air. The response was summarized in a joint press release:

The incident was managed under an interagency unified command with over 19 agencies and companies
and well over 100 personnel involved. NPS resources from Arches and Canyonlands NP’s included emer-
gency medical, park security, traffic control, fixed wing spotter aircraft, public information, family liaison
and several key overhead positions. 28 NPS employees were involved in incident management, park
evacuation and security, and post-incident documentation actions. 8 park residents were evacuated from
their homes for two days, with most being housed in local motels. The park remained closed and the
Headquarters complex evacuated until repairs to the pipeline were completed in the early morning hours
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of December 5. The park returned to normal operations and residents were allowed to return on
Saturday morning, December 5.8

In terms of direct impacts to park resources, the pipeline explosion was the most significant event in
Arches’ history, although the impacts could have been much worse. The accident took place half a mile
uphill and just around the next bend of Moab Canyon from the park entrance; had the vapor cloud
advanced just a few hundred yards farther down US 191 (less than 1 minute at the speed it was
estimated to have been travelling), the explosion could have engulfed the Arches Visitor Center,
Entrance Station, and residences.!®” The flames were more than 150 feet high, and were visible from the
visitor center above the rock fin that separated the accident site from the park facilities.'® Not reported
by the media was that one park employee suffered respiratory distress when the smoke from the
explosion and fire drifted over his position at Balanced Rock, where he was monitoring traffic.®® Darrell
Dalton required emergency room attention the following day for severe cough, fever, and throat and
chest pains. The NPS filed a Workers Compensation claim on his behalf, but debated attaching the cost
to the claim later filed against Williams Energy. Additionally, the flames burned adjacent overhead
power poles, scorched 200 feet of US 191, and affected parts of three archeological sites in Arches
National Park (Figure 4-13).

4-12. The explosion and fire destroyed eight vehicles parked nearby and the bulldozer that ruptured the pipeline.
Arches Williams-MAPCO Pipeline Incident Records (1998-2002) ARCH 3167, Roll D, Image 11. (Photographer
unknown).
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4-13. The pipeline fire burned 21 acres of natural vegetation and portions of five archeological sites, three of which
are partially within Arches National Park, including the old alignment of US 450/160/163 visible here. Arches
Williams-MAPCO Pipeline Incident Records (1998-2002) ARCH 3167, Roll D, Image 15. (Photographer unknown).

Between December 3 and 8, 1998, the Western Region Pipeline Safety Office conducted an accident
investigation that identified problems in communications and improper operations of the bulldozer that
caused the accident; the interim results were presented to Williams on January 19, 1999, with a request
for a comprehensive plan to address the accident causes.!®

In response to the explosion, Moab city officials demanded regular meetings with Williams to discuss
schedule and safety concerns, especially as the pipeline entered the city and passed near residences.'*!
Arches National Park developed a Park Evacuation Plan, and stationed a vehicle with a large, loud horn
directly across US 191 from the park entrance, with an operator.'®* The evacuation plan was updated
daily, as the evacuation route changed depending on how close to the entrance of the park the
construction crew was operating.!®® The plan required visitors and park staff to evacuate by vehicle
immediately upon the horn sounding, away from US 191 into the park or north on US 191, or on foot to
higher ground; because one of the two “live” pipelines carried a heavier-than-air gas, the plan
prohibited evacuation towards the lower-lying ground in the direction of Moab. A vapor cloud such as
was released in December would flow downbhill along US 191 until it reached a point of ignition. During
the interval of February 26 to March 1, when construction was taking place in the canyon at an elevation
higher than the developed park facilities, the evacuation route was only into the park. Following a “near-
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miss” incident involving one of the live pipelines (see below), the construction was temporarily halted
on March 2 and the evacuation plan suspended.’®*

The December pipeline explosion was not an isolated occurrence. Construction contractor Four-Four
Pipeline Construction was responsible for a “near-miss” incident that occurred on February 26, 1999.
The 26-inch Northwest Pipeline Corporation gas pipeline that is also within the US 191 right-of-way was
not properly marked, and a bulldozer cutting a temporary access road scraped the pipe, removing some
of the protective coating that prevents rust and corrosion from forming.!® The pipe itself was
undamaged and no one was injured in the incident, but because Williams had been cited by the Pipeline
Safety office and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) for the December incident,
the “near-misses” were treated as serious safety violations. Work had only just resumed on this section
of the pipeline after the December explosion 2 days prior to the near miss. Williams Energy investigated
the event and contacted the Western Region Pipeline Safety Office on March 1, 1999.2% On March 9,
the director of the Western Region Pipeline Safety Office, Chris Hoidel, cited Williams for violating Title
49, CFR, Part 195.202 for failing to comply with the written safety standards of the project, but declined
to assess a fine; Williams was ordered to immediately comply with the safety program of the
development plan.

In February 1999, SEUG Archaeologist Eric Brunnemann inspected the approximately 7 acres of Arches
National Park affected by the explosion and fire (a total of 21 acres was affected).'®” This preliminary
assessment of impacts was followed by a formal survey by Alpine Archaeological Consultants under
contract to the Bureau of Land Management, lead agency for the pipeline project.’® Three sites,
consisting of five temporal components, were identified and their current condition assessed. All of the
sites are located on the north side of Moab Canyon, where the fire was most damaging due to the
presence of flammable vegetation. Two prehistoric components (42GR2921 and 42GR2922) consisted of
small rock shelters and lithic tool manufacturing debris; although there was some damage to the rock
surfaces and a potential for modern charcoal to mix with buried cultural deposits, the integrity of the
components did not appear to have been adversely affected. A prehistoric petroglyph (42GR3012) and
two historic telephone lines (42GR2921 and 42GR2922) were directly affected, with the massive
temperature fluctuations and intense heat of the fire expected to cause long-term disintegration of the
boulders in which the features were located.’® Based on experience garnered during wildfires in Mesa
Verde National Park, and the condition of the sites in Moab Canyon, Brunnemann recommended
detailed documentation of the petroglyph and the telegraph mounting braces, and the post-fire
condition of the rock surfaces, and annual monitoring and condition assessment for 4 years. Arches
National Park developed a preliminary estimate of damages and an estimate of the cost to fully
document and monitor the affected cultural resources in November 2001.2°° However, the program was
not implemented until 2006, when SEUG’s Cultural Resource Program Manager Chris Goetze examined
the two sites and found no evidence of deterioration in the preceding 5 years. Consequently, a new
Restoration Plan was proposed: finalize the site documentation with an emphasis on current condition;
hire a GS-5 Archeological Technician for a 6-month seasonal term to update the condition of as many
archaeological sites in the park as possible; and provide a vehicle dedicated to this condition assessment
using the settlement money obtained from Williams Pipeline.

Natural resources were also harmed by the pipeline explosion. The burned area was surveyed for plant
species on January 25 and October 4, 1999, during which 38 native plant species and 5 invasive (non-
native) species were observed.?’! All of the major plant species, including the exotic species, had
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regenerated from roots or seeds by October, with the exception of the 22 Utah juniper trees that were
completely consumed by the fire. Due to unusual weather conditions, the disturbed area did not
experience the expected expansion of cheat grass or tamarisk as was feared. Some cryptobiotic soil
crust was also lost in the fire, but “losses of insects, rodents, birds and other animals were
undetermined.” To restore the area to its natural condition, three alternatives were examined: (1) The
actual cost of reseeding the junipers ($,3235); (2) the estimated cost of transplanting junipers purchased
from a nursery (although Utah juniper is not grown commercially; $11,310), and (3) the estimated cost
of a compensatory restoration project elsewhere within the park that would offset the lost ecological
services of the damaged area ($7,155). The cost estimates were arrived at using detailed restoration
matrices that calculate the growth rate of native plants per growing season. A natural resources damage
assessment completed in March 1999, identified only 19 species, with a total estimated restoration cost
of $8,840.2°2 Many additional species were found growing during the October inspection.

The National Park Service filed a claim in 2001 against Williams Energy under the Park System Resources
Protection Act [16 U.S.C. § 19jj].2°2 The 1990 act was originally applied only to park units with marine or
Great Lakes environments, where boat wrecks or fuel/oil spills could damage the aquatic
environment.?®* Two of the initial claims settled by the NPS involved boat groundings in Biscayne
National Park in Florida.?’> Under the 1996 Omnibus Parks Act, the scope of 16 U.S.C. 19jj was expanded
to all NPS units. Williams Pipeline Company settled with the NPS in 2002 for $62,575, the amount
initially requested,?® including $17,232 for the incident response, $1,410 in assessment costs, and
$40,513 for restoration of cultural and natural resources damaged by the explosion.?’” In 2004, the
penalty and accrued interest was withdrawn from the Natural Resource Damage Assessment and
Restoration Fund (NRDAR) to fund the hiring of a seasonal employee for the summer of 2004. The
seasonal was to work within the Division of Resource Management and Visitor Protection, monitoring
and interacting with visitors. Specifically, the new hire was to work on implementing specific and critical
boundary access management actions, and to undertake VERP baseline social resource monitoring in
backcountry and boundary areas not yet included in the VERP monitoring program. The seasonal hire
would also help patrol the backcountry, identify backcountry campsites, and engage in exotic species
removal.

Federal, State, and County Land Issues

Promotion of Arches from a national monument to a national park did nothing to alleviate existing land
conflicts within and around the park boundaries: in fact, it increased them. Although Arches was
expanded when it was made a park, some other lands were removed, and the new boundaries placed
the park lands closer to non-NPS lands (or worse, included those lands within the park boundaries)
where the potential for conflict was enhanced. This included not only oil and gas leases and cattle
grazing allotments, many of which had been in existence for decades on Utah and BLM lands, but also
private and county lands along the Colorado River. Although some of these issues have never been
successfully resolved to the satisfaction of any of the stakeholders (in the instance of oil and gas leases),
the “Sagebrush Rebellion” pushback against environmental regulations during the 1980s intensified the
political and emotional landscape surrounding lands issues. With the advent of the Public Lands Transfer
Movement by legislators in Utah in 2012, the rhetoric surrounding federal lands management and
ownership has increased, further straining relationships between the National Park Service and state
and local political bodies.?%®
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The Riverway (Lions Club) Park

The constantly shifting boundaries of Arches has repeatedly brought the NPS into conflict with other
jurisdictions in the checkerboard lands of southeastern Utah. The Moab Lions Club sought to lease Lot 3
of T25S, R21E, Sec. 26 in 1958 to develop a public park.2%® This lot sits east of the highway bridge across
the Colorado River, and south of the river. However, their application was rejected by the Land Office in
1962, as the lands in question had been withdrawn for power site purposes (a dam) by the Bureau of
Reclamation, and Grand County had already filed a request to restore the land from the power site
withdrawal; the BLM Land Office, Salt Lake City, ruled in favor of Grand County’s request. The land was
restored, and in 1963, Grand County obtained a patent on lands on both sides of the Colorado River
where it debouches into Grand Valley.?!° This 155.10 acre parcel included 133.03 acres on the north side
of the Colorado.?!! The patent (Number 43-63-0036) was for the purposes of developing a park, but it
did not include full water rights or minerals. When the boundaries for Arches National Park were
designated, the lands north of the Colorado River were incorporated into the park, including the 133
acres of the Riverway Park. At the time of Arches National Park designation in 1971, part of the patent
had been “turned over” to the Moab Lions Club, which had developed a park with “outdoor dining
facilities, camping facilities, and general recreation area,” known as Lions Park.?'? The portion of the
patent north of the river was being used as a boat dock, but the proposed plan of development had not
yet been implemented.

Between 1972 and 1986, Grand County sought clarification from the NPS and Solicitor General regarding
whether the county could, in the course of developing the park, grant exclusive use in running the park
(as a picnic area and boat docks) to the Canyonlands by Night (or Nite) operation.?!® This initiated years
of correspondence, opinions, and more correspondence and more opinions, documented by hundreds
of pages in the SEUG Archives on the matter. In 1980, Canyonlands Complex Superintendent Peter L.
Parry recommended to the regional director of the Rocky Mountain Region that the boundaries of
Arches National Park be changed to exclude the Grand County parkland. At that time, the property
consisted of “an abandoned bridge abutment, concrete boat ramp, four man-made caves with steel
doors and a dirt road and parking area, commercial dock and overhead utility poles and lines.” The caves
included the explosives magazine that had been used by the CCC to store dynamite during 1941-1942
for use in road building at Arches. Congress did not act on the exclusion recommendation, however, so
in the General Management Plan draft of 1986, the boundary change was analyzed and dismissed and
the acceptable uses of the patented lands were defined. However, the Solicitor General advised the
regional director in 1986 that the NPS does not “have authority to restrict or specify the manner in
which the County or its concessioner manage those uses granted in the patent” and recommended that
the NPS enter into a cooperative agreement with the county to ensure that the developments were
compatible with the national park.

The portion of Lions Park north of the Colorado River remains in essentially the same state as it was
described in 1962 (Figure 4-14), consisting of a paved access road from US 191, a boat launch, the
storage caves, and old bridge abutments. The access road was redesigned and repaved in 2008, when a
pedestrian and bicycle bridge over the river was completed. The Lions Club and City of Moab next
redeveloped the park south of the river in two sections on either side of Utah Route 128. The south side
of the park was reconstructed as the Lions Park Transit Hub and the starting point of the Colorado River
Pathway along Utah 128, and was opened for use with a grand opening May 31, 2014.2* The north side,
and main park area, has parking, restrooms, information kiosks, picnic tables, a skate park, climbing
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boulders in the space between Utah 128 and the Colorado River, and the intersection of the paved
hiker/biker trails along US 191 and Utah 128 (Figure 4-15). The newly remodeled main park was
reopened to the public on March 11, 2016.2'> The boundary issue with Arches remains unresolved.

4-14. Lions Park north of the Colorado has not been further developed since 1962, other than the construction of a
new pedestrian/bicyclist bridge. (Photo credit: David E. Purcell).

1969 Mining Trespass

Following the 1969 expansion of Arches boundaries to the Colorado River, Arches National Monument
immediately found itself embroiled in a conflict with local mining interests. On October 23, 1969, the
Silver Eagle Mining Company began construction of an access road beginning at the boat dock on the
Grand County Lions Park parcel along the north bank of the Colorado River, now within the newly
expanded monument boundaries; only about 0.2 miles of road were built before the National Park
Service discovered the work and requested that work stop immediately (Figure 4-16).2° Silver Eagle had
claims to “iron and black sands” for use in recovering copper ore at a mine west of Blanding, but later
changed that to deposits of gold and “black sands.” They intended to hydraulically mine the gravel bars
of the Colorado River for the deposits, which would then be concentrated at a plant built on site, about
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4-15. Panorama of Lions Park from the southern end of the bridge across the Colorado River, July 1, 2016. (Photo
credit: David E. Purcell).

2 miles upriver from Lions Park. John Adams, president of the Silver Eagle Mining Company, estimated
that the 4 million cubic yards of material that his company planned to remove was worth $8—10 million,
and that their claims were valid under existing mining laws. The National Park Service and local tour
companies expressed concern about the effects of the operation on Arches National Monument and the
scenic qualities of this reach of the Colorado River. Silver Eagle continued road construction after the
NPS requested a halt and consulted with legal counsel.

The NPS obtained a restraining order against Silver Eagle Mining Company and three individuals in
December 1969,2” seeking to verify the validity of the claims.?® Silver Eagle and two of the men were
dropped from the injunction when it was discovered that letters written to the Department of Interior
had used Silver Eagle stationery, although the company was not involved; four others were added as
defendants.??® Adams claimed in a public statement that the expansion of Arches was “undemocratic”
and a “land grab” of their claims, which were first located and mined in 1931.22° Adams and C. H.
Spaulding of Silver Eagle also stated their intention to work with the NPS to minimize the damage from
the access road and mining operation, and offered that the site would make an excellent campground
and picnic area when the operation was completed. The injunction required that samples of the ore be
analyzed by the BLM to ensure a valid mining claim.??! NPS witnesses testified against the validity of the
claim in 1971.%2%2 At a hearing on the matter in Salt Lake City in 1971, George Patee, owner of the claims,
finally waived his rights to them since he “couldn’t buck the government.”??3

US 191 and Highway Corridor Development

The geologic conditions that created the unique landscape of Arches National Park place severe
constraints on travel in the vicinity of Moab, Utah. Only two roads—US 191 and Utah Route 128—
provide access to Moab from the north where the Union Pacific Railroad and US 6/50 and 1-70 have
historically connected southeastern Utah with more populous regions of the county. Utah 128 hugs the
banks of the Colorado River, often within a narrow sandstone canyon from Moab to the Dewey Bridge,
with little room for utilities development. Most of the route is also on federally owned lands.
Consequently, the US 191 corridor has become the focus of development for both utilities and roadside
commercial uses; by 1990, this corridor included four pipelines, three powerlines, telephone lines, the
railroad spur from Crescent Junction to Potash, and US 191.2%
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4-16. Damage from an illegally constructed road along the right bank of the Colorado River in Arches National Park,
1970. ARCH 104/000548, SEUG Archives. Photographer unknown.

Part of the highway right-of-way falls within Arches National Park (Figure 4-17), and much of the
landscape between Moab and Crescent Junction is visible from Arches, and vice versa. As with
encroachment by oil and gas leases, Arches staff has been vigilant through the decades for incompatible
development along US 191 that might affect the visitor experience, including viewshed, wilderness
qualities, and dark skies. In 1986, the park boundary in Moab Canyon was identified as the number one
priority issue for general management planning.?® Specifically, park staff was concerned about the
ownership status of lands between the park and the (then) current road alignment, the lack of fencing
(or even boundary survey), and possible threats to the bighorn sheep herd from the road.

What is (as of this writing) designated as US 191 began as a Mormon-built “dugway” wagon road that
was upgraded to a “post” road in 1919.%2° The road was numbered as Utah 9 until the federal highway
system was developed in 1926 and the gravel-surfaced route became US 450, indicating that it was a
lateral route connected with US 50. The CCC constructed numerous improvements, including masonry
culverts and retaining walls in 1939-1940, when the road was paved and renumbered as US 160. Due to
changes in the highway designation scheme, the road was redesignated as US 163 in 1970, and changed
to US 191 in 1981. Utah did not relinquish the State Route 9 designation until 1977.
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4-17. View along US 191 at the Arches National Park entrance, May 28, 2016. (Photo credit: Shann Marcak,
National Park Service).

The portion of US 160 between Lions Park and the monument entrance was the scene of much potential
encroachment activity in June 1955:

Moab Canyon from the river bridge to tis [sic] head is flowing with activity. The telephone line is being
rebuilt, the new 139,000 volt power line construction is underway, the survey of the realignment of US
160 has been completed, the natural gas line will be laid soon, the Uranium sampling plant is handling 1-
% million dollars worth of ore per month and to top it all off the construction of the new mill, started this
week, which according to news reports will cost in the neighborhood of 12-% million dollars. It is all
interesting but difficult for us to comprehend the vast sums of money being spent.??’

The portion of US 191 that is north of Moab Canyon has actually presented a greater encroachment
challenge to Arches staff over the years, due to the inter-visibility of this area with the Windows section
of Arches (Figure 4-18). Because the cliff west of the visitor center intercedes between US 191 and the
park scenic drive as it climbs the Moab Fault, Moab Canyon west and northwest of the visitor center is
not visible; this includes the tightest part of the canyon where the road, railroad, and utilities are in
closest proximity. Much of the land south of the highway is BLM, and thus out of the control of Arches
National Park. In 2001, the BLM permitted a cellular telephone tower to be constructed directly across
from the Arches entrance, further impacting the cluttered viewscape of the canyon.??® Thus, the upper
section of the canyon is really an issue for viewshed only in terms of being the northern approach to
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4-18. The Windows, as viewed from US 191 near the Bar-M Chuckwagon entrance road, July 1, 2016. (Photo credit:
David E. Purcell).

Arches (and Moab). Although the use of Moab Canyon as a primary utility corridor has impacted
resources, the more pressing threat to Arches viewscapes is the section of US 191 beginning at the top
of the canyon and extending north to Dalton Wells Road, including Canyonlands Field. Portions of this
are in private ownership or are Utah state school sections, and Arches has monitored various
development proposals over the decades, concerned about their visibility from Arches, and indirect
impacts such as outdoor lighting, advertising, and the potential for groundwater pumping to affect
springs in Arches.

When Utah realigned US 160 in 1957-1958, the change in right-of-way created six parcels totaling 6.41
acres that were narrow slivers of land located between the Arches National Monument boundary along
the old US 450 alignment and the new roadbed.?”® Three parcels were owned by the BLM, one by the
Canyonlands Natural History Association, and two by Atlas Minerals. The 1989 General Management
Plan for Arches identified this as an issue requiring resolution to prevent development of billboards or
other eyesores along the park boundary. Between 1990 and 1995, the NPS sought to transfer all of the
parcels to Arches; the CNHA donated their parcel to the NPS, Atlas Minerals promised to donate two
more, and the BLM agreed to a transfer, provided that an existing stock driveway was maintained. As
discussed in Chapter 3, the CNHA donation was not finalized until 2003, but acquisition of the other five
parcels has yet to be completed.

The original alignment of the Mormon dugway was one of the earliest historic preservation issues for
Arches National Monument. A well-preserved section that had been hand-cut into slickrock was located
across the edge of the sandstone ridge west of the headquarters area. As noted in Chapter 3, naturalist
Natt N. Dodge had proposed creating a trail from headquarters to this in 1940, with interpretive
exhibits, but it was never implemented.?*° In 1955, the Utah State Road Commission proposed realigning
and widening US 160, a plan that included blasting through the ridge end where the dugway was
located. Arches staff attempted to preserve this section of the dugway:

Information pretaining [sic] to the history of the Mormon Dug-Way has been gathered and will be
submitted to your office soon. A request, in the form of a letter was made to O. Donald Miles, Utah State
Road Commission, for a preliminary alignment map of proposed construction in Moab Canyon showing
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right-of-way boundaries, but so far we have had no response from Mr. Miles. Ranger Morris took a set of
pictures showing the road-bed center line as it is now staked and three section of the Dug-Way.?!

The expansion of US 191 partially destroyed the remaining visible rock cuts of the dugway.
Improvements to the highway and growth of Moab have since made highway frontage property
increasingly appealing for commercial development, potentially encroaching on the Arches viewshed
and dark night skies.

During the late 1990s, Alan and Valerie Brown proposed to lease 29 acres of Utah State School Trust
Land 3 miles north of the Arches entrance for the construction and operation of a Western-themed
tourist attraction known as the “Bar-M Chuckwagon.”?*2 This business had operated in Moab under the
Brown’s ownership since 1993, and would continue a tradition of live Western show and cowboy
suppers with a restaurant/dinner theater, saloon, gift shops, and staging for trail rides.?*®* The NPS
commented on the proposed development, highlighting concerns about individual projects such as the
Bar-M Chuckwagon being constructed prior to the completion of an area plan; construction of parking
lots along US 191; unshielded outdoor lighting intruding on dark skies; impacts to bighorn sheep
(especially transmission of domestic livestock diseases); and native vegetation (the NPS offered
expertise on transplanting native vegetation for landscaping).** Due to the NPS concerns, the Grand
County Planning and Zoning Commission passed a resolution January 7, 1998, that sought to minimize
visual impact encroachment on Arches and other local scenic areas while the county completed area
development plans for the US 191 corridor, the Utah 128 corridor, and La Sal Loop Road.?*® The interim
resolution was to avoid visual impacts from the public rights-of-way of the three areas, minimize and
mitigate improvements that cannot be avoided (such as by landscape screening), and prohibit
applications for developments that are intrusive. However, the resolution permitted developments
(meaning the Bar-M Chuckwagon) that were already under review to proceed. The Bar-M Chuckwagon
operated during summer months, with cowboy dinner theater and mock gunfights, before closing in
2016. It remains available for parties and special events.2® As of 2017, the business was being
remodeled as the Handlebar Ranch under John Hall’s ownership (Figure 4-19).2% This project had fallen
through by 2018,%8 but the property is likely to attract other businesses in the future.

Dramatically increased visitation to Arches and the Moab region eventually led to the need to widen US
191 to four lanes, a project actively under study by 2001. This also encroached on Arches National Park
and the many historic resources within Moab Canyon, including the remnants of the original 1854
Mormon Dugway and later 1919 highway alignments.?®® The Utah Department of Transportation
widened US 191 to four lanes, plus turn lanes, between Utah 279 and 313 in 2004—2005.2*° This included
repaving the old US 450 roadbed to serve as a bike path that extends from the Courthouse Wash parking
lot to the Bar-M Ranch entrance road. In the early 2000s, the Moab Area Travel Council established an
8-mile-long loop mountain bike trail that took off from the Bar-M parking lot. This Bar-M Loop was the
first of a series of trails in the area. The owners of the Bar-M Chuckwagon were forced to deal with
trash, human waste, speeding, and other conflicts with their business, which they cited as contributing
to the demise of the restaurant, along with a sudden decrease in public interest in Western-themed
businesses.?*
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4-19. The now-defunct Bar-M Chuckwagon from “boot hill,” July 1, 2016. (Photo credit: David E. Purcell).

Utah State Lands and the Sagebrush Rebellion

Utah has a deep history of pro-development, anti-preservation policies. Mistrust of the federal
government derives from the long history of Mormon/federal interactions that are perceived in Utah as
one-sided. Most of the territories and states surrounding Utah were created by the federal government
in response to Brigham Young’s 1849-1850 proposal to create the State of Deseret, the Mormon
Kingdom on Earth, centered in Salt Lake City but extending into lands that are now part of Arizona,
California, Colorado, ldaho, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, and Wyoming.?*> Those states mostly
consisted of lands owned by the federal government which had seized them by force from Mexico or
Indian nations. The admittance of Utah as a state, however, came with the requirement that Utah cede
vast tracts to the federal government. Members of the dominant Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day
Saints strongly believe in a positivist, agrarian version of Manifest Destiny, a view encapsulated by the
Utah State Motto: Industry.?®® Actively developing the state by expanding areas under cultivation,
increasing the population, and extracting mineral resources is a goal shared by many of the Mormon
faithful and the Utah legislature, which placed Utah at odds with the rising environmental movement of
the 1970s.
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Thus, although the state of Utah had been an enthusiastic early supporter of developing new national
monuments and parks in Utah, as they had been with Arches (which Grand County and the state helped
to build and maintain), the relationship has become strained as parks have been expanded and new
units, such as Canyonlands, created. In particular, the Escalante National Monument proposal of the
1930s was viewed as an assault on the state of Utah. Prior to the Sagebrush Rebellion, the pro-
development attitude was personified in Governor George D. Clyde, who stated in 1961 that “wilderness
areas, national parks and monuments should be large enough only to preserve the historical, scenic or
geologic areas of the state,” and he opposed the Wilderness Act because “the natural resources of Utah
must not be locked up in proposed federal wilderness or national park areas if the state is to continue its
industrial and economic growth.”?** The revenue brought to Utah from tourism is not viewed as equal to
revenue from the extractive industry, yet Moab has grown and prospered as a tourist center following
the demise of uranium mining. Superintendent Noel Poe did note that many Moab residents of the
uranium period held tourism jobs in disdain due to the much lower wages paid relative to those in
mining: “You could work in a uranium mine and make, you know, twenty dollars an hour versus five
dollars an hour at McDonald’s or another burger shop.”?*

President Lyndon B. Johnson’s use of the 1906 Antiquities Act to add 264,000 acres to Arches and
Capitol Reef in 1969 created a new firestorm of ill-will in Utah, laying the groundwork for the Sagebrush
Rebellion. The Salt Lake Tribune railed that the lands will be “locked up” because under the National
Park Service “grazing will be phased out, mineral and oil prospecting barred, timbering strictly limited
and hunting forbidden.”?*® Relationships between Arches and the state of Utah did not ameliorate
during the transformation of Arches into a national park, as the prevailing atmosphere was one of
tension and ill-will towards all units of the federal government, including the NPS.2¥

The Sagebrush Rebellion began in Nevada in 1979 as a reaction to and disapproval of the “alphabet
soup” of federal regulations,?® although the movement hearkened to an earlier rebellion over the
National Forest Preserves.?* Opposition to the regulations was strongest and most vocal in the Western
states due to their much greater percentages of federally owned lands. The movement was dubbed
“The Sagebrush Rebellion” when the legislature of Nevada attempted to seize all Bureau of Land
Management lands via a lawsuit against the federal government (the lawsuit was rejected on appeal in
1981).%°° The movement helped propel California Governor Ronald Reagan to the Presidency of the
United States in 1980.%! The two goals of the Sagebrush Rebellion were to transfer control of most
federal lands to the states in which they were located, and to sell off to private ownership or “privatize”
much federal land.?? Utah was one of the first, and most enthusiastic participants in the Sagebrush
Rebellion.?® Utah fielded its own lawsuit seeking claim to the federal lands in Utah in 1980, the same
year that Arizona, New Mexico, and Wyoming filed similar suits. Sometime between 1981, when
Secretary of the Interior James Watt claimed that the Rebellion was over,?® and 1984 when Reagan
administration policies refocused on AIDS, the War on Drugs, and the final acts of the Cold War, the
Sagebrush Rebellion ended. Few actually tried to buy the land that was offered, and many Western state
governments came to realize that they lacked the resources to possess and manage the federal lands,
and in many cases the state lands that they already had.?® Watt visited Arches National Park May 21,
1983, and was greeted by anti-Watt graffiti painted on several of the park road signs.?*® In remarks
made at The Windows, Watt defended plans to conduct test drilling in Canyonlands for the proposed
DOE nuclear waste repository, and the potential construction of such a facility against the boundaries of
a national park.
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The festering resentment of federal policy persists in Utah; it exploded into a neo-Sagebrush Rebellion
when President William Clinton exercised his rights under the 1906 Antiquities Act and created the
Grand Staircase—Escalante National Monument in 1996.%7 Despite the rhetoric and local rage, the state
of Utah in its dealings with the NPS has most often sought to drive the sharp bargain. In 1980, the NPS
developed a proposal to acquire 11 Utah state inholding parcels in Arches (Figure 4-20) through land
exchanges. In 1987, the Department of the Interior and Utah Governor signed a Memorandum of
Understanding on the exchange, although the sides disagreed as to the valuation of the coal royalties
included in the exchange.?®® Negotiations over the exchange continued to be unsuccessful, and in 1989,
Utah proposed to sell the land on the open market, noting in the sales prospectus that the parcels were
especially suitable for use as a guest ranch or campground.?® The extreme negative publicity and public
reaction to this caused the state to withdraw the proposal.?®® Negotiations continued, however, as all
parties agreed in principal to remove Utah state lands from federal land reserves, including Arches and
Capitol Reef national parks, Dinosaur National Monument, and Glen Canyon National Recreation
Area.?®!
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The 1993 Utah Schools and Lands Improvement Act (PL 103-93) authorized the exchange of the 81,000
acres of state lands. Utah would receive fee estate of the Blue Mountain Telecommunications Site, fee
estate of 3,000 acres adjacent to the Beaver Mountain Ski Resort, and coal royalties from five mineral
tracts. However, this effort stalled again on the valuation of the coal royalties. Perhaps as another
bargaining ploy, Utah issued an aircraft landing permit to John Ruhl in 1997, permitting him to land
anywhere in the state on state lands (stipulations were added at the request of the NPS to exclude
sensitive areas), opening the possibility of air tours landing within Arches National Park and other NPS
units.2®2 The Utah School Trust Administration subsequently sued the BLM, claiming that the valuation
process used by the BLM was flawed.?®® The school lands issue was not finally resolved until 1998, with
the passage of the Utah Schools and Land Exchange Act of 1998 (PL 105-335), which exchanged 6,902.44
acres of state lands within Arches, and 320 acres of mineral rights, for BLM lands, coal royalties, and
cash.?®

Resolution of the state lands inholdings significantly reduced legal (and emotional) strain on the
National Park Service and SEUG staff for more than a decade, and opened the door for renewed
attempts to complete the long-stalled Wilderness designations for Utah parks. But this reprieve was
short lived. Enactment of the Transfer of Public Lands Act (TPLA) by the Utah legislature in 2012 and the
proclamation of Bears Ears National Monument entangled the land management issues of southeastern
Utah into a rising tide of fascist, racist, anti-government militancy.?®> The TPLA demanded that by
December 31, 2014, title to all federal lands in Utah except for national parks and monuments (except
Grand Staircase—Escalante National Monument), designated Wilderness areas, Department of Defense
Lands, and tribal lands be transferred to the State of Utah for management and disposition. This would
include all BLM, Forest Service, and Fish and Wildlife lands and the Glen Canyon National Recreation
Area. The lands would be managed for the “principal or major uses of the land” or sold, with Utah
retaining 5 percent and returning 95 percent of the sale price to the federal government. In anticipation
of a transfer, the Utah legislature passed the Utah Public Land Management Act to create a state agency
to manage the newly acquired lands. The deadline set by TPLA passed with no transfer, and Utah has
not yet sued to attempt implementation. But the TPLA has emboldened anti-government groups and
undermines the rule of law on federal lands. Environmental historian John Ruple traces a direct link from
TPLA rhetoric to the 2014 violent standoff between the BLM and rancher Cliven Bundy and militia
supporters in Bunkersville, Nevada; the 2014 violation of the closure of Recapture Canyon, Utah, by San
Juan County Commissioner Phil Lyman and militia supporters, and the 2016 standoff in Burns, Oregon,
at the Malheur Wildlife Refuge orchestrated by Ammon Bundy, Cliven’s son.?®® Although Arches National
Park is not currently a target of the state of Utah or militias, government employees and offices across
the West have been targeted by death threats, a situation too familiar to SEUG employees who were on
duty during the 1998 manhunt for three cop-killers from Cortez (see discussion in Chapter 7). Revised
Statute 2477 (see below) claims against the NPS are a more immediate threat, as a legal decision in
favor of Utah and its counties would immediately open thousands of miles of roads to uncontrolled off-
highway vehicle (OHV) destruction, some leading to the boundaries of Arches National Park.

Revised Statute 2477

The controversy surrounding the repeal in 1976 of Revised Statute 2477 (RS 2477) under the Federal
Land Policy and Management Act (FLPMA) has been an issue for SEUG, much more so in regards to
Canyonlands than Arches so far, although Arches is potentially affected. RS 2477 was a component of
the 1866 Mining Act (Section 8), which promoted development of Western public lands, reading in its
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entirety: “The right of way for the construction of highways over public lands, not reserved for public
uses, is hereby granted.”?®” The FLPMA consolidated a large corpus of federal lands policy and laws,
including environmental laws such as NEPA, under a single umbrella act. In repealing RS 2477, FLPMA
(Section 701, 43 USC 1701) states that “nothing in the Act, or in any amendment made by this Act, shall
be construed as terminating any valid lease, permit, patent, right-of-way, or other land use right or
authorization existing on the date of approval of this Act.”?®® One goal of repealing RS 2477 was to
prevent logging companies from continuing to build roads in roadless areas of the Pacific Northwest and
Alaska that were eligible for inclusion in the Wilderness Preserve System under the Wilderness Act.

Few objected in 1976 to this law. However, since then, RS 2477 has become a point of conflict in the
West between the federal land management agencies, wilderness advocates,?® private landowners, and
a people claiming to be “shared or open access” advocates, including OHV users, anti-government
militias, and the state of Utah. The conflict hinges (legally) on conflicting interpretations of “highway” in
RS 2477 and “road” in the Wilderness Act, as well as the meaning of “valid existing rights” under
FLPMA.?”° The Wilderness Act prohibits “permanent roads” within any block of 5,000 or more acres
designated as Wilderness, effectively disqualifying those areas that do have “permanent roads.”
However, Utah and the OHV groups have chosen to interpret the existence of any road or trail that was
present before 1976, regardless of condition or historic use, as an RS 2477 road, with Utah then
extending that interpretation to claim State right-of-way and ownership of all such roads, even on
federal or private lands.?’! In 1992, the Bureau of Land Management conducted a detailed review of the
land ownership status and history of RS 2477 roads in Arches National Park, at the request of Park
Superintendent Noel Poe.?”? All of the roads were at that time classified as reserved, and were thus
exempt from RS 2477 claims. As of 1993, no applications for RS 2477 right-of-way applications had been
filed for Arches, Canyonlands, Capitol Reef, or Dinosaur, when the Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance
made a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request of SEUG regarding RS 2477 roads.?’® In 1997, SEUG
Superintendent Walt Dabney discussed the real potential threat of RS 2477: the lack of clear guidance
for the NPS if a local county decides to improve a road into an NPS unit.?’*

The use of the streambed of Salt Creek in Canyonlands National Park as a jeep trail brought the RS 2477
issue to a head in southeastern Utah. Salt Creek was used to access Angel Arch and other landscape
features, but the road caused severe streambank erosion, allowed the spread of invasive species, and
gave access to looters and vandals of archeological sites. The 1995 Backcountry Management Plan for
Canyonlands restricted vehicle use along 8 miles of the route, upstream of Peekaboo Campground.?”®
The Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance (SUWA) filed suit in District Court alleging that the limited
continued use of the stream as a road caused an impairment of park resources, and thus violated the
Organic Act. The District Court agreed in 1998, and ordered that the stream remain closed to motor
vehicles, a ruling immediately appealed by OHV user groups. The ruling was set aside in 2000 by the
10th Circuit Court of Appeals. In 2002, the NPS completed a new Environmental Assessment (EA) that
concurred that vehicular use was an impairment, and the route was limited to foot and pack animal
traffic only. The state of Utah and San Juan County attempted to assert an RS 2477 right-of-way, but
their claims were dismissed for having failed to previously file a right-of-way claim. The final road
closure rule was published in the Federal Register in 2003 and became final July 14, 2004. The issue of
impairment was settled in 2005 with a ruling against the off-road user groups, concluding that the use of
the stream as a road was an impairment of the Organic Act and the road closure under the 2001
Management Policies was a legitimate construct by the NPS.
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Grand County has been less aggressive than San Juan County about pursuing RS 2477 claims, so Arches
has been less affected than has Canyonlands, the focus of most of the problems. Grand County
“expressed interest in claiming the Salt Valley and Cache Valley Roads under RS 2477” in 2001.27® But, in
further discussions with Arches staff, Grand County described their desire to maintain access to Dry
Mesa, and the old alignment of Salt Valley Road. Arches agreed to protect the county’s access if they did
not file an actual right-of-way claim.?”” But the larger issue has not gone away.

The state of Utah and several Utah counties have been particularly aggressive about pursuing RS 2477
right-of-way claims in the aftermath of the Salt Creek ruling, especially after the declaration of the
Grand Staircase—Escalante National Monument. In 2012 Utah reorganized several state agencies to
create the Public Lands Policy Coordinating Office (PLPCO) under the Governor’s office, specifically to
litigate in an attempt to claim federal lands, including under RS 2477. In that same year, Utah filed more
than 25 lawsuits claiming almost 36,000 miles of roads under RS 2477 claims.?’® The suits were filed by
each Utah county as the primary road maintenance agency, in co-ownership with the state, of the right-
of-way.?”® Rarely, RS 2477 advocates have prevailed in court. Based on historic use, title to the
Skutumpah Road in Grand Staircase was granted under Quiet Title to Kane County, Utah in 2010.
However, recent lawsuits asserting public right-of-way across private lands in Idaho and Colorado have
been decided in favor of the private landowners.

The 2012 PLPCO lawsuits claimed title to White Rim Road and Salt Creek Road (among others) in
Canyonlands and a number of roads leading to, but not into, the boundaries of Arches National Park;
these include Salt Valley Road, Lost Springs Canyon Road, and Yellow Cat Road, among many others.?°
The PLPCO also shows Winter Camp Ridge Road, Willow Springs Road, and Old Moab Canyon Roads as
RS 2477 roads, but these are not listed in Grand County’s lawsuit. PLPCO (San Juan County)’s attempt to
claim Salt Creek Canyon Road in Canyonlands under RS 2477 failed when the 10" Circuit Court of
Appeals ruled April 28, 2014, against Utah and San Juan County in their claim that the road was a “public
thoroughfare.”?8! Although the plaintiffs were able to demonstrate use of the road for at least 10 years
prior to the creation of Canyonlands National Park, the court ruled that “while we agree uninterrupted
use is necessary, it is not alone sufficient to demonstrate the existence of a public thoroughfare for
purposes of RS2477. The Intensity of public use remains a component in determining the existence of a
public thoroughfare.” Despite the fact that the basis used by Utah in this case was also the basis for all
of the other lawsuits Utah has filed against the U.S. government, Utah Attorney General’s Office Public
Lands Section Chief Harry Souvell vowed that Utah would continue to pursue its other suits: “It would be
a mistake to consider this decision limiting us from going forward in our other road cases.” Grand
County’s RS 2477 suit is still pending as of the completion of this administrative history.

Paleontological Resources and Sovereign State Lands

The 1934 Beckwith Expedition reported that the lands west and north of the original Arches National
Monument boundaries were likely to contain well-preserved fossil remains, including dinosaurs.
Subsequent boundary changes did not bring much of the most promising paleontological resources into
NPS control, but Arches staff has had to deal with the proximity of high-quality fossil beds near the park
ever since. Near Dalton Wells is a particularly rich deposit, located at the contact between Cretaceous
and Jurassic formations.?®? In 1947 Custodian Russell L. Mahan confronted the owner of a private
museum in Colorado as he was “busily engaged in loading a truck with some very fine specimens” that
they had excavated between Arches and US 160.2%8 Although the land was under BLM management,
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Mahan informed the collectors that an Antiquities Act permit was required to remove paleontological
specimens from public lands; the crew unloaded all of their collected specimens and promised to
contact the BLM representative in Moab for a permit. Many rich deposits are also located on Utah State
Trust lands, including those at Dalton Wells.

Brigham Young University opened a fossil quarry at Dalton Wells in 1975, removing a number of
specimens that were housed at BYU but not further studied.?®* Another quarry was opened 12 miles
northeast of Dalton Wells in 1992, and in 1994, BYU returned to Dalton Wells after discovering remains
of a new species, named Utahraptor at the new quarry and in the 1975 Dalton Wells collections. The
significance of the paleontological resources west of Arches boundaries has been compared with those
of Dinosaur National Monument. Dalton Wells is also important as the location of a CCC camp and a
Japanese internment camp, neither of which is protected and they are only minimally interpreted for
the public.

With some regularity, fossil collectors continue to attempt to remove specimens from Arches or
adjacent federal lands. In 1990, the BLM district manager sent a memorandum to the staff of Arches
National Park with copies of the relevant laws pertaining to fossil collecting, including petrified wood,
which is often found in the same deposits as vertebrate fossils.> The particular issue at this time
appeared to be commercial collecting, which requires both a permit and contract of sale. Private citizens
could collect invertebrate fossils and petrified wood without a permit for recreational purposes, but
fossils could not be mined using heavy equipment such as backhoes; collection of vertebrate fossils
requires a permit under any circumstances. Because many visitors to Moab were likely to contact
rangers at Arches with questions about collecting, the BLM manager felt that a reminder of the laws
pertaining to fossil collection would be helpful. In 1993, the first paleontological theft enforcement in
the history of Utah took place when the Grand County Sherriff issued two citations for thefts that took
place in this locality.?®

In the early 1990s, Arches worked with the Utah State Lands and Forestry Department on a number of
lands issues, particularly those involving encroaching oil and gas leases. During this process, Utah agreed
to remove some parcels adjacent to Arches boundaries from school trust status, and redesignate them
as sovereign lands. Instead of being constitutionally required to use or sell those lands for the maximum
gain to support Utah public schools, under sovereign designation the lands would be managed for public
trust responsibilities, including preservation. Five parcels totaling 5,040 acres were identified by Arches
in the area immediately west of the park boundaries and north of Courthouse Wash.

These five sections are reported to be extremely rich in paleontological (paleo) resources and contain the
site of the 1975 Brigham Young University excavation that found numerous dinosaurian species including
Utahraptor. Hellmut H. Doelling’s geological map shows that Jurassic and Cretaceous formations
interface in these sections and this interface may provide scientists with important information about the
mass extinction at the end of the Jurassic that saw the end of most but not all large dinosaurs and about
the sudden rise of completely new and large dinosaur species in the Cretaceous. Because of this value,
these sections need all the protection that can be provided for the paleo resources.*’

Surprisingly, given the often strained relationships between the NPS and the state of Utah, the Division
of Lands and Forestry issued a record of decision to convert 5,359 acres to sovereign status on May 19,
1994.288 The Record of Decision included the requested lands in Priorities 2—4 and expanded the area
requested in Priority 1 by nearly a whole section, but eliminated Priority 5, which was adjacent to the
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Arches boundary. Although no explanation of the change was provided, Arches Superintendent Noel R.
Poe supported the decision as recorded in Number 94-0602-Exch 48, and thanked the staff of Utah State
Lands and Forestry.?® In 1997 the Grand County Sherriff signed an agreement granting SEUG rangers
Level Il law enforcement jurisdiction, specifically to have Arches rangers help patrol the paleo resources
west and north of the park.?® In that same year, seven paleo sites were monitored, and some evidence
of looting on both state sovereign lands and sites in Arches National Park was observed. Rangers
coordinated and cooperated with Utah on investigations into the looting. Although Beckwith
documented rich surface finds of dinosaur bones in 1934, a paleontological survey of Arches National
Park was not started until 2000. This was only the fifth-ever paleontological survey in the national park
system, and it was undertaken by NPS scientists and a volunteer group, with funding by the NPS
Geological Resource Division.?® Additional research by Jim Kirkland, Utah State Paleontologist, was
undertaken in 2005 near Fiery Furnace.??

4-21. The Moab Giants Dinosaur Museum and Trail at the southwestern corner of US 191 and U 313, July 1, 2016.
(Photo credit: David E. Purcell).
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Although this protected most of the lands immediately adjacent to Arches, and the paleontological
resources within them, the deposits with Jurassic and Cretaceous formations extend much farther west
and north. During the preparation of this history, the Moab Giants Dinosaur Museum and Trail opened
at the southwestern corner of Utah 313 and US 191, almost directly across the highway from the Bar-M
Chuckwagon (Figure 4-21).2°3 The park includes a museum of dinosaur tracks, a geologic trail with life-
sized dinosaur statues, a “5D Paleoaquarium,” a youth day-camp and simulated fossil excavation site, a
section of the Moab Fault, and in situ dinosaur tracks; a gift shop, café, 3D theater, and amphitheater
round out the property. The aquarium attraction was opened to the public August 25, 2016, completing
the planned dinosaur park, which first opened to the public September 1, 2015.2** The 44-acre park was
in planning for several years, and is backed by a partnership of Polish investors, with goals to “protect
existing dinosaur track sites in the area, promote further paleontological studies, and increase public
awareness and appreciation for such resources.”?® The for-profit project (a full-day pass for a family of
five is $70) is intended to be a hands-on learning facility focused on dinosaur tracks, according to the
Science Director Martin Lockley.?®® However, the PaleoAquarium feature, which has eight 3D movie
screens to provide a realistic ocean experience, will also include periodic attacks by paleo-sharks, which
will seem to crack the “aquarium” glass, providing entertainment with the scientific information. The
park is located in a low spot and should not be directly visible from Arches National Park as the road
prism of US 191 blocks most of the view of the buildings from the east.
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Arches National Park, 1971-1990

As early as the 1930s, the Moab Lions Club began to campaign for Arches to be promoted
to National Park status.! Its members hoped that such a proposal might push the National Park Service
to take a greater interest in developing Arches, and provide at least the most basic amenities, which
would also benefit Moab. Moab Times-Independent editor “Bish” Taylor led the charge. However, the
controversy that erupted over the Escalante National Monument proposal (see Chapter 3)
overshadowed his calls for an Arches National Park, and for the creation of Fisher Towers and Dead
Horse Point monuments.? The National Park Service was unable to make any significant plans for Arches
with the 1929 boundaries dividing the monument into two units, and confusion over how many units
Arches encompassed. With the expansion of Arches in 1938, the Park Service was finally able to begin
the development of visitor amenities, temporarily quieting calls for the establishment of Arches National
Park.

Elevation to park status was revisited in 1948 by the Moab Lions Club® and Carbon County Chamber of
Commerce President J. A. Theobald, who envisioned a version of a “Grand Circle” of parks ringing
southern Utah. Although this proposal did gain some supporters in the NPS and Congress, lingering
mistrust between the NPS and Utah, and tight post-war finances, discouraged the idea from advancing
further. The Grand Circle concept was advocated by founding NPS Director Stephen T. Mather as early
as 1921, as described in Chapter 2. Following the Escalante proposal, the idea of a road crossing the
Colorado River between Moab and Marble Canyon, Arizona, became popular with members of the Utah
congressional delegation as a way for Utah to gain some control over the National Park Service and help
to develop southeastern Utah. In 1961, Utah Senator Wallace F. Bennett (R) introduced a bill (S. 808) to
create a Southern Utah National Parkway that would be administered by the National Park Service.? It
would replace the Hite ferry with a bridge, and link the southwestern Utah parks and monuments (Zion,
Bryce Canyon, and Cedar Breaks) with those in southeastern Utah (Arches, Natural Bridges, Hovenweep,
and the impending Canyonlands).® The parkway was partly to counter the Kennedy Administration’s
support for new park units and a Wilderness bill, but also in response to increasing frustration with what
the Utah delegation perceived as the slow pace of development at Arches National Monument.
Completion of the scenic road and campground at Arches was in the planning stages, but not yet fully
funded.

Responding to local interest in seeing Arches “elevated” to National Park status, Bennett first introduced
three bills in 1961 (S. 2233, S. 2234, and S. 2235) to create Arches, Capitol Reef, and Cedar Breaks
national parks.® He also sponsored a bill (S. 1239) to create a national recreation area in the Needles
district, which would preempt the Secretary of the Interior Stewart Udall from including Needles within
a Canyonlands National Park. Bennett noted that the Needles area had “great potential mineral wealth,
particularly oil,” and he wanted to retain multiple-use management in the area, something that Udall
had made clear would be prohibited in Canyonlands. Bennett also introduced bills before the 87t
Congress in 1962 seeking to create an Arches National Park.” These bills were opposed by the National
Park Service because it preempted a larger NPS study of various units in the “Grand Circle” as potential
candidates for National Park status. After the 1962 attempt failed, Bennett and Utah Congressman
Laurence J. Burton (R) tried again in 1963, and were again opposed by the NPS, which instead supported
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S. 1132, which would authorize Secretary of the Interior Udall to conduct “a comprehensive study of a
number of areas within the States of Utah, Arizona, New Mexico and Colorado, by specifically
authorizing the appropriation of funds for that purpose.” This would include evaluating Arches for
National Park status, but in the meantime Arches was “being protected and developed in the same
manner as if it were classified as a national park.” In testimony before Congress, Bennett noted that in
1962 Grand Canyon had 1,446,500 visitors, Zion had 622,100 visitors, and Bryce Canyon had 251,00
visitors but to Arches only 105,700: “A principal reason for the relatively small number of visitors is, | am
sure, the fact that Arches has not received national park designation.”®

National Park designation for Arches and Capitol Reef, as well as significant expansion of their
boundaries, was part of a proclamation prepared for President Lyndon B. Johnson by Secretary Udall in
the waning days of his administration.” News of the proposed 49,000-acre increase at Arches and
215,000-acre increase at Capitol Reef was leaked a few days in advance, infuriating Utah Senator Frank
E. Moss (D), who demanded local public hearings. He did concede that the addition of two national
parks would greatly boost Utah tourism. The expansion proclamation protecting 7.5 million acres
nationwide was delayed while Johnson proposed to Congress the addition of 13 new Wilderness areas.'®
The following day, Johnson signed five proclamations that expanded the national park system by only
300,000 acres, by creating Marble Canyon National Monument in Arizona and expanding Arches, Capitol
Reef, and Katmai (Alaska) national monuments. Johnson did not attempt to authorize park status for
Arches or Capitol Reef. In backing away from Udall’s much larger preservation program, Johnson stated
the following:

After careful review of these proposals, | have concluded that it would not be desirable to take executive
action for the acquisition of this land in the last few days of my term. The proposals include over 7 million
acres—an enormous increase in our total park holdings. | believe that taking of this land—without any
opportunity for Congressional study—would strain the Antiquities Act far beyond its intent and would be
poor public policy. Understandably, such action, | am informed, would be opposed by leading Members
of Congress having authority in this field who have not had the opportunity to review or pass judgement
on the desirability of the taking.**

Even before Johnson signed the proclamations, Utah Governor Calvin L. Rampton and the Utah
Congressional Delegation were upset and demanded that public hearings be held.*? Udall had assured
Johnson that his own party was behind the larger expansion of the NPS, but he met stiff opposition from
Representative Wayne N. Aspinall (D-Colorado), Chairman of the House Interior Committee, Moss, and
other influential congressmen.!® Debate within the Johnson administration over the proposals grew so
heated that Udall threatened to resign, and Johnson delayed signing the five proclamations until less
than 2 hours before the end of his term to forestall Udall from taking any action that would further
inflame the situation. Still, Utah ranchers and oil and gas producers reacted harshly. Daniel G. Freed,
first vice president of the Utah Cattlemen’s Association, was blunt in his opposition: “I don’t know
whether this action is vindictive or not, but Utah certainly has a role other than being a playground for
Easterners. It’s not conservation, but preservation.”** The next day the Senate Interior Committee
announced field investigations and hearings on the monument expansions.> Senator Moss also
announced his intention to introduce bills to make the two areas national parks, and Senator Bennett
promised to use hearings on his pending national parks bills as a forum for airing local grievances over
the expansions as well.’® The Utah parkway bills were never acted on, but Senator Moss reintroduced
them in 1969 just days after Johnson’s proclamations on Capitol Reef and Arches. By the end of January
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1969, Moss had promised to introduce park bills for Arches and Capitol Reef using the expanded
boundaries designated by Johnson, and Bennett introduced park bills using the pre-proclamation
boundaries.?

Most of the outrage was directed at the timing of the proclamations—90 minutes before the end of
Johnson’s term—but also focused on the imagined mineral wealth and grazing opportunities lost to the
new boundaries. The Ogden Standard-Examiner reviewed the mineral and stock-raising potential of the
proclaimed expansion areas and found all of the outraged claims to be exaggerated. Noting that the
Arches expansion would affect some sheep range, they observed that the quality of the range was poor
and grazing was likely to produce only a fraction of the potential revenue from tourism: “It is uniquely
attractive country that is involved. Its maximum benefit to the people of Utah—and the nation—is in its
recreational benefits, not in the exploitation of its questionable mineral resources or meager grazing
use.”’® Almost every other newspaper in Utah, however, continued to inflate the potential value of the
lands for grazing and mineral extraction.

Bennett and Burton conducted an aerial inspection of the expanded monuments on February 11 before
kicking off hearings in Moab. Two hundred people gathered for the hearings, requiring a last-minute
change of venue to accommodate them.'® Attendees largely represented grazing, mining, industry, and
tourism, with most voicing opposition to the expansions and favoring multiple-use for the lands.
Although Superintendent Bates Wilson publicly supported the addition and noted that each tourist car
was estimated to bring $30 per day to the Moab area, the Director of the Utah Geological Survey Dr.
William Hewitt described vast deposits of tar sands beneath the Capitol Reef addition and the potential
existence of potash and uranium deposits beneath the Arches expansion, although the latter was
speculation based on proximity to known deposits, not on geological survey.?’ Although the comments
made at Bennett and Burton’s 3-day road show of hearings were decidedly against the expansions,
letters to the editor to newspapers across Utah were more balanced, with many writers challenging the
“land grab” description, noting the economic value of tourism, and advocating for preservation instead
of continuing to expand mining and grazing. By February 20, Moss had conceded that the expanded
boundaries were likely to stay, and continued to promote National Park status for the two areas. While
Moss and Bennett continued to push park bills, Aspinall attempted to block funding for the monument
expansions.?! Senate hearings on the park bills were finally held May 15-17, 1969 in Richfield, Salt Lake
City, and Moab. Unlike the previous hearings, the concerns of extractive industries were countered by
the attendance of conservationists.?

After reviewing the lands added to Arches by Johnson, the boundaries were revised in the House and
Senate bills introduced in 1970, removing areas likely to contain minerals or grazing lands. Moss'’s bills
creating Capitol Reef and Arches national parks passed the Senate July 1.2 The House held a hearing on
Burton’s Utah park bills in September 1970, including one to make additions to Canyonlands, but
awaited a reconciliation with the Senate versions.?* The legislative session concluded without a final
vote on the park bills, so Moss and Burton reintroduced them in 1971. The Senate passed four park bills
on June 23, 1971, including measures making Arches and Capitol Reef national parks, expanding
Canyonlands, and establishing Glen Canyon National Recreation Area by statute.? Burton’s House park
bills were approved and reconciled with the Senate versions in November 1971, and sent to the White
House for President Nixon’s signature.?® The final bills included House amendments to complete a
Wilderness Study in 3 years (to be carried out under the provisions of the Wilderness Act), to consult
with affected county governments, to study adjacent road alignments, and to set limits on payments for
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private inholdings and development of the park. The bill creating Arches National Park and modifying
the park boundaries was finally signed by President Richard M. Nixon on November 12, 1971 (see Figure
4-19).

Arches National Park was formally dedicated May 13, 1972, to coincide with the centennial of the
creation of Yellowstone National Park, which has led to some confusion over when Arches was
founded.? Several souvenir items for sale in 2016 at the Moab Information Center were labeled “Arches
National Park, Founded 1972,” confusing both the establishment of Arches as a national park system
unit in 1929 with achieving park status in 1971, and the park establishment and dedication dates.? The
park dedication was attended by Governor Calvin L. Rampton, Senator Frank E. Moss, Representative
Sherman P. Lloyd (R-Utah), Representative Wayne N. Aspinall, and Department of the Interior Solicitor
Mitchell Melich.?®° The event was made even more memorable when the distinguished guests had to be
rescued from a paddlewheel boat that became stuck on a sandbar during its maiden voyage on the
Colorado River. At the conclusion of the dedication, a plaque presented by the Canyonlands Natural
History Association in honor of the event was unveiled, for later installation at the visitor center.

Arches National Park celebrated its 50" anniversary since establishment as Arches National Monument
in 1979, with a gala celebration (Figure 5-1). The week-long celebration was headlined by Utah Governor
Scott Matheson and former U.S. Senator Frank E. Moss. The jubilee started Sunday April 8 with an art
exhibition in the visitor center, and concluded Sunday April 15 with the Annual Easter Sunrise Service at
the La Sal Mountains Overlook.?® The celebration included special tours for senior citizens, handicapped
adults, and children, a commemorative Fiery Furnace walk, a cookout by the Moab Lions Club at Lions
Park, and a campfire program at Devils Garden Campground led by former Ranger Lloyd Pierson. Cold,
rainy weather postponed the children’s tour, but the senior citizens’ tour and Fiery Furnace walk were
held as scheduled.?! The formal Golden Jubilee Day Reception took place on April 12 at the Arches
Visitor Center, followed by the 50™ birthday ceremony at the Windows section. The Moab Museum also
hosted the exhibition “Utah Wilderness Photography,” by 16 noted photographers, with an open house
on April 12 in honor of Arches’ 50" anniversary.3? An essay by Edward Abbey and a poem by Sam
Hammill accompanied the images; the exhibition was part of a state-wide tour sponsored by the Utah
Arts Council. The Times-Independent newspaper published a special edition in honor of the park’s
milestone, featuring stories on the discovery and founding of Arches and important people in its
development.®® The celebration came to a crashing end just 4 months later when the Department of
Energy announced a public meeting in Moab to discuss the potential use of Salt Valley for a major
nuclear waste dump.®*

Planning, Compliance, and Management

The establishment of Arches National Park, and attendant changes in boundaries, came about during
the rising environmental movement of the 1960s and 1970s. A groundswell of concern about the safety
of air and water, destruction of historic buildings, unplanned development, and the general health of
the planet pushed Congress to enact a series of sweeping environmental and cultural heritage laws with
the goal of regulating industry and construction, and reducing pollution. The extent of these laws is still
being tested in courts 50 years later, but the laws remain in effect, and have had a profound effect on
the National Park Service. Additionally, and partly in response to these laws, the NPS underwent an
extended period of change that has been characterized as “beaurocratization.”
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5-1. The Arches Golden Jubilee was celebrated in 1979 with a week of events, culminating in a
gala ceremony April 12 at the Windows section, with a keynote address by Utah Governor Scott
Matheson. ARCH 101/001-132, SEUG Archives.
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The new environmental laws were passed over a relatively long period, beginning with the Wilderness
Act in 1964, but new policy and considerable implementation regulations were required to effect the
changes required by these acts. Consequently the NPS and other resource management agencies spent
nearly two decades responding or reacting to external planning demands.

By the 1970s, the NPS response to this legislative tsunami was to produce a series of management plans
to address the specific requirements or mandates of the statutes, as well as to incorporate Park Service
goals of the Organic Act and individual park unit proclamations. This remains the preferred management
tool of the NPS, and older plans are routinely revised to accommodate new legislation and changing
contexts. In theory, this allows current NPS management to respond in a legally defensible manner to
any situation that might confront the park, whether internally or externally, and to remain current with
local, national, and global events. However, the process of preparing these numerous plans consumes
both time and personnel, leaving few resources for other than day-to-day routines. As a consequence,
NPS management did not account for the development of new sports, recreation, and fitness activities
in the 1970s and 1980s. Many of these activities were pioneered in the Western states, and very quickly
went from an experiment to an industry in the span of weeks or months, with magazines, events,
contests, and whole lifestyles dedicated to each new activity (see Chapter 6). The advent of the Internet
accelerated this process exponentially from the 1990s onwards. Arches and the NPS have only been able
to react, despite some well-intentioned efforts to get ahead of some activities, such as aircraft
overflights and air tours. In the meantime, management has continued to fend off external threats from
development and industry, while providing for the enjoyment and education of park visitors.

Contemporary management documents, such as the Superintendent’s Compendium of 2015, have been
referenced for most of the topics discussed in this chapter. Although the period of planning, compliance,
and management marked the beginning of this process for the NPS and Arches, it is not the end. Many
acts have been modified by amendments, and planning cycles require revisiting management
documents at regular intervals.

The 1964 Wilderness Act was the first successful attempt to legislate permanent protections for vast
swaths of the American landscape and was the culmination of a significant movement that had its roots
in nineteenth-century Romanticism. The industrialization of the economy of Europe and its colonies and
former colonies profoundly altered not only the socio-economic landscape, but also the physical
landscape. Urbanization, now underway for nearly 10,000 years, dramatically accelerated under
industrialization, which facilitated even higher population densities. Although trains, automobiles, and
other mechanical conveyances opened previously undeveloped rural areas to recreational visitation,
they also provided access for resource extraction industries (logging, mining, oil and gas production),
ranching and agriculture, and further residential expansion and concentration (urbanization). Beginning
with the publication of Henry David Thoreau’s Walden, a growing segment of the American populace
came to view the undisturbed American landscape as one of this country’s greatest assets, and sought
protection for those resources.?®> The development of the National Park Service and designations of
National Forests and other reserved landscapes provided significant protection to millions of acres. But,
the 1906 Antiquities Act specifies that the smallest-possible area be protected, rather than the largest,
and many lands managed by the Departments of Agriculture (U.S. Forest Service) and Interior (Bureau of
Land Management) were and are managed for multiple uses, including generating revenue for the
federal government through leases to resource-extractive industries, ranchers, and other users. Once
disturbed, such lands lose their connection with the naturally evolved landscape and their authenticity,
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regardless of efforts at rehabilitation or restoration.®® Some lands protected in the national park system
were developed primarily to provide access to the public for their enjoyment, as specified in the Organic
Act. It was on the latter point that the conservation movement fragmented among those seeking
greater restrictions on access and use for wildlands, and those advocating no action or increased access
for recreation.’” The Wilderness Society was founded in 1935 to advocate for preserving untouched
landscapes.®® In 1936, they released a preliminary survey of potential Wilderness areas, and identified
the canyon country of southeastern Utah as the largest roadless area in the United States.*

The Wilderness Act (1964)

The Wilderness Act is remarkable in its brevity, defining wilderness, establishing a National Wilderness
Preservation System, describing the permitted and prohibited uses of Wilderness areas, and providing a
series of other provisions and stipulations in 258 lines in seven short sections.®® The act imposed
profound responsibilities on all federal land management agencies, and yet remains incompletely
implemented many decades after its passage. For the National Park Service, the Wilderness Act has
provided the opportunity for outside environmental groups and internal watchdog organizations to
redirect NPS actions when there is a real or perceived threat to wilderness or potential wilderness,
which the act defines as follows:

A wilderness, in contrast with those areas where man and his own works dominate the landscape, is
hereby recognized as an area where the earth and its community of life are untrammeled by man, where
man himself is a visitor who does not remain. An area of wilderness is further defined to mean in this Act
an area of undeveloped Federal land retaining its primeval character and influence, without permanent
improvements or human habitation, which is protected and managed so as to preserve its natural
conditions and which (1) generally appears to have been affected primarily by the forces of nature, with
the imprint of man’s work substantially unnoticeable; (2) has outstanding opportunities for solitude or a
primitive and unconfined type of recreation; (3) has at least five thousand acres of land or is of sufficient
size as to make practicable its preservation and use in an unimpaired condition; and (4) may also contain
ecological, geological, or other features of scientific, educational, scenic, or historical value.

On the surface, the Wilderness Act and the NPS Organic Act seem to have similar goals, but for one
crucial difference for the NPS: the Organic Act gives equal weight to preservation and visitor enjoyment
“to conserve the scenery and the natural and historic objects and the wild life therein and to provide for
the enjoyment of the same in such manner and by such means as will leave them unimpaired for the
enjoyment of future generations.”! This was interpreted by the NPS and by many federal courts in the
early days of the park system as giving the NPS the right to construct sufficient roads, structures,
buildings, and needed infrastructure to bring the public to the landscapes under NPS protection. While
considerable thought is given as to how to do this with the least possible impact to the landscape, NPS
infrastructure is a form of development, often including permanent habitations for NPS employees (or
worse, temporary habitations that become used on a long-term basis, as in many parks). Ever-increasing
numbers of visitors (300 million to the entire national park system in 2015) have pushed traffic counts
and population density at popular frontcountry sites to near urban levels.*? A further stipulation of the
Wilderness Act was instrumental in creating the “frontcountry/backcountry” management system of the
NPS:

Within ten years after September 3, 1964, the Secretary of the Interior shall review every roadless area of
five thousand contiguous acres or more in the national parks, monuments and other units of the national
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park system and every such area of, and every roadless island within, the national wildlife refuges and
game ranges, under his jurisdiction on September 3, 1964, and shall report to the President his
recommendation as the suitability or nonsuitability of each such area or island for preservation as
wilderness.

The Wilderness Act then establishes a procedure by which the Secretary of the Interior submits
Wilderness proposals to the President of the United States, who then advises the President of the
Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives on his recommendations for designation of
Wilderness status by Congress. Before doing so, however, the Secretaries of Agriculture and Interior
must notify the public of their recommendations, hold public hearings in the affected state or states,
and advise the Governor of each affected state. Any requested modifications to the original proposal are
to be conveyed to the President as well. All of the potential Wilderness areas were to be identified
within 10 years of the passage of the Wilderness Act. Regardless of the outcome, the Wilderness Act
was not to “be construed to lessen the present statutory authority of the Secretary of the Interior with
respect to the maintenance of roadless areas within units of the national park system.” In fact, §4(3) of
the Wilderness Act is explicit that “nothing in this Act shall modify the statutory authority under which
units of the national park system are created,” and that “the designation of any area of any park,
monument, or other unit of the national park system as a wilderness area pursuant to the Act shall in no
manner lower the standards evolved for the use and preservation of such park, monument, or other
unit of the national park system in accordance with the Act of Congress of August 25, 1916” or any other
relevant acts and decrees.

Implementation of the Wilderness Act proved to be sufficiently controversial that it has ultimately run
into the brick wall of a deadlocked, partisan Congress.*® Some agencies have been accused, probably
factually, of having allowed development such as logging and oil and gas development (both of which
require road building) to proceed in previously undeveloped areas, thereby removing them from
consideration as potential Wilderness areas. In other cases, political pressure resulted in compromises,
with remote and difficult-to-log mountain tops protected as wilderness, and more accessible lower
elevation old-growth forests excluded so as to permit logging.** This was particularly the case in Alaska
and the Pacific Northwest during the final years of the logging boom of the 1990s, when congressional
riders to other bills allowed the Forest Service to clearcut old-growth forests with impunity. But
wilderness advocates have also run afoul of river runners, ADA advocates, rock climbers, mountain
bikers, and other recreationalists (as well as the motorized recreation communities) who are seeking
new trails, larger areas for “other than hiking” recreation, and improved access to remote areas. The
infighting fragmented the environmental movement, which was further tarnished by the advent of “eco
terrorists,” who have burned buildings, damaged equipment, and hidden nails in old-growth trees in the
name of protecting wilderness.* After desighating some 109,511,966 acres of wilderness in more than
750 preserves between 1974 and 2009,% Congress has not designated any additional Wilderness areas,
leaving the proposed wilderness system uncompleted. Until the political climate warms again to
wilderness, large areas of NPS backcountry will remain “proposed wilderness,” to be managed as though
it were Wilderness, but without the formal designation.

Basic provisions of the Wilderness Act have been incorporated into NPS planning documents, beginning
with the Arches National Monument Master Plan draft of 1963. Although the Wilderness Act had yet to
be passed, the Master Plan incorporated wilderness resources as one of the main goals of the park
management:
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Development for visitor and administrative uses should be carefully controlled, under three main
precepts: administer the area to protect the visitors and the significant natural resources; make a total
park experience available for visitors by suitable roads, trails, overlooks, campgrounds, and a
comprehensive interpretive program; and reserve appropriate portions of the Monument for proper
wilderness uses. %

Superintendent Paul Guraedy summarized the “confusing” history of Arches Wilderness proposals in
1990, shortly before leaving his post.*® The initial Wilderness Recommendation was completed in
November 1974, in which 54,450 acres were proposed for Wilderness designation. Guraedy was careful
to note that the recommendation excluded not only existing park infrastructure, but “future parking
areas, pulloffs, public use-structures, management structures, and areas of high visitor concentrations.”
President Jimmy Carter submitted this recommendation to Congress on May 23, 1977. Congress did not
act on this recommendation. The proposal was revised in May 1982 to include 62,947 acres. The
additional acreage followed the expiration of mineral leases or the acquisition of previously private
lands totaling 9,050 acres.”® Further revisions were requested in May 1983 (not specified but
presumably by Congress), including the withdrawal of a non-wilderness trails corridor, and inclusion of
additional lands (in particular, a strip at the southwestern edge of the park that was simply overlooked
by previous recommendations); Guraedy notes that the map showing the trails corridor could not be
located at the time of his review. Specifically, the increasing visitation and need for additional
maintenance, and rampant inflation at the time, required the use of mechanized equipment on
Landscape Arch and Delicate Arch trails, necessitating their removal from the recommendation.*® In
September 1984 the revised Wilderness Recommendation was completed, identifying 62,947 acres for
Wilderness designation in five units (Unit 1: Windows, 20,560 acres recommended and 6,774 potential;
Unit 2: Devils Garden, 19,509 acres recommended and 2,155 potential; Unit 3: Salt Valley, 8,790 acres
recommended and 858 potential; Unit 4: Herdina Park, 4,876 acres recommended and 1,841 potential;
and Unit 5: Courthouse Towers, 9,252 acres recommended and 640 potential; Figure 5-2). Guraedy
noted that additional revisions would be required to accommodate the 1989 GMP, specifically due to
inconsistency in how Willow Springs Road was to be managed, and the potential need to exclude part of
The Windows area to provide a handicapped accessible trail, in anticipation of the requirements of the
Americans with Disabilities Act (see below).

The Arches Administrative Collection holds more than 30 individual files on Wilderness
recommendations, proposals, hearings, and maps, spanning 1956 (before passage of the Wilderness
Act) to 1990, including Guraedy’s summary, discussed above.>! These records fill substantial portions of
two boxes, as well as oversized map drawers, and represent one of the largest single-topic records in the
Arches Administrative Collection. Although this represents, in part, the legal mandate to preserve
records and the diligence of Arches staff in doing so, it also reflects the amount of work that Arches staff
dedicated to this issue, particularly in the early to mid 1970s, when the initial wilderness lands studies
were conducted and prepared for review by the U.S. President. In 1991 the BLM completed their
wilderness study for statewide recommendations, and forwarded the results to the Utah Governor and
congressional delegation.? Individual counties were encouraged to hold public meetings on wilderness
recommendations; Grand County held three. During this process, Grand County’s Council unanimously
recommended that Lost Spring Canyon be added to Arches National Park, pending resolution of some
minor management issues, rather than be included in the Wilderness proposal. Although Lost Spring
Canyon was not included in the final Utah Wilderness bill sent to Congress, it was the genesis of the
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most recent Arches boundary adjustment, described in Chapter 7. The 1998 addition of Lost Spring
Canyon became contentious when the Sierra Club, Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance, and Wilderness
Society opposed the addition on the grounds that Lost Spring Canyon would not be managed as
wilderness, and it would adversely affect the potential Wilderness status of surrounding lands.

The status of Arches National Park’s recommended Wilderness areas periodically re-emerges as
potential legislation. In 1999, the same Utah Wilderness bill continued to move slowly through Congress.
Because of the inaction on Wilderness designations, the NPS promulgated a new policy that all identified
potential, proposed, or recommended wilderness would be managed as though it had already been
designated.>® Due to the amount of time that had been invested in the Wilderness designation process
over the years, the NPS chose to reuse the previous recommendations with only minor revisions so that
they would not have to repeat the NEPA process.>* The biggest changes for Arches were an increase in
acreage following the resolution of the Utah state lands inholdings in 2000, and the addition of most
lands in the Lost Spring Canyon area; these had been excluded from the earlier recommendations. Also,
some lands that had been considered non-conforming due to the presence of minor roads or mineral
use had been abandoned and were now considered eligible for Wilderness status. Unfortunately, a map
depicting the current Wilderness status is not available.

Alphabet Soup

The expansion of Arches and its elevation to National Park status were authorized by the same Congress
of the United States that revised and amended the 1948 Federal Water Pollution Control Act as the
Clean Water Act of 1972. Both actions were part of sweeping legislation following the Wilderness Act
that addressed historic heritage, clean air, civil rights, and broader environmental policy.>> Each act
imposes on land managers the onus of considering how their actions will affect archeological, historical,
and cultural sites; the effect on water, waterways, air quality, wildlife, and other aspects of the natural
environment; the public’s opinion on the proposed undertaking; and whether access for those with
diminished mobility, vision, or hearing have been adequately provided for. One effect on the National
Park Service was the proliferation of dedicated or part-time resource specialists from the 1970s into the
1990s. Canyonlands Complex had a single resource management position prior to 1983, but Resource
Management did not develop as a separate division until it was phased in between 1985 and 1987.%
This has expanded the rosters of process managers in administrative offices, but the perennial lack of
funding for the NPS provided by Congress resulted in a diminished number of NPS personnel directly
interacting with the public as interpretive rangers, law enforcement, and guides. As described in Chapter
7, fiscal austerity in the 1990s and congressional promotion of outsourcing has reduced the number of
filled NPS positions, and now requires the use of contracted and collaborative specialists with increasing
frequency. The acts that are most significant in the story of Arches are discussed below, but by no
means exhaust the list of laws affecting the NPS.

National Historic Preservation Act (1966)

The National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (NHPA)>” was a direct response to urban renewal and the
construction of the Interstate Highway System in the 1950s and 1960s. Thousands of the oldest
buildings and structures in the United States were demolished during this period, often over the
protests of local citizens. Central or inner city areas that had been abandoned by white, affluent
residents in favor of new suburbs, and which had suffered significant economic reversals, were viewed
as convenient locations for major highway interchanges.>® The situation reached a tipping point when

|Page 231



the Massachusetts Department of Public Works demolished whole neighborhoods in Boston and
threatened Revolutionary War landmarks,>® and the Maryland State Roads Commission attempted to
construct a highway through Fort McHenry (a national park),®° the War of 1812 redoubt at which the
“Star Spangled Banner” was written.5!

In response, Congress passed the NHPA, which contains two significant provisions: it created the
National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) and defined the standards by which buildings, structures,
objects, districts, and archaeological sites could be nominated for inclusion; the act applied not only to
federal lands, but to federally funded projects on non-federal lands, including private lands. NHPA was
implemented shortly before Arches became a national park, but initially had relatively little effect on the
management of Arches. The few standing historic buildings (Wolfe Ranch, Cordova Cabin, and later the
Rock House) were known to resource managers, and were quickly evaluated for NRHP eligibility.
Although the main park infrastructure was completed prior to the passage of NHPA, the footprints of
the developed areas had been examined by park staff for obvious cultural resources during the planning
stages (not in a formal, comprehensive sense, however). The route of the Delicate Arch road and the
monument headquarters sewage disposal area were subjected to inventory in 1973 under Section 106
of the NHPA, which mandates archaeological investigation in advance of development.®?” Another
survey in 1975 inventoried a portion of the (then) northeastern portion of the park, under the direction
of archaeologist Michael S. Berry.®3 At that time, Arches contained 59 known sites, with the survey
documenting an additional 30, including 11 tool stone quarries, 5 cave/rock shelter sites, and 14 open
campsites. In reviewing the survey results, Berry made an important observation regarding artifact
collecting inside the boundaries of Arches: very few complete or even finished tools were found. Berry
initially suspected that this reflected a prehistoric preference for using the area for tool stone
procurement, with complete tools manufactured elsewhere:%

The inference was plausible but incorrect. Moab residents freely acknowledge that Arches National Park
used to be a good place to find arrowheads and pottery and the local museum boasts a collection of
several hundred projectile points recovered from within the Park boundaries (see Figure 2 [a photograph
of a replica of Delicate Arch made entirely from projectile points, attached to some hard, flat
surface]).The new, and equally plausible, inference is simply that road development in national parks
provides easy access to archaeological sites, attracting more amateur archaeologists than can
reasonably be controlled by park rangers.

It was not until 1987 that the frontcountry (the paved road rights-of-way, Windows section and Devils
Garden) was assessed with a comprehensive archaeological inventory under Section 106.%°> Under the
direction of Karen Kramer, the Midwest Archaeological Center surveyed along all park roads (24 miles of
paved roads and 3 miles of unpaved), all formal trails (14 miles), and block areas such as the interior
spaces of the Windows Section Loop (approximately 40 acres). The project documented 26
archaeological sites (20 newly identified and 6 previously recorded) and 79 isolated finds, bringing the
total known in Arches to 120 archaeological sites. As most (23) of the sites consisted of lithic artifact
scatters, identification of local and non-local rock materials was an important focus of the project.
Tidwell white chalcedony was the most common raw material, with Brushy Basin chalcedony, Dewey
Bridge chert, quartzites, and a “minerally altered volcanic ash” also frequently encountered; all are
locally available materials. Most of the lithic sites contained few cortical flakes, cores, projectile points,
or other tools, suggesting that repair of existing tools and manufacture of tools from curated bifaces
characterize the use of these locations. Additionally, the survey identified an artifact scatter with
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ceramics, a petroglyph, and a historic site. To place the project findings in context, the final report
contains a review of previous archaeological studies in Arches, a detailed description of the geological
setting with a focus on knappable raw materials, and a discussion of the in-field artifact analysis results.

Ranger Lloyd Pierson had conducted informal surveys of archaeological sites in the late 1950s and early
1960s, but there was no legal mandate to do so, and his official duties were interpretation and visitor
protection. Arches did not have a dedicated archaeologist on staff until 1991, when Nancy Coulam
became the SEUG Archeologist (replacing Charles Cartwright at Canyonlands National Park), and was
responsible for cultural resources at Canyonlands and Natural Bridges, in addition to Arches.®® Coulam
departed SEUG for the Bureau of Reclamation in Salt Lake City in 1998.5 Eric Brunnemann EOD (Entered
on Duty) to the SEUG Archaeologist position in January 1999, just in time to deal with the aftermath of
the pipeline explosion.®® In 2001, his final year at SEUG, Brunnemann oversaw the addition of
Hovenweep National Monument, before he left and Chris Goetze took a lateral transfer from Glen
Canyon National Recreation Area to fill the position.®® Goetze used Vanishing Treasures funds to help
build an integrated cultural resources program with additional staff. She retired from federal service in
2015 after overseeing the administrative history of Canyonlands National Park and starting the

administrative history of Arches.

Section 110(a)(2) of NHPA requires that land managers inventory units
for “all properties under the agency’s ownership or control by the
agency, that appear to qualify for inclusion on the National Register,” a
de facto requirement for comprehensive survey of the entire unit. This
has yet to be accomplished in most NPS units, largely due to lack of
funding. Comprehensive inventories have been made of Wupatki,
Bandelier,”* Pecos,”” and other small park units that are primarily
preserved for cultural resources; natural resources units (Natural Bridges
being an exception)’® have in some cases been sampled, but it is unlikely
that funding will become available for landscape-level park unit
inventories in the near future. Arches, like many other NPS units,
therefore remains technically out of compliance with the NHPA. Small-
scale archaeological projects are undertaken for compliance with NHPA
Section 106 on an as-needed basis.”

Long-term management of the NRHP-eligible properties in Arches has
required much more park staff input than has archaeological inventory.
This is particularly the case for the maintenance and interpretation of
Wolfe Ranch, which was listed in the National Register of Historic Places
November 20, 1975 as a Historic District. The National Register currently
lists six properties in Arches National Park: the Wolfe Ranch District and
Courthouse Wash Pictographs (a.k.a. the Moab Panel, listed April 1,
1975), and the Julien Inscription Panel, Old Spanish Trail, Ringhoffer
Inscription, and Rock House—Custodian’s Residence (all listed October 6,
1988).
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VISITOR COMMENTS ON
ENVIRONMENTALISM

“I love the park; it’s [sic] upkeep is fine,
the rangers are friendly and helpful, BUT:

While visiting the visitor center | noticed
that a sprinkler was on. Watering more
sidewalk than grass. This is rather ironic
considering it’s right across from a solar
energy exhibit. So, water the lawn, not
the sidewalk.”

Visitor from Dearborn, Michigan, August
22,1980

“All permanent facilities should be
retrofitted for energy conservation and
use of solar energy. The value of this
application, at a national park, as a public
demonstration is considerable. Thanks for
taking the time to consider this
suggestion.”

Visitor from Golden, Colorado, September
14, 1980

Ranger Comment: “The visitors [sic]
profession was working with solar energy.
He was very interested in our solar
display + the potential for solar energy at
Arches.”

233




National Environmental Policy Act (1969)

The National Environmental Policy Act of 19697° (NEPA) was the first federal law to attempt to
comprehensively address the effects of human actions on the natural, historic, and cultural environment
of the United States. The law established an interdisciplinary approach to integrating human activity and
any aspect of the environment potentially affected by those activities, through the preparation of
Environmental Impact Statements for any “legislation and other major federal actions significantly
affecting the quality of the human environment.” NEPA applies to all agencies, and requires that “the
policies, regulations, and public laws of the United States shall be interpreted and administered in
accordance with the policies set forth in this Act,” meaning that the provisions of the Organic Act and
individual park proclamations are not exempt from the need to consider the environmental effects of
NPS activities. As amended and implemented, NEPA now offers the opportunity to prepare shorter
Environmental Assessments or to waive the review with a Categorical Exemption. However, a large
component of NEPA is public involvement in the form of notifications and public scoping, which ensures
that for good or ill (or both) public opinions are interjected into management decision making. For
example, in 1992, resident of Monticello, Utah, and former Canyonlands Complex employee Owen
Severence wrote to Arches National Park, concerned about a construction project that he had observed:

A couple of weeks ago, while visiting Arches National Park, | saw a new building under construction
adjacent to the Maintenance Yard. | checked the GMP/Development Concept Plan and did not see any
mention of this building. Also, | did not receive an Environmental Assessment for this project. What is it
and why wasn’t the public allowed to comment on this project? It is being built in a visually sensitive area
and in the floodplain. Why?7®

Arches staff wrote a letter to Severence describing the project and its rationale, and they included the
Project Checklist for Resource Protection, which identified the building site as highly disturbed and on
the 500-year, not 100-year, floodplain.”” Although an involved and engaged public helps to support
environmental protection and resource conservation, it can, as in this instance, open the door to
unnecessary micromanagement and nitpicking. It is difficult to imagine Bates Wilson having to respond
enthusiastically to this sort of public input.”® In fact, the NPS initially experienced considerable
difficulties in the post-NEPA era. No one on the Canyonlands Complex staff was trained in the complex
analyses and procedures that NEPA required, and the NPS as a whole was initially reluctant to admit
that NEPA applied to virtually every project that might be undertaken in a park unit. Proposed
development of the Confluence Road in Canyonlands National Park was the wake-up call for the
Canyonlands Complex, as it required the assistance of a NEPA specialist from Region, and the
participation of environmental activists as well as local and state authorities.” The NPS was genuinely
shocked when their allies in the fight against the Confluence Road suddenly turned on them and
questioned the need for any infrastructure at Hans Flat in Canyonlands National Park, even being
accused by The Sierra Club of aiding and abetting the oil industry in accessing the tar sands deposits of
the region by proposing to upgrade and pave the road to Hans Flat.

Although NEPA imposes a significant burden on Arches and every other NPS unit to evaluate the
environmental effects resulting from management actions (or inaction), additional impact has resulted
from the ways in which NEPA involves Arches in events outside of the park boundaries. NEPA calls upon
agencies that may be affected by a development project to comment on its potential effects. Thus,
Arches management and resource specialists have been required to be involved in regional oil and gas
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development, disposition of the Atlas Mill tailings, uranium mining, and nuclear waste disposal projects
that have the potential to affect Arches through diminished air and water quality. As discussed in
Chapter 4, Arches staff have always monitored grazing and oil and gas leases for encroachment on
Arches, but as a more direct threat.

Archaeological Resource Protection Act (1979)

Because the NHPA was primarily directed towards the protection of standing buildings and structures
and did not clearly address how archeological sites lacking these features were to be protected (or even
clearly defined as an archaeological site), archeologists pushed Congress to enact additional protections
for archaeological sites and districts. In particular, predatory site looting in the Mimbres River valley of
southwestern New Mexico in the 1960s and 1970s, and the rise of relic collecting conventions,
demonstrated the vulnerability of prehistoric sites to destruction. In 1976 rangers found a screen device
for sifting artifacts from soil in the Arches backcountry.®’ Although no one was apprehended at the site,
Arches Unit Manager Larry Reed took the opportunity to publicize the finding, and remind the public
that archaeological excavations were illegal under the 1906 Antiquities Act. The Antiquities Act had
proven difficult to enforce, however, due to its vague language.

The Archaeological Resource Protection Act of 1979 (ARPA)® was written to address these issues. It
applies to federal lands (including Indian lands), but unlike NHPA, not federal funds. It legally defines an
archaeological site as being at least 100 years old and consisting of “any remains of past human life or
activities which are of archaeological interest.”®> Each land managing agency was tasked with providing
a more specific site definition at a regional or unit level. Through the position of State Historic
Preservation Offices, also created under NHPA, site definitions came to be established at a state level,
although the act specified that “pottery, basketry, bottles, weapons, weapon projectiles, tools,
structures or portions of structures, pit houses, rock paintings, rock carvings, intaglios, graves, human
skeletal materials, or any portion or piece of any of the foregoing items” would be included and afforded
protection.®® Additionally, the ARPA defined vandalism and looting as crimes, specified the severity of
the infractions, and established punishments for their violation; the law also created a permitting
system for the legal excavation of archaeological materials. One section of the law, purportedly
requested by then President Jimmy Carter, provided an exception to the removal of archaeological
materials for projectile points and arrowheads from the ground surface.®* As ARPA was implemented,
some land managers either misinterpreted this exception, or, sympathetic with relic collectors, saw it as
an opportunity to provide access to the lands that they managed. In 1981 NPS Associate Director Stanley
L. Albright issued a stern memorandum in response to this situation:

We have learned that some area managers are allowing visitors to remove arrowheads from park lands
because of their interpretation of Section 6(g) and Section 7(3) of the ARPA of 1979. It has been
suggested that these provisions supercede [sic] those of the Antiquities Act of 1906. Any interpretation
which concludes that arrowheads may be removed from a National Park Service area without an
Antiquities Permit is in error.

The 36 CFR 2.20 is still in effect, and its prohibition against the removal of any object of antiquity or
scientific interest from the public domain without an Antiquities Permit is to be enforced. Under these
regulations removal of arrowheads or other artifacts is a misdemeanor, and such objects are to be
confiscated; depending upon the circumstances misdemeanor penalties may be assessed. However, such
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collection of arrowheads from the surface of the ground, which are less than 100 years old, however,
cannot be punished as a felony nor as a civil offense under the ARPA of 1979. %

Although the ARPA requires a permit only to excavate sites or remove archaeological materials, many
federal land management agencies interpret this section as requiring an ARPA permit even to conduct
non-collecting, non-disturbing survey. Unfortunately, although the act is clear that all provisions of the
Antiquities Act remain in effect, Sec. 12(b) states that “nothing in this Act applies to, or requires a permit
for, the collection for private purposes of any rock, coin, bullet, or mineral which is not an archaeological
resource, as determined under uniform regulations promulgated under section 3(1).” Looters of historic
sites, using metal detectors, have attempted to justify (even in court) their destruction of battlefields
under the protection of the NPS using this language. Recreational metal detectoring was emerging as a
new hobby in the 1970s, but had not yet become the organized, competitive pilfering that had
developed by the 2000s.

Arches contains no known historic battlefields and few structural prehistoric sites, so enforcement of
ARPA has typically been an infrequent and usually minor component of park management, with the
exception of vandalism to rock art panels. In particular, the vandalism of the Moab Pictograph Panel in
1980 stands as the most significant damage to any park resource in Arches history.® The Moab Panel is
south of Courthouse Wash in Moab Canyon, and is visible and accessible from US 191. Although it is
known for large, colorful pictographs, the panel also contains prehistoric petroglyphs and represents
images of the Barrier Canyon (Archaic), Fremont, and Anasazi traditions. The Moab Panel was listed in
the National Register in 1975. The vandalism, law enforcement investigation, and restoration of the
panel are discussed in a later section (Figure 5-3).

Monitoring cultural sites for ARPA violations has been an on-again, off-again component of resource
management over the years. Law enforcement rangers began ARPA training in 1985, and began to
document increasing numbers of incidents of damage to archaeological sites through the 1990s.8” An
ARPA monitoring program was initiated at Arches in 1990 under the direction of Chief Ranger Jim
Webster.28 Dedicated ARPA Rangers Karyl Yeston and Judie Chrobak-Cox had received specialized ARPA
training and routinely patrolled archeological sites. Varying numbers of sites were visited each season
(March through October), but usually included the Moab Panel, Ute Panel, and Dark Angel Panel rock art
sites, Salt Valley Spring, the La Sal Mountain site, and sites in Courthouse Wash including Poison lvy
Alcove. Funds were very limited for this program, so during many years, rangers checked on sites as they
were in the area on other tasks. Due to cuts in staffing, the program went dormant in the late 1990s. In
2004, the program was again revived after Chris Goetze’s transfer to SEUG in 2001. Ten sites were
monitored in FY 2004.%

Americans with Disabilities Act (1990)

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended and codified as Title 42, chapters 5 and 126%°
has arguably had a greater effect on the NPS and its individual units than the other acts discussed
previously. Whereas NEPA, NHPA, and ARPA are primarily regulations of land management by federal
agencies, ADA is a civil rights act that applies to federal, state, and private entities, with few exceptions.
ADA is intended to define disability and eliminate barriers to the movement, employment, and life
activities of people with disabilities by requiring reasonable accommodations in construction, civil
design, and transportation. Not only must all new construction accommodate the needs of people in
wheelchairs, blind or with impaired vision, and deaf or with impaired hearing, but places of public access
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(including private commercial property) must be modified to provide access unless the modifications
significantly alter the character of historic properties or impose an undue hardship to the owner of the
property. In fact, Sec. 12204(c) provides that the guidelines for Accessible Design issued by the
Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board “shall include procedures and requirement
for alterations that will threaten or destroy the historic significance of qualified historic buildings and
facilities,” including places listed in the NRHP and designated as historic under state or local law. Earlier
federal laws (the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973)%
had already mandated some level of accommodation for the disabled, providing some access for people
of differing levels of ability at most parks. As virtually no NPS properties were ADA compliant in 1990,
and most properties managed by the NPS are historic and are to be managed for their historic and
architectural significance under the Organic Act and NHPA, the ADA presented an enormous challenge
for the NPS, further exacerbated by lack of funding from Congress.

5-3. The Moab Panel, also known as the Courthouse Wash Rock Art Panel, as it appeared in 1976. ARCH
104/000346, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Jim Capps).
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The ADA’s scope is such that the NPS is affected as both an employer and as a place of public
accommodation. In the instance of the former, NPS has worked towards compliance by constructing
new administrative facilities, often effecting a savings by combining redundant facilities (as SEUG has
done with the administration of Arches, Canyonlands, Hovenweep, and Natural Bridges) in newly
constructed buildings that are fully ADA compliant. The administrative office building that SEUG and the
U.S. Geological Survey lease in Moab was one such building, completed in 1994.% Existing non-
administrative facilities, such as visitor centers and maintenance shops, are more difficult to retrofit,
although Arches staff has managed to work ADA compliance into other construction budgets. In 1993,

for example, two handicapped parking spaces were added to the
Delicate Arch parking lot when that was reconstructed, and Residence
#5 was completely rehabilitated to ADA standards.® Some jobs, such
as ranger and law enforcement, cannot be undertaken by people with
certain disabilities as provided for in the job description; thus NPS is
relieved from having to provide for those disabilities in the workplaces
(trails and vehicles) of those employees. Director’s Order 16A (May 4,
1999) created a framework for reasonable accommodation for job
applicants and employees of the NPS with disabilities, incorporating
many sections of ADA verbatim.%

The ADA requirement for public accommodation is a more vexing
issue for NPS, which manages exceptional properties and landscapes
that impose extreme limitations on access to even able-bodied

VISITOR COMMENT ON ACCESSIBILITY
“NICE DISPLAYS!
REMOVE STONE STEPS AT WINDOWS!

| WROTE THIS BEFORE + YOU NEVER
RESPONDED [frowning face]

HANDICAPPED, GIMPY, OLD ALL NEED NO
STEPS. MOMS WITH BABY CARRIAGES +
WHEELCHAIR FOLKS ALSO NEED NO
(ROCK) STEPS!

15 MIN VIDEO IS TOO ‘SLICK’, TOO MUCH
OF AN AD AGENCY PRODUCT!

CLOSE DOWN MOAB’S CHAMBER OF

people. The 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design, §36.401(c),
does provide an exemption for structural impracticability “where an
entity can demonstrate that it is structurally impracticable to meet the

COMMERCE!”

Visitor from Winter Park, Colorado,
October 22, 2005

requirements” but “only in those rare circumstances when the unique
characteristics of terrain prevent the incorporation of accessibility features.”®> Most of the Arches
frontcountry falls within this definition. However, if the entire facility cannot be made compliant,
§36.401(c)(2) requires that “any portion of the facility that can be made accessible shall be made
accessible to the extent that it is not structurally impracticable,” and access shall be ensured to people
with other types of disabilities (limited mobility, hearing, sight or mental impairments) if full
accommodation cannot be made for people in wheelchairs (§36.401(c)(3)).

Arches National Park currently provides accessibility for those with physical/mobility disabilities,
deaf/hearing loss, or blind/low vision, and for those who require service animals.®® Arches ADA-
compliant facilities are the visitor center, restrooms throughout the park, one campsite in the Devil’s
Garden Campground (#4H), the Park Avenue, Balanced Rock, and Delicate Arch viewpoints, the Balanced
Rock Picnic Area, and the Wolfe Ranch Cabin and rock art panel. Additionally, the first 100 yards of the
Windows Trail and the Devils Garden Trail to Landscape Arch are considered “barrier free,” meaning
that they “may contain minor obstacles, steeper grades and temporary washouts.” Arches has received
complaints regarding access from visitors in wheelchairs as well as those who can walk but have limited
mobility, particularly regarding the stone steps on the Windows Trail.”” Visitors with hearing
impairments are accommodated by text and illustrations on all wayside exhibits, a variety of
publications available at the visitor center, and closed-captioning of all audio-visual programs. Vision-
impaired visitors may use the audio tour of the park scenic road (for purchase or rental) and the visitor
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center includes audio recordings and exhibits that may be touched. Service animals are permitted

VISITOR COMMENTS ON ACCESSIBILITY

“This letter is to compliment your service on
their activities to help the handicapped. My
family and I spent August in Colorado,
Arizona, Montana, Utah, Washington, Oregon
and California. We camped most nights in
your parks. The Convenience for the
handicapped is unbelievable. The people in
the parks were very helpful and the total
experience exciting.

Thank you and all the parks people for making
a new era for handicapped persons. A great
effort for the International Year of the
Disabled. | am a quadriplegic and appreciate
that these efforts are being done on a low
budget. What great results at low cost.”

Visitor from Irvine, California, October 22,
1981

“Spent 4 days in the park and enjoyed every
minute of our stay. Rangers are very
courteous. Do suggest that you give some
consideration to those with impaired hearing
when the ranger talks at the evening
meetings. A speaker would certainly be
appreciated by those who do not hear well.”

Visitor from Eugene, Oregon, May 26, 1981

everywhere in the park.

ADA does not provide an exemption for historic properties: even if
it is determined that “it is not feasible to provide physical access
to an historic property that is a place of public accommodation in
a manner that will not threaten or destroy the historic significance
of the building or facility, alternative methods of access shall be
provided” that can include using audio-visual materials to depict
areas of a facility that cannot be accessed by wheelchairs.
However, the historic properties exemption only applies to those
properties that have been reviewed by the State Historic
Preservation Officer, who must determine that the ADA
compliance would threaten or destroy the historic significance of
the building or facility.”® Unlike NPS units that are primarily
cultural places, Arches has been able to provide access to all
historic resources open to the public (Wolfe Ranch) and the
historic Mission 66 Visitor Center was modified to provide full
accommodation. The new (2005) visitor center was designed with
full accessibility from the start. Beginning in 2012, the NPS began
development of a 5-year plan to increase accessibility for the
whole park system. The plan—All In! Accessibility in the National
Park Service, 2015-2020—is designed to “create a welcoming
environment for visitors with disabilities, ensure that new facilities
and programs are accessible, and upgrade existing facilities to
improve accessibility.”%®

The ADA also addresses access to Wilderness areas, stating that wheelchairs are to be permitted in
Wilderness areas but “no agency is required to provide any form of special treatment or
accommodation, or to construct any facilities or modify any conditions of lands within a Wilderness area
in order to facilitate such use.”'® As more that 80 percent of Arches is backcountry, managed as
wilderness, this exemption removes a large part of Arches from ADA consideration, other than as noted
above. Significantly, in light of the situation described below, the ADA also defines a wheelchair as “a
device designed solely for use by a mobility-impaired person for locomotion, that is suitable for use in an
indoor pedestrian area.” Arches does permit the use of Segway devices (a motorized, upright, gyro-
scopically stabilized personal conveyance) for those with disabilities.'°! Segways can be used in any area
where wheelchairs can be used if the operator has a physical impairment and holds a valid America the
Beautiful access pass; Segways are not permitted under any circumstances on the park roads for the
safety of the user.

Mountain Bike or Wheel Chair?

Dr. Jeffrey J. Cain initiated a complex test of National Park Service regulations that pertain to both the
ADA and the Wilderness Act in 1998, when he sought permission to use a mountain bike as mobility aid
on trails in Rocky Mountain and Arches National Parks.1°? Cain had lost part of one leg and received
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severe damage to the other in an accident in 1996, which restricted his ability to walk more than a few
blocks at a time. In 1998, Cain was prohibited from riding his bicycle in Arches National Park:

One and a half years ago, while traveling to the Arches National Park, we brought my bicycle with the
anticipation of being able to use it on hiking trails and public areas. At the ranger station, we were told
that bicycles were by definition banned from trails and public roads in the national [sic] Park System.
They would make no accommodation for the bicycle as an accessibility device, and offered no
alternatives to access to trails given my inability to walk more than short distances.*®

Cain next contacted Susan Garland, the ADA Accessibility Representative for the Intermountain Region,
who helped him prepare a request to John Cook, Regional Director of the National Park Service.®* Cook
denied the request on the basis that a mountain bike is not a mobility assistance device under federal
regulations, and he provided the definitions for wheelchairs and bicycles to Dr. Cain. Cain next
approached Jack Andre at the national Equal Opportunity Office, and Dave Park in the NPS Washington
Office, but was again denied permission. Cain then contacted U.S. Representative Diane DeGette in
1999, requesting that Representative DeGette initiate an inquiry into the NPS, as no offer of
accommodation had been extended to him:

The national response has been that a bicycle is by definition not an assistive device as it is not a
wheelchair. No alternative or reasonable accommodation has been offered to accommodate my
disability. On the national, regional, and local level, all have told me that other visitors to the park would
not understand or tolerate a bicycle being used as an assistive device on a trail that is otherwise closed
for bicycles. 1%

Cain noted that he had in each instance offered to modify his bike with handicapped placards and
different tires, and to restrict his speed to walking speed, but despite this, he had not been granted
permission. He noted that service dogs are allowed on trails that are otherwise closed to dogs.
Representative DeGette contacted Maureen Finnerty, Associate Director, Park Operations and
Education in Washington, D.C. Finnerty responded in January 2000 that the issues raised by Dr. Cain
were undergoing review.' In June of that year, Finnerty sent another letter to Representative DeGette,
in which she stated that the review was completed.!”” In it, she noted that the NPS does have the
authority to ban bicycles, but at the same time, Department of the Interior regulations (43 CFR Part 17,
Enforcement of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in DOl Programs) require accommodation
when and where reasonable. She recommended that Dr. Cain directly contact the Superintendents of
Arches (Jerry Banta) and Rocky Mountain (Randy Jones). She also noted in closing that the NPS
“Accessibility for Visitors with Disabilities in National Park Service Programs, Facilities, and Services” had
recently been updated and was scheduled for release later in 2000.

SEUG staff debated the issues pertaining to Dr. Cain’s request. Phil Brueck at Canyonlands outlined
several of these in an email to other staff, including the potential for opening the park to requests “for
the dirt bike, or for the ATV or for the __ ???1”108 Additionally, he noted that few of the trails in
Arches could be negotiated on a bike due to slickrock or deep sand, unlike Canyonlands where much of
the park can actually be enjoyed from a vehicle on the existing roads. Despite his concerns about “a
precedent that allows any bicycle use on trails” the staff continued to discuss the situation with Dr. Cain,
and were preparing to offer him a special use permit by October 2000.1® During the process of
preparing the permit, Rocky Mountain decided that Dr. Cain’s request fell under the Wilderness Act,
which specifically prohibits bicycles under any circumstance, but permits wheelchairs, provided the
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agency makes no modifications for such use.!’® An intense debate ensued among Jim Reilly (Denver), Jim
Walters (SWRO-OSFT), and Randy Jones at Rocky Mountain, who concluded that the request to use the
bicycle was not a wilderness issue, in part under the belief that Dr. Cain had a “regular” bike and wanted
to access the frontcountry trails. But during a phone conversation between Chief Ranger Jim Webster
(Arches) and Chief Ranger Joe Evans (Rocky Mountain), the situation changed:

It is fundamentally important that you understand that this is, indeed, a wilderness issue. Dr. Cain DOES
have and wants to use a mountain bike to access park lands, whether they be wilderness or not. For
example, he made it very clear he would not be satisfied with the 4% of RMNP that is not proposed
wilderness.**

Using the decision tree in the Wilderness Access Decision Tool, bicycles are prohibited in Wilderness
areas without exception,*!? and Dr. Cain indicated that he was not interested in riding horses, which are
permitted in Wilderness or proposed Wilderness areas. Webster noted in early 2001 that discussion of
the issue had continued at Arches and Rocky Mountain, and that he was concerned that “ROMO and
ARCH are responding very differently to this request, for different reasons (wilderness at ROMO vs.
visitor/resource safety at ARCH).”%3

SEUG Superintendent Alford “Jerry” Banta prepared a draft memorandum for the park files in which he
stated that Dr. Cain would be accommodated through a special use permit with nine special conditions,
including a restriction of the access to the Park Avenue Trail, Balanced Rock Accessible Trail, Windows
Trail excluding the Turret Arch-Main Trail “north spur” and the Windows Primitive Trail, the Delicate
Arch Trail to Frame Arch (after which the bicycle must be walked), Delicate Arch Viewpoint Trail to the
“Lower Viewpoint,” Sand Dune Arch Trail to the entrance to the “fin,” and Devils Garden Trail to
Landscape Arch. Meanwhile, deliberations continued at Rocky Mountain National Park, with
Superintendent A. Durand Jones requesting a formal opinion from the Solicitor’s Office on Cain's
request. In it, he notes the following:

As the debate now stands, we have been encouraged by WASO staff to work with Dr. Cain by recognizing
his mountain bike as an “accessibility devise” [sic]. However, | am uncomfortable proceeding with issuing
a Special Use Permit to Dr. Cain without a formal opinion. To do as suggested would not disguise, what |
see as, an obvious conflict with current policy and law regarding wilderness and accessibility. The
recommended action could potentially have serious national ramifications for the National Park Service
as well as other agencies that manage wilderness areas.

Dr. Cain has chosen the mountain bike as his personal mode of transportation. Is the National Park
Service obligated to allow any mode of transportation a person with a disability selects to use to access
wilderness? There are other modes of transportation suitable for persons with disabilities that are
allowed in wilderness by law and policy (e.g. horseback and wheelchair). Dr. Cain has been offered those
options, however still insists on using his mountain bike to access recommended wilderness. Is the issue
one of law or policy?1**

The last entry regarding this issue in the SEUG Archives is an email from Jim Webster, noting that Arches
still intended to grant Cain a special use permit, but that Rocky Mountain had pursued direction from
the Solicitor’s Office. Webster closed by asking “Where do we go from here?” The files do not include a
completed special use permit or any further correspondence about this matter, and squad and staff
meeting minutes do not report a final resolution of the issue. The Department of the Interior Solicitor’s
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Office does not report an official opinion regarding Dr. Cain’s request.!*> The absence of subsequent
documentation suggests that Dr. Cain did not pursue the matter further, but the episode marked an
important episode in the clashing requirements of the Wilderness Act and ADA, as well as the different
perceptions on the part of individual NPS staff as to their interpretation.

Dr. Cain is also a life-long skier, a sport to which he returned within a few months of his accident (a
plane crash).!’® Although he was able to make runs standing, the pain in his damaged foot was such that
he had to take frequent breaks. In fact, he eventually had the crushed foot amputated (circa 2002), and
uses a sit-down “ski bike” to ski. He is a national advocate for their use for disabled skiers and teaches
other skiers how to use them.

Native American/American Indian Consultation

From the earliest exploration of the Arches area, it was apparent that, in comparison with Hovenweep,
Mesa Verde, or Chaco Canyon, the landscape of Arches National Monument had witnessed only modest
visitation prehistorically or in historic times. This led the Master Plan of 1940 to allocate only 10 percent
of the interpretation to ethnology, but 50 percent to geology.'’” Downplaying the significance of
archaeological and ethnographic resources in Arches has since continued over the decades. For
example, the Arches Administrative Collection documents only a single interaction with native
communities. In 1992, elders of the Ute Tribe contacted Arches National Park with concerns that the
proposed new entrance road alignment might impact a stand of purple sage (Poliomintha incana).**®
Purple sage is used in ceremonial tobacco mixtures to smooth the smoke. Most of the sage actually
grows on the sand dunes to the south of US 191, which were being affected most by OHV activity. As
this is BLM land, rather than NPS, Arches staff responded by providing the Ute elders with BLM contact
information and notifying SEUG Archaeologist Eric Brunnemann for possible further consultation with
the tribe. As plans for the realigned entrance progressed, it was discovered that a stand of purple sage
was located where the new entrance would meet US 191.1* SEUG Botanist Steve Budelier mapped the
plants, which were transplanted before construction took place. The Ute Tribe did not have any
additional concerns about the purple sage, which was important to them in part because of the
accessibility of the plants from the highway.'?® Consultations regarding the relocated entrance took
place from 1999 to 2002, but these are the only tribal consultation records in the SEUG Resource
Management Administrative Files.??! Ongoing consultations have not yet been archived.

A consortium of indigenous people founded the American Indian Movement (AIM) in 1968 to draw
attention to neglect of treaty rights, racism, poverty, and encroachment by outside interests to Native
reservations.? Since that time, AIM has pursued a 20-point agenda through direct action, lawsuits, and
development of schools and programs for American Indian people. Beginning with the American Indian
Religious Freedom Act of 1978 (AIRFA),'?3 federal agencies have been required to consider the effects of
undertakings on Native spiritual practices. Unfortunately, the courts have often failed to support the
intention of Congress in interpreting AIRFA. The 1990 Native American Graves Protection and
Repatriation Act (NAGPRA)** more explicitly requires consultation regarding ancestral human remains,
unmarked graves, associated funerary objects, and sacred or ceremonial objects. Federal agencies and
museums were required to inventory their collections for these items and document their collections.
SEUG completed a Summary of Human Remains and Funerary Objects in 1992.1% SEUG was hampered
by having inadequate curation and storage facilities, with records and artifacts stored in the Rock House
until they were moved to a climate-controlled room in the new headquarters building in 1994.12 In that
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same year, SEUG conducted a reburial of one set of human remains from Canyonlands and associated
objects. Three sets of human remains from Arches or Canyonlands had been reburied before the
implementation of NAGPRA. The status of NAGPRA consultation at all four SEUG units was reported in
2009, but no plan had been developed for dealing with inadvertent discoveries—a very likely situation at
Hovenweep, and possible at the other three units.??” This deficiency was not immediately rectified, in
part because the repatriation of thousands of remains and objects from Mesa Verde and Chaco Canyon
consumed much of the attention and energy of national and regional NAGPRA programs and staff during
the remainder of the decade.?® SEUG did begin NAGPRA consultation in 1995. The disposition of human
remains that are inadvertent discoveries at the four SEUG units became a formal initiative in 2011
through a CPCESU collaboration with the Museum of Northern Arizona. Much of the initial discussion
was focused on Hovenweep with its many large Ancestral Puebloan villages, but the final agreement will
apply to all SEUG units.'?® The Arches Administrative History will be complete and published before that
consultation is completed.

National Park Service Planning

The culmination of the period of regulation in the history of Arches was the preparation of a series of
management plans for every conceivable aspect of the operation of Arches National Park. The initial
development of Arches National Monument was guided by a series of Master Plans, finalized in 1940,
1956, and 1965. These described the purpose of the monument and assembled the design plans and
concepts of the various field trips and reconnaissance surveys to briefly describe the environment and
how visitors would be given access. The first Master Plan was completed in 1940 to guide the CCC in
developing the new park scenic drive and headquarters area. Following the withdrawal of the CCC and
World War Il, the Master Plan was not updated until 1956 as part of Mission 66 planning for the
monument.’®° Park Naturalist Stanley G. Canter prepared a new plan in 1962 under the supervision of
Superintendent Bates Wilson,*! who recommended that the plan be forwarded for approval by the
director of the National Park Service in 1963. This Master Plan was revised in 1964 and 1965, but final
approval was not obtained until 1967.132 Establishment of Arches National Park required a new Master
Plan, which was prepared in 1972 by outside contractors, who also undertook a transportation study.*?
The Arches plan was completed in 1973, but did not receive regional approval until January 18, 197413

After monument development was completed in 1965, and with the advent of the Wilderness Act,
NHPA, and NEPA, the focus shifted to developing management documents. These fall into two distinct
categories: the General Management Plan or GMP, and specific resource management plans. The
General Authorities Act of 1978 (U.S. Public Law 95-625) required that all NPS units develop a General
Management Plan.’®> The GMP expands upon the language of the Organic Act and the specific unit
enabling legislation to clearly identify the nature and character of Arches (or any other unit), the NPS
mission in general and at the unit specifically, the significant resources and values, the policies that are
to guide preservation and use, and other guidelines. The GMP provides guidance regarding the visitor
experience and how the park is organized and operated, and gives a design analysis for further
development, rehabilitation, or preservation of park facilities. Arches GMP was prepared in the late
1980s and received final approval in 1989.13¢ The GMP divided Arches into four management zones—
natural, cultural, development, and special use—as the resources, management issues, and visitor
experiences in each zone are different.
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Bridging the period and purpose of the Master Plan to the GMP is the Statement for Management
(SFM). This document presents much of the same information as the Master Plan, but is intended to
identify potential issues and management objectives to deal with those issues: “It does not involve any
prescriptive decisions on future management and use of the monument, but it provides a format for
evaluating conditions and identifying major issues and information voids.”**” The first SFM was prepared
in 1978, with subsequent SFMs in 1985, 1988, and most recently 1990.13® One of the most important
functions of the SFM is to review the status of existing plans and studies, and their adequacy. In 1990,
23 documents were reviewed, of which 10 were regarded as “current,” 6 were identified as being in the
process of being updated, 2 had not yet been prepared and were regarded as “needed,” and 5 needed
to be updated, revised, or completed, or supplementary studies needed to be completed. The
Foundation Document (2013) has since replaced the SFM, and incorporates some of the language and
purpose of the GMP as well.**

The specific resource plans fulfill several roles for park management. First, they expand upon the general
objectives and policy outlines in the Master Plan or GMP. Second, they address the specific resource
issues of federal legislation other than the Organic Act, including the Wilderness Act, NEPA, NHPA,
ARPA, OSHA, ADA, and others. While NEPA, NHPA, and ARPA directly affect the operations of the park in
terms of development, demolition, and rehabilitation of facilities, OSHA and ADA affect the relationship
between park management and park employees, and ADA affects the relationship of the park to
employees and visitors. During the 1970s to 1990s, Arches National Park personnel responded to these
directives by producing a series of management documents, mostly produced under the direction of
Superintendents Paul Guraedy and Noel Poe. The list below illustrates the range of topics encompassed
by these plans and the frequency with which they were produced, and should not be considered a
comprehensive review of all of the management plans that have been created for Arches National Park.

« Arches Backcountry Management Plan (1978)

« Emergency Medical Services Plan for the Canyonlands Complex (1985)

- Fire Management Plan Arches National Park (1987)

« Emergency Operation Plan Arches National Park (1988)

« Search and Rescue Plan: An Annex to the Arches National Park Emergency Operation Plan (1988)

« Structural Fire Plan Arches National Park (1989)

« Wildland Fire Management Plan Arches National Park (1989)

- Tamarisk Management Plan for Arches National Park (1989)

« Southeast Utah Group Geographic Information System Plan (1990)

- Integrated Solid Waste Alternative Program Southeast Utah Group (1992)

- Environmental Education Plan Arches National Park (1992)

« Arches National Park Emergency Medical Services Plan & Protocols (1993)

+ Rocky Mountain Region Housing Management Plan: Southeast Utah Group—Arches National Park
(1995)

« Resource Management Plan Arches National Park, Utah (1996)

« Housing Management Plan for Arches National Park (1997)

« Arches National Park Emergency Medical Services Needs Assessment (1997)

+ Trails Management Plan (1999)

« Water Resources Management Plan (1999)
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These plans are prepared by resource specialists at the park, group, or regional level, and are then
reviewed and approved by successive levels of NPS management. They are updated every 10 years on
average, or when significant changes occur in NPS organization (for example the replacement of the
Rocky Mountain Region with the Intermountain Region, or change from Canyonlands Complex to
Southeast Utah Group), legislation, or resource impacts (as with the Rock Climbing and Canyoneering
Management Plan, described in Chapter 6). Many of the management plans prepared after the creation
of SEUG have been group-wide plans, rather than specific to a single unit, such as the SEUG Trails Plan
(1999), Water Resources Plan (1999), and SEUG Road Maintenance Plan (2005).14°

In terms of future administration of Arches, it is likely that much of the hard work has already been
completed for resource management plans. Revisions usually incorporate the same basic needs and
purpose information, updated with new statistics on visitation, park employment, resource impacts, and
legislative changes. Given congressional inactivity during the past several decades, new proactive
legislation is unlikely to be passed, although some existing statutes may be modified or repealed. Even if
Congress does repeal significant acts, it is the management plans that guide the day-to-day operations
of the park now. Thus, in the unlikely event that OSHA were to be repealed, for example, NPS, SEUG,
and Arches policies for the maintenance of a safe and healthy workplace would not be repealed, as the
appropriate management plans establish and support the safe workplace, unless the act repealing the
existing law specifically excised supporting regulations and policies. As discussed in Chapter 6, outside
events may require that some topics be revisited with a management plan, as in the instance of rock
climbing and canyoneering and bicycles. A draft plan to manage rock climbing in Arches was completed
in 1992 but never finalized; the highly publicized climb of Delicate Arch in 2006 placed external media
and advocate pressure on Arches National Park to address this activity. At the national level, mountain
biking enthusiasts worked with the NPS to develop a plan to expand the use of bicycles in the national
park system on a park-by-park basis. The just-released (2012) bicycle plan will, undoubtedly, result in
requests for trail access in Arches, requiring a park- or group-specific bicycle management plan.

Canyonlands Complex to Southeast Utah Group: Further Reorganization

After Bates Wilson retired in 1972, new Canyonlands Superintendent Robert Kerr began the process of
developing the Needles District in Canyonlands National Park, completed by his successor Peter Parry.
Late in Kerr’s superintendency, the structure of the Canyonlands Complex was changed to a Unit
Manager/Interpretation and Resource Management format, different from “traditional” NPS structure,
and unit superintendents were redesignated as unit managers. As Canyonlands National Park had
always operated under this model, the change affected Arches to a greater degree. With the advent of
legislation such as the National Environmental Policy Act in 1969 and other environmental laws, this
structure was poorly suited to the sort of analysis and planning now required.*! Furthermore, over time
some of the districts within Canyonlands National Park had come to operate as though they were
discrete entities, and were not fully implementing park- or system-wide policies. To Regional staff,
Canyonlands had developed a reputation as being run by “ultra-green purists” who were actively
resisting NPS efforts to improve the quality of employee housing and the visitor experience.'*?

In October 1987, at the beginning of FY 1988, the Canyonlands Complex was dissolved and reconstituted
as the Southeast Utah Group under Superintendent Harvey Wickware (1932-2017).1* Within the
Canyonlands Complex, park functions across the three units had centralized. Each unit was overseen by
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(depending on the year) a unit manager or superintendent, but many specialist positions operated
within all three parks:

The overall approach for the new organization is actually very simple: We are instituting a traditional
organization that has proven successful over the course of time, in nearly all of the diverse areas the
Service administers, in lieu of a unique Complex for which the level of success is, at best, questionable.
We expect many benefits from a streamlined organization but the initial primary objectives are to install
clear lines of responsibility and to place more staff in the field.***

The new organization was to be decentralized, with each park unit resuming responsibilities for
management of just that unit, and returning Arches and Natural Bridges to “full” park status as equals,
not subordinates, to Canyonlands. The other main goals were to develop a functioning interpretive unit
at Canyonlands, return the buildings and facilities at Canyonlands to acceptable conditions, and improve
the shortage of staff housing.

In reality, this reorganization was less dramatic than described above. The Canyonlands unit manager
became the assistant SEUG superintendent, thus maintaining a Canyonlands-centric administration. The
Arches and Natural Bridges unit managers again became park superintendents. Some of the
recommended changes, such as streamlining the administrative staff, had already been effected as early
as 1986. A 1984 dispersal of the Canyonlands Complex buildings and maintenance portion of Central
Maintenance would be reversed to a more centralized condition.}* In fact, it was noted in the
prospectus that the reorganization had largely already taken place: “At present, the specialized
functions are centralized and only clerical support has been relocated to the field. It is not intended at
this point that Arches and Natural Bridges would become or even work towards administrative
independence.” One major change was a requirement that rangers live in their district or park, not in
Moab or Blanding, so that they were available to immediately deal with issues.}*® Some resource
management positions such as archeologist and biologist remained at the group level and personnel in
those positions were utilized by all of the group units.'’ This aspect of the reorganization became much
more important when Hovenweep National Monument moved from administration by Mesa Verde
National Park to being the fourth unit of SEUG in 1998. SEUG also retained a group-wide trails crew that
was finally dissolved in 2003 to make way for individual park crews.'*®

The dissolution of the Canyonlands Complex was instigated by Regional Director Lorraine Mintzmyer,
who directed Wickware to “shake up” the Canyonlands organization.'*® In addition to the structural
changes to the organization of Canyonlands, Arches, and Natural Bridges, multiple employees were
transferred out to other units of the NPS. Chief Ranger Dean Garrett exchanged positions with Tony
Schetzsle at Big Horn National Battlefield in Montana. Assistant Superintendent Nick Eason was
transferred to Dinosaur National Monument in Colorado. Gail Menard was transferred in as
administrative officer, replacing Danny R. Simms who was sent to Curecanti as acting superintendent.
Garrett and Eason were reportedly unhappy about the involuntary reassignments.>°

Understaffing was a major problem for supervisors at the time of the reorganization. As of March 1987,
Unit Manager Paul Guraedy had an administrative clerk to assist him in managing the divisions of
Interpretation, Resource Management/Visitor Protection, and Maintenance.'®! But most of the positions
within those divisions were vacant: Interpretation was staffed by a supervisory ranger and one park
ranger with five vacant ranger positions, and the supervisory ranger and six ranger positions were
vacant in Resource Management/Visitor Protection, which had only a single ranger on staff. Only
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Maintenance had more positions filled (five: carpenter, maintenance worker, painting worker and two
laborers) than vacant (four: three maintenance workers and one custodial worker). Arches had a staff of
10 people to tend to the needs of 468,916 visitors in that year. By 1988, Superintendent Guraedy still
had an administrative clerk, only two interpretive rangers, four resource/visitor protection staff, and five
maintenance workers, but had added John McLaughlin as chief ranger and Frank Darcey as the worker
foreman for Maintenance.'*?

Research and Interpretation

A Resource Management Plan was prepared for the Canyonlands Complex in 1972, but it sat dormant
during review by region until 1974, when Superintendent Robert Kerr directed his unit managers to
proceed with implementation, using available funds and personnel.’>® No active projects were described
for Arches at that time. Thirteen research projects were to be implemented in each of the Canyonlands
units: deer management; control of feral animals; livestock grazing; archaeological survey, protection
and research; maintaining ornithological check lists and establishing an observing program; research on
ichthyology, mammology, and reptiles and amphibians; investigation of mines and mineral claims;
missing or decimated species studies; non-native flora and fauna; geologic research; and studies of
parklands carrying capacity.’®*

Assessing Needs

By 1980 Canyonlands Complex Superintendent Peter L. Parry had identified six research topics for
Arches, and prioritized them for funding: (1) pictograph—air quality relationships; (2) lichen—air quality
relationships; (3) ecology and distribution of endangered, threatened, and rare or endemic plants; (4)
tamarisk control through application of herbicides; (5) ecology of tamarisk and the Canyonlands riparian
community; and, (6) tamarisk—riparian fire ecology. Essentially these were three research domains (air
quality, plant communities, and invasive tamarisk) broken into individual projects more likely to receive
funding. Air quality issues (discussed in Chapter 4) became a topic of regional and national importance
during the 1980s. Plant communities studies began with Jayne Belnap’s arrival in 1987 (see below).
Tamarisk and its effects on the native landscape also came to the forefront as a pressing resource
problem.

The War on Tamarisk

Tamarisk (Tamarix ramosissima, colloquially known in Utah as saltcedar) is a native of Eurasia, imported
to the United States in the late 1800s as an ornamental plant and sometimes used for windbreaks.®
During the early twentieth century, it escaped cultivation in the West and spread rapidly throughout
riparian areas, especially during the drought years of the Dust Bowl. Tamarisk outcompetes native
riparian tree species such as cottonwood and willow by drawing down the water table through heavy
use and by blocking sunlight. > In particular, tamarisk is a successful invader because its leaves excrete
salts onto the ground beneath the canopy, raising the local salinity to levels intolerable to native species
and often creating a mono-culture stand of trees.’®® Cattle, through erosion of streambanks, are
implicated in the spread of this weed, which also spreads by producing millions of seeds carried on the
wind and by floodwaters. Tamarisk has higher tolerances not only for saline, but also for dry, cold, and
hot conditions, and it produces its seeds over a period of months, giving it greater opportunities to take
root. Tamarisk was initially used by the Park Service for erosion control in Arches National Monument,
but following flash floods on August 17, 1965, “salt cedar transplanting was done in back of the spider
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fence in Salt Wash near the Delicate Arch Trail and the fence was rebuilt to protect the trail from
erosion.”’®® In many locations on the Colorado Plateau, tamarisk has completely displaced all native
vegetation, although it sometimes shares riparian areas with native willows and cottonwoods, and with
Russian olive, another invasive Eurasian species. The control and removal of tamarisk and Russian olive
became an important natural resource problem for all federal land management agencies on the
Colorado Plateau, but especially for the National Park Service, which tries to maintain a natural
environment within park units. Tamarisk eradication is not easy. “Deciduous tamarisk is difficult or
impossible to kill by fire, drought, freezing, hypersalinity, prolonged submersion, and repeated cutting at
ground level.”*%! Within the regional environmental movement and in the NPS, tamarisk removal took
on a greater character than just resource management, becoming something of a QUEST by the late
1980s:

As with most projects, there will be critics, both in-house and from the public. The tamarisk eradication
program in the Western U.S. is beyond this stage now, and removal methods are well proven. The need
to remove exotic tamarisk is paramount. It threatens to reduce the natural diversity of many riparian
systems throughout the watersheds of the Western States. 152

Arches’ pilot program to control tamarisk was a proposal to burn 4 acres of tamarisk around Salt Valley
Spring in 1987. It quickly became controversial, among the largest public controversies in the history of
the park. In March of 1987, former Arches ranger Jim Stiles found a cache of equipment at the spring:

The cache consisted of a chain saw, axes and shovels. They were to be used for a prescribed burn,
originally planned for March 27. This proposal is inconsistent with established policy regarding raptor
nesting areas. | observed the Coopers hawk near the nest on March 25, and | believe this is an
inappropriate time to even consider a prescribed burn. Further, | have not once seen a burn that
effectively eliminated or even retarded the growth of tamarisk. It is an exercise in futility and a waste of
money. 163

Stiles’s letter to Arches Unit Manager Paul Guraedy also noted the presence of cottonwood trees near
the spring, and the use of those trees as summer nesting for great horned owils. Stiles copied his letter
to the Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance (SUWA) and the National Parks Conservation Association
(NPCA), both organizations that act as self-appointed watchdogs to NPS practices. Guraedy replied to
Stiles, noting that the burn plan considered the potential impacts to nesting Coopers hawks and the
cottonwood trees, and mitigated them by conducting the burning before egg-laying season and by
placing fire lines and crews to protect the cottonwoods.®* Stiles replied with a three-page rebuttal in
which he questioned whether the proposed fire date would not affect the Coopers hawks and the
efficaciousness of a fire line to protect cottonwoods, and he noted the presence of prehistoric and
historic cultural resources in the area. He also brought to light the underlying reason why the project
was problematic for him.?> “In the 10 years since | found the spring, | have tried to limit myself to 2
visits a year, so that it could remain isolated and untouched.” Despite the presence of “an old cowboy
trough and tank near the spring” Stiles demanded a full Environmental Assessment under NEPA,
including a cultural resources survey, but also requested that the project be abandoned and the site left
alone:

I may not work at Arches anymore, but that doesn’t mean | have stopped loving it or caring about it;
Arches was and always will be the center of my life. To me, it is about more than a place to generate
revenue for the NPS, so that it can perpetuate these kinds of projects. | will continue to pursue whatever
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legal actions are available to stop this senseless plan, and | intend to bring public scrutiny to the park’s
contradictory application of its resource management policy whenever and wherever possible. 1%°

Stiles’s letter was copied to SUWA, and unsurprisingly, to Edward Abbey. Like Abbey, Stiles had evidently
made a very personal connection with the landscape of Arches, and had become deeply disillusioned
with the National Park Service. Abbey himself wrote a postcard to SEUG Superintendent Harvey D.
Wickware, urging him not to burn the tamarisk (Figure 5-4).%7 Unsatisfied with Guraedy’s response,
Stiles wrote to Wickware, the new superintendent at the Canyonlands Complex, with copies of the
earlier letters: “The National Park Service is supposedly dedicated to preserving and protecting these
natural areas. In the 11 years | was a seasonal ranger at Arches, | increasingly found it necessary to
protect the park from the Park Service itself.”*®® Wickware’s reply that “I have confidence that our
Resources Management staff will fully evaluate the effects of actions to remove tamarisk”'®® did not
placate Stiles.t’? “I know that you are new here, and | would like to give you the benefit of the doubt,
but many of the facts in your letter of May 27 were incorrect.” Stiles’s four-page rebuttal to Wickware’s
letter was even more emotional, personal, and angry than previous letters, with the NPS “interpreting
my concern as a somewhat selfish gesture, that | was trying merely to protect my ‘private
playground.””*’! At this point, probably alerted by Stiles, former park ranger and the chairman of the
Grand County Historic Preservation Commission Lloyd M. Pierson also wrote to express his concerns
about historic resources at the springs.?’? Reacting to the controversy, park staff decided to subject the
project to a full Environmental Assessment, as Stiles had requested.
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5-4. Postcard from Edward Abbey to Superintendent Harvey Wickware, July 1, 1987, regarding the plans to burn
invasive tamarisk at Salt Valley Spring. ARCH 101/011-001, SEUG Archives.
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At this point, the controversy became public, with Stiles writing a letter to the editor of the Moab Times-
Independent'”® and Pierson being interviewed in an article in the same newspaper.'’* The Grand
Junction Daily Sentinel wrote a review of the controversy in July of 1987, during which it was noted that
a full EA was planned for the project, even though Arches staff felt that it was “overkill” and expensive
for a project of that size.!”® Evidently it took longer to prepare the EA than anticipated, as a Times-
Independent article in January 1988 noted that the 30-day public comment period for the EA would
open soon, ending February 12, 1988.17¢ Canyonlands Complex Resource Management Specialist Kate
Kitchell reviewed the comments and prepared an analysis of the EA, finding it inadequate as it was
currently written:

Although we thought when the EA for this project was released that we had thought this proposed
action through completely, the criticism received from the public reveals otherwise. While we received
several supportive comments on the proposed action and EA, there was also some strong negative, but
very constructive criticism that has led me to conclude that the proposed action should be postponed
until we have better defined project objectives, answered several questions about possible
environmental impacts, and further evaluated associated costs and benefits. 1"’

Before the burn plan could be revised and implemented, however, the director of the National Park
Service banned the use of prescribed burns of any type.l’”® Arches staff developed a Tamarisk
Management Plan in 1989, and it was implemented that same year with a cutting and herbicide
treatment of tamarisk stands in Salt Valley. During 10 weeks in 1991, 378 person-hours were expended
in tamarisk treatment (plus 310 hours in travel, administration, etc.) that resulted in cutting 1,371
stems/trunks larger than % inch. The 1989—-1991 program was monitored, showing a 94 percent kill rate
when Garlon-4 (an herbicide brand) was applied to the stems; 450 ounces were used in Arches in 1991.
In assessing the success of this program, Ranger Gary N. Salamacha observed the following:

Substantial amounts of time and labor have been expended on this project. The success of the project is
dependent upon the funding of a conscientious follow-up program. The areas that were cut should be
monitored, cut and treated on an annual basis. The areas where eradication was completed are
controllable. There are similar areas where tamarisk can be successfully controlled in this manner.
Surveys should be done to determine and map these areas. This is expected to be accomplished during
the 1992 field season at ARCH.

Eradication of exotic species is a means of preserving the resource and restoring areas to their natural
state for future generations. ’°

The tamarisk controversy illuminates some of the difficulties encountered during the transition from
top-down decision making at the national, regional, or park level, to the modern era of management
plans, public scoping, and external oversight. Because implementation of the many environmental
regulations was still relatively new in the mid to late 1980s, park staff made some mistakes in their
selection of locations to treat, how the project was planned, and their interactions with the public; these
were acknowledged in the final analysis of the EA.1°

The project also ran afoul of a backlash against this planning process within the environmental
movement, as discussed in terms of Edward Abbey and his involvement with radical environmental
groups (Chapter 8). Despite the huge legislative victories that the mainstream environmental movement
achieved in the 1960s and 1970s, the processes of deliberation and analysis required by NEPA rarely
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stop projects completely. Many of the angrier, iconoclastic, and idiosyncratic environmentalists realized
that the limits of activism are reached when you get what you asked for, but did not consider all of the
implications, and discover that you don’t like the result.’®! The Arches staff had the misfortune that their
project ran directly into several such environmentalists whose personal sense of disappointment at the
situation overflowed into the public involvement of the project.’®? Edward Abbey died in 1989 and was
not able to comment further on the project.

Jim Stiles never abandoned his crusade; in 2004, as editor of The Canyon Country Zephyr, Stiles filed a
Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request for all materials related to eradication of Russian olive and
tamarisk at Arches National Park.'® Stiles was bitterly disappointed that the NPS had not notified him of
the Tamarisk Management Plan, or the results of its implementation. Although he had not yet received
the FOIA documents, Stiles published an overview of the controversy, beginning with his discovery of
the “Secret Spring” in 1977.®* When he returned to the location of the spring after the tamarisk
eradication, he discovered that the spring had dried up, and that its presence had likely been the result
of the tamarisk stabilizing the banks of Salt Wash, allowing the small seep to become a surface pool.
Since then, however, the tamarisk removal has encouraged the growth of native willows and
cottonwoods, and no large tamarisk have returned, although reports of the presence of surface water
are contradictory.'®

Since the pilot removal project at Salt Valley Spring, NPS and USGS scientists routinely monitor removal
sites for evidence of regrowth and to document the return of native species. Removal continues from
1991 to the present using volunteer service organizations such as the Sierra Club (see Chapter 7).

NPS, NBS, and USGS Resource Programs

Research Ecologist Jayne Belnap joined the NPS in 1987 and immediately established an ecological
studies program designed to provide hard data about resources that could better inform management
decisions.’® The program also provided her with data for her dissertation research (PhD in Botany,
Brigham Young University, 1991) which focused on the effects of pollution from coal-fired power plants
on soil crusts and rock lichens in dryland environments.*® Soil crusts, formerly known as cryptiobiotic or
cryptogamic soils and more recently as biocrusts, are a surface community of fungi, lichens, mosses, and
cyanobacteria that form a natural protective layer that keeps sediments from blowing or washing away
and add nutrients to the soil. Soil crusts are one of the first topics to emerge from this ecological
program. Grazing, off-road driving, and even walking off of established trails breaks up and can kill the
fragile crusts, exposing the sediments to erosion.

Belnap and SEUG Biologists Tim Graham and later Charlie Schelz, Arches Resource Protection Ranger
Gary Salamacha, and others were involved in establishing or maintaining monitoring programs for many
species and communities. Many of these were maintained for years or even decades and are even
ongoing today. 188

+ Devils Garden Breeding Bird Survey: Started in 1983, monitoring nesting sites in pinyon-juniper
woodland settings for abundance and territories. The program ended in the 2000s.%°

« Raptor Nest Monitoring: Nests of eight species of birds of prey were monitored for fledgling
success beginning in 1983, primarily by Arches Ranger Gary Salamacha and Student Conservation
Association interns. The program was redesigned in 2015 and is ongoing through the SEUG
Resource Division.
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« Roadside Breeding Bird Survey: Conducted along the park roads since 1989 to evaluate the
abundance of species in various park habitats. The program ended by 2001.

+ Riparian Bird Monitoring: Arches employee Damian Fagan monitored birds during nesting season,
along riparian transects in the 1980s to mid 1990s, with Sonja Daw adopting the project for the
next decade after Fagan left. NCPN contracted out the monitoring in 2007 when Daw left, with
slightly more rigorous methods but less actual monitoring.

+ Great Blue Heron Monitoring: Beginning in 1998, a great blue heron rookery along the Colorado
River was monitored for fledgling success for more than 10 years, largely by Student Conservation
Association interns supervised by park staff.

« Tamarisk Monitoring: Areas from which tamarisk had previously been removed continue to be
monitored and resprouts treated for years after removal.

« Bighorn Monitoring: Existing herds at Canyonlands and later Arches are monitored after they were
reintroduced between 1985 and 1995. Monitoring was extensive through 2011, and more
opportunistic since then.

« Small Mammal Monitoring: Originally carried out at vegetation plots and then relocated to other
sites to prevent trampling, this program was discontinued in 1991 due to potential exposure to
Hantavirus and the departure of lead investigator Tim Graham.

« Long-term Upland Vegetation Monitoring: Sixteen plots were developed and have been
monitored since 1987, including re-photography to document changes. Nine of these have been
monitored continuously since then, with four more added around 2000 in the Lost Spring Canyon
addition.

« Lost Spring Canyon: Riparian vegetation was monitored for a few years in Lost Spring Canyon after
it was added to the park in 1998. Raptor nests have been monitored at varying frequencies since
the addition, to the present time.

The research priorities outlined for 1992 illustrate how research priorities change, and in a relatively
short time. The priorities for 1992 funding were as follows:!*° (1) excavate mammoth skeleton; (2)
identify the impact of external development on the economic and aesthetic values of the park; (3)
conduct a floodplain assessment around Wolfe Ranch; (4) mitigate an archaeological site being washed
away by Courthouse Wash; (5) conduct a program of sound monitoring for baseline data; (6) conduct a
baseline survey of nightsky condition; (7) document dinosaur megatrack site; (8) evaluate the feasibility
and methodology for revegetation/rehabilitation; (9) monitor vegetation differences between portions
of the park fenced against livestock and those that are not; and (10) complete a comprehensive
archaeological inventory of the park. A comprehensive archaeological inventory has yet to be initiated,
but items 5, 6, 7, and 8 have been undertaken to varying degrees (see Chapter 7).

Belnap worked for the NPS until 1993 when the National Biological Survey (NBS) was created by Interior
Secretary Bruce Babbitt in response to major problems in Department of Interior science relating to
spotted owls.?! Scientists from the NPS, BLM, USFS, and Fish and Wildlife Service were reassigned to the
new agency. Only a year after its creation, the 104%™ Congress and the “Contract with America” targeted
the NBS for allegedly threatening private property rights, so in 1995 Secretary Babbitt changed the
agency’s name to the National Biological Service. This semantic sleight-of-hand did not placate
conservatives, so in 1996, after Congress cut the agency’s budget by 15 percent, the agency was folded
into the U.S. Geological Survey as the Biological Resources Division (BRD). Belnap was transferred to the
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NBS in 1993 and rode through the years of turmoil. The USGS-BRD office in Moab is within the same
building as SEUG Headquarters, and Belnap and other BRD scientists have continued to provide
ecological expertise to the SEUG units to the present. The relationship between SEUG and the USGS-BRD
somewhat blurs the distinction between Park Service and outside science.

Outside Science

Scientists not affiliated with the NPS initiate many projects in NPS units, including Arches. As
exceptional, even unique, protected landscapes, NPS units often provide the only laboratory in which to
research certain topics. Arches’ change in status to a national park in 1971 revived interest in the
scientific potential of this landscape, perhaps in response to concerns expressed within Utah about the
potential mineral wealth within the expanded park boundaries. Records on research and collecting
projects archived at SEUG begin with this transition. Scientific or educational collections requests in the
Arches administrative collection span from 1971 to 1984, and include 20 permit applications from 10
colleges or universities: Eastern Kentucky University (1971), University of Oklahoma (1974), Mercer
County (New Jersey) Community College (1976), Oakland Community College (1978), University of
Wisconsin (Oshkosh Campus 1978, Eau Clair Campus 1982, and not specified 1984), Bowling Green
University (1982), Texas Tech University (1980), University of Texas at Austin (1981), Utah State
University (1982), and Brigham Young University (1983 and 1984).1% Independent researchers, the
USGS, and the Department of Energy also made collections requests. Botanical or floral collections were
the most common collections requests (7), followed by geological studies (6), and soil or stream studies
(3). Two requests were specifically for insects or arachnids (two other permit applications were not for
scientific projects and may have been misfiled). More recent research, science, and resource projects
are catalogued within the SEUG Archives with the SEUG Resource and Science Stewardship records, as
discussed in Chapter 7.1%3

Three collections requests from the 1980s demonstrate the wide-ranging topics covered by these
projects, as well as the intrinsic difficulties for park management presented by some of the requests. In
1981, a group of botanists visiting from the Soviet Union were granted permission to make limited
collections of plant specimens from Arches, Canyonlands, Capitol Reef, Colorado National Monument,
Cedar Breaks, and Zion.' The expedition was sponsored by the Cary Arboretum of the New York
Botanical Garden. The Soviet botanists were limited to no more than 10 specimens of any given species,
prohibited from collecting rare, threatened, or endangered plants, and advised not to grow the seeds of
collected plants out-of-doors to prevent introducing non-native plants to their local environment.
Biologists from the University of Wisconsin, Eau Claire requested permission to collect soil and water
specimens and leaves of typical plants (2—3 of each) as part of an ecology field trip in 1982; permission
was granted to do s0.1 Also in 1982, Arches received a request from the Department of Geology at
Bowling Green State University to collect small samples of faults or deformation bands in the Entrada
and Navajo rock formations from Arches National Park.'®® This request was denied, and Acting
Superintendent James E. Jones suggested that researcher William C. Haneberg use photographs and
measurements to collect his data, or secure his samples from outside of the park boundaries.

Unquestionably, the most important outside research conducted during this period was the survey for
and documentation of arches.
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Arch Hunting

It seems odd, but Arches National Monument was created without any real idea of how many arches
(and other unusual formations) the park contained. Early discoveries were made by local residents, park
employees, and visitors. Subsequently, “arch hunting” became an informal competition among a group
of dedicated explorers. Arch hunting was pursued by both park staff and outside researchers, and thus
mixes NPS and outside science; furthermore, much of the “hunting” was about recreation as much as
scientific discovery and documentation.

Early Discoveries. As described in Chapter 2, Ringhoffer, Bell, and Beckwith named some of the most
visible and accessible arches, including Delicate Arch and Landscape Arch, although early names often
changed. Bell was the first to permanently identify individual arches, by carving the name he gave, along
with his name and the date at the base of the span. His inscription of “Minaret Bridge” remains visible at
Tower Arch, and his “Double-O Arch” inscription is also extant at Double O Arch, but the name
“Twinbow Bridge” for Double Arch was inscribed on a loose rock and has since disappeared.’®” Harry
Reed began the first list of known arches with measured or estimated dimensions in 1938 when 48 large
arches (35 feet or greater) and 21 small arches were known.*® Ribbon Arch was reported in 1939, and in
April 1940, Custodian Harry Reed identified Arch No. 81 (not named) in the Courthouse Towers area.®®
Later that same year, the new Custodian Hugh G. Schmidt initiated a program to place numbered bronze
benchmarks at each arch, tied to a map and table of measurements and descriptive information about
each. During the next 2 years, 11 of the 81 arches then known were so recorded before Schmidt was
transferred and the project ended.?® The monthly reports of the custodians to the Southwestern
Monuments Superintendent in Arizona often documented new arch discoveries, such as the November
1940 finding of Arch #82 in the Great Wall, and April 1941 discovery of Arch #83 in The Windows, half a
mile from Balanced Rock.?%! Perhaps the most interesting finding of this period was the discovery of two
small “window” arches north of Devils Garden, one of which had “R.C.” and “1876” carved in its
buttress. Superintendent Bates Wilson discovered Surprise Arch on Friday, December 13, 1963, while
exploring the Fiery Furnace for the route of a loop trail. “It was named Surprize [sic] Arch because one
comes upon it suddenly in a very narrow canyon.”?®? In 1967 Arches staff began to gather information to
create a base map of the then-known 89 arches within the monument as “the location of many of them
is unknown to the present staff.”2%

The Arch Hunters. During the 1970s, researchers Dale Stevens and Robert Vreeland began to develop
standardized nomenclature and measurement methods for the arches.??* To be classified as an arch, an
opening must measure at least 3 feet in any direction and allow light to pass through. The types of
arches defined by Stevens (Free Standing, Cliff Wall, Pot Hole, Bridging, Perforated Alcove, Jug Handle,
Alcove Pillar, Alcove Beam, and Natural Tunnel) and other rock openings that are not arches (Joint,
Bedding Plane, Rock Fall, and Tunnel Openings) were classified according to how the opening formed
and in what type of formation.?% Illustrations and examples of named arches of the types described
were also developed. Arches Ranger Ed McCarrick located many arches and co-authored several books
with Stevens and Chris Moore. McCarrick’s discovery of the 200*" arch, known as Highway View Arch, in
1982, was news enough for the park to release a statement to the press.2%® Reuben Scolnik and Doug
Travers often joined with McCarrick and Stevens on summer vacation arch hunts.?%” Travers’ sons often
accompanied his visits to Arches, and attempted to pass a football through each opening they
discovered. Other early “arch hunters,” as they came to be known, included Jay Wilbur and Steven
Frederick.
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During the early days of arch hunting, finding arches was not the problem, but keeping them all straight
was, with separate lists maintained by Stevens, Travers, and the NPS. Some arches appeared more than
once on some lists, and there was confusion over names and locations, and how to count formations
with multiple openings, such as Double Arch, which actually has three openings. To avoid duplication in
the pre-GPS era, each arch was photographed, building on Travers’ collection, which dated to his first
visits in 1964. In 1978, Scolnik donated his collection of color photographs of the 125 then-known arches
to Arches National Park, allowing the Park Service to expend the funds for a photographic survey
elsewhere.?®® Travers also donated his collection to Arches, where it is now part of the visitor center
exhibits.?®

In 1988, Wilbur and Danny Horowitz helped found the Natural Arch and Bridge Society (NABS), which
included Vreeland, Stevens, and McCarrick.?!® The group began to publish a newsletter (SPAN) beginning
in August of 1988. Early issues were concerned with organizational development, including
incorporation as a non-profit organization, election of officers, establishment of dues, and information
on natural arches. NABS began holding conventions in 1990 (the first in Grand Junction, Colorado) and
has since promoted from one to three events (including field trips) each year in different venues. The
organization has also supported members who have self-published books on arches, including Robert
Vreeland’s guide books, Dale Stevens’s “The Arches of Arches National Park,” and F. A. Barnes’s “Canyon
Country Arches & Bridges.”?!* NABS member Tom Van Bebber has recently compiled information on
more than 3,560 arches worldwide; this work is available for purchase as a subscription, or as COROMs
of the entire database or just the 2,000+ arches in Arches National Park.?!?

2,000 and Counting. Systematic census of the arches of Arches National Park took place in the late 1980s
and early 1990s, with the 1,000™ arch reported in 1989, the 1,500™ in 1990, and the 2,000™" (named
“2000" Arch”) in 1995.2** The project was a collaboration between Resource Management and
Interpretation and the NABS arch hunters.?* With the expansion of NABS research worldwide, the
taxonomy of arches has been revised to include arches in caves, arches formed by lava, and arches in
marine environments.?’> Arches National Park has simplified their definitions accordingly, to just the
four types found in the park: Cliff Wall Arch, Free-standing Arch, Pothole Arch, and Natural Bridge.

As Hoffman describes in detail, Arches has witnessed many changes to named places, resulting in
confusion over the locations of some of the arches, many of which also do not have descriptive names,
or have more than one.?’® Interest in tracking the growing number of arches was enhanced in 1975
when CANY Complex Interpretive Specialist David D. May proposed assigning numbers to all of the
arches.?’” The current system advocated by NABS identifies each arch using its Universal Transverse
Mercator (UTM) zone and coordinates.?’® Using the meter (one millionth the earth’s measured
circumference at the equator) as the basis for a grid projected over the surface of the globe, the UTM
system provides a unique two-dimensional location for any point on the surface.?!® This system is
recommended for all new arch discoveries; the three primary references for arches in Arches National
Park each use a different cataloging system. UTM coordinates are easily and accurately determined with
virtually any hand-held Global Positioning System (GPS) receiver, and many current smartphones and
tablets also contain GPS capability that is accurate enough to relocate a landscape feature as large as an
arch (<10 m accuracy). Significant arches do have names in addition to locational coordinates, however.
The 1,000 arch discovered was appropriately dubbed “One Thousand Arch.”??°
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One other aspect of outside research on arches also deserves mention. For many years, Arches National
Park had described Landscape Arch as being 291 feet in length in park brochures.??! In 1983, Reed Blake
measured Kolob Arch in Zion National Park as being 310 feet long using a triangulation method, which
appeared to make Kolob the longest arch in the world.??2 During the 1980s, several expeditions were
undertaken to accurately measure the spans of Landscape and Kolob arches. Dale Stevens used
photographic analysis of Kolob Arch in 1984 to obtain a measurement of 292 feet for the “widest light
opening.” Stevens also measured Landscape Arch in 1984 using a complicated system of levels, tapes,
plumb-bobs, and other traditional surveying tools, to document a maximum opening of 306 feet,
seemingly returning the title of longest arch crown to Landscape.??® Robert Vreeland measured
Landscape Arch in 1986 and reported a span of 290.4 + 0.15 feet, also using hand surveying tools.?** The
discrepancies in the measurements, which resulted from different definitions of widest opening and in
the measuring methodology, and the issue of which arch has a larger opening, were finally resolved by
Jay Wilbur, who used a laser range finder to measure the arches with great precision. In 2004, Wilbur
reported that Landscape Arch has a span of 290.1 + 0.8 feet,?* and in 2006 he reported Kolob Arch as
being 287.4 + 2 .0 feet.??® Landscape Arch again, and finally, rules supreme as the longest known natural
arch span in the world.??’ Until it collapses (see Chapter 7).

Interpretive Programs

New wayside exhibits were installed in 1974,2%2 although the first interpretive prospectus for Arches
National Park was not created until 1975,%?° following a museum prospectus for the new visitor center in
1956. This document notes that the one-way, linear arrangement of the park tended to divide the visitor
use into three areas: most visitors experienced the visitor center to the Windows section; a more
adventurous group continued on to Devils Garden; and the most involved used four-wheel-drive
vehicles to access Klondike Bluffs and Herdina Park at the northwestern end of the park. The future
need for a mass-transit system was identified but not seriously considered in 1975: “At the present time,
the park staff recognizes that there are only a few days of the year when the park nears its visitor
capacity. The long-range trend in increased park visitation, however,

POSITIVE VISITOR COMMENTS ON

anticipates the need to study the feasibility of alternate
transportation systems.” The prospectus described in detail the

INTERPRETATION

“Here we saw the best slides we’ve ever
seen in the visitor’s centers. Also the
comments [sic] was very inspirational and
clear. It was unique. Geoffrey Poister and
Eleanore Inskip-Spinkerman were very
nice people and helpful!”

Visitor from Hilversum, The Netherlands,
August 28, 1978

“Four adults ages 76-52 enjoyed your
slide show and felt it was extremely well
presented and most enjoyable. Without a
doubt it was the best | have ever viewed —
and | have seen many. | was more than
happy to give these remarks!”

Visitor from San Bernardino, California,
May 29, 1981

|Page

layout and exhibits in the visitor center and wayside exhibits, as well
as identifying research needs. The latter included further
investigation of geologic formation processes other than erosion,
comprehensive survey of the park for cultural resources, an
inventory and classification of the park’s arches, and a study of
vehicular flow patterns in the park, in support of some of the
observations presented regarding visitation.

An important change to interpretation came in 1976, when the
General Authorities Act was amended to provide the NPS with a
clear mandate to authorize law enforcement personnel within units
of the national park system.?° The creation of protection rangers
did not immediately apply to all park units, as some states, including
Utah, had right of jurisdiction for certain criminal offenses (those
against people) even on federal lands, where rangers had
jurisdiction only for resource crimes.?®! Prior to 1976 the Grand
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County Sherriff answered all criminal complaints in Arches. In 1997, the SEUG and Grand County Sherriff
signed an agreement giving Utah misdemeanor authority to NPS level 1 rangers to complete their

existing felony authority.?*?

During 1986 park interpretive staff conducted a detailed survey of the visitor use and impacts along the
Landscape Arch Loop Trail to measure the effects of visitors leaving the trail.®3 The pilot study divided

the location into seven sections (A—H). During the period from
March 29 to September 3, 1986, rangers and volunteers counted
the number of visitors who left the trail and collected information
on their age, distance traveled from the trail, and reason for doing
so. Thirteen percent of hikers left the trail, with the largest number
aged 15-30 (43%) who traveled 5-20 feet from the trail (52%)
either for unknown reasons (48%) or to take photographs (36%).
Ironically, five of the impact zones were in proximity to Landscape
Arch; three of the zones (beneath, above, and behind the arch)
were closed in 1991 following rock falls from the arch, thus
eliminating the impacts of visitation.

The Arches interpretive program has included many different
activities over the years. For example in 1989, 11 different hikes
and walks and 18 evening programs were undertaken, with a total
of 231,870 visitors contacted by interpreters.?** Environmental
education was also part of the program, both on-site and off-site
at local schools. Guided walks, including Fiery Furnace, were the
most popular, growing from 10,444 visitor activity hours in 1988 to
16,744 in 1989; campfire programs were also popular. Former
Chief of Interpretation Diane Allen noted that the interpretive
themes at Arches have changed relatively little over the years,
primarily with the addition of history to the main geological
story.?®®

Arches finally received funding to update the interpretive wayside
exhibits for FY 1993, with the design work done at the Harpers
Ferry Center in West Virginia. However, during this period the NPS
was in the process of adopting a uniform design language across
the service. Upon reviewing the draft layouts of the new
“UniGuide Format” waysides, Chief of Interpretation Diane Allen,
Rocky Mountain Region Interpretive Planner Marie Marek, and
Arches Superintendent Noel Poe were in agreement that the
format was too stark and regimented for Arches wayside exhibits.

NEGATIVE VISITOR COMMENTS ON
INTERPRETATION

“’Hey you guys”!

Quiality of your 11 min film. The film attempts
to entertain at the 2" grade level. (It should be
more informative — what types of rock — Re-
inforce, visually in color, the aspects illustrated
in your photographic exhibits (which are
excellent for we laymen!). Provide more
definite information regarding this area;
perhaps present the film via a combined driving
and walking tour of the area — Perhaps this will
encourage more people to stay longer and walk
and learn!! Forget the artistic angle; it is trite +
he was not a very good artist anyway! Thank
you —”

Visitor from Logan, Utah, July 17, 1971

“Slide show disappointing from standpoint of
information. Arches, etc. should be mentioned
by name and area. | feel it is what you would
hear in a home sound-slide showing. Beautiful,
but not universal.”

Visitor from Glendale, California, September
11, 1971

“I think your slide show is terrible. For such a
beautiful park — all slides

- taken w/same lens
- coloring does not reflect real colors or at
different times of day
- no comments on birds, flowers, wildlife
It really ought to be redone — this place is too
beautiful for such a mediocre show.”

Visitor from Ketchikan, Alaska, May 29, 1985

Poe wrote to the chief of the Division of Wayside Exhibits at Harpers Ferry to express their concerns and
to request a “softer” approach to the design.2® When finally completed, 16 locations in the park
received new porcelain-enamel wayside panels, in 1994, installed with the assistance of Sierra Club

volunteers.?%’
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Another important interpretive program is called SEUG Canyon Country Outdoor Education (formerly
Moab Outdoor Education). The Southeastern Utah non-profit Canyonlands Field Institute led a program
in the 1980s and 1990s to take local elementary school kids on science field trips, and in the late 1990s,
Arches Interpretation Chief Diane Allen found funding to expand the program to all elementary grades,
led by the NPS with assistance from other organizations. The program offices are in the Arches entrance
area. The first NPS CCOE program director, Christine Beekman, expanded the program to San Juan
County in 1997, adding a secondary base in Monticello, Utah. Heidi Wainer has been program director
since 2002.

Canyonlands Natural History Association

The Canyonlands Natural History Association (CNHA) was founded in 1967 to assist the BLM, Forest
Service, and NPS in their educational and scientific efforts.?® CNHA replaced the Southwestern
Monuments Association, providing a local rather than regional focus for education and outreach.?° Like
similar cooperating associations throughout the United States, CNHA was founded to address the
perennial lack of funding for interpretation and education by federal agencies. CNHA operates 15 retail
outlets on the Colorado Plateau, including the multi-agency Moab Information Center in Moab, and the
Arches and Canyonlands visitor center gift shops. Twenty percent of CNHA’s sales are donated to fund
the agencies’ educational programs; as of 2014, $11.38 million had been donated by CNHA.2** CNHA has
regularly funded Student Conservation Association internships and their park housing. The interns assist
Arches Interpretive staff, the SEUG CCOE program, and the SEUG Resource staff.?*! Visitors are able to
purchase books, maps, observational tools (such as binoculars), and educational souvenirs. For many
years, CNHA operated from the Rock House, the old superintendent’s house in Arches. In 1990, Arches
and CNHA began discussions about expanding the sales area, due to the increasing visitation to the park.
In 1991, the CNHA board voted to donate $30,000 to Arches National Park to assist the park in
expanding the visitor center. Although the project experienced some delays due to funding and
bureaucratic problems, the expanded visitor center was completed in 1993.24

CNHA also initiated programs on their own, or at the request of NPS personnel. Frustrated at the lack of
a good guide book to Arches, Canyonlands Complex Superintendent Peter Parry instigated the creation
of a comprehensive guide to Arches, and CNHA contracted with historian John Hoffman in 1978 to write
it in preparation for the Golden Jubilee in 1979.%* The book Arches National Park: An Illustrated Guide
took longer to research and write than anticipated (as has this administrative history), but was finally
completed in 1981, and first published by CNHA (it was reissued in 1985 by Western Recreational
Publications). To celebrate this milestone, an author’s party was held at the Arches Visitor Center in
October 1981, attended by 250 people.?** Hoffman signed copies of the book, which were available for
sale in the gift shop (Figure 5-5). Although it is long out of print, Hoffman’s book remains the most
definitive single reference for the history, archeology, ecology, geology, and interpretation of Arches
National Park.
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5-5. Historian John F. Hoffman signs copies of his Arches National Park: An Illustrated Guide in the visitor center,
October 25, 1981. ARCH 104/.001092, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: M. L. Friley).
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The relationship of CNHA with the NPS was not always a smooth, amicable affair, due in part to the
personalities involved. SEUG Superintendent Walt Dabney characterized the situation in 1991:

When | first got there CNHA was limping along with a couple of hundred thousand dollars a year in sales,
maybe it’s a little more. It was a very adversarial relationship and [the] CNHA executive director spent a
lot of time just causing problems, very tough to deal with and there were constant problems, especially
at Arches, but at Canyonlands as well with just unreasonable day to day exchanges and bad relationships
with CNHA, specifically, Eleanor Inskip [spelled phonetically] who was the executive director.’*

Dabney attempted to resolve the issues diplomatically with Inskip, and working with CNHA board
members, including former Canyonlands Complex Superintendent Pete Parry, but “it got to the point
that part of every one of my days was sorting out issues with them and talking to Pete Perry or others
about the issue.”?*® Dabney finally threatened to dissolve the relationship with CNHA unless the board
conducted an investigation. As a result, Inskip was replaced by Brad Wallace, the relationship between
NPS and CNHA improved dramatically, and “the whole tenor of everything turned around, sales went
through out the roof ... well over a million dollars.”?*’ Greatly increasing visitation at this time undoubt-
edly accentuated the positive resolution of the personnel problems.

CNHA'’s improved financial situation was not universally beloved. In 1998, SEUG formed a committee to
review the items for sale at the Moab Information Center after complaints from local merchants, who
felt that items that were not of a strictly interpretive nature were being offered for sale.?*® Although
SEUG Chief Interpreter Paul Henderson expressed some skepticism about the validity of the complaints,
puzzles and magnets were removed shortly after the first committee meeting, but they remained
available for sale at the CNHA warehouse. Yet, former chief of interpretation Diane Allen noted that
things like hand puppets of animals were a good way to reach and educate children who might not be
interested in reading a book on the topic, and that in this capacity, CNHA and other cooperating
associations work as “sort of an extension of the interpretive program in the park.”?* Additional
changes in the operation of the Moab Information Center followed in 1999. During the first 5 years of its
operation, each of its federal partners (NPS, BLM, and USFS) provided uniformed personnel to help man
the center, and were assisted by staff from Grand County and CNHA.?° The CNHA Board of Directors
decided to waive federal assistance, hiring dedicated employees who were provided with a generic
uniform and rigorous training on federal lands and policies.

Dark Skies and Astronomy in the Parks

The advent of electric lighting and the expansion of urban areas in the twentieth century have
significantly reduced views of the night skies, not only as viewed from urban and suburban areas, but
often at great distance due to light pollution emanating from the domes of bright light over urban
areas.””! Worse, fear of the dark and paranoia have driven many rural residents to install “security”
lights that are visible for miles.?>?

Light pollution and its effects on national park qualities first became an issue of resource management
during the period of DOE test drilling for potential nuclear waste dumps in southeastern Utah. Although
the potential dump site adjacent to Arches failed to advance to final consideration, the threat to
Canyonlands National Park was profound. As described in detail by Schmieding,?? the DOE refused to
communicate with or involve the NPS in the planning process, placing the NPS in a defensive position.
The early decades of management at Canyonlands had, by necessity, focused all of the park resources
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on developing basic infrastructure, with almost no research on the resources contained within the park.
During the fights over the waste dump and oil tar sands development in the region, park staff realized
that much basic research was needed into all of the resources of Canyonlands Complex units, including
air quality, dark skies, quiet, and water quality.

In 1992, an Inventory and Monitoring program was proposed for SEUG; it was eventually implemented
in a somewhat different form in 1999 as the Northern Colorado Plateau Inventory and Monitoring
Network (NCPN). Independent of the impending national research program, water quality monitoring
began right away at SEUG, in 1983, and continues to this day, and other monitoring programs were
begun in the ensuing years, addressed elsewhere in this document.

In 2001, one of the first research programs of the NCPN was the Night Sky Monitoring Program, which
used high-resolution cameras to document the natural night sky conditions above SEUG units and the
source and intensity of light pollution.?>* Six datasets were collected at Arches before the program was
defunded and suspended after 2003.2°> A formal Night Sky Preservation Program was initiated at SEUG
in 2000 when the International Dark Sky Association and local dark sky advocates met with SEUG staff
during a squad meeting, seeking support for a county-wide night sky preservation effort.?>® They
requested support from the NPS, and Superintendent Jerry Banta promised to send a letter to the City
of Moab and Grand County describing how dark skies are important to the NPS. As part of the
discussion, SEUG staff evaluated the installation of shields on the visitor center exterior lights and the
flashing yellow warning lights on the entrance station. Light shielding was installed throughout the SEUG
park units in the following years, encouraged by the direction of SEUG Superintendent Kate Cannon. In
2002 CNHA donated $8,000 to Arches to obtain technical equipment to conduct night sky monitoring,
which continued to 2004,%7 after Region had pulled the funding for this program in 2002.2*® The 2000
lighting ordinance did not pass, but renewed efforts in 2018 look more promising.?°

National parks, many of which contain significant wilderness or potential Wilderness areas, and are
often in the more remote regions of North America, have become important locations at which amateur
astronomers can view the sky unimpeded, as well as locations for professional and amateur
astronomers to practice public outreach through star parties. Arches has been involved in astronomy
outreach since August 1979, when approximately 100 people visited Panorama Point to view the Perseid
meteor shower.?®® Five weekend nights in the summer of 1980 were devoted to special sky-watching
events to view the rare conjunction of five planets (Saturn, Jupiter, Mars, Venus, and Mercury)
appearing together in the sky.?®! For the return of Halley’s Comet on March 22, 1986, Arches hosted a 3-
hour observation program with the assistance of the University of Utah, attended by 632 people.26?
During the late 1980s and early 1990s Arches hosted star parties by the Salt Lake Astronomical Society
(SLAS); the 1992 event required a special use permit, as discussed below. SLAS has since relocated their
outreach events to Bryce Canyon National Park, where they participate in weekly events that are part of
the park’s interpretive program, as well as the annual Astronomy Festival.?®®> Arches still hosts
astronomy events, including a viewing of a partial annular solar eclipse May 20, 2012, at the Devils
Garden Amphitheater, and the Transit of Venus on June 5, 2012, at the Panorama Point and Sand Dune
Arch parking lots.?®* The significance of Arches and other National Park units in conserving natural dark
is emphasized by the International Dark-Sky Association, which prominently features a nighttime image
of Delicate Arch silhouetted against the Milky Way to headline “5 Things You Can Do to Protect the
Night Sky.”?%> Currently, 13 parks host dedicated weekly solar and/or nighttime observing programs, and
nine parks host full moon hikes, led by rangers or other guides.?®® Fourteen parks host astronomy
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festivals or special events, including SEUG member Hovenweep National Monument. Fifty-nine NPS
units are identified as having night sky resources, including Arches.

Historic Preservation

The NHPA required immediate action on the part of park management, but came with little guidance as
to how that was to be accomplished. New Arches Superintendent Robert |. Kerr first requested the
identification of all National Register of Historic Places—eligible properties in the Administrative
Complex, then requested of interpretive staff (no cultural resources specialists were then assigned to
Arches) a list of “all structures (excluding archaeological sites) which might be classed as “historic”” by
September 15, 1974.%%7 Interpretive Specialist Larry D. Reed identified just two: Wolfe Cabin and
Cordova’s Cabin (which was brought within Arches National Park by the 1971 expansion).®

The lack of any dedicated cultural resources or historic preservation staff for Natural Bridges, Arches,
and Canyonlands provided a logistical problem for all subsequent development or repair projects. While
the Midwest Archaeological Center provided support for the bigger Section 106 compliance projects,?®
the units of the Canyonlands Complex did not have any means to properly document archaeological
sites reported by visitors or discovered by interpretive staff during the course of other activities. In 1983,
F. A. Calabrese, Chief of the Midwest Archaeological Center, requested that park personnel in the
Canyonlands Complex complete Intermountain Antiquities Computer System (IMACS) site forms for
known but undocumented sites already identified, and as they were discovered.?”® The forms would be
forwarded to MWAC for completion by archaeological technicians, and then copies returned to the
appropriate park for curation. In 1986, Arches Seasonal Park Ranger Jim Stiles and VIP Reuben Scolnik
recorded 35 rock art sites, consisting of 57 individual petroglyph and/or pictograph panels; five known
panels remained undocumented at the end of the season.?”*

An ARPA monitoring program was finally established at Arches in 1990 at the request of Chief Ranger
Jim Webster.?”2 Monitoring was undertaken as schedules permitted by interpretive staff and
preservation specialists, as no money was allocated for the program in 1992 or 1993. At that time, the
park had only two Level | sites (open to the public), both rock art sites: the Moab Panel (42Gr605, also
known as the Courthouse Wash Panel) and the Ute Panel (42Gr297), which is near Wolfe Ranch. All
other sites were classified as Level lll (closed to the public with no information released), and it was
recommended that this classification remain unchanged. Archaeological site designations have since
changed to Class | (open to the public and interpreted), Class Il (not signed or on maps but information
regarding the site can be released if visitors ask about the site), and Class Ill (no information about the
site is to be released and the site is closed to all visitation). Thirteen sites were monitored in 1993; some
were visited at regular intervals and more remote sites were monitored just once.

Concern about visitation to archaeological sites was also an issue in dealing with the increasing
commercial use of Arches National Park. In 1991, First Light Adventure Photography proposed a
photographic workshop at Arches, including a night shoot, in conjunction with REI, Inc. and the
Canyonlands Field Institute. In response to the comprehensive and informative prospectus for the
workshop, Acting Superintendent Gail Menard appreciated the guidance offered to participants about
the etiquette of visiting archaeological sites, especially prehistoric ruins, but expressed additional
concern about photographing ruins:
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We appreciated receiving a copy of the material that you provide to your clients and are especially
interested in the information you provide on visiting archaeological sites. Enclosed is additional
information on cultural site etiquette to aid your very worthwhile effort to minimize impact on these
sensitive areas. In the past year the parks have documented markedly increased detrimental impacts to
cultural sites directly attributable to published photographs of certain sites causing significant increases
in visitation.

We believe a discussion with your students, concerning publishing or displaying of photographs
regarding sensitive and fragile archaeological resources, would be important.

This is becoming a growing “photo-ethical” concern. How do you photograph these sites in such a way so
as to not give away their location? How do you prepare captions for such photographs to protect their
location? Park staff could be available to participate in such a discussion. *’

Archaeological site locations are protected information under NHPA and ARPA, and are exempt from
Freedom of Information Act requests for disclosure. With the advent of hand-held GPS receivers, smart
phones, and social media sites and apps that allow users to “geo tag” digital photographic images, the
responsibility of photographers to protect irreplaceable archaeological resources is all the more
important today.

As the CCC-built buildings aged, historic preservation and the need to maintain the historic fabric of
historic structures and buildings became an issue for maintenance personnel at Arches. Frank Darcey’s
first task as Chief of Maintenance in 1988 was to repair the entrance road culvert following the flash
flood in Bloody Mary Wash. Darcey had been exposed to historic preservation issues while working at
Gettysburg National Battlefield, and brought this experience to Arches; repairs to the culvert were
achieved without compromising the historic integrity or appearance of the culvert, yet improved the
structural integrity of the culvert and undertook some necessary repointing of the more than 40-year-
old masonry.?’* The historic nature of this culvert had apparently been forgotten by 1999, when it was
recorded as an historic site during a survey for the new alignment of US 191; SEUG Archaeologist Eric
Brunnemann researched the culvert and demonstrated that despite earlier alterations and repairs, it
was eligible for the National Register of Historic Places and that this would have to be evaluated in plans
to move the Arches entrance road.?”®

Rock House Restoration

The Rock House proved to be more difficult to rehabilitate in 1991 when CNHA vacated it and various
Arches personnel offices (including the superintendent’s office and chief of Maintenance) were
relocated there.?’® The historic hardwood floors were preserved and protected beneath carpet that was
placed with “tackless” installation to deaden sound for a better office environment, but Darcey
discovered that the exterior walls had been built with Portland cement rather than mortar cement:

However, there’s a big difference between like Portland cement, which is very very hard, and mortar,
brick mortar, which is very, very soft. And what happens, cement doesn’t expand and contract like
mortar does, and so there’s not as much give.... If you use cement, the temperature variations with the
cement would actually cause the stone or the brick to break, to crack and break, and that was one of the
first things | noticed on the Rock House was that, boy, they, when the CCC built this, they built it using
cement, not mortar.?””
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Darcey proposed removing the cement and repointing the walls with mortar, but this was not a funding
priority at the time. Darcey also sought to replicate a white picket fence shown in a 1949 photograph of
the Rock House to restore its appearance and to keep foot traffic off of the lawn, but he was overruled
by Archaeologist Nancy Coulam, purportedly because Darcey was unable to demonstrate that the picket
fence had been installed at the time the Rock House was completed in 1941.278 Custodian Lewis T.
McKinney built the picket fence (which extended to the headquarters area) between 1942 and 1946
following the 1942 landscaping plan,?” but it was not painted until 1947.28 Coulam was correct that the
fence did not date to 1941, but the landscaping, including the fence, was planned for and is properly
part of the historic design and appearance of the building.

Beyond the wall fabric and picket fence, by 1991 the Rock House had accumulated deferred
maintenance needs and required immediate re-roofing, as well as repairs to the porch columns, trim
and siding, foundation regrading, removal/trimming of vegetation, and painting the exterior.?! Kelly
Shakespear led a crew from the Bryce Canyon maintenance staff, who performed the repairs in the
spring of 1991, earning a letter of commendation from Darcey for the speed and quality of their work.2%
In addition to providing needed office space, the Rock House was used to store the Arches central files
until 2012, when the central files and additional records that were kept at an off-site storage unit were
completely catalogued by Archivist Vicki Webster and moved to the SEUG headquarters building as part
of the SEUG Archives.?®? Since 2006, the Rock House has housed the Canyon Country Outdoor Education
offices, as well as other administrative offices.?

Wolfe Ranch Environmental Study Area

Wolfe Ranch has a peculiar and complicated place in the history of Arches National Park: it is the only
visible, interpreted evidence of Euroamerican occupation prior to its inclusion in the national park
system, it links Arches with the Civil War and westward expansion, and it was the part-time home of
Arches’ first custodian, with the latter status obscuring its true age and significance until the 1960s.
Hoffman discusses the history of Wolfe Ranch at length,?> and Wolfe Ranch is the focal point of the
Arches interpretive program on culture history, thanks to the diligent research of Maxine Newell and
Dave May in the 1970s and 1980s.%°¢ The ranch buildings themselves, which include the third cabin built
by John Wesley Wolfe, however, are a perennial maintenance headache. Almost every Superintendent’s
Annual Report mentions some project relating to keeping Wolfe Ranch intact. “Turnbow Cabin,” as it
was known to the NPS, was also a legal problem during the early development of the park because it
was a private inholding that sat (inconveniently) at the best access route to Delicate Arch.%®’ In fact,
Custodian Schmidt actively protested efforts by Susie Turnbow to prove up the homestead at Wolfe
Ranch after her husband was killed in a car crash in 1940.2%8 In the late 1960s, Wolfe Ranch became the
focus of some new interpretive programs at Arches National Park, which grew out of a school project:

In 1968, an innovative school teacher, Mrs. Helen Madsen, gave her group of gifted six [sic] grade
students a history assignment: Solve the riddle of John Wesley Wolfe. Their quest led them to a series of
failures, until, finally, they hit a bonanza that lifted the weathered cabin from obscurity. The contact was
Mrs. Esther Stanley Rison, granddaughter of John Wesley Wolfe, who in her childhood lived with her
parents and her grandfather on Wolfe Ranch. Mrs. Rison wrote a letter for the sixth graders which
became the foundation of the Wolfe Ranch History, a permanent part of NPS history, and the basis for
years of intensive research to unravel the life story of John Wesley Wolfe.?*°
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After the Wolfe Cabin, root cellar, and pole corral were stabilized in 1967, Arches National Monument
designated the Turnbow Cabin Environmental Study Area in 1968, one of the first in the country.?®
During 1969-1971, the program brought hundreds of teachers and students out into the desert to learn
about the environment and the history of how pioneers adapted to it.>* The Grand County School
District, teacher Louise Hetzel, and the NPS worked together to create a curriculum that was later
exported to ESAs around the country (Figure 5-6a and b). When the true story of Turnbow Cabin was
discovered, and the story of John Wesley Wolfe became an interpretive priority of Arches National Park,
the program was formally renamed Wolfe Cabin ESA in 1971. A re-dedication ceremony was attended
by more than 100 people, including Wolfe’s granddaughters Esther Stanley Rison and Volna Stanley
(Figure 5-7).2%2
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5-6a. Grade school students pose with a dairy can in front of the dugout at Wolfe Cabin, 1969. Wolfe Ranch
Historic District Collection 1862—1991 (bulk dates: 1955-1991) ARCH 124/2.1-22.05. (Photographer unknown).
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5-6b. The Turnbow Cabin Environmental Study Area (renamed Wolfe Cabin ESA in 1971) taught Moab school kids
about the natural and cultural history of Arches National Monument. Wolfe Ranch Historic District Collection
1862-1991 (bulk dates: 1955-1991) ARCH 124/2.1-22.06. (Photographer unknown).
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5-7. Esther Rison (center, in white) at the Wolfe Ranch Environmental Study Area dedication, May 18, 1971. Arch
124/02.1-22.011. (Photographer unknown).

In 1975, the newly discovered information about Wolfe Ranch formed the basis of a National Register of
Historic Places nomination; that same year, the Wolfe Ranch Historic District was listed in the National
Register.??®* The cabin and root cellar were again stabilized during 1976-1977, and pit toilets were
installed near the Delicate Arch trailhead parking lot. Arches National Park celebrated what was then
believed to be the 90" anniversary of Wolfe Ranch on July 24, 1978.2°* The event was hosted by the
Daughters of the Utah Pioneers in period costume (Figure 5-8) and was attended by many members of
the public.

Because the historical importance of Wolfe Ranch was not understood or appreciated during the
primary period of development at Arches (1947-1964), a swinging pedestrian suspension bridge was
constructed across Salt Wash in the vicinity of Wolfe Ranch in 1955. As documented in Monthly
Narrative Reports from the late 1950s to 1968, the bridge became a favorite target of vandals; over the
years, the bridge was almost completely reconstructed multiple times. Additional alterations of the
historic landscape surrounding Wolfe Ranch took place in 1984 (split-rail fence built along Delicate Arch
trail), 1990 (pit toilets removed and vault toilets installed at parking lot entrance), 1993 (parking lot
enlarged and paved, additional parking lot built to south, and Delicate Arch road paved), and in 1994—
1995 (construction of low-water crossing and completion of road paving).
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5-8. Daughters of the Utah Pioneers display a sheet cake and cookies marked with John Wolfe’s DX brand for the
July 24, 1978 celebration of the 90t anniversary of Wolfe Ranch (later discovered to be the 80t anniversary). ARCH
104/001092, SEUG Archives. (Photographer unknown).

By 1997 park staff had decided it was time to replace the bridge because it was a maintenance headache
and safety hazard, and was not compliant with ADA (although the remainder of the trail is not
handicapped accessible). The Arches proposal to replace the bridge triggered a review by the Utah State
Historic Preservation Office, which required changes to the project as well as changes to the general
setting of Wolfe Ranch.?®® SEUG Archaeologist Nancy Coulam worked with Chief of Maintenance Frank
Darcey to document the existing bridge before it was removed. To mitigate the appearance of the new
bridge, the SHPO required changes to the overall appearance of Wolfe Ranch, including removing the
split-rail fence in front of the cabin and moving garbage cans, a bicycle rack, and bulletin board away
from the cabin. More difficult to address was local opposition to removing the swinging bridge, which
many long-time residents recalled as being older than it actually was. The Grand County Historical
Society requested that the old bridge be left in place as an exhibit.??® In 1997, the National Park Service
began a Cultural Landscape Inventory of the Wolfe Ranch Historic District, as required under Section 110
of the NHPA.2%7

Continued weathering of Wolfe Ranch led to complete re-roofing of both the cabin and the dugout in
2001. Park maintenance staff obtained oak through a Forest Service permit and cottonwood from the
BLM to repair the roofs using materials identical to the original fabric; soil was obtained on site to match
the existing colors.?® Although these efforts to stabilize the historic structures of Wolfe Ranch were
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successful, the cumulative impacts of decades of NPS development in the vicinity sufficiently altered the
historic fabric of the area. The Cultural Landscape Inventory, completed in 2002, concluded that the
historic district was not eligible to the NRHP as a cultural landscape due to loss of integrity; the Utah
SHPO concurred in 2004.2%° Wolfe Ranch retains its listing in the NRHP as an historic district—a different

level of commemoration—and is currently looked after through routine cyclical maintenance.3®

Vandalism

Over the decades, Arches has unfortunately experienced several incidences of serious vandalism, both
to rock art panels and to park landmarks such as Delicate Arch (Figure 5-9). The first documented
apprehension of visitors for graffiti was in 1948 at Double Arch.3%! Periodically, Arches staff has worked
with service organizations such as the Cub Scouts of America to clean up the graffiti (Figure 5-10). In
1980, the Moab Panel was assaulted with wire brushes and a caustic commercial abrasive cleaner,
seriously damaging the main section of the Barrier Canyon—style pictographs (Figure 5-11). This vicious
attempt to erase history unfortunately stands as one of the darkest moments in the story of Arches
National Park, as much as for who may have perpetrated the crime and why, as for the damage itself.

5-9. Vandalism to Delicate Arch in 1968. ARCH 104/000933, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: C. R. Parkinson).
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5-10. Cub scouts scrubbing off graffiti in 1963. ARCH 104/000001, SEUG Archives. (Photo credit: Stan Carter).

The Moab Panel

The Moab Panel, known officially in the National Register of Historic Places (listed 1975) as the
Courthouse Wash Rock Art Panel, is located on a massive cliff face that overlooks the floodplain of the
Colorado River where it is joined by Courthouse Wash.3? The panel includes both petroglyphs and
pictographs; large anthropomorphs painted in colors of dark red, blue, and white are the most visible
elements (Figure 5-12). The “ghost-like” figures are attributed to the Barrier Canyon Style, which dates
to the Late Archaic Period. The Moab Panel was the easternmost known panel of this style at the time it
was listed in the National Register. Figures of people on horseback and Ancestral Puebloan petroglyph
elements indicate that the panel has been added to for centuries, reaching into historic time. Prior to
1980, some graffiti and bullet holes had been documented, but few of these directly impacted the
images themselves, only the overall aesthetics of the panel. A detailed drawing and recording of the
panel (Panel 1) had been completed early in 1980 by a team from the American Rock Writing Research
organization as part of a larger project to document significant rock art panels in the Canyonlands
region.3® Tragically, in April, 1980, the panel was discovered to have been defaced:3*
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5-11. The Moab Panel following 1980 vandalism. ARCH 101/001-116.02, SEUG Archives.

In the afternoon of 4/18/80 Visitor Protection Specialist, Tom Wylie, reported someone had badly
vandalized the Moab Panel, University of Utah archaeological survey #42Gr204. Investigation the
following morning indicated water had been carried to the pictographs and a brush or cloth used to
scrub the pictographs. It appeared someone was trying to remove the art work and had done so for the
most part. There were also numerous impact marks possibly from a hammer on and below the panel.
There were no clues at the site with the exception of the recent scratching of “fuck you willie begay”
below the panel. The vandalism appeared to have been done in the last week. A phone check was made
with the sheriff, highway patrol, and “Tex” across from the panel which turned up no new information.%
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5-12. The pictographs of the Moab Panel as they appeared in March 1964. ARCH 104/001459, SEUG Archives.
(Photographer unknown).

Based on a comment by Assistant Superintendent Gary Howe that he had recalled “seeing a vehicle and
4 or 5 dark skinned men with black hair with a bucket” at about 6 PM on the evening of April 14, Arches
law enforcement and the Federal Bureau of Investigation launched an investigation into the vandalism,
focusing on connections with Navajo people living in Moab.3% Willie Begay, a resident of Moab and
employee of Atlas Minerals, was interviewed. He indicated a history of interpersonal problems with Evan
and Albert Black. Upset at what had transpired, the Begay family visited the panel for themselves;
between April 21 and 23, they reported that additional vandalism had appeared. The phrase “Willie if
you want” had been faintly scratched into the lower part of the panel, directly above the previous
graffiti to read “Will Kill Begay If You Want Me to.”3%” By April 27, “fuck you” had also been added.3%®

During the course of the investigation, several anonymous individuals pledged $1,250 as a reward
towards the arrest and conviction of the Moab Panel vandals. On April 27, John Noxon and Deborah
Marcus of the American Rock Writing Research organization revisited the Moab Panel at the request of
the NPS. In addition to describing the damage much as the case incident report had done, Noxon and
Marcus further discussed the chemical used in the obliteration of the pictographs:

At the present time, the chemical solvent applied to the pictographic elements has been apparently
absorbed into the rock art panel surface. As there is the possibility that rainfall on the panel may
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reactivate the chemical’s erosive affects [sic]. It is strongly recommended that immediate action be taken
to determine what chemical was utilized and what measures can be taken to neutralize it. This is
particularly important for the pictographic elements on the western end of the panel which have had this
solvent splashed on them, and which are still currently salvagable [sic].3%

Noxon and Marcus also suggested trying to restore the panel using artificial desert varnish and authentic
native pigment mixes. At this time, the additional graffiti aimed at Willie Begay had appeared, and
Noxon and Marcus speculated whether “connections exist between the recent BLM Cedar Mesa pot
hunter’s trials in Salt Lake City and this overt act of vandalism near the Moab District Offices.” This
references the pioneering ARPA trial involving Casey Shumway of Moab, a career thief and cultural
resources vandal.?? Although Shumway was a member of a notorious family of criminal pothunters, some
members of the local LDS community did not (and still do not) see looting as a crime, and were unhappy
about the ultimately successful prosecution of Shumway.3!! The damage to the Moab Panel did not
happen in isolation; as documented by the American Rock Writing Research Newsletter, several other
vandalism incidences in Canyonlands took place about the same time.3'? As a result, the NPS contracted
with American Rock Writing Research to expand their program of rock art documentation to resources
within the Horseshoe/Barrier Canyon unit of Canyonlands, including the Great Gallery Panel (42Wn418),
the type site for the Barrier Canyon Style and “among the most elaborate and spectacular pictograph
sites in North America.”3!3

Arches law enf